

Alkadhem, Maali (2022) *Trigonometric V-systems and solutions of WDVV and related equations*. PhD thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/82940/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk

# Trigonometric ∨-systems and solutions of WDVV and related equations

by

### Maali Alkadhem

(supervised by Dr M.V. Feigin)

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Mathematics and Statistics College of Science and Engineering University of Glasgow



February 2022

### Abstract

This thesis contains three parts related to trigonometric solutions of Witten–Dijkgraaf– Verlinde–Verlinde (WDVV) equations.

In the first part of the thesis we consider a class of trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations determined by collections  $\mathcal{A}$  of covectors with multiplicities. This class of solutions involves an extra variable which makes them non-trivial already for planar collections. These solutions have the general form

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f(\alpha(x)) + Q, \qquad (0.1)$$

where  $c_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}$  are multiplicity parameters and Q is a cubic polynomial in  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ and additional variable y, and f is the function of a single variable z satisfying  $f''(z) = \cot z$ . We show that such solutions can be restricted to special subspaces to produce new solutions of the same type. We find new solutions given by restrictions of root systems, as well as examples which are not of this form. Further, we consider a closely related notion of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system, and we show that its subsystems are also trigonometric  $\lor$ systems. While reviewing the root system case we determine a version of generalised Coxeter number for the exterior square of the reflection representation of a Weyl group. We give a list of all the known trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems on the plane.

In the second part of the thesis, we consider solutions of WDVV equations in Ndimensional space (without extra variable), which are of the form (0.1) with Q = 0. Such class of solutions does not exist in general even for the case of root system  $\mathcal{A}$  and invariant multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$ . However, it is known to exist for the root system  $B_N$  and specific choice of invariant multiplicities [33]. We generalize this solution to a multiparameter family so that the underlying configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  is the root system  $BC_N$ . These  $BC_N$  type solutions of WDVV equations are found by applying restrictions to the known solutions of the commutativity equations and by relating commutativity equations with WDVV equations for the corresponding prepotential. We apply these solutions to define  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanical systems.

In the third part of the thesis we reveal the relation between the set of WDVV equations and the set of the commutativity equations for an arbitrary function F. We reformulate

### ABSTRACT

# Contents

Abstract						
A	cknov	wledge	ements	vii		
D	eclar	ation		x		
1	Intr	oduct	ion	1		
	1.1	Backg	round	1		
	1.2	Preser	nt work and plan of this thesis	9		
		1.2.1	Main results I (Chapter 3)	9		
		1.2.2	Main results II (Chapter 4)	14		
		1.2.3	Main results III (Chapter 5)	16		
		1.2.4	Structure of the thesis	19		
<b>2</b>	Fro	benius	manifolds structures	23		
	2.1	Frobe	nius manifolds and WDVV equations	23		
	2.2	Dubro	ovin connection	27		
	2.3	Almos	st dual Frobenius structure	31		
		2.3.1	The intersection form	31		
		2.3.2	Dubrovin's almost duality	33		
	2.4	Orbit	spaces examples	35		
	2.5	Ratio	nal solutions of WDVV equations	38		
		2.5.1	(Rational) $\lor$ -systems	38		
		2.5.2	The associative product	43		
		2.5.3	Subsystems of a $\lor$ -system $\ldots$	45		
		2.5.4	Restrictions of $\lor$ -systems	45		
	2.6	Trigor	nometric case	46		
		2.6.1	Prepotential, product and Dubrovin connection	46		
		2.6.2	Trigonometric $\lor$ -systems	58		
	2.7	Root	systems examples	61		
	2.8	Gener	alized Coxeter number	65		

3	Operations with trigonometric solutions						
	3.1	Subsystems of trigonometric $\lor$ -systems $\ldots \ldots \ldots$					
	3.2	Restriction of trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations					
	3.3	$BC_N$ type configurations					
	3.4	$A_N$ type configurations					
	3.5	Further examples in small dimensions					
	3.6	Exceptional root systems solutions revisited					
		3.6.1 $E_6$ type configuration					
		3.6.2 $E_7$ type configuration					
		3.6.3 $E_8$ type configuration					
		3.6.4 $F_4$ type configuration					
		3.6.5 $G_2$ type configuration					
	3.7	Bryan-Gholampour solutions revisited					
4	Trig	gonometric solutions without extra variable 109					
	4.1	Solutions of WDVV and related equations					
	4.2	Metric for a family of $BC_n$ type configurations					
	Proof through restrictions						
	4.4	Application to supersymmetric mechanical systems					
		4.4.1 Notations and ansatz for supercharges (trigonometric settings) $125$					
		4.4.2 Multi-parametr generalization					
	4.5	Commutativity equations and Euclidean trigonometric $\lor\mbox{-systems}$ 131					
	4.6	Subsytems of a Euclidean trigonometric $\lor$ -system $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 137$					
	4.7	Euclidean trigonometric $\lor$ -systems and complex Euclidean $\lor$ -systems $\ . \ . \ 140$					
	4.8	Restricted solutions of commutativity equations					
<b>5</b>	Cor	nmutativity equations and WDVV equations 150					
	5.1	Constant metric in dimension two					
5.2 Constant metric in dimension three							
	5.3	Constant metric in general $\ldots \ldots 154$					
	5.4	The identity field					
	5.5	Applications					
		5.5.1 Applications to Euclidean trigonometric $\lor$ -systems $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 168$					
		5.5.2 New solutions of WDVV equations					
		5.5.3 The identity field for root system $F_4$					
		5.5.4 $F_4$ with the condition $r = -2q$					
		5.5.5 $F_4$ with the condition $r = -4q$					
		5.5.6 Identity vector field for projections of $F_4$					
		5.5.7 Identity vector field for $G_2$					

		5.5.8 Identity vector field for $BC_N \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	20			
		5.5.9 Identity vector field for restrictions of $BC_N$	20			
		5.5.10 Uniform formulas of identity field for (not simply-laced) root systems				
		and their projections	21			
6	Con	cluding remarks and open questions	21			
	6.1	Classification	21			
	6.2	2 Commutativity equations and WDVV equations				
Li	st of	appendices	21			
Li A	st of Trig	appendices conometric V-systems on the plane	$\frac{21}{21}$			
Li A	st of Trig A.1	appendices conometric $\lor$ -systems on the plane Planar restrictions of root system $F_4$	<ul> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> </ul>			
Li A	st of Trig A.1 A.2	appendices gonometric $\lor$ -systems on the plane Planar restrictions of root system $F_4$	<ul> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> </ul>			
Li	st of Trig A.1 A.2 A.3	appendices gonometric $\lor$ -systems on the plane Planar restrictions of root system $F_4$	<ul> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> </ul>			
Li A	st of Trig A.1 A.2 A.3 A.4	appendices gonometric $\lor$ -systems on the plane Planar restrictions of root system $E_4$	<ul> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> <li>21</li> </ul>			
Li	st of Trig A.1 A.2 A.3 A.4	appendices gonometric $\lor$ -systems on the plane Planar restrictions of root system $E_4$				

# List of Tables

1.1	The scalar $\lambda$ for root systems $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
A.1	Restricted systems of $F_4$ on the plane $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
A.2	Restricted systems of $E_8$ on the plane $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
A.3	Restricted systems of $E_7$ on the plane $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
A.4	Restricted systems of $E_6$ on the plane $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
A.5	Planar restrictions of root systems
A.6	Non-Coxeter planar examples

## Acknowledgements

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious and the Most Merciful. All praises and thanks go to Allah for the strength and His blessing during this journey and upon completing this study.

I would like to express my most generous and deepest gratitude and appreciation to my supervisor Dr. Misha Feigin, for whom I have high respect, and this work would have never been accomplished without him. Misha, thank you very much for offering me this wonderful opportunity to be your student, thanks for providing me with invaluable guidance and continuous support and for always being there for me through the many ups and downs of life and the most stressful times throughout this study. You have been very supportive and infinitely patient with me over these past years, you have inspired me in diverse ways by your enthusiasm towards your work and it is an honour to work under your supervision. For your boundless help, kindness, priceless guidance, immense amount of time you devoted and fully dedicated to the progress of my work, for all the knowledge you have passed on to me, and for being always concerned with my health and well-being, for that, and so much more, words will never be enough to thank you, I will be forever grateful.

Massive thanks to my thesis examiners Prof. Ian Strachan (University of Glasgow) and Prof. Jenya Ferapontov (Loughborough University) for their encouragement, insightful comments, and for their effort to read and review this thesis.

I am very much thankful to my parents and lovely family for their unflinching support and unconditional love over these years. Their unwavering belief in me pulled me through the toughest circumstances and during the hardest moments of my life. Thank you all for your solidarity, the constant encouragement, endless support, and prayers. Thank you for being there in every step of the way and for always having confidence in me especially when I didn't. I will be eternally grateful.

The personal events that unfolded during the progress of this thesis include, sadly, the death of my dear brother Ali who unexpectedly passed away on 25 of June 2021 and the death of my dear father who passed away on 25th of December 2021. These tragedy events are the nightmare from which I will never wake up. My dear father and brother, you saw me start, but never saw me finish this academic stage, I wish you had seen me

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

finally submitting. Words fail to describe my true feelings about the fact that I will never be able to see you again. I wanted to say I am truly grateful for all your help, constant support, continuous encouragement and for believing in me. I appreciate your prayers, caring, sacrificing of your needs to see me succeeding. I will never be able to repay you and will forever be indebted to you. My father and brother Ali– I miss you and love you very much and you will stay in my memory, thoughts and prayers for the rest of my life.

To my friends at home, where distance never mattered, thank you very much for your love, prayers and for believing in me even when I didn't. Special thanks also to my friends in Glasgow for reassuring me on this journey. George, thank you for all the help you have offered me and for many discussions we have had during our joint work, it was a pleasure working with you. Hanaa, Nada, Zainab, Munerah, Maryam, Laila, Mihaela, Liuyang, Dimitrios, Dimitra, thank you very much for always being kind and positive about everything and for always seeing the best in me. Anya, I am so thankful for your support, kindness, and understanding, and for your time when I was feeling down, and when I was hiding my pains but I needed a sister who understood my anxiety and my frustration. Thank you for hearing me out when I needed an ear to listen, I really appreciate that.

Thank you to everyone who has supported me during throughout my PhD.

I would also like to acknowledge Imam Abdulrahman Bin Faisal University for funding my PhD.

Last but not least, I am grateful to all the people in the School of Mathematics and Statistics for their friendship and assistance during my time in Glasgow. To my parents and my dear family

# Declaration

I declare that, except where explicit reference is made to the contribution of others, this thesis is the result of my own work and has not been submitted for any other degree at the University of Glasgow or any other institution.

### Chapter 1

## Introduction

### 1.1 Background

The Witten–Dijkgraaf–Verlinde–Verlinde (WDVV) equations are a remarkable set of nonlinear third order partial differential equations for a single function  $\mathcal{F}$ . They were discovered originally in two-dimensional topological field theories at the end of 1980's by the physicists E. Witten, R. Dijkgraaf, E.Verlinde, and H.Verlinde [15, 55]. One of the forms of these equations for a holomorphic function  $\mathcal{F}$  is

$$\mathcal{F}_i \mathcal{F}_j^{-1} \mathcal{F}_k = \mathcal{F}_k \mathcal{F}_j^{-1} \mathcal{F}_i, \quad i, j, k = 1, \dots, N,$$
(1.1)

where  $\mathcal{F}_i$ 's are  $N \times N$  matrices constructed from the third derivatives of the unique function  $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}(t_1, \ldots, t_N)$  of N variables with entries

$$(\mathcal{F}_i)_{pq} = \mathcal{F}_{ipq} = \frac{\partial^3 \mathcal{F}}{\partial t_i \partial t_p \partial t_q} \quad (p, q = 1, \dots, N).$$
(1.2)

When  $\mathcal{F}$  is a function of one or two variables (N = 1, 2) then equations (1.1) are always satisfied. However for more variables, regardless the simplicity of their compact matrix form these equations form a highly nontrivial overdetermined system of nonlinear partial differential equations for the function  $\mathcal{F}$ . These equations have been widely discussed and have found various interesting applications in connection with many areas of mathematical physics. Sometimes equations (1.1) are referred to as the generalized WDVV equations while the usual WDVV equations have the form (1.1) with a fixed index j. However, we will call the full set of equations (1.1) simply as WDVV equations. Following [15, 55], WDVV equations appeared in the core of Frobenius manifolds theory in the early '1990's, where the mathematical structure of these equations had been thoroughly studied by Boris Dubrovin as a way to provide a geometric setting of the solutions to the WDVV equations [16, 17]. Dubrovin's Frobenius manifolds give invariant coordinates free way to think about WDVV equations. In his work he gave differential geometric formulation of WDVV equations as he proved that locally any solution of the WDVV equations defines the structure of a Frobenius manifold and vice versa.

Let us briefly outline the setting of this relation before giving more details in the next chapter. The main features of a Frobenius manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  are the existence of an associative commutative multiplication  $\circ$  on each of its tangent space  $T_t \mathcal{M}$  and a holomorphic flat metric  $\eta$  so that it has zero curvature. This metric is compatible with the multiplication, that is

$$\eta(x \circ y, z) = \eta(x, y \circ z), \quad x, y, z \in T_t \mathcal{M}.$$
(1.3)

Another characters that play roles in the structure of a Frobenius manifold are two distinguished vector fields  $e, \mathcal{E} \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M})$ . The vector field e is the unity for the multiplication  $\circ$  and it is required to be flat with respect to the Levi-Civita connection of the metric  $\eta$ , namely  $\nabla e = 0$ . The other vector field  $\mathcal{E}$  is called Euler vector field and the metric and multiplication are assumed to be homogeneous with respect to this additional vector field. Furthermore, there exists a symmetric (0, 3) tensor c related to the metric  $\eta$  and the multiplication  $\circ$  by the formula

$$\eta(x \circ y, z) = c(x, y, z), \quad x, y, z \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}).$$
(1.4)

The multiplication  $\circ$  with condition (1.3) makes  $T\mathcal{M}$  into a family of commutative associative algebras with unity e, which is a family of Frobenius algebras. The axioms of the Frobenius manifold require that the tensor c is totally symmetric in all its arguments. Such a condition implies local existence of a function  $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}(t_1, \ldots, t_N)$  on  $\mathcal{M}$  called the (free energy) prepotential of the Frobenius manifold  $\mathcal{M}$ , and allows one to express the structure constants of the multiplication in terms of the third order derivatives of the function  $\mathcal{F}$ , that is

$$c_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = c(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) = \frac{\partial^3 \mathcal{F}(t)}{\partial t_\alpha \partial t_\beta \partial t_\gamma},\tag{1.5}$$

where variables  $t_i$ , are flat coordinates of the metric  $\eta$ . Hence, by (1.3) and (1.5) the flat metric  $\eta$  can be defined in terms of the third order derivatives of  $\mathcal{F}$  which allows to reformulate WDVV equations as the associativity condition of a multiplication  $\circ$  in a family of Frobenius algebras defined on the tangent spaces  $T_t \mathcal{M}$ . By this reason sometimes WDVV equations are referred as associativity equations.

Let us recall some of the important known classes of solutions of WDVV equations they are related to finite Coxeter groups  $\mathcal{W}$  which are finite groups of linear transformations of a real vector space V of dimension N generated by reflections.

There is a remarkable class of polynomial solutions of WDVV equations which corresponds to (finite) Coxeter groups  $\mathcal{W}$  [17]. In this case the Frobenius manifold  $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{W}}$ 

#### CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

is the (complexified) space of  $\mathcal{W}$ -orbits in the reflection representation V of  $\mathcal{W}$ . K. Saito proved that there exists a flat structure on  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{W}}$  [51], and this structure can be presented as a flat metric, which is known as the Saito metric. It has been shown by Dubrovin that the orbit space  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{W}}$  admits the structure of a Frobenius manifold [17, Lecture 4]. Moreover, his construction shows that the corresponding prepotential  $\mathcal{F}$  of this Frobenius manifold is a polynomial in the flat coordinates of the Saito metric. Following Dubrovin's result and conjecture, Hertling proved that under some assumptions every polynomial Frobenius manifold arises in this way [32]. Thus, the orbit space construction gives all polynomial solutions to the WDVV equations under certain assumptions. Note that the polynomial prepotential corresponding to the space of orbits  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{W}}$  of a finite Coxeter group  $\mathcal{W}$  cannot be written explicitly in a simple way.

For any Frobenius manifold there is an associated almost dual Frobenius manifold introduced by Dubrovin in [20]. In this new structure some of the axioms of a Frobenius manifold are relaxed. New multiplication is considered on the tangent spaces which is defined via the old multiplication of the Frobenius manifold and its Euler vector field. Tangent spaces remain to be Frobenius algebras with respect to new multiplication and new metric. There is also a new prepotential  $\mathcal{F}^*$  satisfying WDVV equations which are associativity conditions for the new multiplication. For the orbit space  $\mathcal{M}_W$  the prepotential  $\mathcal{F}^*$  can be expressed in a simple form

$$\mathcal{F}^* = \mathcal{F}^{rat} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha(x)^2 \log \alpha(x), \quad x \in V,$$
(1.6)

where  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}$  is the root system of the group  $\mathcal{W}$ . In this case the constant metric is the  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant form on the vector space V of the reflection representation of the group  $\mathcal{W}$ .

A class of solutions to WDVV equations (1.1) includes some prepotentials arising from low-energy effective actions of  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  supersymmetric gauge theories in four dimensions via Seiberg-Witten theory. More precisely, perturbative parts of Seiberg–Witten prepotentials take the form (1.6) and solve WDVV equations. Note that the geometric structure of the WDVV equations in Seiberg-Witten theory appears to be different from that of Frobenius manifolds as for WDVV equations in the case of Seiberg-Witten theory there may be no full structure of Frobenius manifolds associated with them. Marshakov, Mironov and Morozov found in this context solutions (1.6) of WDVV equations for classical root systems  $\mathcal{R}$  in [39,40]. More generally, it has been shown in [40] that the prepotential

$$\mathcal{F}^{rat} = \sum_{i,j} \left( \nu_{-}(x_i - x_j)^2 \log(x_i - x_j) + \nu_{+}(x_i + x_j)^2 \log(x_i + x_j) \right) + \eta \sum_i x_i^2 \log x_i \quad (1.7)$$

solves WDVV equations for any value of  $\eta$  if  $\nu_{+} = \nu_{-}$  or  $\nu_{+} = 0$ . Suitable choices of scalars  $\eta, \nu_{+}, \nu_{-}$  correspond to the prepotentials for the classical groups  $D_N, B_N$  and  $A_N$ .

Note that solutions corresponding to some deformations of the root system  $A_N$  are also contained in the family (1.7) when  $\nu_+ = 0$  although this point was not emphasized in [40]. Solutions (1.6) for non-classical root systems were found by Gragert and Martini in [41].

Veselov found solutions  $\mathcal{F}^{rat}$  of the form (1.6) for non-crystallographic (Coxeter) root systems as well as, more importantly, for not fully symmetric configurations of covectors  $\mathcal{A} \subset V^*$ , where V can now be a complex vector space. He introduced the notion of a  $\vee$ -system [53] formulated in terms of linear algebra. The following theorem describes the connection between  $\vee$ -systems and WDVV equations.

**Theorem 1.1.1.** [26, 53]. Under a non-degeneracy assumption configuration of vectors  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\lor$ -system if and only if the corresponding logarithmic prepotential (1.6) satisfies WDVV equations.

Another equivalent statement that relates the class of  $\lor$ -systems and WDVV equations is given via associativity of a multiplication defined on the tangent space of the complement  $M_{\mathcal{A}} = V \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \prod_{\alpha}$  to the union of all hyperplanes  $\prod_{\alpha} = \{x \in V : \alpha(x) = 0\}$ . The multiplication is given by the formula

$$u * v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{\alpha(u)\alpha(v)}{\alpha(x)} \alpha^{\vee}, \quad u, v \in T_x M_{\mathcal{A}},$$
(1.8)

where  $\alpha^{\vee} \in V$  is the vector corresponding to the covector  $\alpha \in V^*$  with respect to a nondegenerate bilinear form defined on V. The relation then is formulated by the following statement.

**Theorem 1.1.2.** [26, 54] The multiplication (1.8) is associative if and only if  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\lor$ -system.

This statement together with Theorem 1.1.1 leads to the fact that associativity of the multiplication (1.8) is equivalent to the WDVV equations (1.1) for prepotential (1.6).

This property can also be reformulated in terms of flatness of a connection on the tangent bundle TV [54]. The connection is given by the formula

$$\nabla_u = \partial_u - \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{\alpha(u)}{\alpha(x)} \alpha^{\vee} \otimes \alpha.$$
(1.9)

Then the following statement holds.

**Theorem 1.1.3.** [54] Connection (1.9) is flat if and only if  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\lor$ -system.

As a corollary of this statement together with Theorem 1.1.1 it is easy to see that the flatness condition for connection (1.9) is equivalent to the WDVV equations (1.1)for prepotential (1.6). A closely related notion of the Dunkl system was introduced and studied in [14]. That structure for complex reflection groups was investigated further in [5] in relation with Frobenius manifolds theory.

The class of  $\lor$ -systems is closed under the natural operations of taking subsystems [26] and under restriction of a system to the intersection W of some of the hyperplanes  $\Pi_{\alpha}$ where  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  [25]. A brief formulations of these facts can be given as follows, more details are given later in Chapter 2.

By a subsystem  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  we mean the intersection of  $\mathcal{A}$  with a linear subspace in V.

**Theorem 1.1.4.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a  $\lor$ -system. Then under some non-degeneracy conditions any subsystem  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  as well as the set of non-zero restricted covectors of  $\mathcal{A}$  to the subspace W are also  $\lor$ -systems.

By considering these two operations of taking subsystems and restrictions one can obtain new solutions to the WDVV equations from known solutions. Note that the restriction of Coxeter root systems in general are not root systems, so the class of  $\lor$ -systems can be thought of as an extension of the class of Coxeter root systems that satisfies such property. In fact, the class of  $\lor$ -systems contains multi-parameter deformations of the root systems  $A_N$  and  $B_N$  ([13], see also [26] for more examples). The underlying matroids were examined in [46]. The problem of classification of  $\lor$ -systems remains open.

Other remarkable solutions to WDVV equations that arise in theory of Frobenius manifolds are trigonometric generalisation of solutions (1.6). These solutions have the form

$$\mathcal{F}^{trig} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f(\alpha(x)) + Q, \qquad (1.10)$$

where  $c_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}$  are some multiplicity parameters and Q is a cubic polynomial in  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ and, often, in additional variable y, and f is a function of a single variable z given by

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{6}iz^3 + \frac{1}{4}Li_3(e^{-2iz}), \qquad (1.11)$$

where  $Li_3$  is the (trilogarithm) function so that  $f'''(z) = \cot z$ . The WDVV equations in this case have the form

$$\mathcal{F}_{i}^{trig}(\mathcal{F}_{j}^{trig})^{-1}\mathcal{F}_{k}^{trig} = \mathcal{F}_{k}^{trig}(\mathcal{F}_{j}^{trig})^{-1}\mathcal{F}_{i}^{trig}, \qquad (1.12)$$

similar to equations (1.1) but they involve N + 1 variables  $x_1, \ldots, x_N, x_{N+1} = y$ , where

$$(\mathcal{F}_i^{trig})_{pq} = \frac{\partial^3 \mathcal{F}^{trig}}{\partial x_i \partial x_p \partial x_q} \quad (i, p, q = 1, \dots, N+1).$$
(1.13)

Such solutions (for root system of type  $A_N$ ) appeared in five-dimensional Seiberg–Witten theory as perturbative parts of prepotentials [40]. Solutions of the form (1.10) corresponding to (crystallographic) irreducible reduced root systems  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}$  of Weyl groups and  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$  were studied by Hoevenaars and Martini in [33,42]. The polynomial Q is  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant, and it was specified fully explicitly in the case of constant multiplicity.

Such solutions also appear as prepotentials for the almost dual Frobenius manifold structures on the extended affine Weyl groups orbit spaces [18,21]– see [45] for type  $A_N$ . In some cases such solutions may be related to the rational solutions (1.6) by twisted Legendre transformations [45].

Bryan and Gholampour found another remarkable appearance of trigonometric solutions (1.10), or rather the corresponding associative product, in geometry as they studied quantum cohomology of resolutions of (simple) A, D, E singularities [11]. The associative quantum product on these cohomologies is governed by the corresponding solutions  $\mathcal{F}^{trig}$ with  $\mathcal{A} = A_N, D_N, E_N$  respectively and with special multiplicities. The invariant cubic polynomial Q is given in terms of the highest root of the root system. Furthermore, a family of associative products was given in [11] for any irreducible reduced root system. The corresponding prepotential can be checked to be of the form (1.10).

In Shen's work [47, 48] families of Frobenius algebras in trigonometric settings are considered. A related object is one-parameter family of torsion free and flat connections on the tangent bundle of the complement of a toric arrangement associated with a root system. This family of connections is the Dubrovin (deformed) connection  $\nabla^a$  and it has the form

$$\nabla^a_{\widetilde{u}}\widetilde{v} = \partial_{\widetilde{u}}\widetilde{v} + a\widetilde{u} * \widetilde{v},\tag{1.14}$$

where  $a \in \mathbb{C}$  and the multiplication \* is defined so that each fiber of the tangent bundle of the complement of a toric arrangement for a root system  $\mathcal{R}$  with a  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant multiplicity  $c_{\alpha}$  is endowed with Frobenius algebra structure. This associative multiplication is given as follows.

Let E be the vector field corresponding to the additional variable  $y = x_{N+1}$ , that is  $E = \partial_{x_{N+1}}$ . Consider two vector fields  $\tilde{X} = X + \lambda_1 E$ ,  $\tilde{Y} = Y + \lambda_2 E$ , where  $X, Y \in V, \lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C}$ . The product \* is given by the formula

$$\widetilde{X} * \widetilde{Y} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}^+} c_\alpha \frac{1 + e^\alpha}{1 - e^\alpha} \alpha(X) \alpha(Y) \alpha^{\vee} - \mu \langle X, Y \rangle E + \lambda_2 X + \lambda_1 Y + \lambda_1 \lambda_2 E.$$
(1.15)

In this algebra E plays the role of the identity of the product. The corresponding potential functions to these Frobenius algebras have the form (1.10). Shen finds the form of  $\mu$  explicitly so that multiplication (1.15) is associative which is equivalent to the flatness of connection (1.14). This can be rephrased as explicit specification of polynomial Q in (1.10). Thus it complements results from [33, 42] to the case of arbitrary invariant multiplicities for all the reduced root systems.

Solutions of WDVV equations of the form (1.10) without full Weyl symmetry were considered by Feigin in [27] where the notion of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system was introduced and its close relation with WDVV equations was established. Feigin derived geometric and algebraic conditions for a system of vectors with multiplicities so that the corresponding function of the form (1.10) for a configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  satisfies the WDVV equations (see Definition 2.6.17 for precise definition of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system). A key difference with the rational case is the existence of a rigid geometrical structure of a series decomposition of vectors from  $\mathcal{A}$  parallel to a chosen one which generalizes the notion of strings for root systems. In more detail, for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  the set of vectors in  $\mathcal{A}$  not collinear to  $\alpha$  can be decomposed as  $\mathcal{A} \setminus \langle \alpha \rangle = \bigsqcup_s \Gamma_{\alpha}^s$ , where for any two covectors  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^s$  one has either  $\gamma_1 + \gamma_2 = m\alpha$  or  $\gamma_1 - \gamma_2 = m\alpha$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . There are further algebraic conditions for each series  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^s$ . The following example illustrates such series/strings decompositions for the root system  $BC_2$ .

**Example 1.1.5.** Let  $\mathcal{A} = \{e^1, 2e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2\}$  be the positive half of the root system  $BC_2$ . Then we have the following series:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma^{1}_{e^{1}} &= \{e^{2}, e^{1} \pm e^{2}\}, \ \Gamma^{2}_{e^{1}} = \{2e^{2}\}; \ \Gamma^{1}_{e^{2}} = \{e^{1}, e^{1} \pm e^{2}\}, \ \Gamma^{2}_{e^{2}} = \{2e^{1}\}; \\ \Gamma^{1}_{2e^{1}} &= \{e^{1} \pm e^{2}\}, \ \Gamma^{2}_{2e^{1}} = \{e^{2}\}, \ \Gamma^{3}_{2e^{1}} = \{2e^{2}\}; \ \Gamma^{1}_{2e^{2}} = \{e^{1} \pm e^{2}\}, \ \Gamma^{2}_{2e^{2}} = \{e^{1}\}, \ \Gamma^{3}_{2e^{2}} = \{2e^{1}\}; \\ \Gamma^{1}_{e^{1} + e^{2}} &= \{e^{1}, e^{2}\}, \ \Gamma^{2}_{e^{1} + e^{2}} = \{2e^{1}, 2e^{2}, e^{1} - e^{2}\}; \ \Gamma^{1}_{e^{1} - e^{2}} = \{e^{1}, e^{2}\}, \ \Gamma^{2}_{e^{1} - e^{2}} = \{2e^{1}, 2e^{2}, e^{1} + e^{2}\} \end{split}$$

The algebraic conditions for each  $\alpha$ -series have the form

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta} \beta(\alpha^{\vee}) \beta = b\alpha$$
(1.16)

for some  $b \in \mathbb{C}$ , where  $\alpha^{\vee}$  is a vector corresponding to covector  $\alpha$  under a certain identification of V and  $V^*$ . Under additional conditions it was shown in [27] that configuration of covectors  $\mathcal{A}$  with multiplicities  $c: \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$  such that (1.10) is a solution of WDVV equations has to be a trigonometric  $\vee$ -system, and the converse statement holds true as well. We give a version of this result below in Theorem 1.2.1.

All irreducible trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems with up to five vectors on the plane were determined in [27] and some more examples were given.

The study of the trigonometric and rational cases is related as the next statement illustrates.

**Proposition 1.1.6.** [27] If a configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  with collection of multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system then configuration  $\sqrt{c_{\alpha}\alpha}$  is a rational  $\lor$ -system, that is  $\mathcal{F}^{rat} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(x)^2 \log \alpha(x)$  is a solution of the WDVV equations on the space V.

However, due to the presence of the extra variable y in the trigonometric case the

WDVV equations are already nontrivial for dim V = 2 while the smallest nontrivial dimension of V in the rational case is 3.

Many-parameter deformations of solutions  $\mathcal{F}^{trig}$  for the classical root systems were obtained by Pavlov from reductions of Egorov hydrodynamic chains [43]. In his work Pavlov derived an effective algorithm to construct infinitely many particular solutions of the WDVV equations written in an explicit form in the flat coordinates of corresponding Egorov hydrodynamic type systems. Closely related many-parameter family of flat connections in type  $A_N$  was considered by Shen in [47, 48].

It has been proven in [41] (see also [40]) that WDVV equations (1.1) can be written equivalently in the form

$$\mathcal{F}_i B^{-1} \mathcal{F}_j = \mathcal{F}_j B^{-1} \mathcal{F}_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N,$$
(1.17)

where B is any non-degenerate linear combination of matrices  $\mathcal{F}_k$  with functional coefficients. Solution of WDVV equations of the form (1.10) when the cubic corrections are absent, that is when Q = 0, does not exist in general even for the case of a root system  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}$  and invariant multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$ . However, such a solution is known to exist for the root system  $B_N$  and specific choice of invariant multiplicities [33]. In fact, in their derivation Hoevenaars and Martini proved that for such a solution for the root system  $B_N$ the corresponding WDVV equations (1.17) are reduced to the commutativity equations

$$\mathcal{F}_i \mathcal{F}_j = \mathcal{F}_j \mathcal{F}_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N, \tag{1.18}$$

as they found a matrix  $B = (B_{ij})_{i,j=1}^{N}$  given as a linear combination of the third order derivatives of the function  $\mathcal{F}$  which is a multiple of the identity matrix of size  $N \times N$ .

Another area where WDVV equations or rather commutativity equations (1.18) emerge is  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanics. Relations of such mechanical systems with WDVV equations were known since [56] and [9]. Similarly to the case of Seiberg-Witten theory, there is no full structure of Frobenius manifolds in these settings. In order to construct an  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanical system, N (quantum) particles on a line with coordinates  $x_j$  and momenta  $p_j = -i\partial_{x_j}$ ,  $(j = 1, \ldots, N)$  are considered. For each particle four fermionic variables  $\{\psi^{aj}, \bar{\psi}^j_a | a = 1, 2, j = 1, \ldots, N\}$  are assigned. These fermionic variables are chosen so that they obey the standard (anti)-commutation rules. The  $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry algebra then is generated by four supercharges  $\{Q^a, \bar{Q}_b | a, b = 1, 2\}$ . Those supercharges are differential operators in variables  $x_1, \ldots, x_N$  whose coefficients depend on particle coordinates  $x_1, \ldots, x_N$  and the additional (fermonic) variables  $\psi$ . The  $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry algebra has the form

$$\{Q^a, Q^b\} = \{\bar{Q}_a, \bar{Q}_b\} = 0, \quad H_{SUSY} = -\frac{1}{2}(Q^a\bar{Q}_a + \bar{Q}_aQ^a), \tag{1.19}$$

where  $H_{SUSY}$  is the supersymmetric Hamiltonian, and  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$  is the anti-commutator.

Wyllard in [56] (see also [9]) constructed a set of generators of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanics, where his ansatz for the four supercharges involves two scalar prepotentials Fand W which depend on positions of particles only. The case when the second prepotentional W = 0 was also considered in [56] (see also [30,31]). The structure of such an algebra forces functions F and W to satisfy a system of partial differential equations, which are the commutativity equations (1.18) for F [9]. Wyllard's ansatz for F has the form (1.6), where  $\mathcal{A}$  is the root system  $A_{N-1}$ . Examples with root systems  $\mathcal{A} = G_2, B_3$  were discussed in [56]. Wyllard's potential for  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supercharges was extended to other root systems in [30, 31] where solutions for a small number of particles were considered. More generally, any rational  $\lor$ -system leads to  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanical systems (see [4]). Trigonometric solutions of the form (1.10) with Q = 0 to the commutativity equations (1.18) were obtained in [3]. In this case  $\mathcal{A}$  is an irreducible root system with more than one orbit of the Weyl group, namely  $BC_N, F_4$  and  $G_2$ . These solutions were used to construct  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric Hamiltonians in [3]. This gave, in particular, supersymmetric version of quantum Calogero-Moser-Sutherland system of type  $BC_N$  with two independent coupling parameters. The corresponding solution  $\mathcal{F}$  generalizes  $B_N$  solution from [33]. More recently, other  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric extensions of Calogero–Moser–Sutherland type systems were obtained in [38] for the models with many fermionic variables, and in [22] for the models with extra spin variables.

There is also an important class of elliptic solutions of WDVV equations, which was considered by Strachan in [44, 49] where, in particular, certain solutions related to  $A_N$ and  $B_N$  root systems were found. The prepotentials appear as almost dual prepotential associated to Frobenius manifold structures on  $A_N$  and  $B_N$  Jacobi groups orbit spaces [7,8]. Such solutions appear also in six-dimensional Seiberg–Witten theory [10].

### **1.2** Present work and plan of this thesis

#### 1.2.1 Main results I (Chapter 3)

In the first part of the thesis (Chapter 3) we study trigonometric solutions  $\mathcal{F}^{trig}$  of the form (1.10) of WDVV equations. Let us explain the relation between a trigonometric  $\vee$ -system and WDVV equations.

Let  $\mathcal{A} \subset V^*$  be a finite set of covectors. Assume it belongs to a lattice of rank N. Define the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  (which will be assumed to be non-degenerate) on V by

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(x,y) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(x) \alpha(y), \quad x, y \in V.$$
(1.20)

Let  $\alpha^{\vee} \in V$  be the vector corresponding to the covector  $\alpha \in V^*$  with respect to the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$ . Let  $U \cong \mathbb{C}$  be a one-dimensional vector space. Consider a function  $F: V \oplus U \to \mathbb{C}$  of the form

$$F = \frac{1}{3}y^3 + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(x)^2 y + \lambda \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f(\alpha(x)), \qquad (1.21)$$

where  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$  and function f(z) given by (1.11).

Define the following two bilnear forms on  $\Lambda^2 V$ :

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}(z,w) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}B_{\alpha,\beta}(z)B_{\alpha,\beta}(w),$$
$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}(z,w) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}_{+}} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\beta^{\vee})B_{\alpha,\beta}(z)B_{\alpha,\beta}(w), \qquad (1.22)$$

where  $z, w \in \Lambda^2 V$ , and for any  $a, b \in V$ ,

$$B_{\alpha,\beta}(a\otimes b) = \alpha \wedge \beta(a\otimes b) = \alpha(a)\beta(b) - \alpha(b)\beta(a).$$

In the formula (1.22)  $\mathcal{A}^+$  is obtained by replacing some vectors from  $\mathcal{A}$  with their opposite ones and keeping the multiplicity unchanged so that the new configuration of vectors belongs to a half-space.

The following theorem gives the relation between WDVV equations and trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems.

**Theorem 1.2.1.** [1, 27] Under some non-degeneracy conditions, the WDVV equations (1.12) for the function (1.21) imply the following two conditions:

(1)  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system,

(2) Bilinear forms  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}$  and  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$  are proportional:  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)} = \frac{\lambda^2}{4}G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$ .

Conversely, if a configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  satisfies conditions (1) and (2) then the WDVV equations for the function (1.21) hold.

A version of Theorem 1.2.1 that relates solutions of the form (1.21) of WDVV equations with the trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems was also given in [27, Theorem 1], and it was obtained by analyzing WDVV equations for the function (1.21). In this thesis we derive and clarify condition (2) of Theorem 1.2.1. Solution (1.21) depends on a scalar  $\lambda = \lambda_{(\mathcal{A},c)}$  which is invariant under linear transformations applied to the configuration  $\mathcal{A}$ . In the case of root systems  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}$  the scalar  $\lambda_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  may be thought of as a version of generalized Coxeter number for the irreducible  $\mathcal{W}$ -module  $\Lambda^2 V$  since it is given as a ratio of the two canonical  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant symmetric bilinear forms  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}$  and  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$  on  $\Lambda^2 V$ .

We define a multiplication \* on the tangent space  $T_x(V \otimes U)$ , where  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_{N+1})$ ,

given by the formula

$$\partial_{x_i} * \partial_{x_j} = \sum_{k,l=1}^{N+1} \eta^{kl} F_{ijk} \partial_{x_l}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N+1,$$
 (1.23)

where  $\eta^{kl}$  is defined by  $\eta^{ij} = (F_{N+1}^{-1})_{ij}$ . We arrive at Theorem 1.2.1 by making use of flatness of Dubrovin connection (1.14) and the following well-known result.

**Theorem 1.2.2.** The flatness of connection (1.14) for all  $a \in \mathbb{C}$  where the multiplication \* is given by (1.23) is equivalent to WDVV equations for the function F.

By working with the flatness conditions we arrive at equivalent identities for the configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$ . These identities under some non-degeneracy conditions led to the trigonometric  $\lor$ -conditions (1.16) for each series. In our derivation we notice that certain conditions for collinear vectors should be satisfied in order to study possible singularities in the identities. Note that these conditions for collinear vectors were not considered in [27, Theorem 1] although they are needed for the analysis. Formulation of Theorem 1.2.1 in the thesis and [1] rectifies this. An important class of solutions of the form (1.21) of WDVV equations is given by root systems with  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant multiplicities as we review above. Theorem 1.2.1 gives another way to see this since any such configuration can be easily checked to be a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

A natural problem to study is the operations of taking subsystems and restrictions in the trigonometric case. Moreover, one has to clarify whether the resulting configurations form trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems or not, and whether these two processes lead to new solutions of WDVV equations. These questions are motivated by the rational version of  $\lor$ -systems. Analogous questions for the rational case were answered positively in [26] (see also [24]) for taking subsystems and in [25] for the restriction operation, see Theorem 1.1.4 above. Before we state our results for the trigonometric case, let us review the settings.

For any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  let  $\delta_{\alpha} := \{\gamma \in \mathcal{A} : \gamma \sim \alpha\}$ , where  $\sim$  stands for proportionality. Consider a subsystem  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W$  and assume that  $W = \langle \mathcal{B} \rangle$ . Let  $W^{\vee} = \{\alpha^{\vee} \in V, \alpha \in W\}$ . Define a bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{B}}$  on V by

$$G_{\mathcal{B}}(u,v) := \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta}\beta(u)\beta(v), \quad u, v \in V.$$

Define the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}} = \{x \in V : \beta(x) = 0 \ \forall \beta \in \mathcal{B}\} \subset V$ . We show that the following statements take place.

**Theorem 1.2.3.** The subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$  of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system  $\mathcal{A}$  is also a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system if  $G_{\mathcal{B}}|_{W^{\lor}}$  is non-degenerate, where  $G_{\mathcal{B}}|_{W^{\lor}}$  is the restriction of the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{B}}$  to the subspace  $W^{\lor}$ .

**Theorem 1.2.4.** Let  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  be a subsystem. Assume that prepotential F satisfies WDVV equations. Then under certain generic conditions on multiplicities, the function

$$F_{\mathcal{B}} = F_{\mathcal{B}}(\xi, y) = \frac{1}{3}y^3 + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha}\overline{\alpha}(\xi)^2 y + \lambda \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha}f(\overline{\alpha}(\xi)),$$

where  $\xi \in W_{\mathcal{B}}, \overline{\alpha} = \alpha|_{\mathcal{B}}$ , satisfies WDVV equations on  $W_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus U$ .

In contrast to the rational case, the collinear vectors in the trigonometric case should be taken into account and be dealt with as they are since proportional vectors cannot be replaced with a single vector which is the case in the rational version. Thus a set of collinear vectors  $\{k_i\alpha \colon k_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 1, \ldots, m, m \in \mathbb{N}\}$  in the rational case can be equivalently replaced by a single covector  $\tilde{\alpha} = k\alpha$ , where  $k^2 = \sum_{i=1}^m k_i^2$ . This is also true for the restricted systems where collinear vectors may appear. In the trigonometric case if the restricted system contains collinear vectors we keep them with their multiplicities and if a vectors  $\alpha$  is repeated (up to a sign) with multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}^i$  then we replace this collection with the single vector  $\alpha$  with multiplicity  $c_{\alpha} \coloneqq \sum_i c_{\alpha}^i$ .

The following example illustrates restrictions for both the rational and trigonometric cases.

**Example 1.2.5.** Let  $\mathcal{A} = \{e^1, e^2, e^3, e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm e^3, e^2 \pm e^3, \}$  be the positive half of the root system  $B_3$ . Let multiplicity  $c_{\alpha} = 1$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . Let us restrict  $\mathcal{A}$  to the hyperplane  $x_2 = x_3$ . The rational restricted system is  $\mathcal{A}^{rat} = \{e^1, \sqrt{6}e^2, \sqrt{2}(e^1 \pm e^2)\}$ , and the trigonometric restricted system is  $\mathcal{A}^{trig} = \{e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2\}$  with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{1, 2, 1, 2\}$ .

Note that we cannot show that given a solution of the form (1.21) a subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$  provides another solution. Also we cannot show that a restriction of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

In order to apply Theorem 1.2.4 for classical root systems we firstly find a family of solutions of the form (1.21) of WDVV equations corresponding to the (non-reduced) root system  $BC_N$  which depends on three independent multiplicity parameters. This result generalizes the results found in [33], [42], [11] and [47] for root systems  $D_N, B_N$  and  $C_N$ . Then we apply the restriction operation to these solutions and we obtain a family of solutions depending on (n + 3) parameters, where  $n = \dim W_B$ , which generalizes the (n + 1)-parametric family from [43]. This result is given in the following statement.

**Theorem 1.2.6.** Assume that parameters r, q, s and  $m_1, \ldots, m_n$  satisfy the relation  $r + 4s + 2q(m_i - 1) \neq 0$  for any  $1 \leq i \leq n$ . Then for a suitable subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  of dimension n

the function

$$F_{\mathcal{B}}(\xi, y) = \frac{1}{3}y^{3} + \left(r + 4s + 2q\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i} - 1\right)\right)y\sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}\xi_{i}^{2} + \lambda r\sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}f(\xi_{i}) + \lambda \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(sm_{i} + \frac{1}{2}qm_{i}(m_{i} - 1)\right)f(2\xi_{i}) + \lambda q\sum_{i$$

where  $\xi = (\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n) \in W_{\mathcal{B}}, y \in U \cong \mathbb{C}$ , satisfies the WDVV equations on  $W_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus U$ provided that  $(r + 8s + 2(\sum_{i=1}^n m_i - 2)q)q \neq 0$ .

Similarly, the restriction process for type  $A_N$  solutions gives a multi-parameter family of solutions which can be specialized to Pavlov's (n+1)-parametric family from [43] (there seem to be typos in [43] for type  $A_n$  solutions). This result can be summarized as follows.

**Theorem 1.2.7.** Let  $\xi = (\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  and  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \xi_i$ . Then prepotential

$$F = F_{\mathcal{B}}(\xi) = \left(\frac{1}{3} - t\right)y^3 + ty\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} m_k\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} m_i\xi_i^2 + 2t^{3/2}\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} m_k\sum_{i$$

satisfies WDVV equations in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  for any generic  $t, m_1, \ldots, m_{n+1} \in \mathbb{C}$ .

Solutions given by Theorems 1.2.6, 1.2.7 give certain deformations of  $BC_N$  and  $A_N$  root systems solutions depending on many parameters. We show that in rank two all trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems with small number of vectors fit into these families.

**Theorem 1.2.8.** Any trigonometric  $\lor$ -system with up to five vectors on the plane is a deformation of type  $A_2$  or  $BC_2$ .

The value of the scalar  $\lambda$  in solution (1.21) for each root system is given in the following table.

$\mathcal{R}$	$BC_N$	$G_2$	$E_6$	$E_7$	$E_8$	$F_4$	$A_N$
λ	$\frac{\sqrt{2} \left( r + 4s + 2q(N-1) \right)^{3/2}}{\sqrt{q} \left( r + 8s + 2q(N-2) \right)^{1/2}}$	$\frac{6(p+3q)}{\sqrt{p+9q}}$	$12\sqrt{2p}$	$9\sqrt{6p}$	$30\sqrt{p}$	$\frac{6\sqrt{3}(2q+p)}{\sqrt{4q+p}}$	$2(N+1)\sqrt{p}$

Table 1.1: The scalar  $\lambda$  for root systems

Here p is the multiplicity of short roots and q is the multiplicity of long roots in the case of a reduced not simply-laced root system  $\mathcal{R}$ . In the case of  $BC_N$  the multiplicities  $c_{\alpha} = c(\alpha)$  are defined as follows:

$$c(e^{i}) = r (1 \le i \le N), \ c(2e^{i}) = s (1 \le i \le N), \ c(e^{i} \pm e^{j}) = q (1 \le i < j \le N).$$
(1.24)

#### 1.2.2 Main results II (Chapter 4)

In the second part of the thesis (Capter 4), we find multiparametric family of trigonometric solutions without extra variable, that is solutions of the form (1.10) with Q = 0 for both the WDVV equations (1.17) and the commutativity equations (1.18). These solutions are associated with root system  $BC_N$  and they generalize solutions found in [33] for type  $B_N$ root systems for the WDVV equations and they also generalize two-parameter solutions found in [3] for the commutativity equations. The following statement takes place.

**Theorem 1.2.9.** Suppose that parameters r, s, q and  $m_1, \ldots, m_n$  satisfy the relation

$$r = -8s - 2q(\sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i - 2)$$

Then the prepotential

$$F = \sum_{i=1}^{n} rm_i f(x_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( sm_i + \frac{1}{2} qm_i (m_i - 1) \right) f(2x_i) + \sum_{i(1.25)$$

satisfies both the WDVV equations  $F_i F_j^{-1} F_k = F_k F_j^{-1} F_i (i, j, k = 1, ..., n)$  as well as the commutativity equations  $F_i F_j = F_j F_i (i, j = 1, ..., n)$ .

This result is established firstly for the case of WDVV equations using a version of restriction procedure, then it is proven for the commuttivity equations by specifying the matrix B as a linear combination of the third order derivatives of F which is a multiple of identity.

Restrictions of exceptional root systems by Theorem 1.2.4 give other examples of trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations of the form (1.21). We work out all twodimensional cases explicitly in the Appendix. We also note that there are trigonometric solutions which are not given as a restriction of root systems. An example is given in the next statement.

**Proposition 1.2.10.** Let a configuration  $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{C}^4$  consist of the following covectors:

$$\begin{array}{ll} e^{i}, & \mbox{with multiplicity} & p, & 1 \leq i \leq 3, \\ e^{4}, & \mbox{with multiplicity} & q, \\ e^{i} \pm e^{j}, & \mbox{with multiplicity} & r, & 1 \leq i < j \leq 3, \\ \frac{1}{2}(e^{1} \pm e^{2} \pm e^{3} \pm e^{4}), & \mbox{with multiplicity} & s, \end{array}$$

where  $p, q, r, s \in \mathbb{C}$  are such that  $4r + s \neq 0$ . Then this configuration is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and the corresponding prepotential of the form (1.21) gives a solution of WDVV equations for some  $\lambda$  provided that p = 2r + s,  $q = \frac{s(s-2r)}{4r+s}$  and  $ps \neq 0$ .

#### CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

In analogy with trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems, we define Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems. In this case we have a Euclidean vector space V with inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  and a collection of vectors  $\mathcal{A} \subset V$  with multiplicity function  $c: \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ . The bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  given by (1.20) is replaced in the considerations by the inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ . The class of Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems contains root systems with Weyl invariant multiplicity.

Let us consider the function F given by the formula

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, x)).$$
(1.26)

We are interested in configurations  $\mathcal{A}$  with a multiplicity function  $c(\alpha) = c_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , such that the following commutativity equations hold:

$$F_i F_j = F_j F_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N,$$
 (1.27)

where  $F_i$  is the  $N \times N$  matrix with entries

$$(F_i)_{pq} = F_{ipq} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial x_i \partial x_p \partial x_q}.$$

We investigate the relation between the commutativity equations (1.27) for the function (1.26) and the class of Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems. Analogously to Theorem 1.2.1 the following statement clarifies this relation.

**Theorem 1.2.11.** Under some non-degeneracy conditions, the commutativity equations (1.27) for the prepotential (1.26) imply the following two conditions:

(1)  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system,

(2)  $\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}_+} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}(\alpha,\beta)B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b)\alpha \wedge \beta = 0$  for every  $a,b\in V$ .

Conversely, if a configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  satisfies conditions (1), (2) then commutativity equations (1.27) hold.

Similarly to the trigonometric  $\lor$ -system case we show that the class of Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system (under some non-degeneracy conditions) is closed under the natural operation of taking subsystems. We also show that the natural restriction process can be applied to a given solution of the commutativity equations (1.27) to get new solutions.

We apply the restriction operation to the known solutions of the form (1.26) corresponding to root systems  $BC_N$  and  $F_4$  and we get new solutions by this procedure. These new solutions imply existence of certain  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric Hamiltonians. We find a multiparameter family of Hamiltonians which extends the supersymmetric Hamiltonians found in [3] in the case of  $BC_N$ . This result is given as follows. **Theorem 1.2.12.** Let  $\widehat{\mathcal{A}} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  be the configuration of vectors  $\alpha$  with multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$  given by

$$\begin{split} m_i^{-1/2} e_i, & \text{with multiplicity} \quad rm_i, \quad 1 \leq i \leq n, \\ 2m_i^{-1/2} e_i, & \text{with multiplicity} \quad sm_i + \frac{1}{2} qm_i(m_i - 1), \quad 1 \leq i \leq n, \\ m_i^{-1/2} e_i \pm m_j^{-1/2} e_j, & \text{with multiplicity} \quad qm_i m_j, \quad 1 \leq i < j \leq n, \end{split}$$

where  $m_1, \ldots, m_n \in \mathbb{C}^*$ . Let the Hamiltonian H be given by

$$H = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i^2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} \frac{c_{\alpha}(\alpha, \alpha)^2}{\sin^2(\alpha, x)} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\alpha, \beta \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \alpha) (\beta, \beta) (\alpha, \beta) \cot(\alpha, x) \cot(\beta, x) + \Phi,$$

with the fermionic term

$$\Phi = \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} \frac{2c_{\alpha}\alpha_{i}\alpha_{j}}{\sin^{2}(\alpha, x)} \Big( \alpha_{l}\alpha_{k}\epsilon_{bc}\epsilon_{ad}\psi^{bi}\psi^{cj}\bar{\psi}_{d}^{l}\bar{\psi}_{a}^{k} + (\alpha, \alpha)\psi^{ai}\bar{\psi}_{a}^{j} \Big),$$

where  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n)$  and summation over repeated indices is assumed. Then H can be included into  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetry algebra for suitable supercharges  $Q^a$ ,  $\bar{Q}_b$ , a, b = 1, 2.

We also find new supersymmetric Hamiltonians corresponding to restrictions of the root system  $F_4$ .

We also show that under certain assumptions Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system defines a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

#### 1.2.3 Main results III (Chapter 5)

In the final part of the thesis (Chapter 5) we establish and explore the close relation between the set of commutativity equations (1.27) and the WDVV equations

$$F_i B^{-1} F_j = F_j B^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N,$$
(1.28)

where B is any non-degenerate linear combination of matrices  $F_k$  with functional coefficients. Starting with a function  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  that satisfies commutativity equations (1.27), the question arises under what conditions one can obtain a linear combination B of the third order derivatives of F which is a multiple of the identity matrix so that the two sets of equations (1.27) and (1.28) become equivalent. We answer this question and reveal the sufficient non-degeneracy condition formulated as maximality of rank of a certain matrix associated with prepotential F. We give a general formula for the constant metric  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{N} A^k F_k$  for arbitrary dimension N, where functions  $A^k$  are given as specific determinants of matrices of size N - 1. Namely,

$$A^{k} = (-1)^{k+1} \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{212} & \cdots & F_{(k-1)12} & F_{(k+1)12} & \cdots & F_{N12} \\ F_{113} & F_{213} & \cdots & F_{(k-1)13} & F_{(k+1)13} & \cdots & F_{N13} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ F_{11N} & F_{21N} & \cdots & F_{(k-1)1N} & F_{(k+1)1N} & \cdots & F_{N1N} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.29)

The following statement relates the commutativity equations and WDVV equations for arbitrary dimension N.

**Theorem 1.2.13.** Assume that a function  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  on  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^N$  satisfies the commutativity equations (1.27). Suppose that for a fixed  $i_0, 1 \leq i_0 \leq N$  the rank of the matrix  $(F_{i_0i_j})$  where  $1 \leq i, j \leq N, i \neq i_0$  is N - 1. Suppose also that there exists a nondegenerate linear combination  $\sum_{i=1}^N \eta^i F_i$  for some functions  $\eta^i$ . Then F is a solution of WDVV equations (1.28), where the matrix B is given by  $B = \sum_{k=1}^N A^k F_k$  and functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (1.29). Moreover, B is proportional to the identity matrix.

The vector field  $\sum_{k=1}^{N} A^k \partial_{x_k}$  corresponding to the metric *B* is in fact proportional to the identity vector field of the natural associative multiplication on the tangent spaces  $T_*V$  given by

$$\partial_u * \partial_v = u^i v^j F_{ijk} \partial_{x^k}. \tag{1.30}$$

Thus Theorem 1.2.13 implies the existence of the identity vector field for the multiplication (1.30). We also give a generalized version of Theorem 1.2.13 in which the standard metric  $\delta_{ij}$  is replaced with an arbitrary constant (non-degenerate) metric g. In this case we consider equations of the form

$$F_{ij\alpha}g^{\alpha\beta}F_{\beta kl} = F_{kj\alpha}g^{\alpha\beta}F_{\beta il}, \qquad (1.31)$$

where the summation over repeated indices is assumed. Under certain non-degeneracy conditions we show that  $g_{\alpha\beta} = \sum_k \eta^k F_{k\alpha\beta}$  for some functions  $\eta^k$ .

Theorem 1.2.13 allows us to obtain new solutions of WDVV equations from known solutions of the commutativity equations. We apply these results to solutions of the form (1.26). Commutativity equations for function F of the form (1.26), where  $\mathcal{A}$  is a root system, are known to be satisfied if there are more than one orbits of the Weyl group of the root system  $\mathcal{A}$ , and multiplicities of different orbits have to be related (see [3]). This leads to new solutions of WDVV equations for root systems  $BC_N$  and  $F_4$  and their restrictions. The corresponding identity fields can be given explicitly as the following statement demonstrates for  $\mathcal{A} = BC_N^+$ , the positive half of the root system  $BC_N$ .

2q(N-2). Then the vector filed

$$e = h^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sin 2x_k \partial_{x_k},$$

where  $h = 2q \sum_{k=1}^{N} \cos 2x_k + r$ , is the identity vector field for the multiplication (1.30), where function F is given by

$$F = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( rf(x_i) + sf(2x_i) \right) + q \sum_{i$$

We also find the identity vector field for the remaining cases of  $F_4$  and  $G_2$ . The following statement reveals the explicit formula of the identity field e for root system  $F_4$  under a specific relation between the two multiplicities.

**Proposition 1.2.15.** Let r be the multiplicity of the short roots and q be the multiplicity of the long roots of root system  $F_4$ . The identity vector field e for  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  under the condition r = -2q is given by the formula

$$e = h^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k \partial_{x_k},$$
 (1.32)

where function h is given by the formula

$$h(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 12q + \sum_{\alpha \in F_4^+} c_\alpha \cos(2(\alpha, x)) \right), \tag{1.33}$$

and functions  $A^k$  are given by the formula

$$A^{k} = \sin x_{k} \Big( \cos x_{k} (-1 + \sum_{i \neq k} \cos 2x_{i}) - 2 \prod_{i \neq k} \cos x_{i} \Big).$$

The only other possibility for the multiplicities of root system  $F_4$  for the commutativity equations to hold is r = -4q, and it is dealt with as well.

For the root system  $G_2$  its multiplicities p, q have to satisfy the condition (p + 3q)(p + 9q) = 0 for the commutativity equations to hold [3]. We find the identity field explicitly in both cases.

We also deal with the restrictions of a given solution of the commutativity equations and observe that the identity vector field of a restricted system can be obtained by restricting the identity vector field of the original system. We apply this to the three-dimensional restrictions of root system  $F_4$  (along the hyperplanes  $x_4 = 0$  and  $x_3 = x_4$ ), and we find the corresponding identity vector fields and deduce new solutions of WDVV equations of the form (1.26).

Let us now describe the structure of the thesis more specifically.

#### 1.2.4 Structure of the thesis

Chapter 2 contains introductory material on the theory of Frobenius manifolds. We describe the foundation and background topics which are relevant to our subsequent chapters. These include the notations, basic definitions, and results one should be familiar with so that to make the thesis self-contained.

In Section 2.1 we start by giving a brief introduction to the notions of Frobenius algebra and Frobenius manifold as well as the appearance of the associativity (WDVV) equations in these contexts. In Section 2.2 we recall key notions and some general properties of Dubrovin connection which will be useful later. In Section 2.3 the concept of almost Frobenius structure and its construction is reviewed including the intersection form and Dubrovin's almost duality. Orbit spaces of finite Coxeter groups examples are discussed in Section 2.4 as an important class of Frobenius manifolds which admits polynomial prepotentials.

Section 2.5 is devoted to reviewing the rational solutions of WDVV equations corresponding to the class of (rational)  $\lor$ -systems. We also recall the natural operations of restriction and taking subsystems of a  $\lor$ -system.

In Section 2.6 we introduce the class of trigonometric solutions F of WDVV equations which involve an extra variable. These solutions are of the form (1.21) and are associated with a configuration of vectors  $\mathcal{A}$  with multiplicity function  $c: \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ . We give the corresponding associative multiplication explicitly in Propositions 2.6.4, 2.6.5. Then we work out Dubrovin's connection explicitly and relate its flatness with WDVV equations for the prepotential (1.21) in Theorem 2.6.14, which is known in general theory of Frobenius manifolds.

In Subsection 2.6.2 we present the notion of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and we derive some identities from the flatness condition of Dubrovin connections which lead to the statement that relates trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems and WDVV equations. We present this result in Theorem 2.6.21 (see also Theorem 1.2.1 above). Note that this result was essentially given in [27], where it was derived from the WDVV equations directly. We also note that some conditions regarding collinear vectors were missing in [27], and we clarify the conditions which trigonometric  $\lor$ -system should satisfy in order to give a solution of WDVV equations.

In Section 2.7 we introduce root systems of Weyl groups and prove that they give examples of trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems. We also review the trigonometric solutions related to root systems which can be found in [11, 33, 42, 47, 48].

We review the notion of Coxeter number and we give a version of generalized Coxeter

number in Section 2.8. The additional condition for a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system in our Theorem 2.6.21 can be interpreted in terms of this number.

Considerations of Chapter 2 except for Sections 2.6.2, 2.7 are known from the previous literature. The main new statement which is Theorem 2.6.21 improves its earlier version from [27].

In Chapter 3 we investigate operations of taking subsystems and restrictions in Sections 3.1 and 3.2 respectively. Thus in Theorem 3.1.9 we show that a subsystem of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system is also a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. Then in Theorem 3.2.4 we show that one can restrict solutions of WDVV equations of the form (1.10) to the intersections of hyperplanes to get new solutions. These results are analogous to the results for the rational  $\lor$ -systems case.

In Section 3.3 we find solutions  $\mathcal{F}^{trig}$  for the root system  $BC_N$  which depend on three parameters. By applying restrictions we obtain in Sections 3.3 and 3.4 the multi-parameter families of solutions  $\mathcal{F}^{trig}$  for the classical root systems thus recovering and extending results from [43]. In the case of  $BC_N$  we get a family of solutions depending on N + 3parameters which can be specialized to Pavlov's (N + 1)-parametric family from [43]. These solutions are given in Theorem 3.3.5 (see also Theorem 1.2.6 above). In Section 3.5 we consider solutions  $\mathcal{F}^{trig}$  for  $N = \dim V \leq 4$ . We show that solutions with up to five vectors on the plane belong to deformations of classical root systems. The statement is given in Propositions 3.5.4, 3.5.5 (see also Theorem 1.2.8 above). We also get new examples of solutions  $\mathcal{F}^{trig}$  of the form (1.10) some of which cannot be obtained as restrictions of solutions (1.10) for the root systems, see for example Proposition 1.2.10 above. Other examples are also given in the chapter.

In Section 3.6 we revisit solutions  $\mathcal{F}^{trig}$  for the root systems studied in [11,33,42,47,48]. The polynomial Q in this case depends on a scalar  $\gamma_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  which is determined in these references for any invariant multiplicity function  $c: \mathcal{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ . We give a formula for  $\gamma_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  in terms of the highest root of  $\mathcal{R}$  generalizing a statement from [11] for special multiplicities. The result corresponding to all the reduced not simply-laced root systems  $\mathcal{R}$  is given in Proposition 3.7.2.

We also find a related scalar  $\lambda_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  which is invariant under linear transformations applied to the root system  $\mathcal{R}$ . This scalar may be thought of as a version of generalized Coxeter number (see e.g. [28]) for the irreducible  $\mathcal{W}$ -module  $\Lambda^2 V$  since it is given as a ratio of two canonical  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant symmetric bilinear forms on  $\Lambda^2 V$ . The main results of Chapter 3 are published in [1].

In Chapter 4 we consider trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations without extra variable. We review such solutions found in the previous literature in Section 4.1. In Section 4.2 we generalize solution of the form (1.10) with Q = 0 corresponding to  $B_N$  root systems found in [33] so that it is included in (N + 2)-parametric family. The underlying configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  is the positive half of  $BC_N$  root system, and multiplicities are chosen in a specific way. In order to get such a solution, we find firstly a two-parameter family of solutions where the configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  is the positive half of  $BC_N$  and multiplicities are Weylinvariant. We find a metric B given as a linear combination of the third order derivatives for these prepotentials, so that it is a multiple of the identity. The choice of the metric B is motivated by the metric B for the root system  $B_N$  which is contained in [33]. Then we generalize these considerations in Section 4.3 to obtain the family of solutions with many parameters corresponding to  $BC_N$  solutions by taking special restrictions of these solutions using procedure similar to one we applied in Section 3.3. This result is given in Theorem 4.3.7.

In Section 4.4 we recall the construction of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanics and their relations with the trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations. Then we use the multiparameter deformation of  $BC_N$  solutions to construct  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanical systems. Thus we extend Hamiltonians with two independent coupling parameters found in [3] into multiparameter family. This result is given in Theorem 4.4.7. The above considerations of Chapter 4 are joint work with G. Antoniou and M. Feigin published in [2].

In Section 4.5 we define Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems for which the bilinear form (1.20) is replaced by the standard inner product. We establish a close relation between the commutativity equations with the class of Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems and generalize a result given in [3] for root systems.

In Section 4.6 we discuss the natural operation of taking a subsystem and show that (under some non-degeneracy conditions) the subsystem of a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system is also a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

In Section 4.7 we discuss the relation between Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems and trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems and show that an irreducible Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system (under a non-degeneracy assumption). We also study the relation between Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems and (rational) complex Euclidean  $\lor$ -systems, which were introduced in [26] as a generalization of (rational)  $\lor$ -systems to the class when the canonical form degenerates. We prove that if  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  is an irreducible Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system then the set  $\{\sqrt{c_{\alpha}\alpha}\}$  is a (rational) complex Euclidean  $\lor$ -system.

Finally, in Section 4.8 we apply the restriction procedure to a given solution of the commutativity equations and prove that under some assumptions one can get new solutions throughout this process. These multi-parameter solutions can be applied to construct  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanical systems.

In Chapter 5 we investigate the relation between the set of commutativity equations and the set of WDVV equations in N-dimensional space. We show that under some nondegeneracy conditions the function F which satisfies the commutativity equations also satisfies the WDVV equations. This is done by showing that the commutativity equations lead to the existence of a non-degenerate linear combination (metric) B of matrices of the third order derivatives  $F_k$  with functional coefficients  $A^k$ , (k = 1, ..., N) where the matrix  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{N} A^k F_k$  is proportional to the identity matrix. Therefore WDVV equations follow from the commutativity equations. This leads to new solutions of WDVV equations.

Another way to interpret the linear combination  $\sum_{k=1}^{N} A^k F_k$  is to note that the corresponding vector field  $\sum_{k=1}^{N} A^k \partial_{x_k}$  is a multiple of the identity vector field for the natural product associated with solution F of the commutativity equations. In Section 5.3 we find the formula for the identity vector field in terms of F for arbitrary dimension N. In Subsection 5.5.1 we apply these results to establish that Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems lead to solutions of commutativity equations provided that certain additional conditions hold. In Subsections 5.5.4–5.5.7 we give examples to illustrate these results for the root system  $F_4$  and its restrictions as well as for the root system  $G_2$ .

In the Appendix we present explicitly all the two-dimensional trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems which are restrictions of root systems. We finish the appendix by listing all the known trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems on the plane.

## Chapter 2

## Frobenius manifolds structures

In this chapter we provide an overview of notations, basic definitions and results including rational and trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems, which one should be familiar with throughout the rest of the thesis. We give a brief introduction to the notions of Frobenius algebra and Frobenius manifold and we review the appearance of the associativity (WDVV) equations in these contexts, which feature in this work.

### 2.1 Frobenius manifolds and WDVV equations

In this section we start by giving a brief introduction to the notion of Frobenius Algebra and some general properties of Dubrovin connection which which will be useful later.

**Definition 2.1.1.** [17] Let A be some N-dimensional vector space over  $\mathbb{C}$  endowed with a symmetric non-degenerate bilinear form (metric)  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on A and a commutative multiplication of vectors

$$\circ \colon A \times A \to A.$$

Then the 4-tuple  $(A, \circ, e, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$  is said to constitute a (commutative, associative) Frobenius algebra if the following conditions hold:

- 1.  $(A, \circ)$  is a commutative associative algebra over  $\mathbb{C}$  with unity e;
- 2. The symmetric non-degenerate bilinear form  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  together with the multiplication  $\circ$  satisfy the following condition (Frobenius condition)

$$\langle X \circ Y, Z \rangle = \langle X, Y \circ Z \rangle, \quad X, Y, Z \in A.$$

**Remark 2.1.2.** Let  $\omega \in A^*$  ( $\omega \colon A \to \mathbb{C}$ ), be the map defined by

$$\omega(v) = \langle e, v \rangle.$$

Then we have

$$\omega(u \circ v) = \langle e, u \circ v \rangle = \langle e \circ u, v \rangle = \langle u, v \rangle.$$

Hence the non-degenerate metric  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  determines the form  $\omega$  and visa-versa. This linear form  $\omega$  is often called a trace form (or Frobenius form).

A Frobenius manifold has such a family of Frobenius algebra structure on each of its tangent space which also possesses some additional properties. Before we state the definition of the Frobenius manifold, let us introduce two tensors as follows.

Let  $\nabla$  be the Levi-Civita connection of the metric  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ , which has zero curvature, and let us define the (0,3)-tensor c given by the formula

$$c(X, Y, Z) \coloneqq \langle X \circ Y, Z \rangle, \tag{2.1}$$

as well as the (0,4)- tensor  $(\nabla_W c)(X,Y,Z)$ , which is given by the formula

$$\left(\nabla_W c\right)(X,Y,Z) \coloneqq \nabla_W \left(c(X,Y,Z)\right) - c(\nabla_W X,Y,Z) - c(X,\nabla_W Y,Z) - c(X,Y,\nabla_W Z).$$
(2.2)

Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be an N-dimensional complex smooth manifold equipped with a (non-degenerate) metric  $\eta$  which does not need to be positive definite. For any  $p \in \mathcal{M}$  we denote by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_p$ the restriction of  $\eta$  to the tangent space  $T_p\mathcal{M}$ . Sometimes we will omit  $p \in \mathcal{M}$  in the notation  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_p$ . Let  $\circ: T_p\mathcal{M} \times T_p\mathcal{M} \to T_p\mathcal{M}$  be a commutative, associative multiplication such that  $T_p\mathcal{M}$  is a Frobenius algebra. Let  $e \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M})$  be the unity vector field for the multiplication  $\circ$ . Denote the Levi-Civita connection of the metric  $\eta$  by  $\nabla$ . Now we give the definition of a Frobenius manifold.

**Definition 2.1.3.** [17] The set  $(\mathcal{M}, \circ, e, \eta, \mathcal{E})$  is a Frobenius manifold, where  $\mathcal{E} \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M})$ , if the following properties hold:

- 1. The metric  $\eta$  is flat,
- 2. The unit vector field e is flat, that is  $\nabla e = 0$ ,
- 3. The two tensors c(X, Y, Z) and  $(\nabla_W c)(X, Y, Z)$  given by formulas (2.1), (2.2) respectively are totally symmetric,
- 4. The vector field  $\mathcal{E}$  is linear in the flat variables, such that the corresponding group of diffeomorphisms acts by conformal transformation on the metric and by rescalings on the algebra on  $T_t \mathcal{M}$ , namely
  - $\nabla(\nabla \mathcal{E}) = 0$ ,
  - $\mathcal{E}\langle X, Y \rangle \langle [\mathcal{E}, X], Y \rangle \langle X, [\mathcal{E}, Y] \rangle = D \langle X, Y \rangle,$
•  $[\mathcal{E}, X \circ Y] - [\mathcal{E}, X] \circ Y - X \circ [\mathcal{E}, Y] = d_1 X \circ Y,$ for some constants  $D, d_1$ .

These axioms of the existence of the two totally symmetric tensors together with the successive application of the Poincaré Lemma imply a local existence of a prepotential F (called the free energy of the Frobenius manifold) which satisfies the WDVV equations of associativity in the flat coordinates of the metric on  $\mathcal{M}$ . Before we explain this fact in the following statement, let us first explain the notion of a flat coordinates by recalling some facts from the Riemannian geometry.

Let  $\{x_k\}_{k=1}^N$  be a smooth coordinate system on an N-dimensional smooth manifold  $\mathcal{M}$ . With respect to this smooth coordinate system, let  $\partial_i \coloneqq \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$ . Then locally, the Levi-Civita connection  $\nabla$  can be described by how it behaves on the basis field  $\{\partial_i\}$  by

$$\nabla_{\partial_i}\partial_j = \sum_{k=1}^N \Gamma_{ij}^k \partial_k, \qquad (2.3)$$

where the connection coefficients  $\Gamma_{ij}^k : U \to \mathbb{C}$  are called the *Christoffel symbols*. Now, let us consider two vector fields  $X = \sum_{i=1}^N f_i \partial_i$ ,  $Y = \sum_{j=1}^N g_j \partial_j$ , where  $f, g \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})$ . Then by the properties of the connection and formula (2.3) it is easy to see that

$$\nabla_X Y = \sum_{i=1}^N \left( \sum_{j=1}^N f_j \partial_j g_i + \sum_{j,k=1}^N \Gamma^i_{jk} f_j g_k \right) \partial_i.$$

If the metric is flat then there exists a coordinate system such that components of the metric are constant and the Christoffel symbols of the Levi-Civita connection of the metric are zero.

**Proposition 2.1.4.** Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be an N-dimensional complex smooth manifold. Then there exists locally a single holomorphic function  $F = F(t_1, \ldots, t_N)$  defined on some region  $\mathcal{M} \subset \mathbb{C}^N$  and unique up to a polynomial of degree two such that

$$\frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial_{t_i}\partial_{t_j}\partial_{t_k}} = c(\frac{\partial}{\partial_{t_i}}, \frac{\partial}{\partial_{t_j}}, \frac{\partial}{\partial_{t_k}}).$$

where c is the tensor given by (2.1) and  $\{t_k\}_{k=1}^N$  is some flat coordinates on  $\mathcal{M}$ .

Proof. It is known by Poincaré Lemma that one can locally solve the equation  $\partial_k F = \mathcal{G}_k$ if and only if the condition  $\partial_k \mathcal{G}_l = \partial_l \mathcal{G}_k$  is satisfied for all k, l. Since  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is flat, one can choose the flat coordinates  $\{t_k\}_{k=1}^N$  such that the functions  $\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial t_p}, \frac{\partial}{\partial t_q} \rangle$  are constants. Let  $\partial_p := \frac{\partial}{\partial t_p}$ , and  $c_{ijk} = c(\partial_i, \partial_j, \partial_k)$ . By the axioms of the Frebinus manifold the tensor  $(\nabla_W c)(X, Y, Z)$  is totally symmetric, also note that in *t*-coordinates the tensor (2.2) reduces to  $(\nabla_{\partial_p} c)(\partial_i, \partial_j, \partial_k) = \partial_p c_{ijk}$ . Then by Poincaré Lemma we can introduce a potential  $H_{jk}$  such that

$$c_{ijk} = \partial_i (H_{jk}).$$

But again by the axioms the tensor  $c_{ijk}$  is also totally symmetric, hence we have  $c_{ijk} = c_{jik}$ , that is  $\partial_i(H_{jk}) = \partial_j(H_{ik})$ , with  $H_{ik} = H_{ki}$  (since  $c_{ijk}$  is totally symmetric). Then Poincaré Lemma implies that we can introduce a potential  $\mathcal{G}_k$  such that

$$H_{ik} = \partial_i \mathcal{G}_k$$

Since  $H_{ik} = H_{ki}$  then we have

$$\partial_i \mathcal{G}_k = \partial_k \mathcal{G}_i,$$

which again by Poincaré Lemma implies that there exists a prepotential F such that

$$\mathcal{G}_k = \partial_k F.$$

Hence the prepotential F exists, moreover,  $c_{ijk} = \partial_i \partial_j \partial_k F$ .

**Proposition 2.1.5.** In the notations of Proposition 2.1.4, the associativity of the product • is equivalent to the following condition

$$c_{ijk}(t)\eta^{kn}c_{lmn}(t) = c_{ljk}(t)\eta^{kn}c_{imn}(t), \quad c_{ijm} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial t_i \partial t_j \partial t_m}, \tag{2.4}$$

for any  $1 \leq i, j, l, m \leq N$ .

*Proof.* By choosing the variables  $t_k$   $(1 \le k \le N)$  to be flat coordinates of the metric  $\eta$ , together with the condition  $\nabla e = 0$  means this can be done in such a way that  $e = \frac{\partial}{\partial t_1}$ . Hence by the normalization  $\partial_1 \coloneqq \frac{\partial}{\partial t_1} = e$ , we have

$$\eta_{ij} \coloneqq \langle \partial_i, \partial_j \rangle = \langle e \circ \partial_i, \partial_j \rangle = c_{1ij}$$

is a constant non-degenerate matrix. Let  $\eta^{ij} = (\eta_{ij})^{-1}$ . Then the components of the product  $\circ$  are given by the functions

$$c_{ij}^k = \eta^{kl} c_{ijl}, \tag{2.5}$$

which define an associative, commutative algebra

$$\partial_i \circ \partial_j|_t \coloneqq c_{ij}^k(t)\partial_k \tag{2.6}$$

on each tangent space  $T_t \mathcal{M}$  with unity e. By Proposition 2.1.4 the function F exists and satisfies that  $c_{ijm} = \partial_i \partial_j \partial_m F$ . The associativity of the multiplication  $\circ$  reads in

*t*-coordinates

$$(\partial_i \circ \partial_j) \circ \partial_m = \partial_i \circ (\partial_j \circ \partial_m),$$

which is by formulae (2.5), (2.6) leads to following system of nonlinear partial differential equations for the function F:

$$c_{ijk}(t)\eta^{kn}c_{lmn}(t) = c_{ljk}(t)\eta^{kn}c_{imn}(t),$$

for any  $1 \leq i, j, l, m \leq N$  as required.

**Remark 2.1.6.** (1) Equations (2.4) are known as the WDVV equations after Edward Witten, Robbert Dijkgraaf, Erik Verlinde, and Herman Verlinde who discovered the system of these equations for the first time [17].

(2) The invariant properties (4) in Definition 2.1.3 with respect to the Euler vector field lead to demanding F be a quasi-homogeneous function, namely,

$$\mathcal{E}(F) = d_F F + \text{quadratic polynomial in } t, \qquad (2.7)$$

for some constant  $d_F$ .

The curvature form of any connection  $\nabla$  is defined by

$$R(X,Y)Z \coloneqq [\nabla_X, \nabla_Y]Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]}Z, \quad X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}).$$
(2.8)

We say that  $\nabla$  is a *flat connection* if it has zero curvature. The connection  $\nabla$  is said to be *torsion free* if it satisfies the condition:

$$\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X = [X, Y], \tag{2.9}$$

where  $[\cdot, \cdot]$  is the Lie bracket operator and X, Y are any smooth vector fields. The connection  $\nabla$  is said to be *compatible with the metric*  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  if it satisfies

$$Z\langle X, Y \rangle = \langle \nabla_Z X, Y \rangle + \langle X, \nabla_Z Y \rangle$$

## 2.2 Dubrovin connection

Dubrovin connection (deformed flat connection) is a one-parameter family of flat connections which is defined on a Frobenius manifold as follows. Let  $\nabla$  be a Levi-Civita connection of a metric  $\eta$ , and  $\circ$  define a multiplication of tangent vectors on a manifold  $\mathcal{M}$ . Then Dubrovin Connection  $\widetilde{\nabla}^{\mu}$  for any  $\mu \in \mathbb{C}$  (here  $\mu$  is called the spectral parameter) has the form

$$\widetilde{\nabla}^{\mu}_{X}Y = \nabla_{X}Y + \mu X \circ Y. \tag{2.10}$$

In the following two propositions we show some general properties for the Dubrovin connection (2.10).

**Proposition 2.2.1.** The Dubrovin connection (2.10) is torsion free for any  $\mu$  if and only if the product  $\circ$  is commutative.

*Proof.* By formula (2.10) we have

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_X^{\mu} Y - \widetilde{\nabla}_Y^{\mu} X - [X, Y] = \left( \nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X - [X, Y] \right) + \mu \left( X \circ Y - Y \circ X \right)$$
$$= \mu \left( X \circ Y - Y \circ X \right)$$

since the Levi-Civita connection  $\nabla$  is a flat connection. This implies the statement.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 2.2.2.** Assume that the product  $\circ$  is commutative and the tensor c(X, Y, Z) is a totally symmetric tensor. Then Dubrovin connection (2.10) is flat for any  $\mu$  if and only if the product  $\circ$  is associative and the tensor  $T(X, Y, Z, W) = (\nabla_W c)(X, Y, Z)$  given by (2.2) is totally symmetric.

*Proof.* By the definition of Dubrovin connection (2.10) its curvature (2.8) takes the form

$$\widetilde{R}^{\mu}(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z + \mu \Big( \nabla_X (Y \circ Z) - \nabla_Y (X \circ Z) + X \circ \nabla_Y Z - Y \circ \nabla_X Z - [X,Y] \circ Z \Big) + \mu^2 \Big( X \circ (Y \circ Z) - Y \circ (X \circ Z) \Big),$$
(2.11)

where R(X, Y)Z is the curvature of the Levi-Civita connection  $\nabla$  and it is equal to zero since it is a flat connection. Together with the commutativity of the product  $\circ$  relation (2.11) reduces to the form

$$\widetilde{R}^{\mu}(X,Y)Z = \mu \Big( \nabla_X (Y \circ Z) - \nabla_Y (X \circ Z) + X \circ \nabla_Y Z - Y \circ \nabla_X Z - [X,Y] \circ Z \Big) + \mu^2 \Big( X \circ (Z \circ Y) - (X \circ Z) \circ Y \Big).$$
(2.12)

While the vanishing of  $\mu^2$ -terms gives rise to the associativity of the multiplication  $\circ$ , we will show that the vanishing of  $\mu$ -terms is equivalent to the totally symmetric of the tensor T(X, Y, Z, W). To do so, let us take the product of  $\mu$ -terms with any vector field  $W \in T\mathcal{M}$  via the bilinear form  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ , where  $\langle u, v \rangle = \eta(u, v), u, v \in T_*\mathcal{M}$ . Then by the compatibility and torsion freeness of the Levi-Civita connection we have

$$\langle \nabla_X (Y \circ Z) - \nabla_Y (X \circ Z) + X \circ \nabla_Y Z - Y \circ \nabla_X Z - [X, Y] \circ Z, W \rangle$$
  
=  $\left( \nabla_X \langle Y \circ Z, W \rangle - \langle Y \circ Z, \nabla_X W \rangle \right) - \left( \nabla_Y \langle X \circ Z, W \rangle - \langle X \circ Z, \nabla_Y W \rangle \right)$   
+  $\langle X \circ \nabla_Y Z, W \rangle - \langle Y \circ \nabla_X Z, W \rangle - \langle \nabla_X Y \circ Z, W \rangle + \langle \nabla_Y X \circ Z, W \rangle.$ (2.13)

Using the notation  $c(X, Y, Z) = \langle X \circ Y, Z \rangle$  relation (2.13) can be rearranged as

$$\langle \nabla_X (Y \circ Z) - \nabla_Y (X \circ Z) + X \circ \nabla_Y Z - Y \circ \nabla_X Z - [X, Y] \circ Z, W \rangle$$

$$= \left( \nabla_X \left( c(Y, Z, W) \right) - c(\nabla_X Y, Z, W) - c(Y, \nabla_X Z, W) - c(Y, Z, \nabla_X W) \right)$$

$$- \left( \nabla_Y \left( c(X, Z, W) \right) - c(\nabla_Y X, Z, W) - c(Y, \nabla_X Z, W) - (X, Z, \nabla_Y W) \right)$$

$$= \left( \nabla_X c \right) (Y, Z, W) - \left( \nabla_Y c \right) (X, Z, W) = T(Y, Z, W, X) - T(X, Z, W, Y).$$
(2.14)

Since c(X, Y, Z) is a totally symmetric tensor, then relation (2.14) tells that vanishing of  $\mu$ terms is equivalent to the symmetric of the tensor T(X, Y, Z, W) in all its four arguments. Hence the statement follows by the above discussion together with relation (2.12).

**Remark 2.2.3.** Proposition 2.2.2 guarantees that on a Frobenius manifold,  $\tilde{\nabla}^{\mu}$  is flat for all  $\mu$ .

The following two propositions are general facts that hold for any connection  $\nabla$  on the tangent bundle TW, where W is a vector space.

**Proposition 2.2.4.** Let  $\nabla$  be a connection on the tangent bundle TW, where W is a vector space of dimension N. Let  $x_1, \ldots, x_N$  be coordinates in W and let  $\partial_i \coloneqq \partial_{x_i}$ ,  $(i = 1, \ldots, N)$ , be the corresponding constant vector fields. Define  $\nabla_i \coloneqq \nabla_{\partial_{x_i}}$ . Then  $[\nabla_i, \nabla_j]\partial_k = 0$  for all k implies that  $[\nabla_i, \nabla_j](Z) = 0$ , where  $Z = \sum_{i=1}^N z_i(x)\partial_i \in \Gamma(TW)$ .

Proof. We have

$$\nabla_j(Z) = \sum_{k=1}^N z_k(x) \nabla_j(\partial_k) + \sum_{k=1}^N (\partial_j z_k) \partial_k.$$

Hence we have

$$\nabla_i \nabla_j (Z) = \sum_{k=1}^N z_k \nabla_i \nabla_j (\partial_k) + \sum_{k=1}^N (\partial_i z_k) \nabla_j (\partial_k) + \sum_{k=1}^N (\partial_i \partial_j z_k) \partial_k + \sum_{k=1}^N (\partial_j z_k) \nabla_i (\partial_k).$$
(2.15)

Similarly, we get (by exchanging  $i \leftrightarrow j$ ) the formula of  $\nabla_j \nabla_i(Z)$ , then we have

$$[\nabla_i, \nabla_j](Z) = \sum_{k=1}^N z_k \Big( \nabla_i \nabla_j - \nabla_j \nabla_i \Big) \partial_k,$$

which implies the statement since  $[\nabla_i, \nabla_j]\partial_k = 0$  for all k.

**Proposition 2.2.5.** In the notations of Proposition 2.2.4, let  $u, v, z \in \Gamma(TW)$  be given by  $u = \sum_{i=1}^{N} u_i(x)\partial_i, v = \sum_{i=1}^{N} v_i(x)\partial_i, z = \sum_{i=1}^{N} z_i(x)\partial_i$ . If  $[\nabla_i, \nabla_j]\partial_k = 0$  for all k, then

$$[\nabla_u, \nabla_v]Z = \nabla_{[u,v]}Z.$$

*Proof.* Firstly, we have

$$[u,v] = \left[\sum_{i=1}^{N} u_i \partial_i, \sum_{j=1}^{N} v_j \partial_j\right] = \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} \left(u_i \partial_i (v_j) \partial_j - v_j \partial_j (u_i) \partial_i\right).$$
(2.16)

Since  $\nabla_{f_1w_1+f_2w_2}Z = f_1\nabla_{w_1}Z + f_2\nabla_{w_2}Z$ , where  $f_1, f_2$  are functions in W, then by (2.16) we have

$$\nabla_{[u,v]}(Z) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} u_i(\partial_i v_j)(\nabla_j Z) - \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} v_j(\partial_j u_i)(\nabla_i Z)$$

$$= \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_i(\partial_i v_j)\nabla_j(z_k\partial_k) - \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} v_j(\partial_j u_i)\nabla_i(z_k\partial_k)$$

$$= \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_i(\partial_i v_j)(\partial_j z_k)\partial_k + \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_i z_k(\partial_i v_j)(\nabla_j \partial_k)$$

$$- \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} v_j(\partial_j u_i)(\partial_i z_k)\partial_k - \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} v_j z_k(\partial_j u_i)(\nabla_i \partial_k).$$
(2.17)

On the other hand we have

$$\nabla_v Z = \sum_{j,k=1}^N v_j z_k (\nabla_j \partial_k) + \sum_{j,k=1}^N v_j (\partial_j z_k) \partial_k.$$

Hence we have

$$\nabla_{u}\nabla_{v}Z = \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_{i}v_{j}z_{k}(\nabla_{i}\nabla_{j}\partial_{k}) + \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_{i}z_{k}(\partial_{i}v_{j})(\nabla_{j}\partial_{k}) + \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_{i}v_{j}(\partial_{i}z_{k})(\nabla_{j}\partial_{k}) + \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_{i}v_{j}(\partial_{i}\partial_{j}z_{k})\partial_{k} + \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_{i}(\partial_{i}v_{j})(\partial_{j}z_{k})\partial_{k}.$$
(2.18)

Similarly, (by swapping  $i \leftrightarrow j, u \leftrightarrow v$ ) we get the formula of  $\nabla_v \nabla_u Z$  and hence we have

$$[\nabla_{u}, \nabla_{v}](Z) = \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_{i}v_{j}z_{k}(\nabla_{i}\nabla_{j}\partial_{k} - \nabla_{j}\nabla_{i}\partial_{k}) + \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_{i}z_{k}(\partial_{i}v_{j})(\nabla_{j}\partial_{k}) + \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} u_{i}(\partial_{i}v_{j})(\partial_{j}z_{k})\partial_{k} - \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} v_{j}z_{k}(\partial_{j}u_{i})(\nabla_{i}\partial_{k}) - \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} v_{j}(\partial_{j}u_{i})(\partial_{i}z_{k})\partial_{k}.$$
(2.19)

The statement follows from relations (2.17) and (2.19) since  $[\nabla_i, \nabla_j]\partial_k = 0$  for all k.  $\Box$ 

# 2.3 Almost dual Frobenius structure

In this section we review the concept of almost Frobenius structure and its construction, this includes the notion of the intersection form and Dubrovin's almost duality.

## 2.3.1 The intersection form

Another important character naturally associated to any Frobenius manifold is the existence of a second flat metric [17]. This new metric is defined as an inner product of 1-forms on the cotangent bundle of the Frobenius manifold and it is related to the original metric  $\eta$ , where the original metric  $\eta$  is used to provide an isomorphism between  $T\mathcal{M}$  and  $T^*\mathcal{M}$ . The second metric g is called the intersection form of the Frobenius manifold.

**Definition 2.3.1.** [17]. Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \circ, e, \eta, \mathcal{E})$  be a Frobenius manifold. Let  $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in T_t^* \mathcal{M}$  be two 1-forms, and let  $\omega_1 \circ \omega_2$  be the product which is induced from the product of vectors in  $T_t \mathcal{M}$  by the isomorphism  $\eta: T_t \mathcal{M} \to T_t^* \mathcal{M}$ . The intersection form is a symmetric bilinear form g defined on each of the cotangent space  $T_t^* \mathcal{M}$  by the formula

$$g(\omega_1, \omega_2) = \mathcal{E}(\omega_1 \circ \omega_2). \tag{2.20}$$

In the flat coordinates  $\{t_k\}$  for the metric  $\eta$ , we have

$$dt_{\alpha} \circ dt_{\beta} = c_{\gamma}^{\alpha\beta}(t)dt_{\gamma}, \quad c_{\gamma}^{\alpha\beta}(t) = \eta^{\alpha\lambda}\eta^{\beta\nu}c_{\lambda\nu\gamma}.$$
(2.21)

Then we have the Gram matrix

$$g^{\alpha\beta}(t) \coloneqq g(dt_{\alpha}, dt_{\beta}) = \mathcal{E}(dt_{\alpha} \circ dt_{\beta}) = c_{\gamma}^{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{E}(dt_{\gamma})$$
(2.22)

with the basic property that  $\frac{\partial g^{\alpha\beta}}{\partial t_1} = \eta^{\alpha\beta}$  [17]. The following proposition gives the relation between the original metric  $\eta$  and the new metric g (cf.[17], note that the proof of the statement was omitted there).

**Proposition 2.3.2.** The intersection metric g is related to the original metric  $\eta$  by the following relation:

$$g(\mathcal{E} \circ u, v) = \eta(u, v), \quad u, v \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}).$$

*Proof.* In some flat coordinates  $\{t_k\}$  of  $\mathcal{M}$ , let  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}$ ,  $u = \partial_{\rho}$ ,  $v = \partial_{\lambda}$ . Then by formula (2.6) we have

$$\mathcal{E} \circ u = \mathcal{E}^{\mu} c^{\beta}_{\rho\mu}(t) \partial_{\beta}$$

Hence we have

$$g(\mathcal{E} \circ u, v) = \mathcal{E}^{\mu} g_{\beta\lambda}(t) c^{\beta}_{\rho\mu}(t).$$
(2.23)

Note that from relation (2.5) we have

$$c_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \eta_{\varepsilon\gamma} c^{\varepsilon}_{\alpha\beta}. \tag{2.24}$$

Now by formulae (2.21), (2.22) we have

$$g^{\alpha\beta}(t) = \eta^{\alpha\gamma}\eta^{\beta\varepsilon}c_{\gamma\varepsilon\mu}(t)\mathcal{E}^{\mu}.$$

By multiplying both sides by  $g_{\beta\lambda}(t)$  we get

$$\delta^{\alpha}_{\lambda} = g^{\alpha\beta}(t)g_{\beta\lambda}(t) = g_{\beta\lambda}(t)\eta^{\alpha\gamma}\eta^{\beta\varepsilon}c_{\gamma\varepsilon\mu}(t)\mathcal{E}^{\mu}.$$

Then by multiplying both sides by  $\eta_{\alpha\rho}$  and using formulae (2.5),(2.24) we have

$$\eta_{\lambda\rho} = \mathcal{E}^{\mu} g_{\beta\lambda}(t) \eta_{\lambda\rho} \eta^{\beta\varepsilon} \left( \eta^{\lambda\gamma} c_{\gamma\varepsilon\mu}(t) \right)$$
  
$$= \mathcal{E}^{\mu} g_{\beta\lambda}(t) \eta^{\beta\varepsilon} \left( \eta_{\lambda\rho} c_{\varepsilon\mu}^{\lambda}(t) \right)$$
  
$$= \mathcal{E}^{\mu} g_{\beta\lambda}(t) \left( \eta^{\beta\varepsilon} c_{\rho\varepsilon\mu}(t) \right)$$
  
$$= \mathcal{E}^{\mu} g_{\beta\lambda}(t) c_{\rho\mu}^{\beta}(t). \qquad (2.25)$$

The statement follows by relations (2.23), (2.25).

**Definition 2.3.3.** Two contravariant metrics  $(\cdot, \cdot)_1$  and  $(\cdot, \cdot)_2$  form a flat pencil if:

(1) The metric

$$(\cdot, \cdot)_1 + \mu(\cdot, \cdot)_2 \tag{2.26}$$

is flat for all  $\mu$ .

(2) The components of the Levi-Civita connection for the metric (2.26) have the form

$${}^{1}\Gamma^{\alpha\beta}_{\gamma} + \mu \, {}^{2}\Gamma^{\alpha\beta}_{\gamma},$$

where  ${}^{1}\Gamma_{\gamma}^{\alpha\beta}$  and  ${}^{2}\Gamma_{\gamma}^{\alpha\beta}$  are the contravariant components of corresponding Levi-Civita connections of metrics  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{1}$  and  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{2}$  respectively.

The following statement holds.

**Proposition 2.3.4.** [17] Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be a Frobenius manifold and let  $\eta^*$  be the metric induced on  $T^*\mathcal{M}$  by the contravariant metric  $\eta$ . Assume that the Euler vector field  $\mathcal{E}$  is invertible. Then the intersection form g and the metric  $\eta^*$  on  $\mathcal{M}$  form a flat pencil.

**Remark 2.3.5.** Consider points  $t \in \mathcal{M}$  where there exists  $\mathcal{E}^{-1} \in T_t \mathcal{M}$  such that  $\mathcal{E}^{-1} \circ \mathcal{E} = e$ . Then from Frobenius condition with respect to the original metric  $\eta$  we have

$$\eta(\mathcal{E}^{-1} \circ u, v) = \eta(\mathcal{E}^{-1}, u \circ v).$$
(2.27)

On the other hand from Proposition 2.3.2 we have

$$\eta(\mathcal{E}^{-1} \circ u, v) = g(\mathcal{E} \circ (\mathcal{E}^{-1} \circ u), v) = g(u, v).$$
(2.28)

Hence from relations (2.27), (2.28) we have

$$g(u,v) = \eta(\mathcal{E}^{-1}, u \circ v).$$
(2.29)

Thus the metric g is well-defined on the points of  $\mathcal{M}$  where the vector field  $\mathcal{E}$  is an invertible element of the algebra.

## 2.3.2 Dubrovin's almost duality

The concept of almost duality was introduced by Dubrovin [20]. In the construction of this structure one of the Frobenius manifold axioms is relaxed, but a solution of the WDVV equations still exists. The unity vector field is not covariantly constant, that is the axiom of the flatness of the identity vector field is relaxed.

Given a Frobenius manifold  $(\mathcal{M}, \circ, e, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle, \mathcal{E})$ , one can define a new multiplication  $\star$  on the tangent bundle via the original product  $\circ$  by twisting with the help of the Euler field  $\mathcal{E}$  as follows:

$$X \star Y = \mathcal{E}^{-1} \circ X \circ Y, \quad X, Y \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}), \tag{2.30}$$

where  $\mathcal{E} \circ \mathcal{E}^{-1} = \mathcal{E}^{-1} \circ \mathcal{E} = e$ . Hence, the new product (2.30) is well defined whenever  $\mathcal{E}$  is invertible. Now to construct new Frobenius algebra, we first define

$$\mathcal{M}^* \coloneqq \mathcal{M} \setminus \{ t \in \mathcal{M} : \mathcal{E} \text{ is not invertible} \}.$$
(2.31)

Since  $\circ$  is commutative and associative, then it is clear from (2.30) that  $\star$  is also commutative and associative. Also since

$$\mathcal{E} \star X = \mathcal{E}^{-1} \circ \mathcal{E} \circ X = e \circ X = X,$$

then the Euler vector field  $\mathcal{E}$  plays the role of the unity for the product (2.30). Moreover, if g is the intersection form defined by formula (2.20) and  $w_1, w_2, w_3 \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M})$ , then by relations (2.29) and (2.30) we have

$$g(w_1 \star w_2, w_3) = g(\mathcal{E}^{-1} \circ w_1 \circ w_2, w_3) = \eta \big( \mathcal{E}^{-1}, (\mathcal{E}^{-1} \circ w_1 \circ w_2) \circ w_3 \big).$$
(2.32)

Since the product  $\circ$  is commutative, then the right-hand side of relation (2.32) is symmetric in  $w_1, w_2, w_3$ . Hence we have  $g(w_1 \star w_2, w_3) = g(w_1, w_2 \star w_3)$  which means that the intersection form g satisfies the Frobenius condition with respect to the product  $\star$ , and

hence the tangent bundle  $T\mathcal{M}^*$  is endowed with the structure of a Frobenius algebra. Let us denote this Frobenius algebra by  $A_p = (T_p\mathcal{M}, \star), p \in \mathcal{M}^*$ . This algebra is called a *rescaling* of the original algebra. Now we give the precise definition of almost Frobenius manifold.

**Definition 2.3.6.** [20] Let  $\mathcal{M}^*$  be a smooth manifold equipped with a (non-degenerate) metric g. Let  $\star$  be a commutative, associative multiplication such that  $T_p\mathcal{M}^*$  is a Frobenius algebra. Let  $\mathcal{E}, e \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{M}^*)$ . An almost Frobenius structure of the charge  $d \neq 1$  on the manifold  $\mathcal{M}^*$  is the structure of a Frobenius algebra on the tangent spaces  $T_p\mathcal{M}^* =$  $(T_p\mathcal{M}^*, \star, g), p \in \mathcal{M}^*$ , depending (smoothly, analytically etc.) on the point  $p \in \mathcal{M}^*$ . It must satisfy the following axioms.

(1) The metric g is flat.

(2) In the flat coordinates  $p_1, ..., p_n$  for the metric g, the structure constants  $\overset{*}{c}^i_{jk}$  of the algebra  $A_p$  can be locally represented in the form

$${}^{*i}_{jk}(p) = g^{il} \frac{\partial^3 F^{\star}(p)}{\partial p_l \partial p_j \partial p_k}, \qquad (2.33)$$

for some function  $F^{\star}(p)$  and  $g^{ij} = (dp_i, dp_j)$ . The function  $F^{\star}(p)$  must satisfy the following homogeneity condition:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} p_i \frac{\partial F^{\star}(p)}{\partial p_i} = 2F^{\star}(p) + \frac{g(p,p)}{1-d}.$$

(3) The vector field  $\mathcal{E}$  (will be called the Euler vector field) takes the form

$$\mathcal{E} = \frac{1-d}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} p_i \frac{\partial}{\partial p_i},\tag{2.34}$$

and it is the unity of the Frobenius algebra.

(4) The vector field e has the form

$$e = \sum_{i=1}^{N} e_i(p) \frac{\partial}{\partial p_i}$$

and being an invertible element of the Frobenius algebra  $A_p$ ,  $p \in \mathcal{M}^*$  such that it acts by shifts  $\nu \mapsto \nu - 1$  on the solutions of the system of equations

$$\frac{\partial^2 \widetilde{p}}{\partial p_i \partial p_j} = \nu \tilde{c}_{ij}^k(p) \frac{\partial \widetilde{p}}{\partial p_k},\tag{2.35}$$

for some function  $\widetilde{p} = \widetilde{p}(p; \nu)$ .

Such structure given by Definition 2.3.6 is also known as *dual (almost) Frobenius manifold.* This is due to the following result. **Theorem 2.3.7.** [20] Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \circ, e, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle, \mathcal{E})$  be a Frobenius manifold. Then  $(\mathcal{M}^*, \star, e, g, \mathcal{E})$ , where  $\mathcal{M}^*, \star, g$  are given by formulae (2.31), (2.30), (2.29) respectively, is an almost Frobenius structure. Furthermore  $(\mathcal{M}^*, \star, \mathcal{E}, g, \mathcal{E})$ , satisfies all the axioms of Frobenius manifold given in Definition 2.1.3 except axiom (2).

The following statement gives the relation between the almost Frobenius structure and WDVV equations.

**Theorem 2.3.8.** [20] Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \circ, e, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle, \mathcal{E})$  be a Frobenius manifold. Let  $(\mathcal{M}^*, \star, \mathcal{E}, g, \mathcal{E})$ , be the corresponding almost dual Frobenius manifold where  $\mathcal{M}^*, \star, g$  are given by formulae (2.31), (2.30), (2.29) respectively. Then the function  $F^*$  defined (locally) by the condition (2.33) satisfies the WDVV equations in the flat coordinates  $\{p_i\}_{i=1}^N$  of the metric g.

## 2.4 Orbit spaces examples

The construction of the Frobenius structure on the orbit spaces of finite Coxeter groups was established in [19]. Flat pencils of metrics can be used to provide the (complexified) orbit space of a finite Coxeter group with the structure of a Frobenius manifold. One of the flat metrics on the complexified orbit space of a finite Coxeter group is given by invariant bilinear form while the other one was found by K. Saito et al. [50]. Dubrovin used this metric to construct the structure of a Frobenius manifold on the orbit space [17, Lecture 4]. It follows from the construction that the corresponding Frobenius prepotential which solves the WDVV equations will be a polynomial in the flat coordinates  $\{t_k\}_{k=1}^N$  of this metric. Here we give a brief summary for this structure.

**Definition 2.4.1.** Let  $V = \mathbb{R}^N$  and let  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  be the standard positive definite symmetric bilinear form in V. A *reflection* is a linear operator s on V which sends some non-zero vector  $\alpha$  to its negative while fixing point-wise the hyperplane (called a *mirror*)  $\Pi_{\alpha} = \{x \in V : \langle \alpha, x \rangle = 0\}$  orthogonal to  $\alpha$ .

We will write  $s = s_{\alpha}$ . This map can be given as follows:

$$s_{\alpha}v = v - \frac{2\langle v, \alpha \rangle}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} \alpha, \quad v \in V.$$

Indeed  $V = \mathbb{R}_{\alpha} \oplus \Pi_{\alpha}$ , where  $\mathbb{R}_{\alpha}$  denotes the one-dimensional vector space spanned by  $\alpha$ 

$$\mathbb{R}_{\alpha} = \{ u \in V : u = r\alpha, r \in \mathbb{R} \}.$$

**Definition 2.4.2.** Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a finite set of non-zero vectors in V such that:

1.  $\mathcal{R} \cap \mathbb{R}_{\alpha} = \{\alpha, -\alpha\}, \quad \forall \alpha \in \mathcal{R},$ 

2. For any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}$ ,  $s_{\alpha}\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}$ .

The set  $\mathcal{R}$  is called a *reduced Coxeter root system* with associated reflection group  $\mathcal{W}$ , where

$$\mathcal{W} = \langle s_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \mathcal{R} \rangle$$

 $\mathcal{W}$  is called the Coxeter group of the root system  $\mathcal{R}$  and it is a subgroup of the group O(V) of all orthogonal transformations of V.

**Definition 2.4.3.** A root system  $\mathcal{R}$  is called *irreducible* if  $\mathcal{R}$  cannot be written as a union  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_1 \cup \mathcal{R}_2$  of two non-empty subsets  $\mathcal{R}_1, \mathcal{R}_2$  of  $\mathcal{R}$  orthogonal with respect to the standard bilinear form  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on V, that is  $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle = 0$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}_1, \beta \in \mathcal{R}_2$ .

**Definition 2.4.4.** A root system  $\mathcal{R}$  is called *crystallographic* root system if for all  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{R}$  the following condition holds:

$$\frac{2\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} \in \mathbb{Z}$$

The associated reflection group  $\mathcal{W}$  is called *Weyl group*.

Consider a root system  $\mathcal{R}$ . One can find a vector  $d \in V$ , such that  $\forall \alpha \in \mathcal{R}, \langle d, \alpha \rangle \neq 0$ . Then we can decompose the root system into two disjoint parts:  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_+ \cup \mathcal{R}_-$ , where  $\mathcal{R}_+ = \mathcal{R}_+(d) = \{\alpha \in \mathcal{R} : \langle d, \alpha \rangle > 0\}$  and  $\mathcal{R}_- = \mathcal{R}_-(d) = -\mathcal{R}_+(d)$ .

Let  $V = \mathbb{R}^N$  and let  $\mathcal{W}$  be a finite irreducible Coxeter group. By definition,  $\mathcal{W}$  acts on the vector space V. The action of the group  $\mathcal{W}$  is extended linearly to the complexified space  $V \otimes \mathbb{C} \cong \mathbb{C}^N$ . The orbit space  $M_{\mathcal{W}}$  of  $\mathcal{W}$  is defined by

$$M_{\mathcal{W}} = V \otimes \mathbb{C}/\mathcal{W} \cong \mathbb{C}^N/\mathcal{W}.$$

Let us choose a basis in V such that  $\{x_k\}_{k=1}^N$  is the corresponding coordinate system. The group  $\mathcal{W}$  acts also on these coordinates as well as on the symmetric algebra  $S(V) \cong \mathbb{C}[x_1, \ldots, x_N]$  of polynomials in these coordinates. A coordinate system on the orbit space  $M_{\mathcal{W}}$  is given by choosing N homogeneous  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant polynomials  $y_1(x), \ldots, y_N(x) \in S(V)$  generating freely the ring  $\mathbb{C}[x_1, \ldots, x_N]^{\mathcal{W}} \cong \mathbb{C}[y_1, \ldots, y_N]$  of  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant polynomials on  $\mathbb{C}^N$  [17, 19]. The degrees of these invariant polynomials are uniquely determined by the Coxeter group. Let  $d_{\alpha} = \deg(y_{\alpha})$ , and arrange the degrees such that

$$d_1 > d_2 \ge \cdots \ge d_{N-1} > d_N = 2.$$

The maximal degree  $d_1 = h$  is called *Coxeter number* of the group  $\mathcal{W}$ .

**Theorem 2.4.5.** [17] There exists a unique, up to an equivalence, Frobenius manifold structure on the space of orbits of a finite Coxeter group with the following properties:

(1) the vector field  $e \coloneqq \frac{\partial}{\partial y_1}$  is unity field for the Frobenius manifold.

(2) The Euler vector field is given by

$$\mathcal{E} \coloneqq \frac{1}{h} \sum_{i=1}^{N} d_i y_i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i}.$$

(3) The intersection form is given by the formula

$$g_{\alpha\beta}(y) \coloneqq \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\partial y_{\alpha}}{\partial x_{i}} \frac{\partial y_{\beta}}{\partial x_{i}}$$

The components  $g_{\alpha\beta}(y)$  are polynomials in  $y_1, \ldots, y_N$ . The corresponding connection oneform is given by

$$\sum_{\gamma=1}^{N} {}^{g} \Gamma_{\gamma}^{\alpha\beta}(y) dy_{\gamma} = \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N} \frac{\partial^{2} y_{\alpha}}{\partial x_{i} \partial x_{j}} \frac{\partial y_{\beta}}{\partial x_{k}} dx_{k}$$

and it is also a polynomial one. Another metric  $\eta$  (called the Saito metric) which is given by

$$\eta_{\alpha\beta}(y) \coloneqq \frac{\partial}{\partial y_1} \big( g_{\alpha\beta}(y) \big)$$

and the corresponding contravariant Levi-Civita connection

$${}^{\eta}\Gamma^{\alpha\beta}_{\gamma}(y)\coloneqq \frac{\partial}{\partial y_1}\big({}^{g}\Gamma^{\alpha\beta}_{\gamma}(y)\big).$$

(4) The pair of metrics g,  $\eta$  given in (3) form a flat pencil.

The following Theorem by Dubrovin gives the formula of the Frobenius prepotential associated to the Frobenius manifold structure on the orbit space.

**Theorem 2.4.6.** [20] For any finite irreducible Coxeter group the prepotential  $F^{\star}(z)$  for the almost dual structure has the form

$$F^{\star}(z) = \frac{h}{4} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}} \alpha(z)^2 \log \alpha(z)^2, \qquad (2.36)$$

where the roots are normalised so that  $\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle = 2, \ z \in \mathbb{C}^N \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}_+} \prod_{\alpha}$ 

**Remark 2.4.7.** Martini and Gragert showed in [41], by straightforward computation, that function of type (2.36) corresponding to root systems of any semisimple Lie algebra satisfies the WDVV equations. Note that the root systems of any semisimple Lie algebra are the particular examples of the Coxeter systems.

Veselov in [53] also followed a different approach to obtain other examples of the logarithmic solutions to the WDVV equations given by a formula of the form (2.36) where  $\mathcal{R}$  may no longer be a root system. The fact that prepotential (2.36) satisfies WDVV

equations for any Coxeter root system was established by Veselov in [53] (see Corollary 2.5.6 below).

In Veselov's work a special class of such solutions was investigated for some not fully symmetric configurations of finite set of covectors  $\mathcal{A} \subset V^*$  (so-called  $\lor$ -systems). These kind of configurations were formulated in terms of linear algebra, and can be considered as a generalization of the class of Coxeter systems. Deformed root systems were discovered by Chalykh, Feigin and Veselov [12,52]. These multi parameters deformed versions of root systems appeared in the theory of the generalised Calogero-Moser problems and it was shown that they also give examples of the logarithmic solutions of the WDVV equations.

# 2.5 Rational solutions of WDVV equations

In this section we review the rational solutions of WDVV equations corresponding to the class of (rational)  $\lor$ -systems. We also recall the natural operations of restriction and taking subsystems of a  $\lor$ -system and present the known results related to this class.

## 2.5.1 (Rational) $\lor$ -systems

An important class of soultions of WDVV has the form

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha(x)^2 \log \alpha(x), \quad x \in V,$$
(2.37)

where  $\mathcal{A}$  is a system of covectors in V. This class of solutions was given by Veselov in [53], and the corresponding configurations  $\mathcal{A}$  are known as  $\vee$ -systems. The class of  $\vee$ -systems includes any two-dimensional system (trivial examples). This class also contains all Coxeter root systems. As we have seen in Section 2.4 that solutions of WDVV equations constructed from a Coxeter group define the almost dual structure of the Frobenius manifolds defined on the space of orbits of these groups. These solutions can be expressed in the form (2.37) with  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}_+$  (see Theorem 2.4.6). The class of  $\vee$ -systems includes also the deformed versions of the Coxeter root systems related to simple Lie superalgebras coming from the theory of the generalised Calogero-Moser systems, but the full classification of the  $\lor$ -systems is still an open problem. It has been shown in [26] (see also references therein) that the class of  $\lor$ -systems is closed under the natural operations of restriction and taking subsystems. In this section we present the notion of  $\lor$ -system and we describe the geometric conditions ( $\lor$ - conditions) on such a special collection of covectors which are necessary and sufficient for the corresponding function to satisfy the generalised WDVV equations. We also give a proof that any Coxeter root system belongs to such a system. We also summarize some important results which are found in the literature which confirms that (under some mild assumptions) a subsystem of a  $\vee$ -system is also a  $\vee$ -system

[24, 26] and that the restrictions of a  $\lor$ -system to certain subspaces are also  $\lor$ -systems [25, 26].

For this section let V be an n-dimensional complex vector space and  $\mathcal{A} \subset V^*$  be a finite set of covectors in the dual space  $V^*$ . To such a set one can associated the following canonical form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  on V:

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(x,y) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha(x)\alpha(y), \quad x, y \in V.$$
(2.38)

We will assume that the bilinear form (2.38) is non-degenerate, which establishes an isomorphism

$$\phi_{\mathcal{A}}: V \to V^*.$$

Let us denote the inverse  $\phi_{\mathcal{A}}^{-1}(\alpha)$  by  $\alpha^{\vee}$ . let us also identify  $V \cong V^*$  using the canonical form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  and for any  $\alpha, \beta \in V^*$ , we define  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha, \beta) := G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee}, \beta^{\vee})$ . We will also assume without loss of generality that  $\mathcal{A}$  has no collinear vectors. Indeed, if a configuration has collinear covectors  $\{k_i\alpha, k_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 1, \dots, m, m \in \mathbb{N}\}$  then by replacing this group of covectors with a single covector  $\widetilde{\alpha} = k\alpha$ , where  $k^2 = \sum_{i=1}^m k_i^2$ , the corresponding prepotential (2.37) is unchanged up to quadratic terms. The vector  $k\alpha$  is removed from the configuration if k = 0.

**Definition 2.5.1.** [53] The system  $\mathcal{A}$  is called (rational)  $\lor$ -system if the following relations (called  $\lor$ -conditions) are satisfied

$$\sum_{\beta \in \pi \cap \mathcal{A}} \beta(\alpha^{\vee}) \beta^{\vee} = \lambda \alpha^{\vee}, \qquad (2.39)$$

for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  and any two-dimensional plane  $\pi \subset V^*$  containing  $\alpha$  and some  $\lambda$ , which may depend on  $\pi$  and  $\alpha$ .

Define an operator  $A_{\pi} \colon \pi^{\vee} \to \pi^{\vee}$  by the formula

$$A_{\pi} \coloneqq \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi} \beta \otimes \beta^{\vee}, \tag{2.40}$$

that is  $A_{\pi}(v) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi} \beta(v) \beta^{\vee}$  for any  $v \in \pi^{\vee}$ . In this notation, for a fixed  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  the  $\vee$ -condition (2.39) reads

$$A_{\pi}(\alpha^{\vee}) = \lambda \alpha^{\vee},$$

that is,  $\alpha^{\vee}$  is an eigenvector of  $A_{\pi}$  with the eigenvalue  $\lambda$ . The following lemma is known from linear algebra.

**Lemma 2.5.2.** If the operator  $A_{\pi}$  given by (2.40) has at least three non-proportional eigenvectors, then eigenvalues do not depend on the eigenvectors. Moreover, the operator

#### $A_{\pi}$ is proportional to the identity.

By Definition 2.5.1, the condition for a system  $\mathcal{A}$  to be a  $\vee$ -system is equivalent to the following conditions:

- If  $\pi \cap \mathcal{A} = \{\alpha\}$ , then the  $\vee$ -condition is obviously satisfied.
- If  $\pi \cap \mathcal{A} = \{\alpha, \beta\}$ , where  $\alpha \nsim \beta$ , then condition (2.39) means that  $\alpha^{\vee}, \beta^{\vee}$  are orthogonal with repect to the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$ , that is  $\beta(\alpha^{\vee}) = G_{\mathcal{A}}(\beta, \alpha^{\vee}) = 0$ .
- If  $|\mathcal{A} \cap \pi| > 2$ , then by Lemma 2.5.2 the scalar  $\lambda$  in condition (2.39) does not depend on  $\alpha$ , that is  $\lambda = \lambda(\pi)$ . Moreover, the condition (2.39) means that bilinear forms  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$ given by (2.38) and  $G_{\pi}(x, y) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi} \beta(x)\beta(y)$  restricted to the plane  $\pi^{\vee} \subset V$  are proportional:

$$G_{\pi}|_{\pi^{\vee}\times V} = \lambda G_{\mathcal{A}}|_{\pi^{\vee}\times V}$$

To see this, take  $\alpha \in \pi \cap \mathcal{A}$  and  $v \in V$ , then by using condition (2.39) we have

$$G_{\pi}(\alpha^{\vee}, v) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi} \beta(\alpha^{\vee}) \beta(v) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi} \beta(\alpha^{\vee}) G_{\mathcal{A}}(\beta^{\vee}, v) = \lambda G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee}, v)$$

which implies the result.

Originally  $\lor$ -system appeared in [53] as geometric reformulation of the Wittern-Dijkgraaf-Verlinde-Verlinde (WDVV) equations for the prepotential (2.37). The (generalized) WDVV equations have the form

$$F_i F_k^{-1} F_j = F_j F_k^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j, k = 1, ..., n,$$
(2.41)

where  $F_i$  is the matrix of third derivatives

$$(F_i)_{ab} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial x_i \partial x_a \partial x_b}, \quad i, a, b = 1, \dots, n.$$

The system (2.41) is equivalent to the system

$$F_i G^{-1} F_j = F_j G^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j = 1, ..., n,$$
(2.42)

where G is any non-degenerate linear combination

$$G = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \eta_i(x) F_i,$$
 (2.43)

for some analytic functions  $\eta_i(x)$  [41] (see also [40]). The following theorem shows the equivalence of  $\lor$ -system conditions and the WDVV equations for the prepotential (2.37).

**Theorem 2.5.3.** [26,53] The prepotential (2.37) satisfies the WDVV equations (2.42) if and only if  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\lor$ -system.

Before we present the statement that gives the relation between root system and the (rational)  $\lor$ -system, let us give some properties with respect to root systems.

Let  $V = \mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  be the standard positive definite symmetric bilinear form on V. Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a Coxeter root system in a real vector space  $V^{\mathbb{R}}$ , where complexification is V. Let  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}_+$ . We recall that by identifying  $V \cong V^*$  using the canonical form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  and for any  $\alpha, \beta \in V^*$  we define

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta) := G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\beta^{\vee}). \tag{2.44}$$

Also, since the bilinear form (2.38) is  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant then it is proportional to the standard inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on V. Let

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,v) = \mu \langle u, v \rangle, \quad \mu \in \mathbb{R}, \, u, v \in V.$$
(2.45)

Also, one can identify  $V \cong V^*$  using the standard inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  and for any  $\alpha, \beta \in V^*$  we define

$$\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle \coloneqq \langle \alpha^{\vee}, \beta^{\vee} \rangle. \tag{2.46}$$

Thus relations (2.44)–(2.46) leads to the relation

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta) = \mu \langle \alpha,\beta \rangle, \quad \mu \in \mathbb{R}, \, \alpha,\beta \in V^*.$$

**Lemma 2.5.4.** Let  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}_+$ . Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  and let  $\pi \subset V^*$  be any two-dimensional plane containing  $\alpha$ . Then  $s_{\alpha}\pi = \pi$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\beta \in \pi$ . Then by the definition of the reflection  $s_{\alpha}$  we have

$$s_{\alpha}\beta = \beta - m\alpha,$$

where  $m = \frac{2\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Since  $s_{\alpha}\beta$  is a linear combination of vectors in the plane  $\pi$  then  $s_{\alpha}\beta \in \pi$  for all  $\beta \in \pi$ . The statement follows.

The following theorem gives us the relation between root system and the (rational)  $\lor$ -system.

**Theorem 2.5.5.** [53] Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a Coxeter root system in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}_+$  is a  $\lor$ -system.

Proof. In order to check that  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}_+$  is a  $\vee$ -system we have to check that conditions (2.39) hold. Fix  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . Let  $\pi$  be any two-dimensional plane containing  $\alpha$ . Let  $\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi$ . Since  $\mathcal{R}$  is invariant under the action of Weyl group, then  $s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_+ \cup \mathcal{R}_- = \mathcal{A} \cup (-\mathcal{A})$ , and hence either  $s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A}$  or  $-s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A}$ . If  $|\mathcal{A} \cap \pi| = 2$ , say  $\mathcal{A} \cap \pi = \{\alpha, \beta\}$ , then by Lemma 2.5.4  $s_{\alpha\beta} = \beta$ . Hence  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha, \beta) = \mu \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle = 0$  and the  $\vee$ -condition holds in this case. Assume that  $|\mathcal{A} \cap \pi| > 2$ . We study two cases:

Case (1). Assume that  $s_{\alpha}\beta \not\sim \beta$ . Let  $s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A}$ . Then by Lemma 2.5.4 we have  $s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi$ . Let us now study the contribution of the pairs  $\beta$  and  $s_{\alpha}\beta$  to conditions (2.39). We have (we use (2.45) thoroughly)

$$\begin{aligned} G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta)\beta^{\vee} + G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,s_{\alpha}\beta)(s_{\alpha}\beta)^{\vee} \\ &= G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta)\beta^{\vee} + \left(G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta) - \frac{2\langle\alpha,\beta\rangle}{\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle}G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\alpha)\right)\left(\beta^{\vee} - \frac{2\langle\alpha,\beta\rangle}{\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle}\alpha^{\vee}\right) \\ &= G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta)\beta^{\vee} + \left(G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta) - 2\mu\langle\alpha,\beta\rangle\right)\left(\beta^{\vee} - 2\frac{\langle\alpha,\beta\rangle}{\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle}\alpha^{\vee}\right) \\ &= G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta)\beta^{\vee} + \left(G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta) - 2G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta)\right)\left(\beta^{\vee} - \frac{2\langle\alpha,\beta\rangle}{\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle}\alpha^{\vee}\right) \\ &= G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta)\beta^{\vee} - G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta)\beta^{\vee} + \frac{2\langle\alpha,\beta\rangle}{\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle}G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha,\beta)\alpha^{\vee} \\ &= \frac{2\mu\langle\alpha,\beta\rangle^{2}}{\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle}\alpha^{\vee}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence the contribution of pairs of vectors  $\beta, s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi$  in the left-hand side of  $\vee$ condition (2.39) is proportional to  $\alpha^{\vee}$ . If  $-s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A}$  then similarly the contribution of pairs of vectors  $\beta, -s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi$  in the left-hand side of  $\vee$ -condition (2.39) is proportional to  $\alpha^{\vee}$ .

Case (2). Assume that  $s_{\alpha}\beta \sim \beta$ . Assume firstly that  $s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A}$ . Hence we have  $\beta, s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi$ . This implies that  $s_{\alpha}\beta = \beta$  (since the only multiples of  $\beta$  are  $\pm\beta$ ). Hence for this case the vector  $\beta$  is orthogonal to  $\alpha$  and vector  $\beta$  has zero contribution in the left-hand side of  $\vee$ -condition (2.39). Now assume that  $-s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A}$ . Hence we have  $\beta, -s_{\alpha}\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi$ . This implies that  $s_{\alpha}\beta = -\beta$  (since the only multiples of  $\beta$  are  $\pm\beta$ ). Thus we have

$$\beta - \frac{2\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} \alpha = -\beta.$$

That is

$$\beta = \frac{\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} \alpha.$$

But this means that  $\beta$  is proportional to  $\alpha$  and hence  $\beta = \alpha$ . Hence the contribution of vector  $\beta$  in the left-hand side of  $\vee$ -condition (2.39) is proportional to  $\alpha^{\vee}$ . The lemma follows by the above considerations.

As a corollary of Theorems 2.5.3 and 2.5.5 the following statement holds.

**Corollary 2.5.6.** [53] For any Coxeter root system  $\mathcal{R}$  the function

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}_+} \alpha(z)^2 \log \alpha(z)^2$$

satisfies WDVV equations (2.41).

**Remark 2.5.7.** Note that all the results of  $\lor$ -systems have been originally proven for real vector space in [53] then these results have been generalized to complex vector spaces where the natural complex version of the  $\lor$ -systems appeared firstly in [26].

### 2.5.2 The associative product

Theorem 2.5.3 can also be reformulated in terms of flatness of a connection on the tangent bundle TV [25,53]. By defining  $M_{\mathcal{A}} = V \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \prod_{\alpha}$ , it was shown that the considerations of WDVV equations with respect to function (2.37) leads to the following multiplication for the tangent vectors u and v on  $M_{\mathcal{A}}$ :

$$u * v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{\alpha(u)\alpha(v)}{\alpha(x)} \alpha^{\vee}, \quad x \in M_{\mathcal{A}}, u, v \in T_x M_{\mathcal{A}}.$$
(2.47)

It is clear from formula (2.47) that the multiplication \* is commutative.

Before we find the identity vector field for multiplication (2.47), let us define an operator  $K_{\mathcal{A}}: V \longrightarrow V$  by the formula

$$K_{\mathcal{A}} \coloneqq \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha \otimes \alpha^{\vee}, \tag{2.48}$$

that is  $K_{\mathcal{A}}(v) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha(v) \alpha^{\vee}$  for any  $v \in V$ . The following property holds.

**Lemma 2.5.8.** The operator  $K_A$  given by formula (2.48) is the identity operator that is  $K_A(v) = v$  for any  $v \in V$ .

*Proof.* Let  $u, v \in V$ . Then we have

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, K_{\mathcal{A}}(v)) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha(v) G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee}, u) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha(v) \alpha(u) = G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, v).$$

Hence we have  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, K_{\mathcal{A}}(v) - v) = 0$ , for any  $u \in V$ . This implies the statement since the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  is non-degenerate.

The following proposition gives the identity vector field for the product (2.47).

**Proposition 2.5.9.** The vector field

$$\mathcal{E} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i \partial_i \in \Gamma(TV) \tag{2.49}$$

is the identity vector field of the multiplication (2.47).

*Proof.* Let  $v \in V$ . Then by formulae (2.47), (2.48) and Lemma 2.5.8 we have

$$\mathcal{E} * v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{\alpha(x)\alpha(v)}{\alpha(x)} \alpha^{\vee} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha(v)\alpha^{\vee} = K_{\mathcal{A}}(v) = v.$$

The statement follows since by commutativity of \* we have  $v * \mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E} * v = v$ .

**Proposition 2.5.10.** The multiplication (2.47) satisfies the Frobenius algebra condition with respect to the bilinear form (2.38), that is for any  $u, v, w \in T_x M_A$  for generic  $x \in M_A$ the following condition holds:

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(u \ast v, w) = G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, v \ast w).$$

*Proof.* By the product formula (2.47) we have

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(u \ast v, w) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{\alpha(u)\alpha(v)}{\alpha(x)} G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee}, w) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{\alpha(u)\alpha(v)\alpha(w)}{\alpha(x)}.$$
 (2.50)

The statement follows since the right-hand side of relation (2.50) is symmetric in u, v, w.

The following result relates the associativity of product \* and WDVV equations.

**Proposition 2.5.11.** [25] The associativity of the product (2.47) is equivalent to the WDVV equations (2.41) for the prepotential F given by (2.37).

It has been shown in [25] that the associativity of multiplication (2.47) can be rewritten as  $C_{-}(\alpha^{\vee} \beta^{\vee}) B_{--}(\alpha, b)$ 

$$\sum_{\alpha \neq \beta, \alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee}, \beta^{\vee}) B_{\alpha, \beta}(a, b)}{\alpha(x) \beta(x)} \alpha \wedge \beta \equiv 0,$$
(2.51)

where  $\alpha \wedge \beta = \alpha \otimes \beta - \beta \otimes \alpha$ , and  $B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b) = \alpha \wedge \beta(a,b) = \alpha(a)\beta(b) - \alpha(b)\beta(a)$ .

The following statement relates the associativity of the product (2.47) with the  $\lor$ -system.

**Theorem 2.5.12.** [25]  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\lor$ -system if and only if product (2.47) is associative.

Note that Theorem 2.5.3 follows from Proposition 2.5.11 and Theorem 2.5.12. The following flat connection defined on tangent bundle  $TM_{\mathcal{A}}$  was introduced in [54]:

$$\nabla_u v = \partial_u v - ku * v, \tag{2.52}$$

where \* is the product given by formula (2.47) and  $k \in \mathbb{C}$  is a parameter. The following statement relates the flatness of connection (2.5.13) with the  $\lor$ -condition.

**Theorem 2.5.13.** [54] The connection (2.52) is flat for any  $k \in \mathbb{C}$  if and only if  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\lor$ -system.

**Remark 2.5.14.** [25] For any  $\lor$ -system  $\mathcal{A}$  the product (2.47) defines what is called *loga*rithmic Frobenius structure on  $\mathcal{A}$  with prepotential (2.37). Provided that \* is associative, the set  $(V, *, \mathcal{E}, G_{\mathcal{A}}, \mathcal{E})$  satisfies all the properties of the Frobenius manifold except the covariant constancy of the unit vector field (axiom (2) in Definition 2.1.3).

### 2.5.3 Subsystems of a $\lor$ -system

Now we present notion of a subsystem of a  $\lor$ -system, then we proceed to theorems related to this notion.

**Definition 2.5.15.** [26] Let  $\mathcal{A} \subset V^*$  be a  $\vee$ -system. The subset  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  is called subsystem if

$$\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W,$$

for some linear subspace  $W \subset V^*$ . We will assume that  $W = \langle \mathcal{B} \rangle$ . A subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$  is called reducible if  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B}_1 \cup \mathcal{B}_2$  is a disjoint union of two non-empty subsystems orthogonal with respect to the canonical form on V, that is  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(\beta_1, \beta_2) = 0, \forall \beta_1 \in \mathcal{B}_1, \beta_2 \in \mathcal{B}_2$ .

**Definition 2.5.16.** [26] Consider the following bilinear form on V

$$G_{\mathcal{B}}(x,y) := \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} \beta(x)\beta(y), \quad x, y \in V,$$

associated with subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$ . The subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$  is called *isotropic* if the restriction  $G_{\mathcal{B}}|_{W^{\vee}}$ of the form  $G_{\mathcal{B}}$  on to the subspace  $W^{\vee} \subset V$  is degenerate and *non-isotropic* otherwise.

**Theorem 2.5.17.** [26] Any non-isotropic subsystem of a  $\lor$ -system is also a  $\lor$ -system.

**Theorem 2.5.18.** [26] For any subsystem  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W$  of a  $\lor$ -system  $\mathcal{A}$ , either  $G_B \mid_{W^{\vee} \times V}$ and  $G_A \mid_{W^{\vee} \times V}$  are proportional or  $\mathcal{B}$  is reducible.

### 2.5.4 Restrictions of $\lor$ -systems

Let us now consider the restriction operation for  $\lor$ -systems.

For any subsystem  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  consider the corresponding subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}} \subset V$  defined as the intersection of hyperplanes  $\beta(x) = 0$ , where  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$ , that is

$$W_{\mathcal{B}} = \{ x \in V : \beta(x) = 0, \forall \beta \in \mathcal{B} \}.$$
(2.53)

For any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  let us denote the restriction  $\alpha \mid_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}$  as  $\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)$ , that is  $\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)(x) = \alpha(x)$ . Let

$$\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha) : \alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}\}$$

be the restriction of covectors  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  on  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Let  $M_{\mathcal{B}} = \mathcal{B} \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} \prod_{\alpha}$ . The following statement shows that the class of  $\lor$ -systems is closed under the restriction operator.

**Theorem 2.5.19.** [25, 26] Assume that the restriction  $G_{\mathcal{A}}|_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}$  is non-degenerate. Then the restriction  $\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{A})$  of a  $\lor$ -system  $\mathcal{A}$  to the subspace  $M_{\mathcal{B}}$  is also a  $\lor$ -system.

**Remark 2.5.20.** Note that Theorem 2.5.19 applied to a root system  $\mathcal{A}$  gives  $\lor$ -systems which are not root systems in general.

The following statement gives the solution of WDVV equations corresponding to the restricted system.

**Theorem 2.5.21.** [25,26] The logarithmic Frobenius structure (2.47) with its corresponding prepotential (2.37) has a natural restriction to the space  $M_{\mathcal{B}}$  with the prepotential

$$F_{\mathcal{B}} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} \alpha(x)^2 \log \alpha(x)^2, \quad x \in M_{\mathcal{B}},$$

which also satisfies the WDVV equations.

## 2.6 Trigonometric case

In this section we introduce the class of trigonometric solutions F of WDVV equations which involve an extra variable. We present the notion of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and we review results associated to this class.

### 2.6.1 Prepotential, product and Dubrovin connection

Let V be a vector space of dimension N over  $\mathbb{C}$  and let  $V^*$  be its dual space. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a finite collection of covectors  $\alpha \in V^*$  which belongs to a lattice of rank N.

Let us also consider a multiplicity function  $c: \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ . We denote  $c(\alpha)$  as  $c_{\alpha}$ . We will assume throughout that the corresponding symmetric bilinear form

$$G_{(\mathcal{A},c)}(u,v) \coloneqq \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(u) \alpha(v), \quad u, v \in V$$
(2.54)

is non-degenerate. We will also write  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  for  $G_{(\mathcal{A},c)}$  to simplify notations. The form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  establishes an isomorphism  $\phi \colon V \to V^*$ , and we denote the inverse  $\phi^{-1}(\alpha)$  by  $\alpha^{\vee}$ , where  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee}, v) = \alpha(v)$  for any  $v \in V$ .

Let  $U \cong \mathbb{C}$  be a one-dimensional vector space. We choose a basis in  $V \oplus U$  such that  $e_1, \ldots, e_N$  is a basis in V and  $e_{N+1}$  is the basis vector in U, and let  $x_1, \ldots, x_{N+1}$  be the corresponding coordinates. We represent vectors  $x \in V, y \in U$  as  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  and  $y = x_{N+1}$ . Consider a function  $F: V \oplus U \to \mathbb{C}$  of the form

$$F = \frac{1}{3}y^3 + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(x)^2 y + \lambda \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f(\alpha(x)), \qquad (2.55)$$

where  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$  and function f is given by (1.11). The WDVV equations is the following system of partial differential equations

$$F_i F_{N+1}^{-1} F_j = F_j F_{N+1}^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j = 1, ..., N,$$
(2.56)

where  $F_i$  is  $(N+1) \times (N+1)$  matrix with entries  $(F_i)_{pq} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial x_i \partial x_p \partial x_q}$   $(p, q = 1, \dots, N+1)$ . Let  $e^1 = e^N$  be the basis in  $V^*$  dual to the basis  $e_1 = e_N \in V$ . Then for any covector

$$\alpha \in V^* \text{ we have } \alpha = \sum_{i=1}^N \alpha_i e^i \text{ and } \alpha^{\vee} = \sum_{i=1}^N \alpha_i^{\vee} e_i, \text{ where } \alpha_i, \alpha_i^{\vee} \in \mathbb{C}. \text{ Then}$$

$$F_{N+1} = 2 \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha \otimes \alpha & 0\\ \alpha \in \mathcal{A} & \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.57)$$

where we denoted by  $\alpha$  both column and row vectors  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_N)$ , and  $\alpha \otimes \alpha$  is  $N \times N$ matrix with matrix entries  $(\alpha \otimes \alpha)_{jk} = \alpha_j \alpha_k$ . Let us define

$$\eta_{ij} = (F_{N+1})_{ij}, \quad \eta^{ij} = (F_{N+1}^{-1})_{ij},$$
(2.58)

where i, j = 1, ..., N + 1. Now we will establish a few lemmas which will be useful later. The next statement is standard.

**Lemma 2.6.1.** Let  $\widetilde{G}$  be the matrix of the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$ , that is its matrix entry  $(\widetilde{G})_{ij} = G_{\mathcal{A}}(e_i, e_j)$ , where i, j = 1, ..., N. Then for any covector  $\gamma = (\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_N) \in V^*$  and  $\gamma^{\vee} = (\gamma_1^{\vee}, ..., \gamma_N^{\vee}) \in V$ , we have  $\widetilde{G}^{-1}\gamma^T = (\gamma^{\vee})^T$ .

Let  $M_{\mathcal{A}} = V \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \prod_{\alpha}$  be the complement to the union of all the hyperplanes  $\prod_{\alpha} := \{x \in V : \alpha(x) = 0\}$ . For any vector  $\overline{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_{N+1}) \in V \oplus U$  let us introduce the corresponding vector field  $\partial_{\overline{a}} = \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} a_i \partial_{x_i} \in \Gamma(T(V \oplus U))$ . For any  $\overline{b} = (b_1, \ldots, b_{N+1}) \in V \oplus U$  we define the following multiplication on the tangent space  $T_{(x,y)}(M_{\mathcal{A}} \oplus U)$ :

$$\partial_{\overline{a}} * \partial_{\overline{b}} = a_i b_j \eta^{kl} F_{ijk} \partial_{x_l}, \quad i, j, k, l = 1, \dots, N+1,$$
(2.59)

where  $\eta^{kl}$  is defined in (2.58) and the summation over repeated indices here and below is assumed. It is clear from the definition that the multiplication \* is commutative and distributive. The next statement follows from Proposition 2.1.5.

**Proposition 2.6.2.** The associativity of multiplication \* is equivalent to the WDVV equation (2.56).

Let us introduce vector field E by

$$E = \partial_{x_{N+1}} \in \Gamma(T(V \oplus U)).$$

For a fixed  $(x, y) \in M_{\mathcal{A}} \oplus U$  after the identification  $T_{(x,y)}(V \oplus U) \cong V \oplus U$  we have that  $E \in U$ .

**Proposition 2.6.3.** Vector field E is the identity for the multiplication (2.59).

*Proof.* For all  $1 \le i \le N+1$  we have

$$\partial_{x_i} * E = \eta^{kj} F_{i,N+1,j} \partial_{x_k} = \eta^{kj} \eta_{ij} \partial_{x_k} = \partial_{x_i}$$

**Proposition 2.6.4.** Let  $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_N), b = (b_1, \ldots, b_N) \in V$ , and let  $\partial_a = \sum_{i=1}^N a_i \partial_{x_i}$ ,  $\partial_b = \sum_{i=1}^N b_i \partial_{x_i}$ . Then the product (2.59) has the following explicit form

$$\partial_a * \partial_b = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha \alpha(a) \alpha(b) (\frac{\lambda}{2} \cot \alpha(x) \partial_{\alpha^{\vee}} + E).$$
(2.60)

*Proof.* Note that  $\eta^{m,N+1} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_m^{N+1}$  for any m = 1, ..., N+1, where  $\delta_i^j$  is the Kronecker symbol. Therefore from (2.59) we have

$$\partial_a * \partial_b = a_i b_j \left(\sum_{k,l=1}^N \eta^{kl} F_{ijk} \partial_{x_l} + \frac{1}{2} F_{i,j,N+1} \partial_{x_{N+1}}\right),$$

where

$$F_{ijk} = \lambda \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha_i \alpha_j \alpha_k \cot \alpha(x), \quad 1 \le i, j, k \le N.$$

Then we have

$$\sum_{k,l=1}^{N} a_{i}b_{j}\eta^{kl}F_{ijk}\partial_{x_{l}} = \lambda \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} c_{\alpha}\alpha(a)\alpha(b)\alpha_{k}\eta^{kl}\cot\alpha(x)\partial_{x_{l}} = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}\alpha(a)\alpha(b)\cot\alpha(x)\partial_{\alpha} dx^{k}$$
(2.61)

by Lemma 2.6.1. Also by formula (2.57) we have that

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i,j=1}^{N}a_{i}b_{j}F_{i,j,N+1} = \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{A}}c_{\alpha}\alpha(a)\alpha(b).$$
(2.62)

The statement follows from formulas (2.61) and (2.62).

If we identify vector space  $V \oplus U$  with the tangent space  $T_{(x,y)}(V \oplus U) \cong V \oplus U$ , then multiplication (2.60) can also be written as

$$a * b = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(a) \alpha(b) (\frac{\lambda}{2} \cot \alpha(x) \alpha^{\vee} + E), \quad a, b \in V.$$
(2.63)

The following proposition gives the explicit formula for the multiplication (2.59) on the tangent space  $T_{(x,y)}(M_{\mathcal{A}} \oplus U)$ .

**Proposition 2.6.5.** Let  $\tilde{u} = u + \rho_1 E$ ,  $\tilde{v} = v + \rho_2 E \in \Gamma(T(V \oplus U))$ , where  $u, v \in V$  and  $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then multiplication (2.59) takes the following form on  $T_{(x,y)}(V \oplus U) \cong V \oplus U$ :

$$\widetilde{u} * \widetilde{v} = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(u) \alpha(v) \cot \alpha(x) \alpha^{\vee} + \rho_2 u + \rho_1 v + (G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, v) + \rho_1 \rho_2) E.$$
(2.64)

*Proof.* We have by Proposition 2.6.3

$$\widetilde{u} * \widetilde{v} = u * v + u * \rho_2 E + \rho_1 E * v + \rho_1 E * \rho_2 E = u * v + \rho_2 u + \rho_1 v + \rho_1 \rho_2 E.$$

Then formula (2.64) follows from formula (2.63).

Let us extend the bilinear form (2.54) to the symmetric bilinear form  $\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}$  on  $V \oplus U$  by defining

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(u,v) = G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,v),$$
  

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(u,E) = 0,$$
  

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(E,E) = 1,$$
(2.65)

for all  $u, v \in V$ . It is clear that the multiplication (2.64) is commutative. Let us now recall the notion of Frobenius algebra in which its prepotential appears as a solution of WDVV equations. The following result holds.

**Proposition 2.6.6.** The multiplication (2.64) satisfies the Frobenius algebra condition with respect to the bilinear form (2.65), that is for any  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z} \in T_{(x,y)}(V \oplus U)$  for generic (x, y) the following condition holds:

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{X}*\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{Z}) = \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{X},\widetilde{Y}*\widetilde{Z}).$$

*Proof.* Let  $\widetilde{X} = X + \rho_1 E$ ,  $\widetilde{Y} = Y + \rho_2 E$ ,  $\widetilde{Z} = Z + \rho_3 E$ , where  $X, Y, Z \in V$ , and  $\rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_3 \in V$ .

 $\mathbb{C}$ . Then by the product formula (2.64) we have

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{X}*\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{Z}) = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(X) \alpha(Y) \cot \alpha(x) \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\widetilde{Z}) + \rho_{2} \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,\widetilde{Z}) + \rho_{1} \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(Y,\widetilde{Z}) + \left(G_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y) + \rho_{1}\rho_{2}\right) \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(E,\widetilde{Z}) = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(X) \alpha(Y) \alpha(Z) \cot \alpha(x) + \rho_{1} G_{\mathcal{A}}(Y,Z) + \rho_{2} G_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Z) + \rho_{3} G_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y) + \rho_{1}\rho_{2}\rho_{3}.$$
(2.66)

The statement follows since the right-hand side of relation (2.66) is invariant under the arbitrary permutations of  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}$ .

**Remark 2.6.7.** The commutativity of the product (2.64) together with Proposition 2.6.6 imply that the 4-tuple  $(T(V \oplus U), *, E, \tilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}})$  constitutes a commutative, associative Frobenius algebra provided that the product \* is associative.

Let us now define the (deformed) Dubrovin connection corresponding to the multiplication (2.64). Let  $\nabla^0_{\widetilde{X}} \widetilde{Y} \coloneqq \partial_{\widetilde{X}} \widetilde{Y}$  be the trivial connection. We know that the trivial connection is a torsion free and also a flat connection, that is

$$\nabla^0_{\widetilde{X}}\widetilde{Y} - \nabla^0_{\widetilde{Y}}\widetilde{X} = [\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}],$$

and

$$R^{0}(\widetilde{X},\widetilde{Y})\widetilde{Z} := [\nabla^{0}_{\widetilde{X}},\nabla^{0}_{\widetilde{Y}}]\widetilde{Z} - \nabla^{0}_{[\widetilde{X},\widetilde{Y}]}\widetilde{Z} = 0$$

for any smooth vector fields  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z} \in \Gamma(T(V \oplus U))$ .

The Dubrovin connection (2.10) on the tangent bundle  $T(V \oplus U)$  takes the form

$$\nabla^{\mu}_{\widetilde{u}}\widetilde{v} = \nabla^{0}_{\widetilde{u}}\widetilde{v} + \mu\widetilde{u} * \widetilde{v}, \qquad (2.67)$$

where the multiplication \* is given by (2.64), and  $\nabla^0$  is the trivial connection, and  $\mu \in \mathbb{C}$ .

The (0,3)-tensor c given by formula (2.1) takes the form

$$c(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}) = \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{X} * \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}), \qquad (2.68)$$

and the (0, 4)-tensor  $T^0$  given by formula (2.2) takes the form

$$T^{0}(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}, \widetilde{W}) \coloneqq \left(\nabla_{\widetilde{W}}^{0} c\right)(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z})$$

$$= \nabla_{\widetilde{W}}^{0} \left(c(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z})\right) - c(\nabla_{\widetilde{W}}^{0} \widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}) - c(\widetilde{X}, \nabla_{\widetilde{W}}^{0} \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}) - c(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \nabla_{\widetilde{W}}^{0} \widetilde{Z})$$

$$= \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \left(c(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z})\right) - c(\partial_{\widetilde{W}} \widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}) - c(\widetilde{X}, \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}) - c(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \widetilde{Z}),$$

$$(2.69)$$

where  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}, \widetilde{W} \in \Gamma(T(V \oplus U))$ , the product \* is given by formula (2.64) and  $\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}$  is given by formula (2.65).

The following statement takes place.

**Proposition 2.6.8.** The tensor  $c(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z})$  given by (2.68) is totally symmetric.

*Proof.* Let  $\widetilde{X} = X + \rho_1 E$ ,  $\widetilde{Y} = Y + \rho_2 E$ ,  $\widetilde{Z} = Z + \rho_3 E$ , where  $X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(TV)$ , and  $\rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_3 \in C^{\infty}(U)$ . Then by the product formula (2.64) we have

$$c(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}) = \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{X} * \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}) = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(X) \alpha(Y) \alpha(Z) \cot \alpha(x) + \rho_1 G_{\mathcal{A}}(Y, Z) + \rho_2 G_{\mathcal{A}}(X, Z) + \rho_3 G_{\mathcal{A}}(X, Y) + \rho_1 \rho_2 \rho_3.$$
(2.70)

The statement follows since the right-hand side of relation (2.66) is invariant under the arbitrary permutations of  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}$ .

The following statement holds.

**Proposition 2.6.9.** For any vector fields  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}, \widetilde{W} \in \Gamma(T(V \oplus U))$ , the (0, 4)-tensor  $T^0(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}, \widetilde{W})$  given by formula (2.69) is totally symmetric in all its arguments.

Proof. Let  $\widetilde{X} = X + \rho_1 E$ ,  $\widetilde{Y} = Y + \rho_2 E$ ,  $\widetilde{Z} = Z + \rho_3 E$ ,  $\widetilde{W} = W + \rho_4 E$ , where  $X, Y, Z, W \in \Gamma(TV)$ , and  $\rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_3, \rho_4 \in C^{\infty}(U)$ . By formula (2.66) we have

$$c(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}) = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(X) \alpha(Y) \alpha(Z) \cot \alpha(x) + \rho_1 G_{\mathcal{A}}(Y, Z) + \rho_2 G_{\mathcal{A}}(X, Z) + \rho_3 G_{\mathcal{A}}(X, Y) + \rho_1 \rho_2 \rho_3.$$

Then to find the explicit formula of the tensor (2.69) we have

$$\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\left(c(\widetilde{X},\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{Z})\right) = -\frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(X) \alpha(Y) \alpha(Z) \frac{\alpha(W)}{\sin^{2} \alpha(x)} \\ + \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \cot \alpha(x) \left( \left( \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \alpha(X) \right) \alpha(Y) \alpha(Z) + \alpha(X) \left( \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \alpha(Y) \right) \alpha(Z) + \alpha(X) \alpha(Y) \left( \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \alpha(Z) \right) \right) \\ + \left( \rho_{1} \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(Y,Z) + \left( \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \rho_{1} \right) \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(Y,Z) \right) + \left( \rho_{2} \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Z) + \left( \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \rho_{2} \right) \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Z) \right) \\ + \left( \rho_{3} \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y) + \left( \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \rho_{3} \right) \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y) \right) + \left( \left( \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \rho_{1} \right) \rho_{2} \rho_{3} + \rho_{1} \left( \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \rho_{2} \right) \rho_{3} + \rho_{1} \rho_{2} \left( \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \rho_{3} \right) \right).$$

$$(2.71)$$

Also using Frobenius condition we have

$$c(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X},\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{Z}) = \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X}*\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{Z}) = \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X},\widetilde{Y}*\widetilde{Z})$$
$$= \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}\alpha(Y)\alpha(Z)\cot\alpha(x)\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X}) + \rho_{3}\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X},Y) + \rho_{2}\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X},Z)$$
$$+ \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(Y,Z)\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X},E) + \rho_{2}\rho_{3}\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X},E).$$
(2.72)

But using the compatibility condition we have

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X}) = \partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\widetilde{X}) - \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\alpha^{\vee},\widetilde{X}) = \partial_{\widetilde{W}}\alpha(X),$$
(2.73)

since  $\partial_{\widetilde{W}} \alpha^{\vee} = 0$ . Also by the compatibility condition we have

$$\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X}, E) = \partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{X}, E) - \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{X}, \partial_{\widetilde{W}}E) = \partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{X}, E) = \partial_{\widetilde{W}}(\rho_1), \quad (2.74)$$

since  $\partial_{\widetilde{W}} E = 0$ . Hence by relations (2.73) and (2.74) relation (2.72) becomes

$$c(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X},\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{Z}) = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(Y) \alpha(Z) \cot \alpha(x) \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \alpha(X) + \rho_{3} \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X},Y) + \rho_{2} \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{X},Z) + (\partial_{\widetilde{W}}(\rho_{1})) \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(Y,Z) + (\partial_{\widetilde{W}}(\rho_{1})) \rho_{2} \rho_{3}.$$
(2.75)

Similarly, we have

$$c(\widetilde{X},\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{Z}) = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(X) \alpha(Z) \cot \alpha(x) \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \alpha(Y) + \rho_{3} \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{Y}) + \rho_{1} \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{Y},Z) + \left(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}(\rho_{2})\right) \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Z) + \rho_{1} \left(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}(\rho_{2})\right) \rho_{3}.$$

$$(2.76)$$

Also we have

$$c(\widetilde{X},\widetilde{Y},\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{Z}) = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(X) \alpha(Y) \cot \alpha(x) \partial_{\widetilde{W}} \alpha(Z) + \rho_2 \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{Z}) + \rho_1 \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}\widetilde{Y},Z) + \left(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}(\rho_3)\right) \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y) + \rho_1 \rho_2 \left(\partial_{\widetilde{W}}(\rho_3)\right).$$

$$(2.77)$$

Then by substituting relations (2.71), (2.75), (2.76) and (2.77) into the formula (2.69) and making use of the compatibility condition when required the formula of the tensor (2.69) reduces to

$$T(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}, \widetilde{W}) = \left(\nabla^{0}_{\widetilde{W}}c\right)(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}) = -\frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}\alpha(X)\alpha(Y)\alpha(Z)\frac{\alpha(W)}{\sin^{2}\alpha(x)}.$$
 (2.78)

The statement follows since formula (2.78) is symmetric in all its arguments  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}, \widetilde{W}$ .

Propositions 2.6.8, 2.6.9 together with Poincaré Lemma confirm the existence of Frobenius prepotential as in the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.6.10.** There exists a (local) prepotential  $\hat{F} = \hat{F}(x_1, \ldots, x_N, y)$  satisfies

$$\partial_{\widetilde{X}}\partial_{\widetilde{Y}}\partial_{\widetilde{Z}}\widehat{F} = \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{X}*\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{Z}),$$

where the multiplication \* is given by formula (2.64) and  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}$  are flat vector fields. This prepotential takes the form

$$\widehat{F} = \frac{y^3}{6} + \frac{y}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha \alpha(x)^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha f(\alpha(x)) = \frac{1}{2} F(x, y),$$

where F is the solution given by (2.55).

Proof. By Propositions 2.6.8, 2.6.9 the two tensors (2.1), (2.2) are totally symmetric in all their arguments. Then Proposition 2.1.4 agrees of existence of the prepotential  $\widehat{F}$ . Let us denote by  $c_{\widetilde{X}\widetilde{Y}\widetilde{Z}} \coloneqq c(\widetilde{X},\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{Z})$ . Let us now find the explicit formula of the prepotential  $\widehat{F}$  corresponding to the flat connection  $\nabla^0$  which can be extracted by integrating the polynomial  $c_{\widetilde{X}\widetilde{Y}\widetilde{Z}}$  as follows.

By the formula of the multiplication (2.64) we have

$$\partial_{\widetilde{X}}\partial_{\widetilde{Y}}\partial_{\widetilde{Z}}\widehat{F} = c_{\widetilde{X}\widetilde{Y}\widetilde{Z}} = \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{X}*\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{Z}) = \frac{\lambda}{2}\sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{A}}c_{\alpha}\alpha(X)\alpha(Y)\alpha(Z)\cot\alpha(x) + \rho_{1}G_{\mathcal{A}}(Y,Z) + \rho_{2}G_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Z) + \rho_{3}G_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y) + \rho_{1}\rho_{2}\rho_{3}.$$
(2.79)

Then it is easy to see that

$$\partial_{\widetilde{X}}\partial_{\widetilde{Y}}\partial_{\widetilde{Z}}(\frac{y^3}{6}) = \rho_1 \rho_2 \rho_3. \tag{2.80}$$

Also we can show that

$$\partial_{\widetilde{X}}\partial_{\widetilde{Y}}\partial_{\widetilde{Z}}\left(\frac{y}{2}\sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{A}}c_{\alpha}\alpha(x)^{2}\right) = \rho_{1}G_{\mathcal{A}}(Y,Z) + \rho_{2}G_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Z) + \rho_{3}G_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y).$$
(2.81)

For the term  $\frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(X) \alpha(Y) \alpha(Z) \cot \alpha(x)$  we consider a function f to be such of that  $f'''(\alpha(x)) = \cot \alpha(x)$  and hence we have

$$\partial_{\widetilde{X}}\partial_{\widetilde{Y}}\partial_{\widetilde{Z}}\Big(\sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{A}}c_{\alpha}f(\alpha(x)\Big) = \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{A}}c_{\alpha}\alpha(X)\alpha(Y)\alpha(Z)\cot\alpha(x).$$
(2.82)

Then by relations (2.80)–(2.82) the prepotential  $\hat{F}$  in (2.79) takes the form

$$\widehat{F}(x,y) = \frac{y^3}{6} + \frac{y}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha \alpha(x)^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha f(\alpha(x)) = \frac{1}{2} F(x,y),$$

where F is the solution given by (2.55).

**Remark 2.6.11.** In the Definition 2.1.3 of the Frobenius manifold it is usually assumed that the scaling constant  $d_1$  is nonzero. One can allow to choose  $d_1 = 0$ . This happens if we define  $\mathcal{E} = e = E$ , that is the Euler vector field coincides with the identity of the product. Then

$$\mathcal{E}(\widehat{F}) = \partial_y(\widehat{F}) = \frac{1}{2} \left( y^2 + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha \alpha(x)^2 \right),$$

which agrees with the relation (2.7) where  $d_F = 0$ . Thus the set  $\left(V \oplus U, *, E, \widetilde{G}_A, E\right)$  becomes a Frobenius manifold provided that the product \* is associative.

The following property holds.

**Proposition 2.6.12.** Dubrovin connection (2.67) is torsion free.

*Proof.* The statement follows from Proposition 2.2.2 since the product \* is commutative.

The curvature of connection (2.67) is defined by

$$\widetilde{R}^{\mu}(X,Y)Z := [\nabla^{\mu}_{X}, \nabla^{\mu}_{Y}]Z - \nabla^{\mu}_{[X,Y]}Z, \quad X, Y, Z \in \Gamma\Big(T_{*}(V \oplus U)\Big).$$
(2.83)

The following result holds.

54

**Proposition 2.6.13.** The flatness of the connection (2.67) is equivalent to the associativity of the product (2.64).

*Proof.* By Proposition 2.2.2 the flatness of the connection (2.67) is equivalent to the totally symmetric of the tensor  $T^0(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}, \widetilde{W})$  given by formula (2.69) together with the associativity of the product \* is given by (2.64). But from Proposition (2.6.9) the tensor  $T^0$  is totally symmetric, hence the statement follows.

As a corollary of Propositions 2.6.2, 2.6.13 the following result holds.

**Theorem 2.6.14.** The flatness of Dubrovin connection (2.67) for all  $\mu$  is equivalent to WDVV equations (2.56).

Let us now consider  $\Lambda^2 V^*$  as a subspace in  $(V \otimes V)^*$  given by the anti-symmetric tensors, then we can define the quantity  $B_{\alpha,\beta} \colon V \otimes V \to \mathbb{C}$  as follows. For any  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{A}$ we define  $B_{\alpha,\beta} \coloneqq \alpha \land \beta = \alpha \otimes \beta - \beta \otimes \alpha \in \Lambda^2 V^*$ , such that

$$B_{\alpha,\beta}(a\otimes b) = \alpha \wedge \beta(a\otimes b) = \alpha(a)\beta(b) - \alpha(b)\beta(a)$$

for any  $a, b \in V$ . The following property holds.

**Lemma 2.6.15.** For any  $\alpha, \beta \in V^*, a, b \in V$  we have

$$B_{\alpha,\beta}(a \wedge b) = 2B_{\alpha,\beta}(a \otimes b).$$

*Proof.* Since  $a \wedge b = a \otimes b - b \otimes a$ , then

$$B_{\alpha,\beta}(a \wedge b) = B_{\alpha,\beta}(a \otimes b - b \otimes a) = B_{\alpha,\beta}(a \otimes b) - B_{\alpha,\beta}(b \otimes a)$$
$$= \left(\alpha(a)\beta(b) - \alpha(b)\beta(a)\right) - \left(\alpha(b)\beta(a) - \alpha(a)\beta(b)\right) = 2\left(\alpha(a)\beta(b) - \alpha(b)\beta(a)\right),$$

which implies the statement.

Let us introduce the following symmetric bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)} = G_{(\mathcal{A},c)}^{(1)}$ , on the vector space  $\Lambda^2 V \subset V \otimes V$  given by

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}(z,w) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}B_{\alpha,\beta}(z)B_{\alpha,\beta}(w), \qquad (2.84)$$

where  $z, w \in \Lambda^2 V$ . It is easy to see that for  $z = u_1 \wedge v_1, w = u_2 \wedge v_2$ , where  $u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in V$ , we have

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}(z,w) = 8 \Big( G_{\mathcal{A}}(u_1, u_2) G_{\mathcal{A}}(v_1, v_2) - G_{\mathcal{A}}(u_1, v_2) G_{\mathcal{A}}(u_2, v_1) \Big),$$
(2.85)

which is a natural extension of the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  to the space  $\Lambda^2 V$ . It is also easy to see that this form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}$  is non-degenerate and that it is  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant.

Since the flatness of connection (2.67) is equivalent to WDVV equations (2.56) one expects that the flatness condition determines the restrictions on the scalar  $\lambda$  that lead to a solution of form (2.55). The following proposition gives the condition in the solution (2.55) which follows from the flatness of the corresponding connection.

**Proposition 2.6.16.** The flatness of Dubrovin connection (2.67) for all  $\mu$  is equivalent to the identity

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}} \left( \frac{\lambda^2}{4} c_\alpha c_\beta G_\mathcal{A}(\alpha^\vee,\beta^\vee) \cot\alpha(x) \cot\beta(x) + c_\alpha c_\beta \right) B_{\alpha,\beta}(u\otimes v) B_{\alpha,\beta}(z\otimes w) = 0.$$
(2.86)

*Proof.* Firstly, note that by Proposition 2.2.5 and formula (2.83), it is enough to study the zero-curvature (flatness condition) by considering constant vector fields  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}, \tilde{z}$ , and hence the flatness condition for the connection (2.67) reduces to the formula

$$[\nabla^{\mu}_{\widetilde{u}}, \nabla^{\mu}_{\widetilde{v}}](\widetilde{z}) = 0.$$
(2.87)

Let us now consider constant vector fields:

$$\widetilde{u} = u + \rho_1 E, \ \widetilde{v} = v + \rho_2 E, \ \widetilde{z} = z + \rho_3 E \in \Gamma(T(V \oplus U)),$$

where  $u, v, z \in V$  and  $\rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_3 \in \mathbb{C}$ . By straightforward calculation we have

$$\nabla_{\widetilde{u}}^{\mu} \Big( \nabla_{\widetilde{v}}^{\mu}(\widetilde{z}) \Big) = -\frac{\mu\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \frac{\alpha(u)\alpha(v)\alpha(z)}{\sin^{2}\alpha(x)} \alpha^{\vee} + \frac{\mu^{2}\lambda\rho_{1}}{2} \sum_{\alpha > 0} c_{\alpha}\alpha(v)\alpha(z) \cot \alpha(x)\alpha^{\vee} \\
+ \frac{\mu^{2}\lambda\rho_{2}}{2} \sum_{\alpha > 0} c_{\alpha}\alpha(u)\alpha(z) \cot \alpha(x)\alpha^{\vee} + \frac{\mu^{2}\lambda\rho_{3}}{2} \sum_{\alpha > 0} c_{\alpha}\alpha(u)\alpha(v) \cot \alpha(x)\alpha^{\vee} \\
+ \frac{\mu^{2}\lambda^{2}}{4} \sum_{\alpha,\beta > 0} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}\alpha(u)\beta(v) \cot \alpha(x) \cot \beta(x)(\alpha \otimes \alpha^{\vee})(\beta \otimes \beta^{\vee})(z) + \mu^{2}G_{\mathcal{A}}(v,z)u \\
+ \mu^{2} \Big( \rho_{1}\rho_{2}z + \rho_{1}\rho_{3}v + \rho_{2}\rho_{3}u \Big) + \mu^{2} \Big( \rho_{1}G_{\mathcal{A}}(v,z) + \rho_{2}G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,z) + \rho_{3}G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,v) + \rho_{1}\rho_{2}\rho_{3} \Big) E \\
+ \mu^{2} \Big( \frac{\lambda}{2} \sum_{\alpha > 0} c_{\alpha}\alpha(u)\alpha(v) \cot \alpha(x) \Big) E.$$
(2.88)

Similarly, (by swapping  $u \leftrightarrow v$  and  $\rho_1 \leftrightarrow \rho_2$ ) we obtain the formula of  $\nabla^{\mu}_{\tilde{v}} \left( \nabla^{\mu}_{\tilde{u}}(\tilde{z}) \right)$ . Hence the flatness condition (2.87) reduces to

$$0 = \frac{\mu^2 \lambda^2}{4} \sum_{\alpha,\beta>0} c_\alpha c_\beta \Big( \alpha \wedge \beta(u \otimes v) \Big) \cot \alpha(x) \cot \beta(x) (\alpha \otimes \alpha^{\vee}) (\beta \otimes \beta^{\vee})(z) + \mu^2 \Big( G_{\mathcal{A}}(v,z)u - G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,z)v \Big).$$
(2.89)

Note that

$$(\alpha \otimes \alpha^{\vee})(\beta \otimes \beta^{\vee})(z) = (\alpha \otimes \alpha^{\vee})(\beta(z)\beta^{\vee}) = \alpha(\beta^{\vee})\beta(z)\alpha^{\vee} = G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\beta^{\vee})\beta(z)\alpha^{\vee}.$$

Hence identity (2.89) can be rewritten as

$$0 = \frac{\mu^2 \lambda^2}{4} \sum_{\alpha,\beta>0} c_\alpha c_\beta G_\mathcal{A}(\alpha^{\vee},\beta^{\vee}) \cot \alpha(x) \cot \beta(x) \Big(\alpha \wedge \beta(u \otimes v)\Big) \beta(z) \alpha^{\vee} + \mu^2 \Big( G_\mathcal{A}(v,z)u - G_\mathcal{A}(u,z)v \Big).$$
(2.90)

Since the identity (2.90) valid for all vectors  $\alpha, \beta > 0$ , then by exchanging  $\alpha \leftrightarrow \beta$  we get a similar identity in which adding them up together and multiplying the result by  $\frac{4}{\mu^2}$  gives the following identity

$$\lambda^{2} \sum_{\alpha,\beta>0} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\beta^{\vee}) \cot\alpha(x) \cot\beta(x) \Big(\alpha \wedge \beta(u \otimes v)\Big) \Big(\alpha(z)\beta^{\vee} - \beta(z)\alpha^{\vee}\Big) \\ + 8\Big(G_{\mathcal{A}}(v,z)u - G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,z)v\Big) = 0.$$
(2.91)

Let  $w \in V$  and let us calculate the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(w, \cdot)$  with respect to the identity (2.91). We have

$$\begin{split} \lambda^2 \sum_{\alpha,\beta>0} c_{\alpha} c_{\beta} G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\beta^{\vee}) \cot \alpha(x) \cot \beta(x) \Big( \alpha \wedge \beta(u \otimes v) \Big) \Big( \alpha(z) G_{\mathcal{A}}(\beta^{\vee},w) - \beta(z) G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},w) \Big) \\ &+ 8 \Big( G_{\mathcal{A}}(v,z) G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,w) - G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,z) G_{\mathcal{A}}(v,w) \Big) = 0, \end{split}$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\lambda^{2} \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} c_{\beta} G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\beta^{\vee}) \cot \alpha(x) \cot \beta(x) \Big( \alpha \wedge \beta(u \otimes v) \Big) \Big( \alpha \wedge \beta(z \otimes w) \Big) \\ + 8 \Big( G_{\mathcal{A}}(v,z) G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,w) - G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,z) G_{\mathcal{A}}(v,w) \Big) = 0.$$
(2.92)

But from Lemma 2.6.15 and relation (2.85) we have

$$8\Big(G_{\mathcal{A}}(v,z)G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,w) - G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,z)G_{\mathcal{A}}(v,w)\Big) = G_{\mathcal{A}}(u \wedge v, z \wedge w)$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}B_{\alpha,\beta}(u \wedge v)B_{\alpha,\beta}(z \wedge w) = 4\sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}B_{\alpha,\beta}(u \otimes v)B_{\alpha,\beta}(z \otimes w).$$

Hence the flatness condition (2.92) reduces to the required identity.

57

#### 2.6.2 Trigonometric $\lor$ -systems

For a fixed  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  identity (2.86) may contain singularities when  $\tan \alpha(x) = 0$ , and in order to cancel these singularities we need further investigation. To do so, we need to prove some results.

For each vector  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  let us introduce the set of its collinear vectors from  $\mathcal{A}$ :

$$\delta_{\alpha} \coloneqq \{ \gamma \in \mathcal{A} \colon \gamma \sim \alpha \}.$$

Let  $\delta \subseteq \delta_{\alpha}$  and  $\alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . Then for any  $\gamma \in \delta$  we have  $\gamma = k_{\gamma}\alpha_0$  for some  $k_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{R}$ . Note that  $k_{\gamma}$  depends on the choice of  $\alpha_0$  and different choices of  $\alpha_0$  give rescaled collections of these parameters. Define  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0} \coloneqq \sum_{\gamma \in \delta} c_{\gamma}k_{\gamma}^2$ . Note that  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0}$  is non-zero if and only if  $C_{\delta}^{\tilde{\alpha}_0} \neq 0$  for any  $\tilde{\alpha}_0 \in \delta$ .

The WDVV equations for a function F can be reformulated using geometry of the configuration  $\mathcal{A}$ . Such a geometric structure is embedded in the notion of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. Before defining trigonometric  $\lor$ -system precisely we need a notion of *series* (or *strings*) of vectors (see [27]).

For any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  let us distribute all the covectors in  $\mathcal{A} \setminus \delta_{\alpha}$  into a disjoint union of  $\alpha$ -series

$$\mathcal{A} \setminus \delta_{\alpha} = \bigsqcup_{s=1}^{k} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s},$$

where  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  depends on  $\alpha$ . These series  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$  are determined by the property that for any  $s = 1, \ldots, k$  and for any two covectors  $\gamma_{1}, \gamma_{2} \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$  one has either  $\gamma_{1} + \gamma_{2} = m\alpha$  or  $\gamma_{1} - \gamma_{2} = m\alpha$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . We assume that the series are maximal, that is if  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$  for some  $s \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$  must contain all the covectors of the form  $\pm \gamma + m\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  with  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Note that if for some  $\beta \in \mathcal{A}$  there is no  $\gamma \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $\beta \pm \gamma = m\alpha$  for  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then  $\beta$  itself forms a single  $\alpha$ -series. Note also that any  $\alpha$ -series belongs to a two-dimensional vector space.

By replacing some vectors from  $\mathcal{A}$  with their opposite ones and keeping the multiplicity unchanged one can get a new configuration whose vectors belong to a half-space. We will denote such a system by  $\mathcal{A}_+$ . If this system contains repeated vectors  $\alpha$  with multiplicities  $c^i_{\alpha}$  then we replace them with the single vector  $\alpha$  with multiplicity  $c_{\alpha} := \sum_i c^i_{\alpha}$ .

**Definition 2.6.17.** [27] The pair  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  is called a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system if for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  and for any  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$ , one has the relation

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta} \alpha(\beta^{\vee}) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0.$$
(2.93)

Note that if  $\beta_1, \beta_2 \in \Gamma^s_{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha, s$ , then  $\alpha \wedge \beta_1 = \pm \alpha \wedge \beta_2$  so the identity (2.93)

may be simplified by cancelling wedge products. We also note that if  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\vee$ -system then  $\mathcal{A}_+$  is the one as well.

Let us also define the following bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}_+}^{(2)}$  on  $\Lambda^2 V$ :

$$G_{\mathcal{A}_{+}}^{(2)}(z,w) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}_{+}} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\beta^{\vee})B_{\alpha,\beta}(z)B_{\alpha,\beta}(w), \qquad (2.94)$$

where  $z, w \in \Lambda^2 V$ .

The following statement shows that the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}_+}^{(2)}$  is independent of the choice of the positive system  $\mathcal{A}_+$ .

**Lemma 2.6.18.** For any positive systems  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}_+, \mathcal{A}^{(2)}_+$  for a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  we have  $G^{(2)}_{\mathcal{A}^{(1)}_+} = G^{(2)}_{\mathcal{A}^{(2)}_+}$ .

*Proof.* Suppose firstly that two positive systems  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}_+, \mathcal{A}^{(2)}_+$  for a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  satisfy the condition

$$\mathcal{A}^{(2)}_{+} = \left(\mathcal{A}^{(1)}_{+} \setminus \delta_{\alpha}\right) \cup \left(-\delta_{\alpha}\right)$$

for some  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}^{(1)}_+$ . Notice that vector  $\alpha$  cannot be a linear combination of vectors in  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}_+ \setminus \delta_{\alpha}$  with positive coefficients. Hence for each  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma^s_{\alpha}$  in  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}_+$  we have

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta} \alpha(\beta^{\vee}) = 0 \tag{2.95}$$

since  $B_{\alpha,\beta_1} = B_{\alpha,\beta_2}$  for all  $\beta_1,\beta_2 \in \Gamma^s_{\alpha}$ .

Let us consider terms in  $G^{(2)}_{\mathcal{A}^{(1)}_+}(z,w)$  which contain  $\alpha$ . They are proportional to

$$\sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}^{(1)}_+} c_\beta G_\mathcal{A}(\alpha^{\vee}, \beta^{\vee}) B_{\alpha,\beta}(z) B_{\alpha,\beta}(w) = \sum_s \sum_{\beta \in \Gamma^s_\alpha} c_\beta \alpha(\beta^{\vee}) B_{\alpha,\beta}(z) B_{\alpha,\beta}(w) = 0$$

by (2.95). The statement follows in this case.

In general, the system  $\mathcal{A}^{(2)}_+$  can be obtained from the system  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}_+$  by a sequence of steps where in each one we replace the subset of vectors  $\delta_{\alpha}$  with vectors  $-\delta_{\alpha}$  and the resulting system is still a positive one. In order to see this, one moves continuously the hyperplane defining  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}_+$  into the hyperplane defining  $\mathcal{A}^{(2)}_+$  so that at each moment the hyperplane contains at most one vector from  $\mathcal{A}$  up to proportionality. The statement follows from the case considered above.

As a consequence of Lemma 2.6.18 we can and will denote the form  $G_{\mathcal{A}_+}^{(2)}$  as  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$ . The following proposition holds. **Proposition 2.6.19.** Assume that prepotential (2.55) satisfies the WDVV equations (2.56). Suppose that  $C_{\delta_{\alpha}}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . Then the identity

$$\sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \delta_{\alpha}} c_{\beta} \alpha(\beta^{\vee}) \cot \beta(x) B_{\alpha,\beta}(a \otimes b) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0$$
(2.96)

holds for all  $a, b \in V$  provided that  $\alpha(x) = 0$ .

*Proof.* By Theorem 2.6.14 the WDVV equations (2.56) are equivalent to the flatness of connection (2.67), and by Proposition 2.6.16 the flatness condition of connection (2.67) is equivalent to relation (2.86).

Let us consider terms in the left-hand side of relation (2.86), where  $\beta$  or  $\gamma$  is proportional to  $\alpha$ . The sum of these terms has to be regular at  $\alpha(x) = 0$ . This implies that the product

$$\left(\lambda^2 \sum_{\gamma \in \delta_{\alpha}} k_{\gamma}^3 c_{\gamma} \cot \gamma(x)\right) \left(\sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \delta_{\alpha}} c_{\beta} \alpha_0(\beta^{\vee}) \cot \beta(x) B_{\alpha_0,\beta}(a \otimes b) \alpha_0 \wedge \beta\right)$$
(2.97)

is regular at  $\alpha(x) = 0$ . The first factor in the product (2.97) has the first order pole at  $\alpha(x) = 0$  by the assumption that  $C_{\delta_{\alpha}}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . This implies the statement.

Similarly to Proposition 2.6.19 the following proposition can also be established.

**Proposition 2.6.20.** Assume that prepotential (2.55) satisfies the WDVV equations (2.56). Suppose that  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \delta \subseteq \delta_{\alpha}, \alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . Then the identity (2.96) holds for any  $a, b \in V$  provided that  $\tan \alpha(x) = 0$ .

The proof is similar to the proof of Proposition 2.6.19. Indeed, we have that expression (2.97) is regular at  $\alpha(x) = \pi m, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Assumptions imply that the first factor in (2.97) has the first order pole, which implies the statement.

A close relation between trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems and solutions of WDVV equations is given by the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.6.21.** (cf.[27]) Suppose that a configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  satisfies the condition  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \delta \subseteq \delta_{\alpha}, \alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . Then WDVV equations (2.56) for the function (2.55) imply the following two conditions:

1.  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system,

2. Bilinear forms (2.84), (2.94) satisfy proportionality  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)} = \frac{\lambda^2}{4} G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$ .

Conversely, if a configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  satisfies conditions (1) and (2) then WDVV equations (2.56) hold.
The key part of the proof is to derive trigonometric  $\lor$ -conditions from WDVV equations, which goes along the following lines (see [27] for details). By Proposition 2.6.20 identity (2.96) holds if  $\tan \alpha(x) = 0$ . The identity (2.96) is a linear combination of  $\cot \beta(x)|_{\tan \alpha(x)=0}$ , which can vanish only if it vanishes for each  $\alpha$ -series. Hence identity (2.96) implies relations (2.93) so  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

**Remark 2.6.22.** A version of Theorem 2.6.21 is given in [27, Theorem 1] without specifying conditions  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$ . However these assumptions seem needed in general in order to derive trigonometric  $\vee$ -conditions for  $\alpha$ -series in the case when  $\delta_{\alpha} \setminus \{\pm \alpha\} \neq \emptyset$  as above arguments and proofs of Propositions 2.6.19, 2.6.20 explain.

### 2.7 Root systems examples

An important class of trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations is given by (crystallographic) root systems  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}$  of Weyl groups  $\mathcal{W}$ . Recall that a root system  $\mathcal{R}$  satisfies the property

$$s_{\alpha}\beta = \beta - \frac{2\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} \alpha \in \mathcal{R}$$
(2.98)

for any  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{R}$ , and one has  $\frac{2\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is a  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant scalar product on  $V^* \cong V$ . The corresponding Weyl group is generated by reflections  $s_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \mathcal{R}$ .

The following statement was established in [42] for the non-reduced root systems.

**Theorem 2.7.1.** (cf. [42]) Let  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}$  be an irreducible root system with the Weyl group  $\mathcal{W}$  and suppose that the multiplicity function  $c: \mathcal{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  is  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant. Then prepotential (2.55) satisfies WDVV equations (2.56) for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ .

Let us explain a proof of this statement different from [42] by making use the notion of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and Theorem 2.6.21.

**Proposition 2.7.2.** Root system  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}$  with  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant multiplicity function c is a trigonometric  $\vee$ -system.

*Proof.* Fix  $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}$ . Take any  $\beta \in \mathcal{R}$ , and let  $\gamma = s_{\alpha}\beta$ . Then from (2.98) we have that

$$\beta - \gamma = m\alpha, \quad m \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Hence  $\beta, \gamma \in \Gamma^s_{\alpha}$  for some s. The bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{R}}$  is  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant so is proportional to  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ . Therefore we have

$$c_{\beta} = c_{\gamma}, \quad G_{\mathcal{R}}(\alpha, \beta) = -G_{\mathcal{R}}(\alpha, \gamma), \quad \alpha \wedge \beta = \alpha \wedge \gamma.$$

Hence,

$$c_{\beta}G_{\mathcal{R}}(\alpha,\beta)\alpha \wedge \beta + c_{\gamma}G_{\mathcal{R}}(\alpha,\gamma)\alpha \wedge \gamma = 0,$$

which implies trigonometric  $\lor$ -conditions (2.93).

It is easy to see that the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{R}}^{(1)}$  is  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant, and the same is true for the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{R}}^{(2)}$  (see e.g. [3, Proposition 6.4]). Since  $\mathcal{W}$ -module  $\Lambda^2 V$  is irreducible, the forms  $G_{\mathcal{R}}^{(1)}$  and  $G_{\mathcal{R}}^{(2)}$  have to be proportional. By Theorem 2.6.21 this implies Theorem 2.7.1 provided that the form  $G_{\mathcal{R}}^{(2)}$  is non-zero. The latter fact is claimed in [42] where the corresponding solution of WDVV equations was explicitly stated for the constant multiplicity function. It was found for any multiplicity function for the non-reduced root systems in [47, 48].

It follows that a positive half  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}^+$  of a root system  $\mathcal{R}$  also defines a solution of WDVV equations (2.56). We find the corresponding form  $G_{\mathcal{R}^+}^{(2)}$  for the root system  $\mathcal{R} = BC_N$  explicitly in Section 3.3. We also specify corresponding constants  $\lambda = \lambda_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  for (the positive halves of) reduced root systems  $\mathcal{R}$  in Section 3.6. Note that  $\lambda$  is invariant under the linear transformations applied to  $\mathcal{A}$ . In the root system case the scalar  $\lambda_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$ may be thought of as a version of the (generalized) Coxeter number for the case of the representation  $\Lambda^2 V$ , as the usual (generalized) Coxeter number can also be given as a ratio of two  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant forms on V ([6,28]).

The value of the parameter  $\lambda$  was found in a few earlier works which we now recall.

#### 1. Martini's and Hoevenaars' works

A prepotential  $\widetilde{F}$  of N+1 variables  $(x_1, \ldots, x_N, y)$  was considered in [42] in the form

$$\widetilde{F}(x,y) = \frac{\gamma}{6}y^3 + \frac{\gamma}{2}y\langle x,x\rangle + \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{R}^+} k_\alpha \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)), \qquad (2.99)$$

where  $\mathcal{R}^+$  is a positive half of the (crystallographic) root system  $\mathcal{R}$  of rank N, the multiplicity function  $k(\alpha) := k_{\alpha}$  and the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  are invariant under the corresponding Weyl group  $\mathcal{W}$  of  $\mathcal{R}, \gamma \in \mathbb{C}$  is depending on the root system  $\mathcal{R}$  and function  $\tilde{f}$  given by

$$\widetilde{f}(z) = \frac{1}{6}z^3 - \frac{1}{4}Li_3(e^{-2z})$$
(2.100)

satisfies  $\tilde{f}'''(z) = \coth z$ . With respect to the extra variable  $y = x_{N+1}$  the matrix of the third order derivatives

$$(F_{N+1})_{ij} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial_{N+1}\partial_i\partial_j}$$

becomes a multiple of the identity, more precisely  $(F_{N+1})_{ij} = \gamma \delta_{ij}$ . Hence the WDVV systems (2.56) in this case reduces to the system

$$F_i F_j = F_j F_i$$

It has been shown that function (2.99) satisfies WDVV equations (2.56) and the corresponding values of  $\gamma_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  were given explicitly (except for  $\mathcal{R} = BC_N, G_2$ ) where a constant  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant multiplicity function was considered as the following statement explains.

**Proposition 2.7.3.** [42] The function (2.99) satisfies WDVV equations (2.56) and the corresponding values of  $\gamma_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  for a constant W-invariant multiplicity function  $k_{\alpha} = 1 \forall \alpha$  are given in the following table:

$\mathcal{R}$	$B_N$ $C_N$		$D_N$	$A_N$	$E_6$	$E_7$	$E_8$	$F_4$
$-\gamma^2$	2(2N-3)	4(N+2)	4(N-2)	(N + 1)	24	48	120	15

**Remark 2.7.4.** (1) A function of the form (2.99) was also considered in [33] for special value of multiplicities were  $k(e^i) = \eta$ ,  $(1 \le i \le N)$ ,  $k(e^i \pm e^j) = 1$ ,  $(1 \le i < j \le N)$ , and it has been shown that function (2.99) for this case satisfies the WDVV system (2.56) if and only if

$$\eta = -2(N-2) - \frac{\gamma^2}{2}, \qquad (2.101)$$

which agrees with the value of  $\gamma$  given above where the values  $\eta = 1, 0$  in (2.101) are corresponding to the root systems of type  $B_N, D_N$  respectively.

(2) There seems to be typos in [42] in the values of  $\gamma$  which are given for root systems  $A_N, E_6, E_8$  as we will clarify that later when we generalize these results to general multiplicities.

#### 2. Bryan's and Gholampour's case

Solutions of WDVV equations of the form (2.99) can also be extracted from the considerations in [11, Section 4], where a family of (Frobenius) algebras for irreducible reduced root systems  $\mathcal{R} \subset V^*$  of rank N with special multiplicities function were considered, where V is a real N-dimensional vector space. The multiplication \* on the tangent space  $T_{(x,y)}(V \oplus U) \cong V \oplus U$ , where dim  $U = 1, x \in V, y \in U$  was given by the formula

$$u * v = \langle u, v \rangle E + \tilde{\gamma}^{-1} \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{R}^+} \frac{c_\beta}{\langle \beta, \beta \rangle} \beta(u) \beta(v) \coth \beta(x) \beta, \quad (u, v \in V),$$
(2.102)

where  $\tilde{\gamma} = \tilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)} \in \mathbb{C}$ , and  $E \in U$  is the identity of \*. It was shown in [11] that this multiplication is associative and satisfies the Frobenius condition. This gives rise to existence of solutions of WDVV equations corresponding to each root system. The constant  $\tilde{\gamma} = \tilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  was expressed in [11] in terms of the highest root  $\theta$  of the root system  $\mathcal{R}$ .

Proposition 2.7.5. [11] The function

$$\widetilde{F}(x,y) = \frac{\widetilde{\gamma}}{6}y^3 + \frac{\widetilde{\gamma}}{2}y\langle x,x\rangle + \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{R}^+}\frac{c_\alpha}{\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle}\widetilde{f}(\alpha(x))$$
(2.103)

corresponding to the multiplication (2.102) solves WDVV equations (2.56) and the value of  $\tilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  in the solution (2.103) in the case of constant multiplicity function  $c_{\alpha} = t$  is given by

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)}^2 = -\frac{t^2}{8} \Big( \langle \theta, \theta \rangle + \sum_{i=1}^N n_i^2 \langle \alpha_i, \alpha_i \rangle \Big).$$

#### 3. Shen's result

Note that in [47,48] a prepotential function for a Frobenius structure was considered, this prepotential gives a solution of WDVV equations for root systems  $\mathcal{R}$  for arbitrary (not simply-laced) root system  $\mathcal{R}$  with invariant multiplicity. Let us recall that solution which is given by

$$\Phi = -\frac{y^3}{6} + \frac{\mu}{2} \langle x, x \rangle y + 2\mu \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}^+} \frac{k_\alpha}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} q(\alpha(x)), \qquad (2.104)$$

for some scalar  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ , where  $k_{\alpha}$  is a  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant multiplicity function and the function q satisfies  $q'''(z) = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{coth}(\frac{z}{2})$ . For each  $k_{\alpha}$  a product structure was defined on the tangent bundle  $T(V \oplus U)$  which endows each fiber of  $T(V \oplus U)$  with Frobenius algebra structure. Let us recall this algebra structure.

Let  $E = \partial_{x_{N+1}} \in \Gamma(T(V \oplus U))$ . Consider two vector fields  $\widetilde{X} = X + \lambda_1 E$ ,  $\widetilde{Y} = Y + \lambda_2 E \in \Gamma(T(V \oplus U))$ , where  $X, Y \in V, \lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C}$ . The product  $\circ$  was defined by the formula

$$\widetilde{X} \circ \widetilde{Y} = -\sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}^+} \frac{k_\alpha}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} \coth(\frac{z}{2}) \alpha(X) \alpha(Y) \alpha - \mu \langle X, Y \rangle E + \lambda_2 X + \lambda_1 Y + \lambda_1 \lambda_2 E.$$

In this algebra E plays the role of the identity of the product. Then a family of the corresponding Dubrovin connections  $\widetilde{\nabla}^k$  was considered in which its flatness conditions determine the value of  $\mu$  for each root system. Note that the root system  $A_N$  was treated differently from our configuration's form of type  $A_N$  root system.

**Proposition 2.7.6.** [47] Function (2.104) solves WDVV equations (2.56) and the values of  $\mu$  in solution (2.104) for each root system are given in the following table:

R	$B_N$	$C_N$	$D_N$	$G_2$	$E_6$	$E_7$	$E_8$	$F_4$
μ	q(p + (N - 2)q)	p(2q + (N-2)p)	$(N-2)p^2$	$\frac{3}{4}(p+q)(p+3q)$	$6p^2$	$12p^{2}$	$30p^{2}$	(p+q)(p+2q)

Here p is the multiplicity of short roots and q is the multiplicity of long roots in a reduced not simply-laced root system  $\mathcal{R}$ .

## 2.8 Generalized Coxeter number

In this section let  $V \cong \mathbb{R}^N$  be a real Euclidean space of dimension N. Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a reduced irreducible root system of rank N with the corresponding finite irreducible Coxeter group  $\mathcal{W}$  acting on the vector space V by compositions of reflections. Consider a system of simple roots  $\Delta = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_N\}$  with the corresponding simple reflections  $s_1, \ldots, s_N$ . Then the product of all simple reflections  $s_1 \ldots s_N \in \mathcal{W}$  is called a *Coxeter element*. It is clear that it depends on the choice of  $\Delta$ , but the following proposition holds.

**Proposition 2.8.1.** [34] All Coxeter elements are conjugate in W.

Since all Coxeter elements are conjugate, they have the same order h, which is called the *Coxeter number* of W.

In fact there are a few different ways to define the Coxeter number h of an irreducible root system. In addition to the previous definition of the Coxeter number we also have the following equivalent definitions:

- The Coxeter number  $h = \frac{2m}{N}$ , where *m* is the number of reflections in  $\mathcal{W}$ . In the crystallographic case, 2m + N is the dimension of the corresponding semi-simple Lie algebra.
- If the highest root is  $\sum_{i=1}^{N} m_i \alpha_i$  for simple roots  $\alpha_i$ , then the Coxeter number  $h = 1 + \sum_{i=1}^{N} m_i$ .
- The Coxeter number is the highest degree of a fundamental invariant of the Coxeter group acting on polynomials (see Section 2.4).

A remarkable property that the Coxeter number admits, is that it can be written as the factor of proportionality of two W-invariant bilinear forms. The statement is given in the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.8.2.** [6] Let  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  be the standard inner product on V which is assumed to be non-degenerate and W-invariant. Then

$$\sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}} \frac{\langle \alpha, x \rangle^2}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} = h \langle x, x \rangle \tag{2.105}$$

for all  $x \in V$ .

In fact relation (2.105) holds for any symmetric, non-degenerate and  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant bilinear form on V as such a form is unique up to proportionality for irreducible group  $\mathcal{W}$ . Since the scalar  $\lambda$  in Theorem 2.6.21 appears as the coefficient of the proportionality between two  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant bilinear forms  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}$  and  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$  on  $\Lambda^2 V$  then for the case when  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}$  be a root system the scalar  $\lambda$  can be thought as a generalized version of the Coxeter number h in this sense for the exterior square  $\Lambda^2 V$  of the reflection representation  $\mathcal{W}$  of a Coxeter group.

# Chapter 3

# Operations with trigonometric ∨-systems and solutions

In this chapter we consider the operation of taking subsystems of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and the operation of restriction of a solution of WDVV equations. We prove statements analogous to the results for the rational case. We also find trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations corresponding to root systems and their restrictions as well as some other non-Coxeter examples. We also generalize some results found in the literature corresponding to trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations.

## 3.1 Subsystems of trigonometric $\lor$ -systems

In this section we consider subsystems of trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems and show that they are also trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems. An analogous statement for the rational case was shown in [26] (see also [24]).

A subset  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  is called a *subsystem* if  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W$  for some linear subspace  $W \subset V^*$ . The subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$  is called *reducible* if  $\mathcal{B}$  is a disjoint union of two non-empty subsystems, and it is called *irreducible* otherwise. Consider the following bilinear form on V associated with a subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$ :

$$G_{\mathcal{B}}(u,v) \coloneqq \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta}\beta(u)\beta(v), \quad u, v \in V.$$

The subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$  is called *isotropic* if the restriction  $G_{\mathcal{B}}|_{W^{\vee}}$  of the form  $G_{\mathcal{B}}$  onto the subspace  $W^{\vee} \subset V$ , where  $W = \langle \mathcal{B} \rangle$ , is degenerate and  $\mathcal{B}$  is called *non-isotropic* otherwise.

**Remark 3.1.1.** Suppose that  $\mathcal{B}$  is reducible so that  $W = W_1 \oplus W_2$  for some subspaces  $W_1, W_2 \subset W$  where  $\langle \mathcal{B} \rangle = W$  and  $\mathcal{B} \subset W_1 \cup W_2$ . Then one can show that  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(v_1, v_2) = G_{\mathcal{B}}(v_1, v_2) = 0$  for any  $v_1 \in W_1^{\vee}, v_2 \in W_2^{\vee}$  (see Corollary 3.1.7 below).

Let us prove some lemmas which will be useful for the proof of the main theorem of

this section.

**Lemma 3.1.2.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. Let  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W$  be a subsystem of  $\mathcal{A}$  for some linear subspace  $W \subset V^*$  such that  $W = \langle \mathcal{B} \rangle$ . Consider the linear operator  $M: V \to W^{\lor}$  given by

$$M \coloneqq \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta} \beta \otimes \beta^{\vee}, \tag{3.1}$$

that is,  $M(v) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta} \beta(v) \beta^{\vee}$ , for any  $v \in V$ . Then

- 1. For any  $u, v \in V$  we have  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, M(v)) = G_{\mathcal{B}}(u, v)$ .
- 2. For any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$ ,  $\alpha^{\vee}$  is an eigenvector for M.
- 3. The space  $W^{\vee}$  can be decomposed as a direct sum

$$W^{\vee} = U_{\lambda_1} \oplus U_{\lambda_2} \oplus \dots \oplus U_{\lambda_k}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(3.2)

where  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}$  are distinct, and the restriction  $M|_{U_{\lambda_i}} = \lambda_i I$ , where I is the identity operator.

*Proof.* Let  $u, v \in V$ . We have

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, M(v)) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta}\beta(v)G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, \beta^{\vee}) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta}\beta(u)\beta(v) = G_{\mathcal{B}}(u, v),$$

which proves the first statement.

Let us consider a two-dimensional plane  $\pi \subset V^*$  such that  $\pi$  contains  $\alpha$  and another covector from  $\mathcal{B}$  which is not collinear with  $\alpha$ . Let us sum up  $\vee$ -conditions (2.93) over  $\alpha$ -series which belong to the plane  $\pi$ . We get that

$$\sum_{\beta \in \pi \cap \mathcal{A}} c_{\beta} \alpha(\beta^{\vee}) \alpha \wedge \beta = \sum_{\beta \in \pi \cap \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta} \beta(\alpha^{\vee}) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0,$$

hence

$$\sum_{\beta \in \pi \cap \mathcal{A}} c_{\beta} \beta(\alpha^{\vee}) \beta^{\vee} = \lambda_{\pi} \alpha^{\vee}$$
(3.3)

for some  $\lambda_{\pi} \in \mathbb{C}$ . Let us now sum up relation (3.3) over all such two-dimensional planes  $\pi$ which contain  $\alpha$  and another non-collinear covector from  $\mathcal{B}$ . It follows that  $M(\alpha^{\vee}) = \lambda \alpha^{\vee}$ , for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ , hence property (2) holds.

The set of vectors  $\{\alpha^{\vee} : \alpha \in \mathcal{B}\}$  spans  $W^{\vee}$  since  $\mathcal{B}$  spans W. As  $\alpha^{\vee}$  is an eigenvector for  $M|_{W^{\vee}}$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$  we get that  $M|_{W^{\vee}}$  is diagonalizable, and  $W^{\vee}$  has the eigenspace decomposition as stated in (3.2).

**Lemma 3.1.3.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  be as stated in Lemma 3.1.2. Suppose that  $\mathcal{B}$  is non-isotropic. Then

$$G_{\mathcal{B}}|_{U_{\lambda_i} \times V} = \lambda_i G_{\mathcal{A}}|_{U_{\lambda_i} \times V}, \tag{3.4}$$

where  $\lambda_i \neq 0$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, k$ .

*Proof.* Let  $u \in V$  and  $v \in U_{\lambda_i}$  for some *i*, where  $U_{\lambda_i}$  is given by (3.2). Then by Lemma 3.1.2 we have

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, M(v)) = \lambda_i G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, v) = G_{\mathcal{B}}(u, v).$$

Hence we have the required relation (3.4). Note that  $\lambda_i \neq 0$  for all *i* as otherwise  $G_{\mathcal{B}}|_{U_{\lambda_i} \times V} = 0$  which contradicts the non-isotropicity of  $\mathcal{B}$ .

Assume that the subsystem  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W$ ,  $W = \langle \mathcal{B} \rangle$ , is non-isotropic so that the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{B}}|_{W^{\vee}}$  is nondegenerate. Then it establishes an isomorphism  $\phi_{\mathcal{B}} \colon W^{\vee} \to (W^{\vee})^*$ . For any  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$ , let us denote  $\phi_{\mathcal{B}}^{-1}(\beta|_{W^{\vee}})$  by  $\beta^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}}$ . The following lemma relates vectors  $\beta^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}}$  and  $\beta^{\vee}$ .

**Lemma 3.1.4.** In the assumptions and notations of Lemmas 3.1.2 and 3.1.3 let  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$ . Let  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  be such that  $\beta^{\vee} \in U_{\lambda_i}$ . Then  $\beta^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}} = \lambda_i^{-1}\beta^{\vee}$ .

Proof. Let  $u \in W^{\vee}$ . By Lemma 3.1.3 we have  $G_{\mathcal{B}}(\beta^{\vee}, u) = \lambda_i \beta(u)$ . By the definition of  $\beta^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}}$  we have  $G_{\mathcal{B}}(\beta^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}}, u) = \beta(u)$ . It follows that  $G_{\mathcal{B}}(\lambda_i^{-1}\beta^{\vee} - \beta^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}}, u) = 0$ , which implies the statement since the form  $G_{\mathcal{B}}$  is non-degenerate on  $W^{\vee}$ .

**Lemma 3.1.5.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  be as stated in Lemma 3.1.2. Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$  and let  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  be such that  $\alpha^{\vee} \in U_{\lambda_i}$ . Consider an  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$  in  $\mathcal{B}$  and let  $\beta \in \Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$ . Then  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\lambda_i}$  or  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha} \subseteq \{\pm\beta\}$ .

*Proof.* Suppose firstly that  $\beta^{\vee} \in U_{\lambda_i}$ . Since any covector  $\gamma \in \Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$  is a linear combination of  $\beta$  and  $\alpha$ , we get that  $\gamma \in U_{\lambda_i}$  as required.

Suppose now that  $\beta^{\vee} \notin U_{\lambda_i}$ . Then  $\beta^{\vee} \in U_{\lambda_j}$  for some  $j \neq i$ . Since we have a direct sum decomposition (3.2) it follows that  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha} \subseteq \{\pm\beta\}$ .

**Lemma 3.1.6.** Let  $\mathcal{A} \subset V^*$  be a finite collection of covectors, and let  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  be a subsystem. Let  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{B}$ . Let  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{A}}_{\alpha}, \Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$  be the  $\alpha$ -series in  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  respectively containing  $\beta$ . Then the set  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{A}}_{\alpha}$  coincides with the set  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{A}}$ . It follows that  $\gamma \in \mathcal{B}$ . By maximality of  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}$ , it follows that  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}$ . Hence  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{A}} \subset \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}$ . The opposite inclusion is obvious.

Corollary 3.1.7. The statement of Remark 3.1.1 holds.

Proof. Let  $\beta_1 \in \mathcal{B} \cap W_1$ ,  $\beta_2 \in \mathcal{B} \cap W_2$ . Consider a  $\beta_1$ -series containing  $\beta_2$ . It is easy to see that this series contains no other elements. Hence  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(\beta_1^{\vee}, \beta_2^{\vee}) = G_{\mathcal{B}}(\beta_1^{\vee}, \beta_2^{\vee}) = 0$ .  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 3.1.8.** In the assumptions and notations of Lemma 3.1.2 we have  $G_{\mathcal{B}}(u, v) = 0$  for any  $u \in U_{\lambda_i}$  and  $v \in U_{\lambda_j}$  such that  $i \neq j$ .

*Proof.* From Lemma 3.1.3 we have  $G_{\mathcal{B}}(u, v) = \lambda_i G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, v) = \lambda_j G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, v)$ . Hence  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, v) = 0$ , which implies the statement.

Now we present the main theorem of this section.

**Theorem 3.1.9.** Any non-isotropic subsystem of a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system is also a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and let  $\mathcal{B}$  be its non-isotropic subsystem. Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$ . Then  $\alpha^{\lor} \in U_{\lambda_i}$  in the decomposition (3.2) for some *i*. Consider an  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$  in  $\mathcal{B}$ . Let  $\beta \in \Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$ . Then by Lemma 3.1.5 we have the following two cases.

(i) Suppose  $\beta^{\vee} \in U_{\lambda_i}$ . Then  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\lambda_i}$  and by Lemmas 3.1.3, 3.1.4 we have

$$G_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}},\beta^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}}) = \lambda_i^{-2}G_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha^{\vee},\beta^{\vee}) = \lambda_i^{-1}G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee},\beta^{\vee}).$$

Hence we have

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}} c_{\beta} G_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}}, \beta^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}}) \alpha \wedge \beta = \lambda_{i}^{-1} \sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}} c_{\beta} G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee}, \beta^{\vee}) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0$$

by Lemma 3.1.2 and since  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. Hence the  $\lor$ -condition (2.93) for  $\mathcal{B}$  holds.

(*ii*) Suppose  $\beta^{\vee} \in U_{\lambda j}$ , where  $j \neq i$ . Then  $G_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}}, \beta^{\vee_{\mathcal{B}}}) = \lambda_i^{-1}\lambda_j^{-1}G_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha^{\vee}, \beta^{\vee}) = 0$ , by Proposition 3.1.8, and  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}} \subseteq \{\pm \beta\}$  by Lemma 3.1.5. Hence the  $\vee$ -condition (2.93) for  $\mathcal{B}$  holds.

# 3.2 Restriction of trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations

In this section we consider the restriction operation for the trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations and show that this gives new solutions of WDVV equations. An analogous statement in the rational case was established in [25].

Let

$$\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W \tag{3.5}$$

be a subsystem of  $\mathcal{A}$  for some linear subspace  $W = \langle \mathcal{B} \rangle \subset V^*$ . Define

$$W_{\mathcal{B}} \coloneqq \{ x \in V \colon \beta(x) = 0 \quad \forall \beta \in \mathcal{B} \}.$$
(3.6)

Let us denote the restriction  $\alpha|_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}$  of a covector  $\alpha \in V^*$  as  $\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)$ , then

$$\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{A}) = \{ \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha) \colon \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha) \neq 0, \quad \alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B} \}$$

is the set of non-zero restrictions of covectors  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  on  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Define  $M_{\mathcal{B}} = W_{\mathcal{B}} \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} \prod_{\alpha}$ .

Consider a point  $x_0 \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$  and tangent vectors  $u_0, v_0 \in T_{x_0}M_{\mathcal{B}}$ . We extend vectors  $u_0$ and  $v_0$  to two local analytic vector fields u(x), v(x) in the neighbourhood U of  $x_0$  that are tangent to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  at any point  $x \in W_{\mathcal{B}} \cap U$  such that  $u_0 = u(x_0)$  and  $v_0 = v(x_0)$ . Consider the multiplication \* given by (2.63). We want to study the limit of u(x) \* v(x)when x tends to  $x_0$ . The limit may have singularities at  $x \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  as  $\cot \alpha(x)$  with  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$  is not defined for such x. Also we note that outside  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  we have a well-defined multiplication u(x) \* v(x).

The proof of the next lemma is similar to the proof of [25, Lemma 1] in the rational case (see also [2]).

**Lemma 3.2.1.** The limit of the product u(x) \* v(x) exists when vector x tends to  $x_0 \in M_B$ and it satisfies

$$u_0 * v_0 = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_\alpha \alpha(u_0) \alpha(v_0) (\frac{\lambda}{2} \cot \alpha(x_0) \alpha^{\vee} + E).$$
(3.7)

In particular, the product  $u_0 * v_0$  is determined by vectors  $u_0$  and  $v_0$  only.

Proof. We are going firstly to analyse the singular part of u(x) \* v(x) near a generic point on the hyperplane  $\Pi_{\beta} = \{x \in V : \beta(x) = 0\}$ , where  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$ . We choose a basis  $\{f_1, ..., f_{N-1}\}$ for  $\Pi_{\beta}$  and we extend this basis to the basis  $\{f_1, ..., f_{N-1}, f_N\}$  for V such that  $\beta(f_N) = 1$ . Any  $x \in V$  can be represented as  $x = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} s_i f_i + t f_N$ , where  $(s_1, ..., s_{N-1}, t) = (s, t) \in \mathbb{C}^N$ and  $t = \beta(x)$ . The vector fields u(x), v(x) can be represented as

$$u(x) = u(s,t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \zeta_i(s,t) f_i + a(s,t) f_N,$$
$$v(x) = v(s,t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \eta_i(s,t) f_i + b(s,t) f_N,$$

where  $\zeta_i, \eta_i, a, b$  are some analytic functions. Note that  $\beta(f_i) = 0$  for all i = 1, ..., N - 1since  $f_i \in \Pi_{\beta}$ .

Also since  $u(x_0), v(x_0)$  are assumed to be tangential to  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  then for  $x_0$  with coordinates  $(s^0, 0)$ , where  $s^0 = (s_1^0, ..., s_{N-1}^0)$ , we must have  $\beta(u(x_0)) = \beta(v(x_0)) = 0$ . Hence we have

$$0 = \beta(u(x_0)) = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \zeta_i(s^0, 0)\beta(f_i) + a(s^0, 0)\beta(f_N) = a(s^0, 0)\beta(f_N) = a(s^0, 0).$$

Similarly we have that  $b(s^0, 0) = 0$ . Now we have

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \beta(u)\beta(v) \cot \beta(x)\beta^{\vee} = \lim_{t \to 0} a(s,t)b(s,t)\beta^{\vee} \cot t = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{a(s,t)b(s,t)\beta^{\vee}}{t}.$$
 (3.8)

As the coefficients a(s,t) and b(s,t) are analytic then for  $s = s^0$  we have

$$a(s^0, t) = t\tilde{a}(t),$$
  
$$b(s^0, t) = t\tilde{b}(t),$$

where  $\tilde{a}(t), \tilde{b}(t)$  are some analytic functions. Hence (3.8) implies that

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \beta(u)\beta(v) \cot \beta(x)\beta^{\vee} = \lim_{t \to 0} t\tilde{a}(t)\tilde{b}(t)\beta^{\vee} = 0.$$

This means that u(x) \* v(x) is non-singular at  $\beta(x) = 0$  and that  $\beta$  term vanishes when we calculate the product at  $\Pi_{\beta}$ . Lemma follows as  $\beta$  is an arbitrary element from  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $W_{\mathcal{B}} = \bigcap_{\gamma \in \mathcal{B}} \prod_{\gamma}$ .

Now for the subsystem  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  given by (3.5) let

$$S = \{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k\} \subset \mathcal{B},\tag{3.9}$$

where  $k = \dim W$ , be a basis of W. The following lemma shows that multiplication (3.7) is closed on the tangent space  $T_*(M_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus U)$ .

**Lemma 3.2.2.** Let  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  be a subsystem. Assume that prepotential (2.55) corresponding to a configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  satisfies WDVV equations (2.56). Suppose that  $C_{\delta_{\alpha}}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$ for any  $\alpha \in S, \alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . If  $u, v \in T_{(x,y)}(M_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus U)$ , where  $x \in W_{\mathcal{B}}, y \in U$ , then one has  $u * v \in T_{(x,y)}(M_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus U)$ , that is

$$*: T_{(x,y)}(M_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus U) \times T_{(x,y)}(M_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus U) \to T_{(x,y)}(M_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus U),$$

where multiplication \* is given by (3.7).

Proof. Suppose that the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  given by (3.6) has codimension 1 in V, and let  $\alpha \in S$ . We have  $\mathcal{B} = \delta_{\alpha}$ . Let  $x \in M_{\mathcal{B}} \subset \Pi_{\alpha}$ . Let  $u, v \in T_{(x,y)}(\Pi_{\alpha} \oplus U)$ . Then u and v can be written as  $u = a_u \overline{u} + b_u E$ ,  $v = a_v \overline{v} + b_v E$ , where  $\overline{u}, \overline{v} \in \Pi_{\alpha}$ , and  $a_u, b_u, a_v, b_v \in \mathbb{C}$ . By Proposition 2.6.19 we have

$$\sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \delta_{\alpha}} c_{\beta} G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee}, \beta^{\vee}) \cot \beta(x) \alpha(z) \beta(\overline{u}) \alpha(w) \beta(\overline{v}) = 0$$
(3.10)

for any  $z, w \in V$ . By taking  $z, w \notin \Pi_{\alpha}$  we derive from (3.10) that

$$\sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta} \alpha(\beta^{\vee}) \beta(\overline{u}) \beta(\overline{v}) \cot \beta(x) = 0,$$

which implies the statement by Lemma 3.2.1.

Let us now consider  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  of codimension 2. Let  $S = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$ . By the above arguments

$$u * v \in T_{(x,y)}(\Pi_{\alpha_i} \oplus U)$$

if  $x \in \Pi_{\alpha_i}$  is generic and  $u, v \in T_{(x,y)}(\Pi_{\alpha_i} \oplus U)$ , (i = 1, 2). By Lemma 3.2.1, u \* v exists for  $x \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$  and hence  $u * v \in T_{(x,y)}((\Pi_{\alpha_1} \cap \Pi_{\alpha_2}) \oplus U)$ . This proves the statement for the case when  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  has codimension 2. General  $\mathcal{B}$  is dealt with similarly.  $\Box$ 

Let us assume that  $G_{\mathcal{A}}|_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}$  is non-degenerate. Then we have the orthogonal decomposition

$$V = W_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus W_{\mathcal{B}}^{\perp}$$

Vector  $\alpha^{\vee} \in V$  can be represented as

$$\alpha^{\vee} = \widetilde{\alpha^{\vee}} + w, \tag{3.11}$$

where  $\widetilde{\alpha^{\vee}} \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  and  $w \in W_{\mathcal{B}}^{\perp}$ . By Lemmas 3.2.1, 3.2.2 we have associative product

$$u * v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha} \alpha(u) \alpha(v) (\frac{\lambda}{2} \cot \alpha(x_0) \widetilde{\alpha^{\vee}} + E),$$

where  $x_0 \in M_{\mathcal{B}}, u, v \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$ .

For any  $\gamma \in W_{\mathcal{B}}^*$  we define  $\gamma^{\vee_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}} \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  by  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma^{\vee_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}}, v) = \gamma(v), \quad \forall v \in W_{\mathcal{B}}.$ 

**Lemma 3.2.3.** Suppose that the restriction  $G_{\mathcal{A}}|_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}$  is non-degenerate. Then  $\widetilde{\alpha^{\vee}} = \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)^{\vee_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}}$  for any  $\alpha \in V^*$ .

*Proof.* From decomposition (3.11) we have

$$\alpha(v) = G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha^{\vee}, v) = G_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{\alpha^{\vee}} + w, v) = G_{\mathcal{A}}(\widetilde{\alpha^{\vee}}, v)$$

for any  $v \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . It follows that  $G_{\mathcal{A}}(\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)^{\vee_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}} - \widetilde{\alpha^{\vee}}, v) = 0$ , which implies the statement as  $G_{\mathcal{A}}|_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}$  is non-degenerate.

Let us choose a basis in the space  $W_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus U$  such that  $f_1, \ldots, f_n$  is a basis in  $W_{\mathcal{B}}, n = \dim W_{\mathcal{B}}$ , and  $f_{n+1}$  is the basis vector in U, and let  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{n+1}$  be the corresponding coordinates. We represent vectors  $\xi \in W_{\mathcal{B}}, y \in U$  as  $\xi = (\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n)$  and  $y = \xi_{n+1}$ . The WDVV equations for a function  $F: W_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus U \to \mathbb{C}$  is the following system of partial differential

equations:

$$F_i F_{n+1}^{-1} F_j = F_j F_{n+1}^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j = 1, ..., n,$$
(3.12)

where  $F_i$  is  $(n+1) \times (n+1)$  matrix with entries  $(F_i)_{pq} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_p \partial \xi_q}$   $(p, q = 1, \dots, n+1)$ . The previous considerations lead to the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.2.4.** Let  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  be a subsystem, and let S be as defined in (3.9). Assume that prepotential (2.55) satisfies WDVV equations (2.56). Suppose that  $C_{\delta_{\alpha}}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$  for any  $\alpha \in S, \alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . Then the prepotential

$$F_{\mathcal{B}} = F_{\mathcal{B}}(\xi, y) = \frac{1}{3}y^3 + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha} \overline{\alpha}(\xi)^2 y + \lambda \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha} f(\overline{\alpha}(\xi)), \quad \xi \in W_{\mathcal{B}}, y \in U \cong \mathbb{C}, \quad (3.13)$$

where  $\overline{\alpha} = \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)$ , satisfies the WDVV equations (3.12). The corresponding associative multiplication has the form

$$u * v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha} \overline{\alpha}(u) \overline{\alpha}(v) (\frac{\lambda}{2} \cot \overline{\alpha}(\xi) \overline{\alpha}^{\vee_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}} + E), \qquad (3.14)$$

where  $\xi \in M_{\mathcal{B}}, u, v \in T_{(\xi,y)}M_{\mathcal{B}}$ .

*Proof.* It follows by Lemmas 2.6.2, 3.2.1-3.2.3, that multiplication (3.14) is associative. The corresponding prepotential has the form (4.44) and it satisfies WDVV equations (3.12) by Lemma 2.6.2.

In general a restriction of a root system is not a root system, so we get new solutions of WDVV equations by applying Theorem 3.2.4 in this case. In Sections 3.3, 3.4 and 3.6 we consider such solutions in more details.

# **3.3** $BC_N$ type configurations

In this section we discuss a family of configurations of  $BC_N$  type and show that it gives trigonometric solutions of the WDVV equations. Let the set  $\mathcal{A} = BC_N^+$  consist of the following covectors:

$$e^{i}, 2e^{i}, \quad (1 \le i \le N), \quad e^{i} \pm e^{j}, (1 \le i < j \le N).$$

Let us define the multiplicity function  $c: BC_N^+ \to \mathbb{C}$  by  $c(e^i) = r, c(2e^i) = s, c(e^i \pm e^j) = q$ , where  $r, s, q \in \mathbb{C}$ . We will denote the configuration  $(BC_N^+, c)$  as  $BC_N^+(r, s, q)$ . It is easy to check that

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,v) = h\langle u,v\rangle, \quad u,v \in V, \tag{3.15}$$

where

$$h = r + 4s + 2q(N - 1) \tag{3.16}$$

is assumed to be non-zero, and  $\langle u, v \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{N} u_i v_i$  is the standard inner product for  $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_N), v = (v_1, \ldots, v_N)$ . For any  $\alpha, \beta \in V^*, (\alpha \land \beta)^2 \colon V \otimes V \to \mathbb{C}$  denotes the square of the covector  $\alpha \land \beta \in (V \otimes V)^*$ .

Lemma 3.3.1. The following two identities hold:

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N} \left( (e^i \land e^j)^2 + (e^i \land e^k)^2 + (e^j \land e^k)^2 \right) = (N-2) \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^i \land e^j)^2 \qquad (3.17)$$

and

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k < l \le N} \left( (e^i \land e^j)^2 + (e^i \land e^k)^2 + (e^i \land e^l)^2 + (e^j \land e^k)^2 + (e^j \land e^l)^2 + (e^k \land e^l)^2 \right)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2} (N-2)(N-3) \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^i \land e^j)^2.$  (3.18)

*Proof.* Note that

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N} (e^i \wedge e^j)^2 = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (N - j) (e^i \wedge e^j)^2,$$
(3.19)

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N} (e^i \wedge e^k)^2 = \sum_{1 \le i < k \le N} (k - i - 1)(e^i \wedge e^k)^2,$$
(3.20)

and

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N} (e^j \wedge e^k)^2 = \sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} (j-1)(e^j \wedge e^k)^2.$$
(3.21)

By adding together relations (3.19)–(3.21) we get identity (3.17).

We also have

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k < l \le N} (e^i \wedge e^j)^2 = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} \frac{1}{2} (N - j - 1) (N - j) (e^i \wedge e^j)^2,$$
(3.22)

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k < l \le N} (e^i \wedge e^k)^2 = \sum_{1 \le i < k \le N} (N-k)(k-i-1)(e^i \wedge e^k)^2,$$
(3.23)

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k < l \le N} (e^i \wedge e^l)^2 = \sum_{1 \le i < l \le N} \frac{1}{2} (l - i - 2)(l - i - 1)(e^i \wedge e^l)^2,$$
(3.24)

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k < l \le N} (e^j \wedge e^k)^2 = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (N - j)(i - 1)(e^i \wedge e^j)^2,$$
(3.25)

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k < l \le N} (e^j \land e^l)^2 = \sum_{1 \le j < l \le N} (l - j - 1)(j - 1)(e^j \land e^l)^2,$$
(3.26)

and

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k < l \le N} (e^k \wedge e^l)^2 = \sum_{1 \le k < l \le N} \frac{1}{2} (k-2)(k-1)(e^k \wedge e^l)^2.$$
(3.27)

Then by adding together identities (3.22)–(3.27) we obtain identity (3.18).

**Proposition 3.3.2.** The quadratic forms  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}, G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$  corresponding to the bilinear forms  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}(\cdot, \cdot), G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}(\cdot, \cdot)$  given by formulas (2.84), (2.94) respectively have the following forms:

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)} = 2h^2 \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^i \wedge e^j)^2, \qquad (3.28)$$

and

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)} = 4q \big( r + 8s + 2(N-2)q \big) h^{-1} \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^i \wedge e^j)^2, \tag{3.29}$$

where h is given by (3.16).

*Proof.* Let us first prove identity (3.28). Note that  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}$  is a quadratic polynomial in r, s and q. The terms containing  $r^2$  add up to

$$2r^2 \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^i \land e^j)^2.$$
(3.30)

Similarly, the terms containing  $s^2$  add up to

$$32s^2 \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^i \land e^j)^2.$$
(3.31)

The terms containing rs add up to

$$2rs\sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} \left( (e^i \land 2e^j)^2 + (2e^i \land e^j)^2 \right) = 16rs\sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^i \land e^j)^2.$$
(3.32)

Now the terms containing rq have the form

$$2rq \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} \left( \left( e^{i} \land (e^{i} + e^{j}) \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land (e^{i} - e^{j}) \right)^{2} + \left( e^{j} \land (e^{i} + e^{j}) \right)^{2} + \left( e^{j} \land (e^{i} - e^{j}) \right)^{2} \right) \\ + 2rq \sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N} \left( \left( e^{i} \land (e^{j} + e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( e^{k} \land (e^{i} + e^{j}) \right)^{2} + \left( e^{k} \land (e^{i} - e^{j}) \right)^{2} \right) \\ + \left( e^{j} \land (e^{i} + e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( e^{j} \land (e^{i} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} \right) \\ = 8rq \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} \left( e^{i} \land e^{j} \right)^{2} + 2rq \sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N} \left( \left( e^{i} \land e^{j} + e^{i} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land e^{j} - e^{i} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} \right) \\ + \left( e^{i} \land e^{k} + e^{j} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land e^{k} - e^{j} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land e^{j} - e^{j} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land e^{j} + e^{j} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} \right) \\ = 8rq \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} \left( e^{i} \land e^{j} \right)^{2} + 8rq \sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N} \left( \left( e^{i} \land e^{j} \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} \right) \\ = 8rq(N-1) \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} \left( e^{i} \land e^{j} \right)^{2}$$

$$(3.33)$$

by Lemma 3.3.1. Similarly, the terms containing sq add up to

$$32sq(N-1)\sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^i \land e^j)^2.$$
(3.34)

The terms containing  $q^2$  have the form

$$2q^{2} \sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq N} \left( (e^{i} + e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} - e^{j})^{2} \right) \\ + 2q^{2} \sum_{1 \leq i < j < k \leq N} \left( \left( ((e^{i} + e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} + e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} + e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{k} + e^{l}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{k} - e^{l}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{k} + e^{l}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{l}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{l}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{l}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} + e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{l}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{l}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} +$$

Expression (3.35) is equal to

$$8q^{2} \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^{i} \wedge e^{j})^{2} + 24q^{2} \sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N} \left( (e^{i} \wedge e^{j})^{2} + (e^{i} \wedge e^{k})^{2} + (e^{j} \wedge e^{k})^{2} \right)$$
  
+  $16q^{2} \sum_{1 \le i < j < k < l \le N} \left( (e^{i} \wedge e^{j})^{2} + (e^{i} \wedge e^{k})^{2} + (e^{i} \wedge e^{l})^{2} + (e^{j} \wedge e^{k})^{2} + (e^{j} \wedge e^{l})^{2} + (e^{j} \wedge e^{l})^{2} + (e^{k} \wedge e^{l})^{2} \right)$   
=  $8q^{2}(N-1)^{2} \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^{i} \wedge e^{j})^{2}$  (3.36)

by Lemma 3.3.1. By adding together expressions (3.30)-(3.34) and (3.36) we get identity (3.28).

Let us now prove identity (3.29). Note that  $hG_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$  is a quadratic polynomial in r, s and q and that terms containing  $r^2, rs$  and  $s^2$  all vanish. Terms containing rq in  $hG_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$  are given by

$$2rq \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} \left( e^{i}(e^{i} + e^{j})^{\vee} \left( e^{i} \wedge (e^{i} + e^{j}) \right)^{2} + e^{i}(e^{i} - e^{j})^{\vee} \left( e^{i} \wedge (e^{i} - e^{j}) \right)^{2} + e^{j}(e^{i} + e^{j})^{\vee} \left( e^{j} \wedge (e^{i} + e^{j}) \right)^{2} + e^{j}(e^{i} - e^{j})^{\vee} \left( e^{j} \wedge (e^{i} - e^{j}) \right)^{2} \right) = 4rq \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^{i} \wedge e^{j})^{2}.$$
(3.37)

Similarly, the terms containing sq in  $hG_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$  add up to

$$32sq \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^i \land e^j)^2.$$
(3.38)

Finally, the terms containing  $q^2$  in  $h G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$  are given by

$$2q^{2} \sum_{1 \leq i < j < k \leq N} \left( (e^{i} + e^{j}) ((e^{i} + e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} + e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} + e^{j}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{j}) ((e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{j}) ((e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{j}) ((e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{j}) ((e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{j}) ((e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{j}) ((e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{j}) ((e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{j}) ((e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{k}) ((e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{k}) ((e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{k}) ((e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{k}) ((e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{k}) ((e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}))^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{k}) ((e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee}) ((e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}))^{2} \right).$$

$$(3.39)$$

Expression (3.39) is equal to

$$2q^{2} \sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N} \left( \left( e^{i} \land e^{k} - e^{i} \land e^{j} + e^{j} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land e^{k} + e^{i} \land e^{j} - e^{j} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land e^{k} - e^{i} \land e^{j} - e^{j} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} + \left( e^{i} \land e^{j} + e^{i} \land e^{k} + e^{j} \land e^{k} \right)^{2} \right)$$
$$= 8q^{2} \sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N} \left( (e^{i} \land e^{j})^{2} + (e^{i} \land e^{k})^{2} + (e^{j} \land e^{k})^{2} \right) = 8q^{2}(N-2) \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} (e^{i} \land e^{j})^{2}$$
(3.40)

by Lemma 3.3.1. By adding together expressions (3.37), (3.38) and (3.40) we get identity (3.29).

The previous proposition allows us to prove the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.3.3.** Prepotential (2.55) for the configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c) = BC_N^+(r, s, q)$  satisfies WDVV equations (2.56) with

$$\lambda = \left(\frac{2h^3}{q(r+8s+2(N-2)q)}\right)^{1/2},\tag{3.41}$$

where h is given by (3.16), provided that  $q(r+8s+2(N-2)q) \neq 0$ .

*Proof.* Firstly,  $BC_N^+(r, s, q)$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system by Proposition 2.7.2. Secondly, by Proposition 3.3.2 we have that  $G_A^{(1)} - \frac{\lambda^2}{4}G_A^{(2)} = 0$  if  $\lambda$  is given by (3.41). The statement follows by Theorem 2.6.21.

Theorem 3.3.3 gives a generalization of the results in [33], [42], [11] and [47], where, in particular, solutions of the WDVV equations for the root systems  $D_N, B_N$  and  $C_N$  were obtained (see Section 2.7). Following [33], [42] consider the function  $\tilde{F}$  of N + 1 variables  $(x_1, \ldots, x_N, y)$  of the form

$$\widetilde{F}(x,y) = \frac{\gamma}{6}y^3 + \frac{\gamma}{2}y\langle x,x\rangle + \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{R}^+} c_\alpha \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)), \qquad (3.42)$$

where  $\mathcal{R}^+$  is a positive half of the root system  $\mathcal{R}$ , multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$  are invariant under the Weyl group,  $\gamma \in \mathbb{C}$  and function  $\tilde{f}$  given by (2.100). Note that  $\tilde{f}(z) = -f(-iz)$ .

Let us explain that our solution (2.55) for the configuration  $BC_N^+(r, s, q)$  leads to a solution of the form (3.42).

**Proposition 3.3.4.** Function  $\widetilde{F}$  given by (3.42) with  $\mathcal{R}^+ = BC_N^+$  satisfies WDVV equations (2.56) if

$$\gamma^2 = -2q(r+8s+2(N-2)q). \tag{3.43}$$

*Proof.* By formula (3.15) solution F given by (2.55) for  $\mathcal{A} = BC_N^+$  has the form

$$F(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y}) = \frac{1}{3}\widetilde{y}^3 + h\widetilde{y}\sum_{i=1}^N \widetilde{x}_i^2 + \lambda \sum_{\alpha \in BC_N^+} c_\alpha f(\alpha(\widetilde{x})), \qquad (3.44)$$

where we redenoted variables (x, y) by  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y})$ . By changing variables  $\tilde{x} = -ix$ ,  $\tilde{y} = \frac{\gamma\lambda}{2h}y$ and dividing F by  $-\lambda$  solution (3.44) takes the form (3.42) provided that  $\gamma^2\lambda^2 = -4h^3$ which is satisfied for  $\gamma$  given by (3.43).

Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and let  $\underline{m} = (m_1, \ldots, m_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$  be such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i = N. (3.45)$$

Let us consider the subsystem  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A} = BC_N^+$  given by

$$\mathcal{B} = \{ e^{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} m_j + k} - e^{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} m_j + l}, \quad 1 \le k < l \le m_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n \}.$$

Let us also consider the corresponding subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}} = \{x \in V : \beta(x) = 0, \forall \beta \in \mathcal{B}\}$ . It can be given explicitly by the equations

$$\begin{cases} x_1 = \dots = x_{m_1} = \xi_1, \\ x_{m_1+1} = \dots = x_{m_1+m_2} = \xi_2, \\ \vdots \\ x_{\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} m_i + 1} = \dots = x_N = \xi_n, \end{cases}$$

where  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n$  are coordinates on  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Let us now restrict the configuration  $BC_N^+(r, s, q)$ to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . That is we consider non-zero restricted covectors  $\overline{\alpha} = \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha), \alpha \in BC_N^+$ with multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$ , and we add up multiplicities if the same covector on  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  is obtained a few times. Let us denote the resulting configuration as  $BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m})$ . It is easy to see that it consists of covectors

$$f^{i}$$
, with multiplicity  $rm_{i}$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq n$ ,  
 $2f^{i}$ , with multiplicity  $sm_{i} + \frac{1}{2}qm_{i}(m_{i} - 1)$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq n$ ,  
 $f^{i} \pm f^{j}$ , with multiplicity  $qm_{i}m_{j}$ ,  $1 \leq i < j \leq n$ ,

where  $f^1, \ldots, f^n$  is the basis in  $W^*_{\mathcal{B}}$  corresponding to coordinates  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n$ .

As a corollary of Theorem 3.2.4 and Theorem 3.3.3 we get the following result on (n + 3)-parametric family of solutions of WDVV equations, which can be specialized to

(n+1)-parametric family of solutions from [43].

**Theorem 3.3.5.** Let  $\xi = (\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n) \in W_{\mathcal{B}}, y \in U \cong \mathbb{C}$ . Assume that parameters r, q, sand  $\underline{m}$  satisfy the relation  $r + 4s + 2q(m_i - 1) \neq 0$  for any  $1 \leq i \leq n$ . Then function

$$F_{\mathcal{B}}(\xi, y) = \frac{1}{3}y^{3} + \left(r + 4s + 2q(N-1)\right)y\sum_{i=1}^{n}m_{i}\xi_{i}^{2} + \lambda r\sum_{i=1}^{n}m_{i}f(\xi_{i}) + \lambda\sum_{i=1}^{n}\left(sm_{i} + \frac{1}{2}qm_{i}(m_{i}-1)\right)f(2\xi_{i}) + \lambda q\sum_{i$$

where N is given by (3.45), satisfies the WDVV equations (3.12) if  $\lambda = \left(\frac{2h^3}{q\left(r+8s+2(N-2)q\right)}\right)^{1/2}$ , where h is given by (3.16), and  $\left(r+8s+2(N-2)q\right)q \neq 0$ .

*Proof.* We only have to check that cubic terms in (3.46) have the required form. For any  $\xi \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  we have

$$\sum_{\alpha \in BC_N^+} c_{\alpha} \overline{\alpha}(\xi)^2 = r \sum_{i=1}^n m_i \xi_i^2 + 4 \sum_{i=1}^n \left( sm_i + \frac{1}{2} qm_i(m_i - 1) \right) \xi_i^2 + 2q \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} m_i m_j(\xi_i^2 + \xi_j^2).$$
(3.47)

Note that

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} m_i m_j (\xi_i^2 + \xi_j^2) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^n m_i m_j (\xi_i^2 + \xi_j^2) - \sum_{i=1}^n m_i^2 \xi_i^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n (N - m_i) m_i \xi_i^2$$

by formula (3.45). Hence (3.47) becomes

$$\sum_{\alpha \in BC_N^+} c_\alpha \overline{\alpha}(\xi)^2 = \left(r + 4s + 2q(N-1)\right) \sum_{i=1}^n m_i \xi_i^2$$

as required.

Solution (3.46) gives a generalization of the results in [43]. Let us recall the following solution of WDVV equations from that paper. Consider the function  $\Phi_{BC_n}$  of n + 1

variables  $(x_1, \ldots, x_n, y)$  of the form

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{BC_n} &= \frac{\mu^2}{6} y^3 + \frac{\mu}{2} y \sum_{i=1}^n \varepsilon_i x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\varepsilon_i (1+\varepsilon_i)}{32} \Big( Li_3(e^{4x_i}) + Li_3(e^{-4x_i}) \Big) \\ &- \frac{2+\mu + \sum_{k=1}^n \varepsilon_k}{8} \sum_{i=1}^n \varepsilon_i \Big( Li_3(e^{2x_i}) + Li_3(e^{-2x_i}) \Big) \\ &+ \frac{1}{16} \sum_{i < j} \varepsilon_i \varepsilon_j \Big( Li_3(e^{2(x_i+x_j)}) + Li_3(e^{-2(x_i+x_j)}) + Li_3(e^{2(x_i-x_j)}) + Li_3(e^{-2(x_i-x_j)}) \Big), \end{split}$$
(3.48)

where  $\mu \neq 0, \mu, \varepsilon_i \in \mathbb{C}, i = 1, ..., n$ . It is stated in [43] that  $\Phi_{BC_n}$  satisfies WDVV equations.

**Proposition 3.3.6.** Assume that  $\mu \neq -1$ . Then solution (3.46) for the configuration  $BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m})$  reduces to solution (3.48) if one specifies parameters

$$m_{i} = \frac{2s - q}{q} \varepsilon_{i}, \quad r = \frac{q^{1/2} \left(\sqrt{2}(2 + \mu) - 2N(q\mu)^{1/2}(1 + \mu)^{1/2}\right)}{\left(\mu(1 + \mu)\right)^{1/2}},$$
$$s = \frac{2q\mu(1 + \mu) + \left(2q\mu(1 + \mu)\right)^{1/2}}{4\mu(1 + \mu)}, \quad q \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(3.49)

*Proof.* First, solution (3.46) has the general formula (where we redenoted the varible  $\xi$  by  $\tilde{x}$ )

$$F = \frac{1}{3}y^3 + \left(r + 4s + 2q(N-1)\right)y\sum_{i=1}^n m_i\widetilde{x}_i^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2}\sum_{\alpha\in BC_n(q,r,s;\underline{m})}c_\alpha f(\alpha(\widetilde{x}))$$

which takes the following form after making the change of variable  $\tilde{x} = -ix$ 

$$F = \frac{1}{3}y^3 - (r + 4s + 2q(N-1))y\sum_{i=1}^n m_i x_i^2 - \frac{\lambda}{2}\sum_{\alpha \in BC_n(q,r,s;\underline{m})} c_\alpha \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)), \qquad (3.50)$$

where  $\tilde{f}'''(z) = \coth z$ . Note that

$$\widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)) + \widetilde{f}(-\alpha(x)) = -\frac{1}{4} \Big( Li_3(e^{2\alpha(x)}) + Li_3(e^{-2\alpha(x)}) \Big).$$

Hence solution (3.50) takes the form

$$F = \frac{1}{3}y^{3} - \left(r + 4s + 2q(N-1)\right)y\sum_{i=1}^{n}m_{i}x_{i}^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{8}\sum_{i=1}^{n}rm_{i}\left(Li_{3}(e^{2x_{i})} + Li_{3}(e^{-2x_{i}})\right)$$
$$+ \frac{\lambda}{8}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\left(sm_{i} + \frac{1}{2}qm_{i}(m_{i}-1)\right)\left(Li_{3}(e^{4x_{i})} + Li_{3}(e^{-4x_{i}})\right)$$
$$+ \frac{\lambda}{8}\sum_{i=1}^{n}qm_{i}m_{j}\left(Li_{3}(e^{2(x_{i}+x_{j})}) + Li_{3}(e^{-2(x_{i}+x_{j})}) + Li_{3}(e^{2(x_{i}-x_{j})}) + Li_{3}(e^{-2(x_{i}-x_{j})})\right).$$
(3.51)

By dividing solution (3.51) by 2 and dividing solution (3.48) by  $\mu^2$  and comparing the corresponding coefficients in both solutions, we get the following set of equations

$$(r+4s+2q(N-1))m_i = -\frac{1}{\mu}\varepsilon_i, \quad \lambda m_i (2s-q+qm_i) = \frac{\varepsilon_i (1+\varepsilon_i)}{\mu^2} \lambda rm_i = -2\left(\frac{2+\mu+\sum_{k=1}^n \varepsilon_k}{\mu^2}\right)\varepsilon_i, \quad \lambda qm_i m_j = \frac{\varepsilon_i \varepsilon_j}{\mu^2},$$

which are satisfied for the given values (3.49).

Note that the case  $\mu = -1$  is not covered by the generalization given in the Proposition 3.3.6 since parameters  $r, s, \lambda$  are not defined. Let us also recall another solution from [43] which has the form

$$\Phi_{C_n} = \frac{\mu^2}{6} y^3 + \frac{\mu}{2} y \sum_{i=1}^n \varepsilon_i x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\varepsilon_i (\sum_{k=1}^n \varepsilon_k - 2\varepsilon_i)}{8} \Big( Li_3(e^{2x_i}) + Li_3(e^{-2x_i}) \Big) \\ - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i < j} \varepsilon_i \varepsilon_j \Big( Li_3(e^{(x_i + x_j)}) + Li_3(e^{-(x_i + x_j)}) + Li_3(e^{(x_i - x_j)}) + Li_3(e^{-(x_i - x_j)}) \Big), \quad (3.52)$$

where  $\mu \neq 0, \, \mu, \varepsilon_i \in \mathbb{C}, i = 1, \dots, n$ .

**Proposition 3.3.7.** Solution (3.46) for the configuration  $BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m})$  reduces to solution (3.52) if one specialized parameters

$$m_i = \varepsilon_i, \quad r = 0, \quad q = \frac{4}{\mu(\mu - N)}, \quad s = \frac{\mu + N - 2}{\mu(\mu - N)},$$
 (3.53)

where  $N = \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i$ .

*Proof.* First, solution (3.46) with r = 0 has the general form

$$F = \frac{1}{3}y^3 + 2\left(2s + q(N-1)\right)y\sum_{i=1}^n m_i\widetilde{x}_i^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2}\sum_{\alpha\in C_n}c_\alpha f(\alpha(\widetilde{x})),$$

where we redenoted the variables  $\xi_i$  by  $\tilde{x}_i$ . It takes the following form after making the change of variable  $\tilde{x} = -i\frac{x}{2}$ :

$$F = \frac{1}{3}y^3 - \frac{1}{2}\left(2s + q(N-1)\right)y\sum_{i=1}^n m_i x_i^2 - \frac{\lambda}{2}\sum_{\alpha \in C_n} c_\alpha \widetilde{f}(\alpha(\frac{x}{2})),$$
(3.54)

where  $\tilde{f}'''(z) = \coth z$ . Similarly to the proof of Proposition 3.3.6, solution (3.54) then takes the form

$$F = \frac{1}{3}y^3 - \frac{1}{2}(2s + q(N-1))y\sum_{i=1}^n m_i x_i^2 + \frac{\lambda}{8}\sum_{i=1}^n \left(sm_i + \frac{1}{2}qm_i(m_i - 1)\right) \left(Li_3(e^{2x_i}) + Li_3(e^{-2x_i})\right) + \frac{\lambda}{8}\sum_{i=1}^n qm_i m_j \left(Li_3(e^{(x_i+x_j)}) + Li_3(e^{-(x_i+x_j)}) + Li_3(e^{(x_i-x_j)}) + Li_3(e^{-(x_i-x_j)})\right).$$
(3.55)

By dividing solution (3.55) by 2 and dividing solution (3.52) by  $\mu^2$  and comparing the corresponding coefficients in both solutions, we get the following set of equations

$$(2s+q(N-1))m_i = -\frac{2}{\mu}\varepsilon_i, \quad \lambda qm_im_j = -\frac{8\varepsilon_i\varepsilon_j}{\mu^2},$$
$$\lambda m_i(2s-q+qm_i) = 4\left(\frac{\mu-2\varepsilon_i+\sum_{k=1}^n\varepsilon_k}{\mu^2}\right)\varepsilon_i,$$

which are satisfied for the given values (3.53).

# 3.4 $A_N$ type configurations

In this section we discuss a family of configurations of type  $A_N$  and show that it gives trigonometric solutions of the WDVV equations.

Let  $V \subset \mathbb{C}^{N+1}$  be the hyperplane  $V = \{(x_1, \ldots, x_{n+1}): \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i = 0\}$ . Let  $\mathcal{A} = A_N^+$  be the positive half of the root system  $A_N$  given by

$$\mathcal{A} = \{ e^i - e^j, \quad 1 \le i < j \le N + 1 \}.$$

Let  $t = c(e^i - e^j) \in \mathbb{C}$  be the constant multiplicity. The following lemma gives the relation between covectors in  $\mathcal{A}$  and their dual vectors in V.

Lemma 3.4.1. We have

$$(e^i - e^j)^{\vee} = \frac{1}{t(N+1)}(e_i - e_j), \quad 1 \le i, j \le N+1.$$

*Proof.* Let  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_{N+1}), y = (y_1, \ldots, y_{N+1}) \in V$ . Then the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  takes the form

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(x,y) = t \sum_{i$$

which implies the statement.

Now we can find the forms  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(i)}, i = 1, 2$ .

**Proposition 3.4.2.** The quadratic forms  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}, G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$  corresponding to the bilinear forms  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}(\cdot, \cdot), G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}(\cdot, \cdot)$  respectively have the following forms:

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)} = (N+1)^2 t^2 \sum_{i,j=1}^{N+1} (e^i \wedge e^j)^2,$$

and

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)} = t \sum_{i,j=1}^{N+1} (e^i \wedge e^j)^2.$$
(3.56)

*Proof.* For the first equality we have

$$\begin{aligned} G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)} &= t^2 \sum_{i < j}^{N+1} \sum_{k < l}^{N+1} \left( (e^i - e^j) \wedge (e^k - e^l) \right)^2 \\ &= \frac{t^2}{4} \sum_{i,j,k,l=1}^{N+1} \left( (e^i \wedge e^k) - (e^i \wedge e^l) - (e^j \wedge e^k) + (e^j \wedge e^l) \right)^2 \\ &= t^2 (N+1)^2 \sum_{i,j=1}^{N+1} (e^i \wedge e^j)^2 \end{aligned}$$

since  $\sum_{i=1}^{N+1} e^i |_V = 0$ . For equality (3.56) we have by Lemma 3.4.1 that

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)} = 2t^{2} \sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N+1} \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \left( (e^{i} - e^{k})^{\vee} \right) \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{i} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{j}) \left( (e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee} \right) \left( (e^{i} - e^{j}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} + (e^{i} - e^{k}) \left( (e^{j} - e^{k})^{\vee} \right) \left( (e^{i} - e^{k}) \wedge (e^{j} - e^{k}) \right)^{2} \right)$$
$$= \frac{2t}{N+1} \sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N+1} (e^{i} \wedge e^{j} - e^{i} \wedge e^{k} + e^{j} \wedge e^{k})^{2}.$$
(3.57)

Note that

$$\sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N+1} (e^i \wedge e^j - e^i \wedge e^k + e^j \wedge e^k)^2 = 3(N+1) \sum_{i,j=1}^{N+1} (e^i \wedge e^j)^2$$
(3.58)

since  $\sum_{i=1}^{N+1} e^i |_V = 0$ . Also it is easy to see that

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le N+1} (e^i \wedge e^j - e^i \wedge e^k + e^j \wedge e^k)^2 = \frac{1}{6} \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{N+1} (e^i \wedge e^j - e^i \wedge e^k + e^j \wedge e^k)^2.$$
(3.59)

Equality (3.56) follows from formulas (3.57)–(3.59).

This leads us to the following result which can also be extracted from [42].

**Theorem 3.4.3.** (cf. [42]) Prepotential (2.55), where  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i$ , for the configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c) = (A_N^+, t)$  satisfies WDVV equations

$$F_i F_j^{-1} F_k = F_k F_j^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j, k = 1, \dots, N+1,$$

where  $(F_i)_{pq} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial x_i \partial x_p \partial x_q}, (p, q = 1, \dots, N+1),$  with

$$\lambda = 2(N+1)\sqrt{t}.\tag{3.60}$$

*Proof.* Firstly,  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system by Proposition 2.7.2. Secondly, by Proposition 3.4.2 we have that

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)} - \frac{\lambda^2}{4} G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)} = \left( (N+1)^2 t - \frac{\lambda^2}{4} \right) t \sum_{i,j=1}^{N+1} (e^i \wedge e^j)^2,$$

which is equal to 0 for  $\lambda$  given by (3.60). It follows by Theorem 2.6.21 that F satisfies WDVV equations (2.56) as a function on the hyperplane  $V \subset \mathbb{C}^{N+1}$  which also depends on the auxiliary variable y. Now we change variables to  $(x_1, \ldots, x_{N+1})$  by putting  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i$ , which implies the statement.

Theorem 3.4.3 gives the value of the scalar  $\lambda$  for the general root system of type  $A_N$  for arbitrary multiplicity of its vectors. This result matches the result from [33], [42] where, in particular, solutions for the root systems  $A_N$  (with multiplicity equal to 1 for its vectors) were obtained. Following [33], [42], consider the function  $\tilde{F}$  given by (3.42). We will explain that our solution (2.55) for the configuration  $(A_N^+, t)$  leads to a solution of the form (3.42). The following lemmas will be used.

Lemma 3.4.4. We have

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j \le N+1} (x_i^2 + x_j^2) = N \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i^2.$$

Proof.

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j \le N+1} (x_i^2 + x_j^2) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \sum_{i,j=1}^{N+1} (x_i^2 + x_j^2) - 2\sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i^2 \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 2(N+1)\sum_{i=1}^{N+1} (x_i^2) - 2\sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i^2 \right),$$

which implies the required relation.

Lemma 3.4.5. We have

$$\sum_{\alpha \in A_N^+} \alpha(x)^2 = (N+1) \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i^2 - y^2, \qquad (3.61)$$

where  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i$ .

*Proof.* Let  $x \in \mathbb{C}^{N+1}$ . Then we have

$$\sum_{\alpha \in A_N^+} \alpha(x)^2 = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N+1} (x_i - x_j)^2 = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N+1} (x_i^2 + x_j^2 - 2x_i x_j)$$
$$= N \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N+1} x_i^2 - 2 \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N+1} x_i x_j$$
(3.62)

by Lemma 3.4.4. Note that

$$2\sum_{1\leq i< j\leq N+1} x_i x_j = \sum_{i,j=1}^{N+1} x_i x_j - \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i \sum_{j=1}^{N+1} x_j - \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i^2$$
$$= \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i\right)^2 - \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i^2 = y^2 - \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i^2.$$

Hence, the lemma follows.

As we have seen in Section 2.7 that solutions of WDVV equations corresponding to root systems were obtained by Hoevenaars and Martini. Let us recall their solution for type  $A_N$  root system and show that our solution leads to such a solution.

**Proposition 3.4.6.** (cf.[33], [42]) Function  $\tilde{F}$  given by

$$\widetilde{F}(x,y) = \frac{\gamma}{6}y^3 + \frac{\gamma}{2}y\Big(\sum_{i=1}^N x_i^2 - \frac{y^2}{N+1}\Big) + \sum_{\alpha \in A_N^+} \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x))$$
$$= \frac{N-2}{6(N+1)}\gamma y^3 + \frac{\gamma}{2}y\sum_{i=1}^N x_i^2 + \sum_{\alpha \in A_N^+} \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)),$$
(3.63)

where the variable y is defined by  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i$ , satisfies WDVV equations (2.56) for root system  $A_N$  and the value of  $\gamma$  is given by  $-\gamma^2 = N + 1$ .

*Proof.* Let  $c_{\alpha} = t = 1$ . Then by Lemma 3.4.5 solution (2.55) has the form

$$F(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y}) = \frac{-2}{3}\widetilde{y}^3 + (N+1)\widetilde{y}\sum_{i=1}^{N+1}\widetilde{x}^2 + \lambda\sum_{\alpha\in A_N^+} f(\alpha(\widetilde{x})), \qquad (3.64)$$

where we redenoted variables (x, y) by  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y})$ . By changing the variable  $\tilde{x} = -i\hat{x}$ , one accordingly has  $\tilde{y} = -i\hat{y}$  where  $\hat{y} = \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} \hat{x}_i$ . Then by dividing the resulting solution by  $-\lambda$  and calling it  $\hat{F}$  we get

$$\widehat{F} = \frac{2i}{3\lambda}\widehat{y}^3 - \frac{(N+1)i}{\lambda}\widehat{y}\sum_{i=1}^{N+1}\widehat{x_i}^2 + \sum_{\alpha \in A_N^+}\widetilde{f}(\alpha(\widehat{x})).$$
(3.65)

Now let us replace variable  $\hat{x}$  with  $\hat{x}_i = x_i + Sy$ , where  $S = \frac{-\lambda\gamma i - 2(N+1)}{2(N+1)^2}$ . Accordingly one can show that change of variable for  $\hat{y}$  takes the form  $\hat{y} = \frac{\gamma\lambda}{2(N+1)}iy$ . Hence solution (3.65) takes the form

$$\left(\frac{\lambda^2 \gamma^2 + 6(N+1)^3 \left((N+1)s^2 + 2s\right)}{12(N+1)^3}\right) \gamma y^3 + \frac{\gamma}{2} y \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i^2 + \sum_{\alpha \in A_N^+} \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)).$$
(3.66)

In order to compare functions (3.66) and (3.42), we let  $\frac{\lambda^2 \gamma^2 + 6(N+1)^3 ((N+1)s^2+2s)}{12(N+1)^3} = \frac{N-2}{6(N+1)}$ , which implies the required value of  $\gamma$  since  $\lambda = 2(N+1)$ .

Let us now apply the restriction operation to the root system  $A_N$ . Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\underline{m} = (m_1, \ldots, m_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{N}^{n+1}$  be such that  $\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} m_i = N+1$ . Let us consider the subsystem  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  given as follows:

$$\mathcal{B} = \{ e^{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} m_j + k} - e^{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} m_j + l}, \quad 1 \le k < l \le m_i, i = 1, \dots, n+1 \}.$$

The corresponding subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  defined by (3.6) can be given explicitly by the equations

$$\begin{cases} x_1 = \dots = x_{m_1}, \\ x_{m_1+1} = \dots = x_{m_1+m_2}, \\ \vdots \\ x_{\sum_{i=1}^n m_i+1} = \dots = x_{N+1}. \end{cases}$$

Define covectros  $f^1, \ldots, f^{n+1} \in W^*_{\mathcal{B}}$  by restrictions  $f^i = \pi_{\mathcal{B}} \left( e^{\sum_{j=1}^i m_j} \right)$ . Let us denote by  $A_n(t;\underline{m})$  the restriction of the configuration  $A^+_N$  to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . It consists of the

following covectors:

$$f^i - f^j$$
, with multiplicity  $tm_i m_j$ ,  $1 \le i < j \le n+1$ . (3.67)

The following result holds, which is closely related to a multi-parameter family of solutions found in [43] (see also [47]).

Theorem 3.4.7. The prepotential

$$F(\xi) = \left(\frac{1}{3} - t\right)y^3 + ty\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} m_k\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} m_i\xi_i^2 + 2t^{3/2}\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} m_k\sum_{i$$

where  $\xi = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  and  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \xi_i$ , satisfies WDVV equations

$$F_i F_k^{-1} F_j = F_j F_k^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j, k = 1, \dots, n+1$$

where  $(F_i)_{pq} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_p \partial \xi_q}$ ,  $(p, q = 1, \dots, n+1)$ , for any generic  $t, m_1, \dots, m_{n+1} \in \mathbb{C}$ .

Proof. Let us suppose firstly that  $m_i \in \mathbb{N}$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, n+1$ . Define  $N = -1 + \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} m_i$ . By Theorem 3.4.3 function (2.55) with  $\mathcal{A} = A_N^+$  and  $\lambda$  given by (3.60) is a solution of WDVV equations (2.56). By Theorem 3.2.4 the prepotential given by

$$F(\xi, y) = \frac{1}{3}y^3 + ty\sum_{i< j}^{n+1} m_i m_j (\xi_i - \xi_j)^2 + 2(N+1)t^{3/2}\sum_{i< j}^{n+1} m_i m_j f(\xi_i - \xi_j), \quad \xi \in W_{\mathcal{B}}, \quad (3.69)$$

as a function on  $W_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus \mathbb{C}$  satisfies WDVV equations. Note that

$$\sum_{i(3.70)$$

Note also that

$$\sum_{i$$

and that

$$\sum_{1 \le i < j \le n+1} 2m_i m_j \xi_i \xi_j = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} m_i \xi_i\right)^2 - \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} m_i^2 \xi_i^2.$$
(3.72)

By making use of relations (3.70)–(3.72) the function (3.69) takes the form

$$F(\xi, y) = \frac{1}{3}y^3 + (N+1)t\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} m_i\xi_i^2 y - t(\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} m_i\xi_i)^2 y + 2(N+1)t^{3/2}\sum_{i< j}^{n+1} m_i m_j f(\xi_i - \xi_j).$$
(3.73)

By setting  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} m_i \xi_i$  and moving to variables  $(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  solution (3.73) takes the required form (3.68). The case of complex  $m_i$  follows from the above considerations since F depends on  $m_i$  polynomially.

**Remark 3.4.8.** (1) We note that Theorem 3.4.3 and the solution F given by (2.55) is valid if one takes any generic linear combination of coordinates  $x_i$  to form the extra variable  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} a_i x_i, a_i \in \mathbb{C}$ . The corresponding solution after restriction is given by the formula

$$F(\xi) = \frac{1}{3}y^3 + ty\sum_{i$$

where y is a linear combination of  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{n+1}, \xi_i \in \mathbb{C}$ .

(2) A multi-parameter family of solutions related to the root system of type  $A_n$  was stated in [43, Section 5.2]. We expect that our solution (3.73) is equivalent to the family of solutions in [43]. It seems that there is a typo in the formula of the solution for type  $A_n$  in [43], since that it seems to not satisfy the WDVV equations.

### 3.5 Further examples in small dimensions

In Section 3.2 we presented the method of obtaining new solutions of WDVV equations through restrictions of known solutions. We applied it to classical families of root systems in Sections 3.3, 3.4. Similarly, starting from any root system and the corresponding solution of WDVV equations one can obtain further solutions by restrictions. In the next proposition we deal with a family of configurations in 4-dimensional space which in general is not a restriction of a root system.

**Proposition 3.5.1.** Let a configuration  $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{C}^4$  consist of the following covectors:

$$e^{i}$$
, with multiplicity  $p$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq 3$ ,  
 $e^{4}$ , with multiplicity  $q$ ,  
 $e^{i} \pm e^{j}$ , with multiplicity  $r$ ,  $1 \leq i < j \leq 3$ ,  
 $\frac{1}{2}(e^{1} \pm e^{2} \pm e^{3} \pm e^{4})$ , with multiplicity  $s$ ,

where  $p, q, r, s \in \mathbb{C}$  are such that  $4r + s \neq 0$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system if

$$p = 2r + s, \tag{3.74}$$

$$q = \frac{s(s-2r)}{4r+s},$$
(3.75)

and  $ps \neq 0$ . The corresponding prepotential (2.55) with

$$\lambda = 6\sqrt{3}(2r+s)(4r+s)^{-1/2} \tag{3.76}$$

is a solution of WDVV equations.

*Proof.* For  $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4), y = (y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4) \in \mathbb{C}^4$  the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  is given by

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(x,y) = (p+4r+2s)(x_1y_1+x_2y_2+x_3y_3) + (q+2s)x_4y_4.$$

To simplify notations let us introduce covectors

$$\alpha_{1} = \frac{1}{2}(e^{1} + e^{2} + e^{3} + e^{4}), \quad \alpha_{2} = \frac{1}{2}(e^{1} + e^{2} + e^{3} - e^{4}),$$
  

$$\alpha_{3} = \frac{1}{2}(e^{1} + e^{2} - e^{3} + e^{4}), \quad \alpha_{4} = \frac{1}{2}(e^{1} - e^{2} + e^{3} + e^{4}),$$
  

$$\alpha_{5} = \frac{1}{2}(e^{1} - e^{2} - e^{3} + e^{4}), \quad \alpha_{6} = \frac{1}{2}(e^{1} - e^{2} + e^{3} - e^{4}),$$
  

$$\alpha_{7} = \frac{1}{2}(e^{1} + e^{2} - e^{3} - e^{4}), \quad \alpha_{8} = \frac{1}{2}(e^{1} - e^{2} - e^{3} - e^{4}).$$

Because of  $B_3 \times A_1$ -symmetry it is enough to check the trigonometric  $\vee$ -conditions for the following series only:

$$\Gamma_{e_1} = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_8\}, \quad \Gamma_{e_4} = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}, \quad \Gamma_{e^1 + e^2} = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_7\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_1}^1 = \{\alpha_2, e^4\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_1}^2 = \{\alpha_3, e^3\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_1}^3 = \{\alpha_5, e^2 + e^3\}.$$

Trigonometric  $\lor$ -conditions for the series  $\Gamma_{e^1}, \Gamma_{e^4}, \Gamma_{e^1+e^2}$  are immediate to check. Let us consider the trigonometric  $\lor$ -condition for  $\alpha_1$ -series. We have

$$\alpha_1(\alpha_2^{\vee}) = \frac{3q + 4s - p - 4r}{4(p + 4r + 2s)(q + 2s)}, \quad \alpha_1(e^{4\vee}) = \frac{1}{2(q + 2s)}, \quad \alpha_1 \wedge \alpha_2 = -\alpha_1 \wedge e^4,$$

which implies the  $\lor$ -condition (2.93) for  $\Gamma^1_{\alpha_1}$  since s(3q+4s-p-4r)-2q(p+4r+2s)=0 by relations (3.74), (3.75).

Also we have

$$\alpha_1(\alpha_3^{\vee}) = \frac{q+p+4r+4s}{4(p+4r+2s)(q+2s)}, \quad \alpha_1(e^{3\vee}) = \frac{1}{2(p+4r+2s)}, \quad \alpha_1 \wedge \alpha_3 = -\alpha_1 \wedge e^3,$$

which implies the  $\lor$ -condition for  $\Gamma^2_{\alpha_1}$  since s(q+p+4r+4s)-2p(q+2s)=0 by relations (3.74), (3.75).

Finally, we have

$$\alpha_1(\alpha_5^{\vee}) = \frac{p+4r-q}{4(p+4r+2s)(q+2s)}, \ \alpha_1((e^2+e^3)^{\vee}) = \frac{1}{p+4r+2s}, \ \alpha_1 \wedge \alpha_5 = -\alpha_1 \wedge (e^2+e^3),$$

which implies the  $\lor$ -condition for  $\Gamma^3_{\alpha_1}$  since s(p+4r-q) - 4r(q+2s) = 0 by relations (3.74), (3.75).

Let us now find the quadratic form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)}$ . By straightforward calculations we get

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(1)} = 2\left(p^{2} + 8pr + 4ps + 16rs + 16r^{2} + 4s^{2}\right)\sum_{i  
+  $2(pq + 2ps + 4qr + 2qs + 8rs + 4s^{2})\sum_{i=1}^{3}\left(e^{i} \wedge e^{4}\right)^{2}$   
=  $\frac{18(2r+s)^{2}}{4r+s}\left((4r+s)\sum_{i (3.77)$$$

Now let us find the quadratic form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)}$ . We have

By making further use of relations (3.74), (3.75) the expression (3.78) can be simplified to the form

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{(2)} = \frac{2}{3}(4r+s)\sum_{i
(3.79)$$

The final statement of the proposition follows from formulas (3.77), (3.79) and Theorem 2.6.21.

**Remark 3.5.2.** We note that for special values of the parameters configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  is a restriction of a root system (cf. [25] where the rational version of this configuration was considered). Thus if r = 0 and p = q = s then  $\mathcal{A}$  reduces to the root system  $D_4$ . If

r = 1, s = 4, then p = 6 and q = 1 and the resulting configuration is the restriction of the root system  $E_7$  along subsystem of type  $A_3$ . If s = 2r then the resulting configuration is the restriction of the root system  $E_6$  along subsystem of type  $A_1 \times A_1$ .

Further solutions of WDVV equations can be obtained from Proposition 3.5.1 by restricting the configuration  $\mathcal{A}$ .

**Proposition 3.5.3.** Let  $\mathcal{A}_1 \subset \mathbb{C}^3$  be the configuration

$$\mathcal{A}_1 = \{2e^1, e^1, e^2, e^3, e^1 \pm e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^2 \pm e^3), \frac{1}{2}(2e^1 \pm e^2 \pm e^3)\},\$$

with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{r, 2p, p, q, 2r, 2s, s\}$ , where  $p, q, r, s \in \mathbb{C}$ . Let configuration  $\mathcal{A}_2 \subset \mathbb{C}^3$  consist of the following set of covectors:

 $\begin{array}{ll} e^i, & \mbox{with multiplicity} & p+s, & 1\leq i\leq 3, \\ e^i+e^j, & \mbox{with multiplicity} & r+s, & 1\leq i< j\leq 3, \\ e^i-e^j, & \mbox{with multiplicity} & r, & 1\leq i< j\leq 3, \\ e^1+e^2+e^3, & \mbox{with multiplicity} & q+s. \end{array}$ 

Suppose that relations (3.74), (3.75) hold and that  $ps(4r + s) \neq 0$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2$  are trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems which also define solutions of WDVV equations given by formula (2.55) with  $\lambda$  given by (3.76).

Proof of this proposition follows from an observation that configuration  $\mathcal{A}_1$  can be obtained from the configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  from Proposition 3.5.1 by restricting it to the hyperplane  $x_1 = x_2$  (up to renaming the vectors). Similarly, configuration  $\mathcal{A}_2$  can be obtained by restricting the configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  to the hyperplane  $x_1 + x_2 + x_3 - x_4 = 0$  (and up to renaming the vectors). Other three-dimensional restrictions of the configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  give restriction of the root system  $F_4$  and a configuration from  $BC_3$  family.

Rational versions of configurations  $\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2$  were considered in [25]. Note that configuration  $\mathcal{A}_1$  has collinear vectors  $2e^1, e^1$ , so its rational version has different size.

Two-dimensional restrictions of  $\mathcal{A}$  are considered below in Proposition 3.5.6 and Proposition 3.5.9, or can belong to  $BC_2$  family of configuration, or have the form of configuration  $G_2$  or appear in [27, Proposition 5].

Let us now consider examples of solutions (2.55) of WDVV equations where configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  contains a small number of vectors on the plane. The next two propositions confirm that trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems with up to five covectors belong to  $A_2$  or  $BC_2$  families.

**Proposition 3.5.4.** Any irreducible trigonometric  $\lor$ -system  $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$  consisting of three vectors with non-zero multiplicities has the form (3.67) where n = 2 for some values of parameters.

*Proof.* By [27, Proposition 2] any such configuration has the form  $\mathcal{A} = \{\alpha, \beta, \gamma\}$  with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{c_{\alpha}, c_{\beta}, c_{\gamma}\}$ , where vectors in  $\mathcal{A}$  satisfy  $\alpha \pm \beta \pm \gamma = 0$  for some choice of signs. It is easy to see that equations

$$tm_1m_2 = c_{\alpha}, \quad tm_1m_3 = c_{\beta}, \quad tm_2m_3 = c_{\gamma},$$

for  $m_1, m_2, m_3, t \in \mathbb{C}$  can be resolved.

**Proposition 3.5.5.** Any irreducible trigonometric  $\lor$ -system  $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$  consisting of four or five vectors with non-zero multiplicities has the form  $BC_2(r, s, q; \underline{m})$  for some values of parameters.

Proof. By [27, Proposition 3] any irreducible trigonometric  $\lor$ -system  $\mathcal{A}$  consisting of four vectors has the form  $\mathcal{A} = \{2e^1, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2\}$  in a suitable basis, and the corresponding multiplicities  $\{c_1, c_2, c_0\}$  where  $c_0 \neq -2c_i$  for i = 1, 2. Now we require parameters  $r, s, q, m_1, m_2$  to satisfy

$$sm_1 + \frac{1}{2}qm_1(m_1 - 1) = c_1,$$
  

$$sm_2 + \frac{1}{2}qm_2(m_2 - 1) = c_2,$$
  

$$qm_1m_2 = c_0, \quad r = 0,$$

which can be done by taking

$$s = \frac{1}{m_1} \left( c_1 - \frac{c_0(m_1 - 1)(2c_1 + c_0)}{2m_1(2c_2 + c_0)} \right),$$
  
$$q = \frac{c_0(2c_1 + c_0)}{m_1^2(2c_2 + c_0)}, \quad m_2 = \frac{(2c_2 + c_0)m_1}{2c_1 + c_0}, \quad m_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$$

By [27, Proposition 4] any irreducible trigonometric  $\lor$ -system  $\mathcal{B}$  consisting of five vectors in a suitable basis has the form  $\mathcal{B} = \{e^1, 2e^1, e^2, e^1 \pm e^2\}$ , and the corresponding multiplicities  $\{c_1, \widetilde{c_1}, c_2, c_{\pm}\}$  satisfy  $c_+ = c_-$  and  $2\widetilde{c_1}c_2 = c_+(c_1 - c_2)$ , where  $(c_1 + 4\widetilde{c_1} + 2c_+)(c_2 + 2c_+) \neq 0$ . In order to compare the configuration  $\mathcal{B}$  with the configuration  $BC_2(r, s, q; \underline{m})$ , we require parameters  $r, s, q, m_1, m_2$  to satisfy

$$rm_1 = c_1, \quad rm_2 = c_2, \quad qm_1m_2 = c_+,$$
  
 $sm_1 + \frac{1}{2}qm_1(m_1 - 1) = \widetilde{c}_1, \quad sm_2 + \frac{1}{2}qm_2(m_2 - 1) = 0.$ 

These equations can be solved by taking

$$r = \frac{c_1}{m_1}, \quad s = \frac{c_+(c_1 - c_2m_1)}{2c_2m_1^2}, \quad q = \frac{c_+c_1}{c_2m_1^2}, \quad m_2 = \frac{c_2m_1}{c_1}, \quad m_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}.$$

In the rest of this section we give more examples of trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems on the plane, which can be checked directly or using Theorem 2.6.21. The configuration in the following proposition can be obtained by restricting configuration  $\mathcal{A}_1$  from Proposition 3.5.3 to the plane  $2x_1 + x_2 - x_3 = 0$ .

Proposition 3.5.6. Let

$$\mathcal{A} = \{e^1, 2e^1, e^2, e^1 + e^2, e^1 - e^2, 2e^1 + e^2\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$$

be with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{4a, a, 2a, 2a, 2(a-b), \frac{2ab}{4a-3b}\}$ , where  $4a - 3b \neq 0$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system provided that  $a(2a-b) \neq 0$ . The corresponding solution of the WDVV equations has the form (2.55) with  $\lambda = 6\sqrt{3}(2a-b)(4a-3b)^{-1/2}$ .

The configuration in the following proposition can be obtained by restricting configuration  $\mathcal{A}_1$  from Proposition 3.5.3 to the plane  $x_1 = x_2$ .

**Proposition 3.5.7.** (cf. [27]) Let

$$\mathcal{A} = \{e^1, e^2, 2e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm 3e^2)\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$$

be with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{\frac{a(3a-2b)}{3a+4b}, 3a+2b, b, 3a, a\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. The corresponding solution of the WDVV equations has the form (2.55) with  $\lambda = 6(3a+2b)(3a+4b)^{-1/2}$ .

**Remark 3.5.8.** If we let b = 0 for the configuration in Proposition 3.5.7 then we recover the root system  $G_2$  with special multiplicities.

The configuration in the following proposition can be obtained by restricting configuration  $\mathcal{A}_1$  from Proposition 3.5.3 to the plane  $x_3 = 0$ .

Proposition 3.5.9. Let

$$\mathcal{A} = \{e^1, 2e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 2e^2\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$$

be with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{2a, \frac{a}{2} - \frac{b}{4}, 2b, a, b, a - \frac{b}{2}\}$ , where  $a \neq 0$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and the corresponding solution of the WDVV equations has the form (2.55) with  $\lambda = 6\sqrt{6}a(4a-b)^{-1/2}$ .

In the next two propositions we give examples of trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems with nine and ten covectors on the plane.

**Proposition 3.5.10.** (cf. [27]) *Let* 

$$\mathcal{A} = \{e^1, 2e^1, e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, \frac{1}{2}(3e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2)\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$$

be with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{a, b, \frac{a}{3}, b, \frac{a}{3}, a\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system provided that  $a \neq -2b$ . The corresponding solution of the WDVV equations has the form (2.55) with  $\lambda = 6(a+2b)(a+4b)^{-1/2}$ .

Note that if b = 0 then after rescaling  $e^2 \to \sqrt{2}e^2$  this configuration reduces to the positive half of the root system  $G_2$ .

**Proposition 3.5.11.** (cf. [27]) *Let* 

$$\mathcal{A} = \{e^1, 2e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 2e^2, 2e^1 \pm e^2\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$$

be with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{6a, \frac{3a}{2}, 6a, \frac{3a}{2}, 4a, a, a\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system provided that  $a \neq 0$ . The corresponding solution of the WDVV equations has the form (2.55) with  $\lambda = 15a^{1/2}$ .

The following configuration containing 14 vectors on the plane.

#### Proposition 3.5.12. Let

$$\mathcal{A} = \{e^1, 2e^1, 3e^1, e^2, 2e^2, 3e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, 2(e^1 \pm e^2), 2e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 2e^2\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$$

be with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{3a, \frac{3a}{2}, \frac{a}{3}, 3a, \frac{3a}{2}, \frac{a}{3}, 2a, \frac{a}{2}, a, a\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system provided that  $a \neq 0$ . The corresponding solution of the WDVV equations has the form (2.55) with  $\lambda = 5(6a)^{1/2}$ .

The following configuration containing 9 vectors on the plane which does not belong to any restrictions of Coxeter root system for general values of multiplicities.

#### Proposition 3.5.13. Let

$$\mathcal{A} = \{e^1, 2e^1, 3e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, 2e^1 \pm e^2\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$$

be with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{\frac{2b(3b+2a)}{b+2a}, \frac{b(3b+2a)}{b+2a}, \frac{2b(b-2a)}{3(b+2a)}, 2a+3b, a, 2b, b\}$ , where  $b + 2a \neq 0$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system provided that  $b(3b + 2a) \neq 0$ . The corresponding solution of the WDVV equations has the form (2.55) with  $\lambda = 3\sqrt{2}(3b + 2a)(b+2a)^{-1/2}$ .
## 3.6 Exceptional root systems solutions revisited

We know that a function F with extra variable y given by formula (2.55) is a solution of WDVV equations (2.56) if the nonzero constant  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  exists. In Section 3.2 we have shown that any restricted function of a solution F also gives a solution of WDVV equations with the same value of  $\lambda$ . This fact can be used to find the value of  $\lambda$  for any configuration through out the process of restriction. This can help us to determine the value of the scalar  $\lambda$  for a higher dimensional configuration by making restriction of the configuration to obtain a restricted system in a small dimension which make it easier to calculate. Also if two configurations have the same restricted system then actually one can derive the value of  $\lambda$  for one of these configurations whenever the value of  $\lambda$  is known for the other configuration. In this section we will make use of this procedure to find the value of  $\lambda$  for root systems of type  $E_6, E_7, E_8, F_4$  and  $G_2$ . Following [33,42], recall that WDVV equations (2.56) have solutions of the form

$$\widetilde{F}(x,y) = \frac{\gamma}{6}y^3 + \frac{\gamma}{2}y\langle x,x\rangle + \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{R}^+} c_\alpha \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)), \quad (x\in V, y\in\mathbb{C}),$$
(3.80)

where  $V \cong C^N$  and  $\mathcal{R} \subset V^*$  is a root system of rank N, multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$  and the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  are invariant under the Weyl group,  $\gamma = \gamma_{(\mathcal{R},c)} \in \mathbb{C}$  and function  $\tilde{f}$  is given by (2.100). By identifying  $V \cong V^*$  via the standard inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ , we define  $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle \coloneqq \langle \alpha^*, \beta^* \rangle$ . The corresponding values of  $\gamma_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  were given explicitly in [33, 42] for constant multiplicity functions  $c_{\alpha} = t \,\forall \alpha$  (except for  $\mathcal{R} = BC_N, G_2$ ), they were found in [11] for special multiplicities and in [47, 48] for arbitrary (non-reduced) root system  $\mathcal{R}$  with invariant multiplicity. For type E root systems we have

$$\gamma_{(E_6,t)} = 2i\sqrt{6}t, \quad \gamma_{(E_7,t)} = 4i\sqrt{3}t, \quad \gamma_{(E_8,t)} = 2i\sqrt{30}t.$$

Similarly to analysis of the  $BC_N$  case in Section 3.3 these solutions lead to solutions F of the form (2.55) for  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}^+$  and the corresponding values of  $\lambda = \lambda_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  are given by

$$\lambda_{(E_6,t)} = 12\sqrt{2t}, \quad \lambda_{(E_7,t)} = 9\sqrt{6t}, \quad \lambda_{(E_8,t)} = 30\sqrt{t}.$$
 (3.81)

We recall that  $\lambda_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$ , in contrast to  $\gamma_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$ , is invariant under linear transformations applied to  $\mathcal{R}$ . An alternative way to derive values (3.81) is to apply Theorem 3.2.4 to already known solutions. Thus  $\lambda_{(E_6,t)}$  can be derived, for example, by considering the four-dimensional restriction of  $E_6$  along a subsystem of type  $A_1 \times A_1$  as this restriction is equivalent to the configuration from Proposition 3.5.1 when parameter s = 2r. Likewise restriction of  $E_7$  along a subsystem of type  $A_3$  gives the same configuration from Proposition 3.5.1 with r = 1 and s = 4. Similarly, restriction of  $E_8$  along a subsystem of type  $D_6$  gives the configuration of type  $BC_2$  which allows to get  $\lambda_{(E_8,t)}$ .

### **3.6.1** $E_6$ type configuration

**Proposition 3.6.1.** Let  $\mathcal{A} = E_6^+$  be the positive half of the root system  $E_6$  consisting of the following vectors

$$\begin{split} e^i \pm e^j, & 1 \le i < j \le 5, \\ \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2 \pm e^3 \pm e^4 \pm e^5 \pm \sqrt{3}e^6), & \text{with odd number of plus sign}, \end{split}$$

where all vectors have the same multiplicity r. Then the corresponding solution of the WDVV equations has the form (2.55) with  $\lambda = 12\sqrt{2r}$ .

Proof. From Remark 3.5.2, since the restriction of the root system  $E_6$  along subsystem of type  $A_1 \times A_1$  gives the same configuration one can obtain from the configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  in Proposition 3.5.1 by putting the parameter s = 2r in proposition 3.5.1, then the value of the scalar  $\lambda$  for the root system  $E_6$  is the same value of  $\lambda$  for  $\mathcal{A}$  in Proposition 3.5.1 when s = 2r. Let us recall the value of  $\lambda$  for  $\mathcal{A}$  in Proposition 3.5.1 which is given by

$$\lambda = \frac{6\sqrt{3}(2r+s)}{\sqrt{4r+s}}.$$

Hence for s = 2r we have  $\lambda = 12\sqrt{2r}$ . This proves the proposition.

In the following proposition we show that our solution F for the root system  $E_6$  takes the form of the solution obtained in [33] for  $E_6$ .

**Proposition 3.6.2.** [42] Function  $\widetilde{F}$  given by (3.42) satisfies WDVV equations (2.56) for root system  $E_6$  and the value of  $\gamma$  is given by  $\gamma = 2i\sqrt{6}$ .

*Proof.* For the root system  $E_6$  as defined above we have

$$\sum_{\alpha \in E_6^+} c_{\alpha} \alpha(x)^2 = 12r \sum_{i=1}^6 x_i^2.$$

Let us take parameter r = 1. Then the solution F given by (2.55) takes the form

$$F(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y}) = \frac{1}{3}\widetilde{y}^3 + 12\widetilde{y}\sum_{i=1}^6 \widetilde{x}_i^2 + \lambda\sum_{\alpha\in E_6^+} f(\alpha(\widetilde{x})), \qquad (3.82)$$

where we redenoted variables (x, y) by  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y})$ . By changing variables  $\tilde{x} = -ix$  and  $\tilde{y} = \frac{\gamma\lambda}{24}y$ and dividing by  $-\lambda$  solution (3.82) takes the form (3.42) provided that  $\gamma^2\lambda^2 = -6912$ which is satisfied for  $\gamma = 2i\sqrt{6}$ .

99

**Remark 3.6.3.** There seems to be a typo in [42] as the value of  $\gamma$  stated in [42] for root system  $E_6$  should be  $2i\sqrt{6}$  instead of  $i\sqrt{6}$ .

### **3.6.2** $E_7$ type configuration

Here we discuss a family of  $E_7$  type configurations and show that it gives trigonometric solutions of the WDVV equations.

Let V be the hyperplane in  $\mathbb{C}^8$  consisting of vectors whose coordinates add up to 0. Let  $E_7^+$  be the positive half of the root system  $E_7$  consisting of the following vectors in  $\mathbb{C}^8$ 

$$\frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2 \pm e^3 \pm e^4 \pm e^5 \pm e^6 \pm e^7 \pm e^8), \qquad (3.83)$$

$$e^i - e^j, \quad 1 \le i < j \le 8,$$
 (3.84)

where the sum of all eight coordinates of vectors (3.83) is zero. Let  $t \in \mathbb{C}$  be the multiplicity of all vectors (3.83), (3.84).

Before we discuss solutions of WDVV equations corresponding to the root system  $E_7$ , the following lemma will be used.

**Lemma 3.6.4.** For  $\mathcal{A} = E_7^+$ , consider the extra variable y given by  $y = \sum_{i=1}^8 x_i$ . Then we have

$$\sum_{\alpha \in E_7^+} \alpha(x)^2 = 18 \sum_{i=1}^8 x_i^2 - \frac{9}{4} y^2.$$
(3.85)

*Proof.* Let  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_8) \in \mathbb{C}^8$ . Then we have

$$\sum_{\alpha \in E_7^+} \alpha(x)^2 = \frac{1}{4} (x_1 \pm x_2 \pm x_3 \pm x_4 \pm x_5 \pm x_6 \pm x_7 \pm x_8)^2 + \sum_{1 \le i < j \le 8} (x_i - x_j)^2$$
$$= \frac{9}{4} \left( 7 \sum_{i=1}^8 x_i^2 - \sum_{i=1}^8 x_i \sum_{j \ne i}^8 x_j \right) = \frac{9}{4} \left( 7 \sum_{i=1}^8 x_i^2 - \sum_{i=1}^8 x_i (y - x_i) \right)$$
$$= \frac{9}{4} \left( 8 \sum_{i=1}^8 x_i^2 - y^2 \right)$$

which gives the required result.

In the following proposition we show that our solution F for the root system  $E_7$  takes the form of the solution obtained in [33] for  $E_7$ .

**Proposition 3.6.5.** Let  $E_7^+$  be the positive half of the root system  $E_7$  as defined above. Then the corresponding solution of the WDVV equations has the form (2.55) with  $\mathcal{A} = E_7^+$ 

and  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{8} x_i$ , satisfies WDVV equations

$$F_i F_k^{-1} F_j = F_j F_k^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j, k = 1, ..., 8,$$
(3.86)

if

$$\lambda = 9\sqrt{6t}.\tag{3.87}$$

Proof. From Remark 3.5.2, since the restriction of the root system  $E_7$  along subsystem of type  $A_3$  gives the same configuration one can obtain from the configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  in Proposition 3.5.1 by putting parameters r = 1, s = 4, p = 6, q = 1 in proposition 3.5.1, then the value of the scalar  $\lambda$  for the root system  $E_7$  is the same value of  $\lambda$  for  $\mathcal{A}$  in Proposition 3.5.1 for this special choices of parameters. Let us recall the value of  $\lambda$  for  $\mathcal{A}$  in Proposition 3.5.1 which is given by

$$\lambda = \frac{6\sqrt{3}(2r+s)}{\sqrt{4r+s}}$$

Hence for r = 1, s = 4, p = 6, q = 1 we have  $\lambda = 9\sqrt{6}$ . This proves the proposition.

**Proposition 3.6.6.** [42] Function  $\widetilde{F}$  given by

$$\widetilde{F}(x,y) = \frac{\gamma}{6}y^3 + \frac{\gamma}{2}y\Big(\sum_{i=1}^8 x_i^2 - \frac{y^2}{8}\Big) + \sum_{\alpha \in E_7^+} \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x))$$
$$= \frac{5}{48}\gamma y^3 + \frac{\gamma}{2}y\sum_{i=1}^8 x_i^2 + \sum_{\alpha \in E_7^+} \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)), \qquad (3.88)$$

where the variable y is defined by  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{8} x_i$ , satisfies WDVV equations (3.86) and the value of  $\gamma$  is given by  $\gamma^2 = -48$ .

*Proof.* Let  $c_{\alpha} = 1$ . Then by Lemma 3.6.4 solution (2.55) takes the form

$$F(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y}) = -\frac{23}{12}\widetilde{y}^3 + 18\widetilde{y}\sum_{i=1}^8 \widetilde{x}_i^2 + \lambda\sum_{\alpha\in E_7^+} f(\alpha(\widetilde{x})), \qquad (3.89)$$

where we redenote variables (x, y) by  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y})$ . By changing the variable  $\tilde{x} = -i\hat{x}$ , one accordingly has  $\tilde{y} = -i\hat{y}$  where  $\hat{y} = \sum_{i=1}^{8} \hat{x}_i$ . Then by dividing the resulting solution by  $-\lambda$  and calling it  $\hat{F}$  we get

$$\widehat{F} = \frac{23}{12\lambda} i\widehat{y}^3 - \frac{18i}{\lambda}\widehat{y}\sum_{i=1}^8 \widehat{x}_i^2 + \sum_{\alpha \in E_7^+} \widetilde{f}(\alpha(\widehat{x})).$$
(3.90)

Now let us replace variable  $\hat{x}$  with  $\hat{x} = x + sy$ , where  $s = \frac{\gamma \lambda i - 36}{288}$ . Accordingly we have

 $\widehat{y} = \frac{\gamma\lambda i}{36} y.$  Hence solution (3.90) takes the form

$$\gamma \Big(\frac{8s^2 + 2s}{2} + \frac{23\gamma^2\lambda^2}{559872}\Big)y^3 + \frac{\gamma}{2}y\sum_{i=1}^8 x_i^2 + \sum_{\alpha \in E_7^+} \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)).$$
(3.91)

In order to compare function (3.88) with (3.91), we let  $\frac{8s^2+2s}{2} + \frac{23\gamma^2\lambda^2}{559872} = \frac{5}{48}$ , which implies that

$$\gamma^2 = -\frac{23328}{\lambda^2}$$

Since  $\lambda = 9\sqrt{6}$ , we get the required value of  $\gamma$ .

We can also have a slightly different solution associated with root system  $E_7$ . **Proposition 3.6.7.** Function  $\widetilde{F}$  given by

$$\widetilde{F}(x,y) = \frac{\gamma}{6}y^3 + \frac{\gamma}{2}y\sum_{i=1}^8 x_i^2 + \sum_{\alpha \in E_7^+} \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)), \qquad (3.92)$$

where the variable y is defined by  $y = \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} x_i$ , satisfies WDVV equations (3.86) and the value of  $\gamma$  is given by  $-\gamma^2 = 66$ .

*Proof.* As in the proof of Proposition 3.6.6 we get relation (3.91), and in order to compare function (3.92) with (3.91), we let  $\frac{8s^2+2s}{2} + \frac{23\gamma^2\lambda^2}{559872} = \frac{1}{6}$ , which implies that

$$\gamma^2 = -\frac{32076}{\lambda^2}.$$

Since  $\lambda = 9\sqrt{6}$ , we get the required value of  $\gamma$ .

### **3.6.3** $E_8$ type configuration

In the following proposition we derived the solution of WDVV equations corresponding to the root system  $E_8$  using the restriction operation in order to reduce the dimension.

**Proposition 3.6.8.** Let  $\mathcal{A} = E_8^+$  be the positive half of the root system  $E_8$  consisting of the following vectors

$$e^{i} \pm e^{j}, with multiplicity \quad t, \quad 1 \le i < j \le 8,$$
$$\frac{1}{2}(e^{1} \pm e^{2} \pm e^{3} \pm e^{4} \pm e^{5} \pm e^{6} \pm e^{7} \pm e^{8}), \quad with multiplicity \quad t$$

where the sum of all eight coordinates is even. Then the corresponding solution of the WDVV equations has the form (2.55) with

$$\lambda = 30\sqrt{t}.\tag{3.93}$$

*Proof.* Let us restrict the root system  $E_8$  to the subspace where

$$x_1 = x_2 = x_3 = x_4,$$
  
$$x_5 = x_6 = x_7 = x_8.$$

The resulting restricted system (after renaming vectors) is given by

$$\mathcal{A} = \{2e^1, 2e^2, e^1 + e^2, e^1 - e^2, 2(e^1 + e^2), 2(e^1 - e^2)\}$$

with the corresponding multiplicities 12t, 12t, 32t, 32t, t, t. Let us make the following linear transformation

$$e^{1} + e^{2} \rightarrow \widetilde{e^{1}},$$
$$e^{1} - e^{2} \rightarrow \widetilde{e^{2}}.$$

The resulting equivalent system is given by

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} = \{ \widetilde{e^1}, \widetilde{e^2}, 2\widetilde{e^1}, 2\widetilde{e^2}, \widetilde{e^1} + \widetilde{e^2}, \widetilde{e^1} - \widetilde{e^2} \}$$

with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{32t, 32t, t, t, 12t, 12t\}$ . We note that the configuration is of type  $BC_2$ , hence the value of the scalar  $\lambda$  of  $E_8$  is the same of that for the restricted configuration  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$ . The value of  $\lambda$  for  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$  is given by (3.41) with

$$r = 32t, \quad s = t, \quad q = 12t,$$

which gives the required value of  $\lambda$ .

In the following proposition we show that our solution F for the root system  $E_8$  takes the form of the solution obtained in [33] for  $E_8$ .

**Proposition 3.6.9.** [42] Function  $\widetilde{F}$  given by (3.42) satisfies WDVV equations (2.56) for root system  $E_8$  and the value of  $\gamma$  is given by  $\gamma = 2i\sqrt{30}$ .

*Proof.* For the root system  $E_8$  as defined in Proposition 3.6.8 we have

$$\sum_{\alpha \in E_8^+} c_{\alpha} \alpha(x)^2 = 30t \sum_{i=1}^8 x_i^2.$$

Let us take parameter t = 1. Then the solution F given by (2.55) takes the form

$$F(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y}) = \frac{1}{3}\widetilde{y}^3 + 30\widetilde{y}\sum_{i=1}^8 \widetilde{x}_i^2 + \lambda\sum_{\alpha\in E_8^+} f(\alpha(\widetilde{x})), \qquad (3.94)$$

where we redenoted variables (x, y) by  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y})$ . By changing of variables  $\tilde{x} = -ix$ ,  $\tilde{y} = \frac{\gamma\lambda}{60}y$ and dividing by  $-\lambda$  solution (3.94) takes the form (3.42) provided that  $\gamma^2\lambda^2 = -108000$ which is satisfied for  $\gamma = 2i\sqrt{30}$ .

**Remark 3.6.10.** There seems to be a typo in [42] as the value of  $\gamma$  stated in [42] for root system  $E_8$  should be  $i2\sqrt{30}$  instead of  $i\sqrt{320}$ .

### **3.6.4** $F_4$ type configuration

**Proposition 3.6.11.** Let  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  be the positive half of the root system  $F_4$  with the multiplicity function c given by

$$c\left(\frac{1}{2}(e^{1} \pm e^{2} \pm e^{3} \pm e^{4})\right) = c(e^{i}) = s, \quad (1 \le i \le 4),$$
  
$$c(e^{i} \pm e^{j}) = r, \quad (1 \le i < j \le 4),$$
(3.95)

where  $r, s \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then in the corresponding solution (2.55) of the WDVV equations (2.56) we have

$$\lambda = \lambda_{(F_4,c)} = 6\sqrt{3}(2r+s)(4r+s)^{-1/2}.$$
(3.96)

Proof. We note that the restriction of the configuration defined in Proposition 3.5.1 to the hyperplane  $x_4 = 0$  gives the same configuration as one gets by restricting  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  to the hyperplane  $x_4 = 0$ . Hence  $\lambda$  is given by formula (3.76).

Proposition 3.6.11 has the following implication for the corresponding solution of the form (3.80), which is also contained in [47].

**Proposition 3.6.12.** [47] For  $\mathcal{R} = F_4$  with the multiplicity function (3.95) we have

$$\gamma_{(F_4,c)}^2 = -(s+2r)(s+4r).$$

*Proof.* We have  $\sum_{\alpha \in F_4^+} c_{\alpha} \alpha(x)^2 = 3(s+2r) \sum_{i=1}^4 x_i^2$ . Then solution F given by (2.55) for  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  takes the form

$$F(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y}) = \frac{1}{3}\widetilde{y}^3 + 3(s+2r)\widetilde{y}\sum_{i=1}^4 \widetilde{x}_i^2 + \lambda\sum_{\alpha\in F_4^+} c_\alpha f(\alpha(\widetilde{x})), \qquad (3.97)$$

where  $\lambda$  is given by (3.96), and we redenoted variables (x, y) by  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y})$ . By dividing F by  $-\lambda$  and changing variables  $\tilde{x} = -ix$ ,  $\tilde{y} = \frac{\gamma\lambda}{6(s+2r)}y$ , solution (3.97) takes the form (3.80) provided that  $\gamma^2\lambda^2 = -108(s+2r)^3$ , which implies the statement.

Let us now find the value of  $\lambda$  for  $\mathcal{R} = G_2$ .

### **3.6.5** $G_2$ type configuration

**Proposition 3.6.13.** Let  $\mathcal{A} = G_2^+$  be the positive half of the root system  $G_2$  with the multiplicity function given by

$$c(\sqrt{3}e^1) = c(\frac{\sqrt{3}e^1}{2} \pm \frac{3e^2}{2}) = q, \quad c(e^2) = c(\frac{\sqrt{3}e^1}{2} \pm \frac{e^2}{2}) = p, \quad (3.98)$$

where  $q, p \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then in the corresponding solution (2.55) of the WDVV equations (2.56) we have

$$\lambda = \lambda_{(G_2,c)} = 6(p+3q)(p+9q)^{-1/2}.$$
(3.99)

*Proof.* Note that by restricting the configuration  $\mathcal{A}_2$  defined in Proposition 3.5.3 to the hyperplane  $x_1 + x_2 + x_3 = 0$  we get the two-dimensional configuration

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_2 = \{e^1, e^2, e^1 + e^2, e^1 - e^2, e^1 + 2e^2, 2e^1 + e^2\}$$

which can be mapped to the configuration  $G_2$  by a linear transformation. The corresponding multiplicities satisfy

$$p = 3(r+s), \quad q = r,$$

which implies the statement by Proposition 3.5.3 and Theorem 3.2.4.

Proposition 3.6.13 has the following implication for the corresponding solution of the form (3.80), which is also contained in [47].

**Proposition 3.6.14.** [47] For  $\mathcal{R} = G_2$  with multiplicity function (3.98) we have

$$\gamma^2_{(G_2,c)} = -\frac{3}{8}(p+3q)(p+9q)$$

*Proof.* We have  $\sum_{\alpha \in G_2^+} c_{\alpha} \alpha(x)^2 = \frac{3}{2}(p+3q)(x_1^2+x_2^2)$ . Then solution F given by (2.55) for  $\mathcal{A} = G_2^+$  takes the form

$$F(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y}) = \frac{1}{3}\widetilde{y}^3 + \frac{3}{2}(p+3q)\widetilde{y}(\widetilde{x}_1^2 + \widetilde{x}_2^2) + \lambda \sum_{\alpha \in G_2^+} c_\alpha f(\alpha(\widetilde{x})), \qquad (3.100)$$

where  $\lambda$  is given by (3.99), and we redenoted variables (x, y) by  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y})$ . By dividing F by  $-\lambda$  and changing variables  $\tilde{x} = -ix$ ,  $\tilde{y} = \frac{\gamma\lambda}{3(p+3q)}y$ , solution (3.100) takes the form (3.80) provided that  $\gamma^2\lambda^2 = \frac{27}{2}(p+3q)^3$  which implies the statement.

# 3.7 Bryan-Gholampour solutions revisited

Solutions of WDVV equations of the form (3.80) were also obtained in [11]. More exactly, consider the multiplication \* on the tangent space  $T_{(x,y)}(V \oplus U) \cong V \oplus U$ , where

 $\dim U=1, x\in V, y\in U$  which is given by

$$u * v = \langle u, v \rangle E + \widetilde{\gamma}^{-1} \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{R}^+} \frac{c_\beta}{\langle \beta, \beta \rangle} \beta(u) \beta(v) \coth \beta(x) \beta, \quad (u, v \in V),$$
(3.101)

 $\tilde{\gamma} = \tilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)} \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $E \in U$  is the identity of the product (3.101). It was shown in [11] that this multiplication is associative. It can be seen (cf. Section 2.1 above) that associativity of (3.101) is equivalent to the statement that function

$$\widetilde{F}(x,y) = \frac{\widetilde{\gamma}}{6}y^3 + \frac{\widetilde{\gamma}}{2}y\langle x,x\rangle + \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{R}^+} d_\alpha \widetilde{f}(\alpha(x)), \qquad (3.102)$$

where  $d_{\alpha} = \frac{c_{\alpha}}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle}$  satisfies WDVV equations, hence  $\tilde{\gamma} = \tilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)} = \gamma_{(\mathcal{R},d)}$ .

Let  $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_N\}$  be a basis of simple roots of  $\mathcal{R}$ . Recall that there exists the *highest* root  $\theta = \theta_{\mathcal{R}} = \sum_{i=1}^N n_i \alpha_i \in \mathcal{R}$  such that, for every  $\beta = \sum_{i=1}^N p_i \alpha_i \in \mathcal{R}$ , we have  $n_i \ge p_i$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, N$  [6]. The constant  $\tilde{\gamma} = \tilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  was expressed in [11] in terms of the highest root of the root system  $\mathcal{R}$ .

**Proposition 3.7.1.** [11] The value of  $\widetilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  in the solution (3.102) in the case of constant multiplicity function  $c_{\alpha} = t$  is given by

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)}^2 = -\frac{t^2}{8} \Big( \langle \theta, \theta \rangle + \sum_{i=1}^N n_i^2 \langle \alpha_i, \alpha_i \rangle \Big).$$

Now we give a generalization of Proposition 3.7.1 to the case of non-constant multiplicity function. Let p be the multiplicity of short roots and q be the multiplicity of long roots in a reduced not simply-laced root system  $\mathcal{R}$ .

Proposition 3.7.2. We have

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)}^2 = -\frac{1}{8} \Big( a_0 \langle \theta, \theta \rangle + \sum_{i=1}^N a_i n_i^2 \langle \alpha_i, \alpha_i \rangle \Big), \qquad (3.103)$$

where scalars  $a_i$  for all irreducible reduced not simply-laced root systems are given as follows. (1) Let  $\mathcal{R} = B_N$  with the basis of simple roots

$$\alpha_1 = e^1 - e^2, \dots, \alpha_{N-1} = e^{N-1} - e^N, \alpha_N = e^N.$$

Then

$$a_0 = a_1 = a_N = pq, \quad a_i = q^2, \quad (2 \le i \le N - 1).$$
 (3.104)

(2) Let  $\mathcal{R} = C_N$  with the basis of simple roots

$$\alpha_1 = e^1 - e^2, \dots, \alpha_{N-1} = e^{N-1} - e^N, \alpha_N = 2e^N.$$

Then

$$a_0 = a_1 = a_N = pq, \quad a_i = p^2, \quad (2 \le i \le N - 1).$$
 (3.105)

(3) Let  $\mathcal{R} = F_4$  with the basis of simple roots

$$\alpha_1 = e^2 - e^3, \ \alpha_2 = e^3 - e^4, \ \alpha_3 = e^4, \ \alpha_4 = \frac{1}{2}(e^1 - e^2 - e^3 - e^4).$$

Then

$$a_0 = a_2 = a_4 = pq, \quad a_1 = p^2, \quad a_3 = q^2.$$
 (3.106)

(4) Let  $\mathcal{R} = G_2$  with the basis of simple roots  $\alpha_1 = \frac{\sqrt{3}e^1}{2} - \frac{3e^2}{2}$ ,  $\alpha_2 = e^2$ . Then

$$a_0 = p^2, \quad a_1 = pq, \quad a_2 = q^2.$$
 (3.107)

*Proof.* It follows from Proposition 3.3.4 that

$$\widetilde{\gamma}^2_{(B_N,c)} = -q(p + (N-2)q).$$

Note that  $\theta_{B_N} = e^1 + e^2 = \alpha_1 + 2(\alpha_2 + \cdots + \alpha_N)$ . Then it is easy to see that the substitution of (3.104) into formula (3.103) gives the same value of  $\tilde{\gamma}_{(B_N,c)}$ . Similarly, we have

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{(C_N,c)}^2 = -p(2q + (N-2)p),$$

which is equal to the value given by formula (3.103) after substitution  $a_i$  from (3.105) and by using  $\theta_{C_N} = 2e^1 = 2(\alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_{N-1}) + \alpha_N$ . It follows from Proposition 3.6.12 that

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{(F_4,c)}^2 = -(p+q)(p+2q).$$

Note that  $\theta_{F_4} = e^1 + e^2 = 2\alpha_1 + 3\alpha_2 + 4\alpha_3 + 2\alpha_4$ . Then it is easy to see that the substitution of values (3.106) into formula (3.103) gives the same value of  $\tilde{\gamma}_{(F_4,c)}$ . Similarly, it follows from Proposition 3.6.14 that

$$\widetilde{\gamma}^2_{(G_2,c)} = -\frac{3}{8}(p+q)(p+3q),$$

which is equal to the expression in formula (3.103) after the substitution of (3.107) and

by using  $\theta_{G_2} = \sqrt{3}e^1 = 2\alpha_1 + 3\alpha_2$ .

It is not clear to us how to formulate Proposition 3.7.2 for any not simply-laced (reduced) root system in a uniform way.

Let us also give another formula for  $\widetilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)}$  in terms of the dual root system  $\mathcal{R}^{\vee}$  of  $\mathcal{R}$ where  $\mathcal{R}^{\vee} = \{\beta^{\vee} : \beta \in \mathcal{R}\}$ , and  $\beta^{\vee} = \frac{2\beta}{\langle \beta, \beta \rangle}$ . Then we have

$$\widetilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)}^2 = -\frac{\langle \theta, \theta \rangle^2}{32} \Big( a_0 \langle \theta^{\vee}, \theta^{\vee} \rangle + \sum_{i=1}^N \overline{n}_i^2 a_i \langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \alpha_i^{\vee} \rangle \Big), \qquad (3.108)$$

where coefficients  $\overline{n}_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  are determined by the expansion  $\theta^{\vee} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \overline{n}_i \alpha_i^{\vee}$ . Formula (3.108) follows from formula (3.103) by observing the relation  $\overline{n}_i = \frac{n_i \langle \alpha_i, \alpha_i \rangle}{\langle \theta, \theta \rangle}$  for  $1 \leq i \leq N$ .

Let us explain how solutions for root systems considered above correspond to solutions considered by Shen in [47, 48].

Note that in [47,48] a prepotential function for a Frobenius structure was considered, this prepotential gives a solution of WDVV equations for root systems  $\mathcal{R}$ . Let us first recall that solution which is given by

$$\Phi = -\frac{y^3}{6} + \frac{y}{2}c\sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{R}^+}\alpha(x)^2 + \sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{R}^+}k_\alpha\frac{a(\alpha^\vee,\alpha^\vee)}{\alpha(\alpha^\vee)}q(\alpha(x)),$$
(3.109)

where  $k_{\alpha}$  is a  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant multiplicity function, the function q satisfies

$$q^{'''}(z) = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{1+e^z}{1-e^z}) = -\frac{1}{2}\coth(\frac{z}{2}),$$

and  $a(\cdot, \cdot)$  is a symmetric bilinear form that satisfies

$$a(u,v) = \mu \langle u, v \rangle, \tag{3.110}$$

for some scalar  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ , and c is a constant corresponding to the bilinear form a and satisfies

$$a = c \sum_{\alpha > 0} \alpha \otimes \alpha. \tag{3.111}$$

Let us explain that the solution (3.102) leads to a solution of the form (3.109). Firstly, by (3.110) and (3.111) we have

$$c\sum_{\alpha\in\mathcal{R}^+}\alpha(x)^2 = a(x,x) = \mu\langle x,x\rangle.$$
(3.112)

Also, since  $\alpha^{\vee} = \frac{2\alpha}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle}$  then we have

$$\alpha(\alpha^{\vee}) = 2, \quad a(\alpha^{\vee}, \alpha^{\vee}) = \frac{4\mu}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle}.$$
(3.113)

Hence by substituting relations (3.110) and (3.113) in (3.109) and dividing the resulting function by  $\frac{1}{2\mu}$  we get

$$\widehat{\Phi}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2\mu} \Phi = -\frac{y^3}{12\mu} + \frac{y}{4} \langle x, x \rangle + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}^+} \frac{k_\alpha}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} q(\alpha(x)).$$
(3.114)

On the other hand for the solution (3.102), let us make change of variable by putting  $x = \frac{\tilde{x}}{2}$ . Note that  $\tilde{f}(\frac{z}{2}) = -\frac{1}{4}q(z)$ . Also, let  $c_{\alpha} = k_{\alpha}$ . Then after multiplying the solution (3.102) by -4, we get

$$F^{(1)}(\widetilde{x}, y) = -\frac{2\widetilde{\gamma}}{3}y^3 - \frac{\widetilde{\gamma}y}{2}\langle \widetilde{x}, \widetilde{x} \rangle + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}^+} \frac{k_\alpha}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} q(\alpha(\widetilde{x})).$$
(3.115)

Now in order to compare (3.115) with (3.114) we make a change of variable by putting  $y = -\frac{\tilde{y}}{2\tilde{\gamma}}$  in (3.115). Hence (3.115) becomes

$$F^{(2)}(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y}) = \frac{\widetilde{y}^3}{12\widetilde{\gamma}^2} + \frac{\widetilde{y}}{4} \langle \widetilde{x},\widetilde{x} \rangle + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}^+} \frac{k_\alpha}{\langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle} q(\alpha(\widetilde{x})).$$
(3.116)

Solutions  $F^{(2)}$  given by (3.116) coincides with solution  $\widehat{\Phi}$  given by (3.114) if we identify  $\widetilde{x} = x, \widetilde{y} = y$  and  $\mu = -\widetilde{\gamma}^2$ .

The values of  $\tilde{\gamma}^2$  for not simply-laced root systems  $B_N, C_N, F_4, G_2$  are given in Proposition 3.7.2. Note also that since  $\tilde{\gamma} = \tilde{\gamma}_{(\mathcal{R},c)} = \gamma_{(\mathcal{R},d)}$ , then by Propositions 3.3.4, 3.4.6, 3.6.2, 3.6.6, 3.6.9 the values of  $\tilde{\gamma}^2$  for simply-laced root systems  $D_N, A_N, E_6, E_7, E_8$  are given by

${\cal R}$	$D_N$	$A_N$	$E_6$	$E_7$	$E_8$
$-\widetilde{\gamma}^2$	$(N-2)s^2$	$\frac{(N+1)}{4}s^2$	$6s^2$	$12s^{2}$	$30s^{2}$

where  $c_{\alpha} = s$  is the multiplicity of all vectors  $\alpha$  in the simply-laced root system  $\mathcal{R}$ . This matches the scalar  $\mu = -\tilde{\gamma}^2$  given in [47].

# Chapter 4

# Trigonometric solutions without extra variable

In this chapter we consider trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations without extra variable. We review such solutions found in the literature. We generalize solutions of this type found in [33] corresponding to the root systems  $B_N$ . Our initial solution corresponds to the root system  $BC_N$  with Weyl-invariant multiplicities. Then we obtain a family of solutions with N + 2 multiplicity parameters corresponding to the root system  $BC_N$ solutions by the restriction procedure. We also use these solutions to construct  $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric mechanical systems.

# 4.1 Solutions of WDVV and related equations

Let  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  be a function in  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^n$ . Consider a vector field

$$e = \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i(x)\partial_{x_i},$$

where  $A_i(x) = A_i(x_1, ..., x_n)$  are some functions. Define  $n \times n$  matrix  $B = (B_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$  by

$$B_{ij} = e(F_{ij}) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} A_k(x) F_{ijk}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.1)

where

$$F_{ijk} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial x_i \partial x_j \partial x_k}$$

Recall that WDVV equations (2.56) can be written equivalently in the form [41] (see

also [40])

$$F_i B^{-1} F_j = F_j B^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N,$$
(4.2)

where B is any linear combination of matrices  $F_k$ . We have in Chapter 2 the class of trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations (4.2) which have the form

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, x)) + Q, \qquad (4.3)$$

where  $\mathcal{A}$  is a finite set of vectors in  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^N$ ,  $c_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}$ , are some multiplicity parameters, the function f is given by (1.11), and Q = Q(x, y) is a cubic polynomial which depends on  $(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  and the auxiliary variable  $y \in \mathbb{C}$ . We have presented solutions of the form (4.3) for all root systems  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}_+$ . Also, solutions of the form (4.3) without full Weyl symmetry were considered where  $\mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. We also have shown that the class of trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems includes all root systems with  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant multiplicities (Proposition 2.7.2).

In general, in the case when the cubic corrections are absent, that is Q = 0 the corresponding solution of the form (4.3) does not exist even for the case of root system  $\mathcal{A}$  with invariant multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$ . However, in [33] Hoevenaars and Martini found such a solution for the root system of type  $B_N$  and specific choice of invariant multiplicities. Their result with respect to  $B_N$  root system is given by the following theorem ([33, Theorem 2.3]).

Theorem 4.1.1. [33] The function

$$F(x_1,\ldots,x_N) = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} \left( \widetilde{f}(x_i - x_j) + \widetilde{f}(x_i + x_j) \right) + \eta \sum_{i=1}^N \widetilde{f}(x_i),$$

where function  $\tilde{f}$  is given by (2.100), satisfies WDVV equations (4.2) if and only if  $\eta = -2(N-2)$ .

The main idea of the proof of Theorem 4.1.1 in [33] is to find an appropriate invertable metric B such that WDVV equations (4.2) holds. In their proof of Theorem 4.1.1 the corresponding metric B was chosen in a specific way to be a multiple of identity, and hence the WDVV equations (4.2) reduce to the commutativity formula

$$F_i F_j = F_j F_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N.$$
 (4.4)

Solutions of the form (4.3) for equations (4.4) for root systems  $BC_N$ ,  $F_4$ ,  $G_2$  with special collections of invariant multiplicities were found in [3]. Before we summarize these results, let us prove the following statement.

**Proposition 4.1.2.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a finite set of vectors in  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^N$  and  $c_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}$ , be some multiplicity parameters. Let

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, x)), \qquad (4.5)$$

where the function f is given by (1.11). Let

$$\widehat{F} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \widetilde{f}((\alpha, \widetilde{x})),$$

where function  $\tilde{f}$  is given by (2.100). Then we have

(1) F satisfies WDVV equations (4.2) if and only if  $\widehat{F}$  satisfies WDVV equations (4.2),

(2) F satisfies the commutativity equations (4.4) if and only if  $\widehat{F}$  satisfies the commutativity equations (4.4).

*Proof.* By making the change of variable  $x = -i\tilde{x}$  we have

$$f(x) = f(-i\widetilde{x}) = \frac{1}{6}i(-i\widetilde{x})^3 + \frac{1}{4}Li_3(e^{-2i(-i\widetilde{x})}) = -(\frac{1}{6}\widetilde{x}^3 - \frac{1}{4}Li_3(e^{-2\widetilde{x}})) = -\widetilde{f}(\widetilde{x}).$$

The result follows since  $\frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial x_j \partial x_k \partial x_l} = \frac{i \partial^3 F}{\partial \tilde{x}_j \partial \tilde{x}_k \partial \tilde{x}_l}$ .

The following theorem gives the solution of equations (4.4) corresponding to the root system  $BC_N$  (see [3, Theorem 6.6], see also [4]).

Theorem 4.1.3. [3] The function

$$F = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( rf(x_i) + sf(2x_i) \right) + q \sum_{i$$

satisfies conditions (4.4) if and only if r = -8s - 2(N-2)q.

The following theorem gives the solution of equations (4.4) corresponding to the root system  $F_4$  (see [3, Theorem 6.8], see also [4]).

Theorem 4.1.4. [3] The function

$$F = r \sum_{i=1}^{4} f(x_i) + r \sum_{\epsilon_i \in \{1,-1\}} f\left(\frac{1}{2}(\epsilon_1 x_1 + \epsilon_2 x_2 + \epsilon_3 x_3 + \epsilon_4 x_4)\right) + q \sum_{i$$

satisfies conditions (4.4) if and only if r = -2q or r = -4q.

The following theorem gives the solution of equations (4.4) corresponding to the root system  $G_2$  considered in three-dimensional space (see [3, Theorem 6.9], see also [4]).

Theorem 4.1.5. [3] The function

$$F = s \sum_{i < j}^{3} f(x_i - x_j) + \frac{r}{2} \sum_{\sigma \in S_3} f(2x_{\sigma(1)} - x_{\sigma(2)} - x_{\sigma(3)})$$

satisfies conditions (4.4) if and only if s = -3r or s = -9r.

**Remark 4.1.6.** (1) It was shown in [4, Remark 4.5.7] (see also [3]) that if  $\mathcal{R} = A_{N-1}$  with constant multiplicity then equations (4.4) do not hold.

(2) In [3] solutions of the commutativity equations of the form (4.5) were considered with f replaced by  $\tilde{f}$ . Proposition 4.1.2 allows us to deal with the stated trigonometric version of these results.

A question arises as to whether usual WDVV equations hold for these prepotentials considered in Theorems 4.1.3, 4.1.4, 4.1.5. Since WDVV equations (4.2) are equivalent to the system (4.4) when the metric B is proportional to the standard metric  $\delta_i^j$ , the question reduces to the question whether the identity metric can be obtained as a linear combination of the third order derivatives for these prepotentials. We answer this question positively for the case of the root system  $BC_N$ . In fact we find (N+2)-parametric family of solutions whose underlying configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  is the positive half of  $BC_N$  root system. The choice of the metric B is motivated by the metric B for the root system  $B_N$  which was chosen in [33]. Thus the (N+2)-parametric family of solutions reduces to the two-parameter family of prepotentials given in Theorem 4.1.3 after specialization of parameters. In fact we show firstly that a two-parameter family of prepotentilas given in Theorem 4.1.3 satisfies WDVV equations (4.2) for a suitable combination of the third order derivatives of the prepotential which gives metric B proportional to the identity. This also generalized Theorem 4.1.1. Then we generalize these considerations to obtain the family of solutions with many parameters by taking special restrictions of these solutions using procedure similar to one we applied in Section 3.3.

# 4.2 Metric for a family of $BC_n$ type configurations

We are going to present solution F to the equations (4.2) for a suitable vector field e. This solution is related to  $BC_n$  root system with prescribed multiplicities of the root vectors.

$$e_i$$
, with multiplicity  $rm_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le n$ ,  
 $2e_i$ , with multiplicity  $sm_i + \frac{1}{2}qm_i(m_i - 1)$ ,  $1 \le i \le n$ ,  
 $e_i \pm e_j$ , with multiplicity  $qm_im_j$ ,  $1 \le i < j \le n$ ,

where  $e_1, \ldots, e_n$  is the standard basis in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Note that if all the multiplicities  $m_i = 1$  then the configuration reduces to the configuration  $BC_n(r, s, q)$  which is a positive half of the root system  $BC_n$  with an invariant collection of multiplicities r, s, q.

Let us consider the function F given by (4.3) with Q = 0, that is

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in BC_n(r,s,q;\underline{m})} c_\alpha f((\alpha, x)).$$
(4.6)

More explicitly the function F can be written as follows:

$$F = \sum_{i=1}^{n} rm_i f(x_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( sm_i + \frac{1}{2} qm_i (m_i - 1) \right) f(2x_i) + \sum_{i< j}^{n} qm_i m_j f(x_i \pm x_j).$$
(4.7)

Let us now define the matrix (4.1) by taking

$$A_k = \sin 2x_k,\tag{4.8}$$

where k = 1, ..., n. This choice is motivated by [33] where a solution of WDVV equation (4.2) for the root system  $B_n$  was obtained.

Let us also define the following functions:

$$b_{ij} = \begin{cases} \cot(x_i + x_j) + \cot(x_i - x_j), & 1 \le i \ne j \le n, \\ 0, & i = j, \end{cases}$$

and

$$b_i = \cot x_i, \qquad \widetilde{b}_i = \cot 2x_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

**Lemma 4.2.1.** We have the following expression for the third order derivatives of F:

$$F_{klt} = rm_k b_k \delta_{kl} \delta_{lt} + 4(2sm_k + qm_k(m_k - 1))\widetilde{b}_k \delta_{kl} \delta_{lt} + q\delta_{kl} \delta_{lt} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq k}}^n m_j m_k b_{kj}$$
(4.9)

$$+ qm_t m_k b_{tk} \delta_{kl} + qm_l m_k b_{lk} \delta_{kt} + qm_k m_l b_{kl} \delta_{lt},$$

where k, l, t = 1, ..., n, and  $\delta$  is the Kronecker symbol.

*Proof.* We note that the first two terms in (4.9) are obtained from the first two terms in formula (4.7). The last term in (4.7) contributes the following sum in  $F_{klt}$ :

$$q \sum_{i < j}^{n} m_{i} m_{j} \Big( (\delta_{ki} + \delta_{kj}) (\delta_{li} + \delta_{lj}) (\delta_{ti} + \delta_{tj}) \cot(x_{i} + x_{j}) + (\delta_{ki} - \delta_{kj}) (\delta_{li} - \delta_{lj}) (\delta_{ti} - \delta_{tj}) \cot(x_{i} - x_{j}) \Big).$$

$$(4.10)$$

We rearrange some of the terms in (4.10) as follows:

$$q\sum_{i$$

and

$$q\sum_{i(4.12)$$

The sum of expressions (4.11) and (4.12) equals the third term in (4.9). Further on, let us collect the following terms from (4.10):

$$q\sum_{i(4.13)$$

and

$$q\sum_{i(4.14)$$

The sum of the terms (4.13) and (4.14) equals to  $qm_tm_kb_{tk}\delta_{kl}$ . Similarly, the sum of the terms

$$q\sum_{i$$

and

$$q\sum_{i$$

equals  $qm_km_lb_{kl}\delta_{lt}$ . Finally, the sum of the following terms

$$q\sum_{i$$

and

$$q\sum_{i$$

equals  $qm_lm_kb_{lk}\delta_{kt}$ . The statement follows.

Lemma 4.2.2. We have the following identities:

$$A_k b_{kj} + A_j b_{jk} = 2(\cos 2x_k + \cos 2x_j), \quad 1 \le j \ne k \le n,$$
(4.15)

and

$$A_k b_{jk} + A_j b_{kj} = 0, \quad j, k = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.16)

where  $A_k$  is given by (4.8).

Proof. We have

$$A_k b_{kj} + A_j b_{jk} = \frac{A_k \sin 2x_k - A_j \sin 2x_j}{\sin(x_k + x_j) \sin(x_k - x_j)} = \frac{\cos 4x_k - \cos 4x_j}{\cos 2x_k - \cos 2x_j},$$

which implies the first formula (4.15). Identity (4.16) follows similarly.

Now we show that the matrix B is diagonal. Moreover, it is proportional to a constant diagonal matrix under a particular restriction on the parameters r, q, s.

**Proposition 4.2.3.** The matrix B = B(x) with the matrix entries

$$B_{lt} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} A_k F_{klt}, \quad l, t = 1, \dots, n$$

is diagonal. Furthermore, if the multiplicities r, q, s and  $\underline{m}$  satisfy the relation

$$r = -8s - 2q(N-2), (4.17)$$

where  $N = \sum_{k=1}^{n} m_k$ , then the matrix B takes the form

$$B_{lt} = m_l h(x) \delta_{lt}, \tag{4.18}$$

where  $h(x) = 2q \sum_{k=1}^{n} m_k \cos 2x_k + r$ .

*Proof.* It follows by Lemma 4.2.1 that for  $l \neq t$ 

$$B_{lt} = qm_l m_t (A_l b_{tl} + A_t b_{lt}),$$

which is equal to zero by Lemma 4.2.2.

Let us now consider the diagonal entries of B. We have by Lemmas 4.2.1, 4.2.2

$$B_{ll} = rm_l A_l b_l + 4 \left(2sm_l + qm_l(m_l - 1)\right) A_l \tilde{b}_l + q \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq l}}^n m_k m_l (A_l b_{lk} + A_k b_{kl})$$
  
=  $2rm_l \cos^2 x_l + 4 \left(2sm_l + qm_l(m_l - 1)\right) \cos 2x_l + 2q \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq l}}^n m_k m_l (\cos 2x_k + \cos 2x_l).$ 

Then

$$B_{ll} = 2rm_l \cos^2 x_l + 4(2sm_l + qm_l(m_l - 1)) \cos 2x_l + 2q(N - 2m_l)m_l \cos 2x_l + 2qm_l \sum_{k=1}^n m_k \cos 2x_k = m_l \Big( (r + 8s + 2q(N - 2)) \cos 2x_l + 2q \sum_{k=1}^n m_k \cos 2x_k + r \Big),$$

which implies the statement.

Since now the matrix B is constructed to be proportional to the identity matrix, then WDVV equations (4.2) are equivalent to the system of equations (4.4) in this case. Now we define a commutative algebra on  $T_x V$  as follows. Below summation over repeated indices will be assumed. Let us now assume that multiplicities  $m_i = 1$  for all i = 1, ..., n. For any vector  $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n) \in V$  let us introduce the vector field  $\partial_v = v_i \partial_{x_i} \in \Gamma(TV)$ . For any  $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_n) \in V$  we define the following multiplication on the tangent space  $T_x V$  for generic  $x \in V$ :

$$\partial_u * \partial_v = F_{ijk} u_i v_j \partial_{x_k}. \tag{4.19}$$

Note that multiplication (4.19) defines a commutative algebra on  $T_xV$ . The following theorem takes place.

**Theorem 4.2.4.** Suppose that parameters r, s and q satisfy the linear relation (4.17). Then function

$$F = r \sum_{i=1}^{n} f(x_i) + s \sum_{i=1}^{n} f(2x_i) + q \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} \left( f(x_i + x_j) + f(x_i - x_j) \right)$$
(4.20)

satisfies WDVV equations (4.2) where B is determined by (4.1) and (4.8). Also, multiplication (4.19) is associative.

*Proof.* It has been shown in [3] that the function (4.20) satisfies the following system of equations if the linear relation (4.17) holds:

$$F_i F_j = F_j F_i, \tag{4.21}$$

for all i, j = 1, ..., n. It then follows from Proposition 4.2.3 that conditions (4.21) are equivalent to WDVV equations (4.2) since the matirx B is proportional to the identity matrix. Also it is easy to see that associativity of the multiplication (4.19) is equivalent to the relation (4.21).

Thus, Theorem 4.2.4 leads to Theorem 4.1.3 by the given metric B. Moreover, by letting parameters s = 0, q = 1,  $r = \eta$ , Theorem 4.2.4 coincides with Theorem 4.1.1, and in this way a generalisation of Theorem 4.1.1 is obtained. In fact, one can consider a generalisation of the configuration  $BC_N$  and show that the corresponding function also satisfies WDVV equations. By this we aim to generalize Theorem 4.2.4 to the configuration  $BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m})$ , that is to the case of arbitrary multiplicities  $m_i$ . This generalization can be formulated as follows. In the remaining part of the chapter we prove generalization of Theorem 4.2.4 to the configuration  $BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m})$ , that is to the case of arbitrary multiplicities  $m_i$ . This generalization can be formulated as follows.

**Theorem 4.2.5.** Suppose parameters r, s, q and  $\underline{m}$  satisfy the relation

$$r = -8s - 2q(N-2), (4.22)$$

where  $N = \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i$ . Then prepotential (4.7) satisfies WDVV equations (4.2) where  $B = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sin 2x_i F_i$ .

**Remark 4.2.6.** Theorem 4.2.5 generalizes Theorem 2.3 from [33]. In this case we have all  $m_i = 1$  and s = 0. Then putting q = 1 we get the standard  $B_N$  root system and the condition (4.22) reduces to r = -2(N-2) which is the multiplicity of the short root of  $B_N$  root system considered in [33].

**Remark 4.2.7.** In the rational limit solutions (4.7) of WDVV equations reduce to  $B_n$  family of  $\lor$ -systems found in [13].

## 4.3 Proof through restrictions

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be the configuration  $\mathcal{A} = BC_N(r, s, q) \subset W \cong \mathbb{C}^N, N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $e_1, \ldots, e_N$  be the standard basis of W. Let  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  be the standard inner product which is defined by

$$(x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} x_i y_i,$$
(4.23)

where  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_N), y = (y_1, \ldots, y_N) \in W$ . Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\underline{m} = (m_1, \ldots, m_n)$  with  $m_i \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\sum_{i=1}^n m_i = N$ . Let us consider subsystem  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{B} = \{ e_{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} m_j + k} - e_{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} m_j + l}, \quad 1 \le k < l \le m_i, i = 1, \dots, n \}.$$

Now let us consider the corresponding subspace of W of dimension n given by

$$W_{\mathcal{B}} = \{ x \in W : (\beta, x) = 0, \forall \beta \in \mathcal{B} \}$$

More explicitly, vectors  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_N) \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  satisfy conditions:

$$\begin{cases} x_1 = \dots = x_{m_1}, \\ x_{m_1+1} = \dots = x_{m_1+m_2}, \\ \vdots \\ x_{\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} m_i+1} = \dots = x_N. \end{cases}$$

For any vector  $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_N) \in W$  let us define the vector field  $\partial_v = v_i \partial_{x_i} \in TW$ . For any  $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_N) \in W$  we define the following multiplication on the tangent plane  $T_x W$  for generic  $x \in W$ :

$$\partial_u * \partial_v = u_i v_j F_{ijk} \partial_{x_k}, \tag{4.24}$$

where the function F is given by

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, x)).$$
(4.25)

Assume that parameters r, s, q and  $\underline{m}$  satisfy the relation r = -8s - 2q(N - 2). Then multiplication (4.24) is associative by Theorem 4.2.4 (applied with n = N). Note that function (4.25) satisfies

$$F_{ijk} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha_i \alpha_j \alpha_k \cot(\alpha, x),$$

hence multiplication (4.24) can be expressed as follows:

$$\partial_u * \partial_v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v) \cot(\alpha, x) \partial_\alpha.$$
(4.26)

If we identify W with  $T_x W \cong W$ , then multiplication (4.26) takes the form

$$u * v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v) \cot(\alpha, x) \alpha.$$
(4.27)

Define  $M_{\mathcal{B}} = W_{\mathcal{B}} \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} \Pi_{\alpha}$ , where  $\Pi_{\alpha} = \{x \in W : (\alpha, x) = 0\}$ . Consider now a point  $x_0 \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$  and two tangent vectors  $u_0, v_0 \in T_{x_0}M_{\mathcal{B}}$ . We extend vectors  $u_0$  and  $v_0$  to two local analytic vector fields u(x), v(x) in the neighbourhood U of  $x_0$  that are tangent to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  at any point  $x \in M_{\mathcal{B}} \cap U$  such that  $u_0 = u(x_0)$  and  $v_0 = v(x_0)$ . Now we want to study the limit of u(x) \* v(x) when x tends to  $x_0$ . The limit may have singularities at  $x \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  as  $\cot(\alpha, x)$  with  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$  is not defined for such x. Also we note that outside  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ 

we have a well-defined multiplication u(x) \* v(x). Similarly to the rational case considered in [25] and trigonometric case with extra variable [1] the following lemma holds.

**Lemma 4.3.1.** The product u(x) \* v(x) has a limit when x tends to  $x_0 \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$  given by

$$u_0 * v_0 = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_\alpha(\alpha, u_0)(\alpha, v_0) \cot(\alpha, x_0) \alpha.$$
(4.28)

In particular  $u_0 * v_0$  is determined by  $u_0$  and  $v_0$  only.

Now we are going to show that the product  $u_0 * v_0$  belongs to  $T_{x_0}M_{\mathcal{B}}$ . We will need the following lemma (cf. [25], [1]).

**Lemma 4.3.2.** Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . Let  $x \in \Pi_{\alpha}$  be generic. Then the identity

$$\sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \\ \beta \neq \alpha}} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \beta) \cot(\beta, x) B_{\alpha, \beta}(a, b) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0$$
(4.29)

holds for all  $a, b \in V$  provided that  $(\alpha, x) = 0$ , where  $B_{\alpha,\beta}(a, b) = (\alpha, a)(\beta, b) - (\alpha, b)(\beta, a)$ and  $\alpha \wedge \beta = \alpha \otimes \beta - \beta \otimes \alpha$ .

*Proof.* For any  $\beta \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $\beta \nsim \alpha$  let  $\gamma = s_{\alpha}\beta$ , where  $s_{\alpha}$  is the orthogonal reflection about  $\Pi_{\alpha}$ . Note that  $\cot(\gamma, x) = \cot(\beta, x)$  at  $(\alpha, x) = 0$ . Also note that

$$(\alpha, \gamma) = -(\alpha, \beta), \quad B_{\alpha, \gamma}(a, b) = B_{\alpha, \beta}(a, b), \quad \alpha \wedge \gamma = \alpha \wedge \beta.$$

We have that either  $\gamma$  or  $-\gamma$  is an element of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Suppose firstly that  $\gamma \in \mathcal{A}$ . Then

$$c_{\beta}(\alpha,\beta)\cot(\beta,x)B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b)\alpha\wedge\beta+c_{\gamma}(\alpha,\gamma)\cot(\gamma,x)B_{\alpha,\gamma}(a,b)\alpha\wedge\gamma=0$$
(4.30)

at  $(\alpha, x) = 0$  since multiplicities are  $B_N$ -invariant. If one replaces  $\gamma$  with  $-\gamma$  then (4.30) holds as well.

**Proposition 4.3.3.** Let  $u, v \in T_x M_{\mathcal{B}}$  where  $x \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Then  $u * v \in T_x M_{\mathcal{B}}$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 4.3.1 it is enough to show that

$$\sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta}(\beta, u)(\beta, v)(\alpha, \beta) \cot(\beta, x) = 0$$
(4.31)

for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$ . Assume firstly that  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  has codimension 1. By Lemma 4.3.2 we get

$$\sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \\ \beta \neq \alpha}} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \beta) \cot(\beta, x) \Big( (\alpha, a)(\beta, b) - (\alpha, b)(\beta, a) \Big) \Big( (\alpha, y)(\beta, z) - (\alpha, z)(\beta, y) \Big) = 0 \quad (4.32)$$

for any  $a, b, y, z \in V$  and generic  $x \in \Pi_{\alpha}$ . Assume that  $a, y \notin \Pi_{\alpha}$  and let  $b = u \in \Pi_{\alpha}$  and  $z = v \in \Pi_{\alpha}$ . Then  $(\alpha, b) = (\alpha, z) = 0$  and relation (4.32) implies that

$$\sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \\ \beta \not\sim \alpha}} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \beta)(\beta, u)(\beta, v) \cot(\beta, x) = 0.$$

As  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  has codimension 1 the relation  $\beta \nsim \alpha$  is equivalent to  $\beta \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}$  and lemma follows.

Let us now suppose that  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  has codimension 2. Let  $\alpha, \gamma \in \mathcal{B}$  be non-proportional to each other. By the above arguments for generic  $x \in \Pi_{\alpha}$  and  $u, v \in T_x \Pi_{\alpha}$ , we have  $u * v \in T_x \Pi_{\alpha}$ . Similarly, if  $x \in \Pi_{\gamma}$  is generic and  $u, v \in T_x \Pi_{\gamma}$ , then  $u * v \in T_x \Pi_{\gamma}$ . By Lemma 4.3.1, u \* v exists for  $x \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$  and  $u, v \in T_x M_{\mathcal{B}}$ . It follows that for any  $x \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$  we have  $u * v \in T_x M_{\mathcal{B}}$ , which proves the statement for the case when  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  has codimension 2. General  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  is dealt with similarly.

Consider now the orthogonal decomposition

$$W = W_{\mathcal{B}} \oplus W_{\mathcal{B}}^{\perp} \tag{4.33}$$

with respect to the standard inner product. Any  $\alpha \in W$  can be written as

$$\alpha = \widetilde{\alpha} + w, \tag{4.34}$$

where  $\widetilde{\alpha} \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  is the orthogonal projection of vector  $\alpha$  to  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  and  $w \in W_{\mathcal{B}}^{\perp}$ . For any  $x_0 \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$  and  $u, v \in T_{x_0}M_{\mathcal{B}}$  one can represent product u \* v as

$$u * v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha}(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v) \cot(\alpha, x_0) \widetilde{\alpha}$$
(4.35)

by Proposition 4.3.3. Hence, we have

$$\partial_u * \partial_v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_\alpha(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v) \cot(\alpha, x) \partial_{\widetilde{\alpha}}.$$
(4.36)

Let us define vectors  $f_i, 1 \leq i \leq n$ , by

$$f_i = \sum_{j=1}^{m_i} e_{\sum_{s=1}^{i-1} m_s + j}.$$
(4.37)

These vectors form a basis for  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ .

The following lemma gives the general formula for the orthogonal projection of any vector  $u \in W$  to  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ .

**Lemma 4.3.4.** Let  $u = \sum_{i=1}^{N} u_i e_i \in W$ . Then the projection  $\widetilde{u}$  has the form

$$\widetilde{u} = \left(\underbrace{\frac{1}{m_1} \sum_{i=1}^{m_1} u_i, \dots, \frac{1}{m_1} \sum_{i=1}^{m_1} u_i, \dots, \underbrace{\frac{1}{m_n} \sum_{i=1}^{m_n} u_{\sum_{s=1}^{n-1} m_s + i}, \dots, \frac{1}{m_n} \sum_{i=1}^{m_n} u_{\sum_{s=1}^{n-1} m_s + i}}_{m_n}\right). \quad (4.38)$$

Let us now project  $\mathcal{A}$  to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Notice that by Lemma 4.3.4 we have

$$\widetilde{e}_{\sum_{s=1}^{i-1} m_s + 1} = \dots = \widetilde{e}_{\sum_{s=1}^{i} m_s} = m_i^{-1} f_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

Let us denote the projected system as  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} = BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m}) \subset W_{\mathcal{B}} \cong \mathbb{C}^n$ . It consists of vectors  $\alpha$  with the corresponding multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$  given as follows:

$$\begin{split} \widehat{f_i} &= m_i^{-1} f_i, \quad \text{with multiplicity} \quad rm_i, \quad 1 \le i \le n, \\ 2\widehat{f_i} &= 2m_i^{-1} f_i, \quad \text{with multiplicity} \quad sm_i + \frac{1}{2}qm_i(m_i - 1), \quad 1 \le i \le n, \\ \widehat{f_i} \pm \widehat{f_j} &= m_i^{-1} f_i \pm m_j^{-1} f_j, \quad \text{with multiplicity} \quad qm_i m_j, \quad 1 \le i < j \le n. \end{split}$$

By Lemma 4.3.4, for any  $\alpha \in W$ , its orthogonal projection has the form

$$\widetilde{\alpha} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \widetilde{\alpha}_k f_k,$$

where the basis  $f_k$  is given by (4.37) and

$$\widetilde{\alpha}_k = \frac{(\widetilde{\alpha}, f_k)}{(f_k, f_k)} = \frac{(\alpha, f_k)}{m_k}.$$
(4.39)

Let us define

$$\widetilde{F}(\widetilde{x}) = \sum_{\gamma \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\gamma} f((\gamma, \widetilde{x})), \qquad (4.40)$$

where

$$\widetilde{x} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \widetilde{x}_i f_i \in W_{\mathcal{B}}.$$
(4.41)

Note that function (4.40) can also be represented as

$$\widetilde{F}(\widetilde{x}) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, \widetilde{x})).$$

Let  $\widetilde{F}_i$  be the  $n \times n$  matrix constructed from the third-order partial derivatives of the

function  $\widetilde{F}$ , that is

$$(\widetilde{F}_i)_{jk} = \widetilde{F}_{ijk} = \frac{\partial^3 \widetilde{F}}{\partial \widetilde{x}_i \partial \widetilde{x}_j \partial \widetilde{x}_k},$$

 $i, j, k = 1, \ldots, n.$ 

The following lemma gives another way to represent multiplication (4.36) on  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Lemma 4.3.5. The multiplication (4.36) takes the form

$$\partial_{f_i} * \partial_{f_j} = \sum_{k=1}^n m_k^{-1} \widetilde{F}_{ijk} \partial_{f_k}, \quad i, j = 1, ..., n.$$

*Proof.* We rearrange  $\partial_{\tilde{\alpha}}$  in the right-hand side of (4.36) as

$$\partial_{\widetilde{\alpha}} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \widetilde{\alpha}_k \partial_{f_k} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} m_k^{-1}(\alpha, f_k) \partial_{f_k}$$

by (4.39). Therefore the multiplication (4.36) can be rewritten as

$$\partial_{f_i} * \partial_{f_j} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} \sum_{k=1}^n c_\alpha m_k^{-1}(\alpha, f_i)(\alpha, f_j)(\alpha, f_k) \cot(\alpha, \widetilde{x}) \partial_{f_k}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^n m_k^{-1} \widetilde{F}_{ijk} \partial_{f_k}, \quad i, j = 1, ..., n,$$

as required.

Let  $H_{\mathcal{B}}$  be the matrix of the restriction of the standard inner product on  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  in the basis  $f_1, \ldots, f_n$ . That is

$$(H_{\mathcal{B}})_{lt} = (f_l, f_t) = m_l \delta_{lt}, \quad l, t = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (4.42)

**Lemma 4.3.6.** The matrix  $H_{\mathcal{B}}$  can be written as a linear combination

$$H_{\mathcal{B}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i \widetilde{F}_i,$$

where functions  $a_i$  are given by  $a_i = h(\widetilde{x})^{-1} \sin 2\widetilde{x}_i$ , and  $h(\widetilde{x}) = 2q \sum_{k=1}^n m_k \cos 2\widetilde{x}_k + r$ .

*Proof.* By Proposition 4.2.3 and (4.42), we have  $H_{\mathcal{B}} = h(\widetilde{x})^{-1}B(\widetilde{x})$ , where  $B(\widetilde{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\sin 2\widetilde{x}_i)\widetilde{F}_i$ . This implies the statement.

The previous considerations allow us to prove the following theorem, which is a version of stated earlier Theorem 4.2.5 where multiplicities  $m_i$  do not have to be integer.

**Theorem 4.3.7.** Suppose parameters r, s, q and  $\underline{m}$  satisfy the relation

$$r = -8s - 2q(N-2), (4.43)$$

where  $N = \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i$ . Then the prepotential

$$\widetilde{F} = \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, \widetilde{x})), \quad \widetilde{x} \in W_{\mathcal{B}},$$
(4.44)

satisfies the WDVV equations

$$\widetilde{F}_i B^{-1} \widetilde{F}_j = \widetilde{F}_j B^{-1} \widetilde{F}_i, \quad i, j = 1, ..., n,$$
(4.45)

where  $B = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sin 2\widetilde{x}_i \widetilde{F}_i$ .

The corresponding associative multiplication has the form

$$u * v = \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha}(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v) \cot(\alpha, \widetilde{x}) \alpha$$

for any  $u, v \in T_{\widetilde{x}}M_{\mathcal{B}}, \widetilde{x} \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$ .

*Proof.* Let us assume firstly that  $m_i \in \mathbb{N}$  for any *i*. Consider the multiplication

$$u * v = \sum_{\alpha \in BC_N(r,s,q)} c_\alpha(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v) \cot(\alpha, x)\alpha$$
(4.46)

on the tangent space  $T_xW$  for  $x \in W$ . By Theorem 4.2.4 the multiplication (4.46) is associative. Now as x tends to  $\tilde{x} \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$ , by Lemmas 4.3.1, 4.3.5 and Proposition 4.3.3 this product restricts to an associative product on the tangent space  $T_{\tilde{x}}M_{\mathcal{B}}$  which has the form

$$\partial_{f_i} * \partial_{f_j} = \sum_{l=1}^n m_l^{-1} \widetilde{F}_{ijl} \partial_{f_l}, \quad 1 \le i, j \le n.$$
(4.47)

The associativity condition

$$(\partial_{f_i} * \partial_{f_j}) * \partial_{f_k} = \partial_{f_i} * (\partial_{f_j} * \partial_{f_k}),$$

for any i, j, k = 1, ..., n, can be rearranged as

$$\sum_{l=1}^{n} m_l^{-1} \widetilde{F}_{ijl} \partial_{f_l} * \partial_{f_k} = \sum_{l=1}^{n} m_l^{-1} \widetilde{F}_{jkl} \partial_{f_l} * \partial_{f_l}.$$

Hence, we have

$$\sum_{l=1}^{n} m_l^{-1} \widetilde{F}_{ijl} \widetilde{F}_{lkp} = \sum_{l=1}^{n} m_l^{-1} \widetilde{F}_{jkl} \widetilde{F}_{ilp}, \qquad (4.48)$$

for any i, j, k, p = 1, ..., n. In the matrix form we have

$$\widetilde{F}_i H_{\mathcal{B}}^{-1} \widetilde{F}_k = \widetilde{F}_k H_{\mathcal{B}}^{-1} \widetilde{F}_i$$

By Lemma 4.3.6 we obtain relation (4.45) where  $B = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sinh 2\tilde{x}_i \tilde{F}_i$  as required. This proves the theorem for the case when  $m_i \in \mathbb{N}$ . Since  $m_i$  can take arbitrary integer values the statement follows for general  $m_i$  as well.

# 4.4 Application to supersymmetric mechanical systems

One of the topics where (generalised) WDVV equations emerge include  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanics. These corresponding differential equations are similar to what we have discussed in Chapter 2 but they rather have the form of commutativity

$$F_i F_j = F_j F_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N,$$
(4.49)

where  $F_i$  is the matrix of the third order derivative of a prepotential F given by

$$F_{ijk} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial x_i \partial x_j \partial x_k}, \quad i, j, k = 1, \dots, N.$$

Wyllard in [56] (see also [9]) constructed a set of generators of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanics, where his ansatz for the four supercharges involves two scalar prepotentials Fand W which depend on position of particles only. The case when the second prepotentional W = 0 was also considered in [56] (see also [30, 31]), and we will be interested in this case only. The structure of such an algebra forces functions F and W to satisfy a system of partial differential equations. The setting of the structure leads to the result that the function F obeys the comutativity equations [9].

There are two approaches to deal with the arising system of partial differential equations [9]. The first way is to start with a particular known solution of the commutativity equations (4.49) for the prepotential F and then construct an  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  superconformal multi-particle model associated to it. Alternatively, one can start with a bosonic conformally invariant multi-particle mechanics and then seek a solution of equations (4.49) that will provide an  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  superconformal extension. We follow the first approach. Motivated by the family of multi-parameters solutions (4.7) we obtained in the previous section for  $BC_N$  type root system, we apply these solutions in order to construct  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanical systems. Note that trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations were used to construct  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric Hamiltonians in [3]. This gave, in particular, supersymmetric version of quantum Calogero–Moser–Sutherland system of type  $BC_N$  with two independent coupling parameters. We extend this Hamiltonian into multiparameter family. Note also that any rational  $\lor$ -system leads to  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanical systems (see [4] and references therein).

# 4.4.1 Notations and ansatz for supercharges (trigonometric settings)

Particles can be classified in two general classes: bosons and fermions. Bosons and fermions have very different physical behaviour. One of the main differences is that bosonic fields obey canonical commutation relations, that is, involve the commutators [a, b] = ab - ba, while fermionic fields obey canonical anti-commutation relations, that is, involve the anticommutators  $\{a, b\} = ab + ba$ . In order to implement an  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanical system, consider N (quantum) particles on a line with coordinates  $x_j$  and momenta  $p_j = -i\partial_{x_j}$ ,  $(j = 1, \ldots, N)$ , to each of which we assign four fermionic variables. Let us denote them by  $\{\psi^{aj}, \bar{\psi}^j_a | a = 1, 2, j = 1, \ldots, N\}$ . They obey the standard (anti)commutation rules  $(a, b = 1, 2, j, k = 1, \ldots, N)$ :

$$[x_j, p_k] = i\delta_{jk}, \quad \{\psi^{aj}, \bar{\psi}^k_b\} = -\frac{1}{2}\delta_{jk}\delta_{ab}, \quad \{\psi^{aj}, \psi^{bk}\} = \{\bar{\psi}^j_a, \bar{\psi}^k_b\} = 0.$$

Then there are four supercharges  $\{Q^a, \bar{Q}_b | a, b = 1, 2\}$  which generate the  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetry algebra. The  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetry algebra has the form

$$\{Q^a, Q^b\} = \{\bar{Q}_a, \bar{Q}_b\} = 0, \quad H_{SUSY} = -\frac{1}{2}(Q^a\bar{Q}_a + \bar{Q}_aQ^a), \tag{4.50}$$

where  $H_{SUSY}$  is the supersymmetric Hamiltonian.

Two different representations of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetry algebra were constructed in [3] (see also references therein for one of the representations). The corresponding supercharges depend on a prepotential of the form (4.3) (with Q = 0). This prepotential is assumed to satisfy equations of the form (4.4). In our application we follow the considerations of [3] of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetry algebra, so let us recall these settings.

Let  $\epsilon_{ab}$ ,  $\epsilon^{ab}$  be the fully anti-symmetric tensors in two dimensions such that  $\epsilon_{12} = \epsilon^{21} = 1$ . These tensors are used to lower and raise indices, for example  $Q^a = \epsilon^{ab}Q_b$ ,  $\bar{Q}^a = \epsilon^{ab}\bar{Q}_b$ .

Further fermionic variables are introduced by

$$\psi_a^j = \epsilon_{ab} \psi^{bj}, \quad \bar{\psi}^{aj} = \epsilon^{ab} \bar{\psi}_b^j. \tag{4.51}$$

They satisfy the following useful relations:

$$\{\psi_a^j, \bar{\psi}^{bk}\} = \frac{1}{2}\delta^{jk}\delta_a^b, \quad \{\psi^{aj}, \bar{\psi}^{bk}\} = \frac{1}{2}\delta^{jk}\epsilon^{ab}, \quad \{\psi_a^j, \bar{\psi}_b^k\} = \frac{1}{2}\delta^{jk}\epsilon_{ba}.$$
(4.52)

Throughout it is assumed that summation over repeated indices takes place (even when both indices are either low or upper indices) unless it is indicated that no summation is applied.

A function  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  of the form (4.3) with Q = 0 is considered, that is

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, x)), \qquad (4.53)$$

where  $\mathcal{A}$  is a finite set of vectors in  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^N$ ,  $c_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}$ , are some multiplicity parameters, the function f is given by (1.11).

The function F is assumed to satisfy the commutativity equations

$$F_{rjk}F_{kmn} = F_{rmk}F_{kjn},\tag{4.54}$$

where  $F_{rjk} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial x_r \partial x_j \partial x_k}$  for any  $r, j, k, m, n = 1, \dots, N$ .

For the first representation the supercharges are of the form

$$\begin{aligned} Q^{a} &= p_{r}\psi^{ar} + iF_{rjk}\langle\psi^{br}\psi^{j}_{b}\bar{\psi}^{ak}\rangle,\\ \bar{Q}_{c} &= p_{l}\bar{\psi}^{l}_{c} + iF_{lmn}\langle\bar{\psi}^{l}_{d}\bar{\psi}^{dm}\psi^{n}_{c}\rangle, \end{aligned}$$

a, c = 1, 2, where the symbol  $\langle \dots \rangle$  stands for the anti-symmetrisation. That is given N operators  $A_i$ ,  $(i = 1, \dots, N)$  we define

$$\langle A_1 \dots A_N \rangle = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) A_{\sigma(1)} \dots A_{\sigma(N)}.$$
 (4.55)

The following statement takes place.

**Theorem 4.4.1.** [3] Let us assume that F satisfies conditions (4.54). Then for all a, b = 1, 2 we have

$$\{Q^a, Q^b\} = \{\bar{Q}_a, \bar{Q}_b\} = 0 \quad and \quad \{Q^a, \bar{Q}_b\} = -2H\delta^a_b,$$

where the Hamiltonian H is given by

$$H = \frac{p^2}{4} - \frac{\partial_i F_{jlk}}{2} (\psi^{bi} \psi^j_b \bar{\psi}^l_d \bar{\psi}^{dk} - \psi^i_b \bar{\psi}^{bj} \delta^{lk} + \frac{1}{4} \delta^{ij} \delta^{lk}) + \frac{1}{16} F_{ijk} F_{lmn} \delta^{nm} \delta^{jl} \delta^{ik}$$

Furthermore, the rescaled Hamiltonian  $H_1 = 4H$  has the form

$$H_1 = -\Delta + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{c_\alpha(\alpha, \alpha)^2}{\sin^2(\alpha, x)} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha c_\beta(\alpha, \alpha)(\beta, \beta)(\alpha, \beta) \cot(\alpha, x) \cot(\beta, x) + \Phi, \quad (4.56)$$

where  $\Delta = -p^2$  is the Laplacian in V and the fermionic term

$$\Phi = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \frac{2c_{\alpha}\alpha_{i}\alpha_{j}}{\sin^{2}(\alpha, x)} \left( \alpha_{l}\alpha_{k}\psi^{bi}\psi^{j}_{b}\bar{\psi}^{l}_{d}\bar{\psi}^{dk} - (\alpha, \alpha)\psi^{i}_{b}\bar{\psi}^{bj} \right).$$
(4.57)

For the second representation the supercharges are of the form

$$Q^{a} = p_{r}\psi^{ar} + iF_{rjk}\psi^{br}\psi^{j}_{b}\bar{\psi}^{ak},$$
  
$$\bar{Q}_{c} = p_{l}\bar{\psi}^{l}_{c} + iF_{lmn}\bar{\psi}^{l}_{d}\bar{\psi}^{dm}\psi^{n}_{c},$$

a, c = 1, 2. Then the following statement on supersymmetry algebra takes place [3].

**Theorem 4.4.2.** [3]. Let us assume that F satisfies conditions (4.54). Then for all a, b = 1, 2 we have

$$\{Q^a, Q^b\} = \{\bar{Q}_a, \bar{Q}_b\} = 0 \quad and \quad \{Q^a, \bar{Q}_b\} = -2H\delta^a_b,$$

where the Hamiltonian H is given by

$$H = \frac{p^2}{4} - \frac{\partial_r F_{jlk}}{2} (\psi^{br} \psi_b^j \bar{\psi}_d^l \bar{\psi}^{dk} - \psi_b^r \bar{\psi}^{bj} \delta^{lk}) + \frac{i}{4} \delta^{nm} F_{rmn} p_r.$$
(4.58)

Furthermore, the rescaled Hamiltonian  $H_2 = 4H$ , has the form

$$H_2 = -\Delta + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha(\alpha, \alpha) \cot(\alpha, x) \partial_\alpha + \Phi, \qquad (4.59)$$

where  $\Phi$  is the fermionic term defined by (4.57).

The following result holds.

**Proposition 4.4.3.** [3]. Hamiltonians  $H_1$ ,  $H_2$  from Theorems 4.4.1, 4.4.2 respectively satisfy gauge relation

$$\delta^{-1} \circ H_2 \circ \delta = H_1,$$

where  $\delta = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \sin^{c_{\alpha}(\alpha, \alpha)/2}(\alpha, x).$ 

The following theorem deals with  $BC_N$  root system and has been proven in [3].

**Theorem 4.4.4.** [3] Let  $\mathcal{R} = BC_N$ . Under the assumptions of Theorem 4.1.3 where the positive half of the root system  $BC_N$  is defined by

$$\eta e_i, \, 2\eta e_i, \, 1 \le i \le N; \quad \eta(e_i \pm e_j), \, 1 \le i < j \le N,$$

where  $\eta \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$  is a parameter, the corresponding supersymmetric Hamiltonians given by (4.56), (4.59), take the form

$$H_{1} = -\Delta + \eta^{4} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( \frac{(8s + 2(N - 2)q)(2(N - 2)q\eta^{2} - 1)}{\sin^{2}\eta x_{i}} + \frac{16s(4s\eta^{2} + 1)}{\sin^{2}2\eta x_{i}} \right)$$
(4.60)  
+  $\eta^{4} \sum_{i < j}^{N} \frac{4q(2q\eta^{2} + 1)}{\sin^{2}(\eta(x_{i} \pm x_{j}))} + \widetilde{\Phi},$ 

and

$$H_{2} = -\Delta + 2\eta^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( 8s \cot 2\eta x_{i} - (8s + 2(N - 2)q) \cot \eta x_{i} \right) \partial_{i}$$
(4.61)  
+  $4q\eta^{3} \sum_{i < j}^{N} \cot(\eta (x_{i} \pm x_{j})) (\partial_{i} \pm \partial_{j}) + \Phi,$ 

with  $\Phi$  given by

$$\Phi = 4\eta^{4} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( \frac{-(8s+2(N-2)q)}{\sin^{2}\eta x_{i}} + \frac{16s}{\sin^{2}2\eta x_{i}} \right) \left( \psi^{bi} \psi_{b}^{i} \bar{\psi}_{d}^{i} \bar{\psi}^{di} - \psi_{b}^{i} \bar{\psi}^{bi} \right) + 4\eta^{4} \sum_{\epsilon \in \{1,-1\}} \sum_{m < t}^{N} \sum_{i,j,l,k} \frac{q d_{mti} d_{mtj}}{\sin^{2}(\eta(x_{m}+\epsilon x_{t}))} \left( d_{mtl} d_{mtk} \psi^{bi} \psi_{b}^{j} \bar{\psi}_{d}^{l} \bar{\psi}^{dk} - 2\psi_{b}^{i} \bar{\psi}^{bj} \right),$$

where  $d_{mtk} = d_{mtk}(\epsilon) = \delta_{mk} + \epsilon \delta_{tk}$ , and  $\tilde{\Phi} = \Phi + const$ .

**Remark 4.4.5.** The supersymmetric Hamiltonians corresponding to root systems of type  $F_4$  and  $G_2$  are given in details in [3] (see also [4]).

#### 4.4.2 Multi-parametr generalization

In this section we generalize Theorem 4.4.4 by introducing extra parameters in the Hamiltonians following [2].

Let us define coordinates  $\hat{x} = (\hat{x}_1, \dots, \hat{x}_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$  by  $\hat{x}_i = m_i^{1/2} x_i$   $(1 \le i \le n)$ . Let  $\Lambda$  be the  $n \times n$  diagonal matrix  $\Lambda = (m_i^{1/2} \delta_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$ . Let F be given by formula (4.7) with relation (4.17) on parameters r, q, s. By Proposition 4.2.3 the matrix B can be represented as  $B = h(x)\Lambda^2$ . Let us define a function  $\hat{F}(\hat{x})$  such that  $\hat{F}(\hat{x}) = F(x(\hat{x}))$ . Consider the

 $n \times n$  matrices  $\widehat{F}_k$  with entries

$$(\widehat{F}_k)_{lt} = \widehat{F}_{klt} = \frac{\partial^3 \widehat{F}}{\partial \widehat{x}_k \partial \widehat{x}_l \partial \widehat{x}_t},$$
(4.62)

k, l, t = 1, ..., n. Note that  $\widehat{F}_k = m_k^{-1/2} \Lambda^{-1} F_k \Lambda^{-1}$ , where  $F_k$  is the matrix with entries  $(F_k)_{lt} = F_{klt}$ . Let  $\widehat{B}$  be the  $n \times n$  matrix with entries  $\widehat{B}_{ij} = h\delta_{ij}$ , where  $h = h(x(\widehat{x}))$  is given in Proposition 4.2.3.

**Proposition 4.4.6.** The metric  $\widehat{B}$  can be represented as

$$\widehat{B} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} m_k^{1/2} \sin(2m_k^{-1/2}\widehat{x}_k)\widehat{F}_k,$$

and the function  $\widehat{F}$  satisfies generalised WDVV equations of the form

$$\widehat{F}_i \widehat{F}_j = \widehat{F}_j \widehat{F}_i, \tag{4.63}$$

for all i, j = 1, ..., n.

*Proof.* The first part of the statement is immediate by Proposition 4.2.3. Consider the left-hand side of (4.63). We have

$$\widehat{F}_i \widehat{F}_j = (m_i m_j)^{-1/2} \Lambda^{-1} F_i \Lambda^{-2} F_j \Lambda^{-1} = h(m_i m_j)^{-1/2} \Lambda^{-1} F_i B^{-1} F_j \Lambda^{-1}.$$
(4.64)

It follows by Theorem 4.2.5 that the rightmost expression in (4.64) is unchanged if one swaps i and j, hence the statement follows.

It follows by Proposition 4.4.6 that the function  $\widehat{F}$  satisfies such type of equations, hence we obtain in this way two supersymmetric Hamiltonians  $H_i$ , i = 1, 2 for a family of  $BC_n$  type configurations. We give these Hamiltonians in detail. Let us consider the following configuration  $\widehat{\mathcal{A}} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$  of vectors  $\alpha$  with multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$ :

$$\begin{split} m_i^{-1/2} e_i, & \text{with multiplicity} \quad rm_i, \quad 1 \leq i \leq n, \\ 2m_i^{-1/2} e_i, & \text{with multiplicity} \quad sm_i + \frac{1}{2}qm_i(m_i - 1), \quad 1 \leq i \leq n, \\ m_i^{-1/2} e_i \pm m_j^{-1/2} e_j, & \text{with multiplicity} \quad qm_im_j, \quad 1 \leq i < j \leq n, \end{split}$$

where  $m_1, \ldots, m_n \in \mathbb{C}^*$ . Consider *n* (quantum) particles on a line with coordinates  $\hat{x}_j$  and momenta  $p_j = -i\partial_{\hat{x}_j}$ ,  $(j = 1, \ldots, n)$ , to each of which we associate four fermionic variables  $\psi^{aj}, \bar{\psi}^j_a, a = 1, 2$ . These variables may be thought of as operators acting on wavefunctions which depend on bosonic and fermionic variables. Let  $\epsilon_{ab}$  be the fully anti-symmetric tensors in two dimensions such that  $\epsilon_{12} = -\epsilon_{21} = 1$ . Fermionic variables are assumed to satisfy the following (anti)-commutation relations (a, b = 1, 2; j, k = 1, ..., n):

$$\{\psi^{aj}, \bar{\psi}^k_b\} = -\frac{1}{2}\delta_{jk}\delta_{ab}, \quad \{\psi^{aj}, \psi^{bk}\} = \{\bar{\psi}^j_a, \bar{\psi}^k_b\} = 0.$$

We consider supercharges of the form

$$Q^{a} = -i\frac{\partial}{\partial \widehat{x}_{r}}\psi^{ar} + i\widehat{F}_{rjk}\left(\epsilon_{bc}\epsilon_{da}\psi^{br}\psi^{cj}\overline{\psi}_{d}^{k} - \frac{1}{2}\psi^{ar}\delta_{jk}\right),$$
$$\bar{Q}_{a} = -i\frac{\partial}{\partial \widehat{x}_{l}}\overline{\psi}_{a}^{l} + i\widehat{F}_{lmn}\left(\epsilon_{bd}\epsilon_{ac}\overline{\psi}_{d}^{l}\overline{\psi}_{b}^{m}\psi^{cn} - \frac{1}{2}\overline{\psi}_{a}^{l}\delta_{nm}\right),$$

where a = 1, 2,  $\widehat{F}_{ijk}$  is defined in (4.62), and we assume summation over repeated indices. Let  $\Delta = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \partial_{\widehat{x}_j}^2$  be the Laplacian in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . We have the following statement on the supersymmetry algebra which follows from [3] (see Theorems 4.4.1, 4.4.2 above).

**Theorem 4.4.7.** For all a, b = 1, 2 the supercharges  $Q^a$ ,  $\overline{Q}_b$  satisfy  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetry algebra relations

$$\{Q^a, Q^b\} = \{\bar{Q}_a, \bar{Q}_b\} = 0, \quad and \quad \{Q^a, \bar{Q}_b\} = -\frac{1}{2}H_1\delta_{ab},$$

where the Hamiltonian  $H_1$  is given by

$$H_{1} = -\Delta + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} \frac{c_{\alpha}(\alpha, \alpha)^{2}}{\sin^{2}(\alpha, \widehat{x})} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\alpha, \beta \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \alpha) (\beta, \beta) (\alpha, \beta) \cot(\alpha, \widehat{x}) \cot(\beta, \widehat{x}) + \Phi,$$
(4.65)

with the fermionic term

$$\Phi = \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} \frac{2c_{\alpha}\alpha_{i}\alpha_{j}}{\sin^{2}(\alpha,\widehat{x})} \Big( \alpha_{l}\alpha_{k}\epsilon_{bc}\epsilon_{ad}\psi^{bi}\psi^{cj}\bar{\psi}_{d}^{l}\bar{\psi}_{a}^{k} + (\alpha,\alpha)\psi^{ai}\bar{\psi}_{a}^{j} \Big).$$
(4.66)

The Hamiltonian  $H_1$  is formally self-adjoint. Similar considerations (see [3]) yield not self-adjoint Hamiltonian of the form

$$H_2 = -\Delta + \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_\alpha(\alpha, \alpha) \cot(\alpha, \widehat{x}) \partial_\alpha + \Phi$$
(4.67)

with the same fermionic term  $\Phi$ . In fact Hamiltonians  $H_1$ ,  $H_2$  satisfy gauge relation  $H_2 = gH_1g^{-1}$ , where  $g = \prod_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} \sin^{c_\alpha(\alpha,\alpha)/2}(\alpha, \widehat{x})$  (see Proposition 4.4.3 above). Supersymmetric Hamiltonians  $H_1, H_2$  given by formulas (4.65), (4.67) give multi-parameter generalization of the two-parameter supersymmetric Hamiltonians related to the root system  $BC_n$  considered in [3].

# 4.5 Commutativity equations and Euclidean trigonometric ∨-systems

In this section let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a finite set of vectors in an N-dimensional Euclidean space V with the bilinear inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ . Let  $c_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}, \alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  be some multiplicity parameters. Assume that  $\mathcal{A}$  belongs to a lattice of rank N. For each vector  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  we recall the set of its collinear vectors from  $\mathcal{A}$ :

$$\delta_{\alpha} \coloneqq \{ \gamma \in \mathcal{A} \colon \gamma \sim \alpha \}$$

Let  $\delta \subseteq \delta_{\alpha}$  and  $\alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . Then for any  $\gamma \in \delta$  we have  $\gamma = k_{\gamma}\alpha_0$  for some  $k_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{R}$ . Note that  $k_{\gamma}$  depends on the choice of  $\alpha_0$  and different choices of  $\alpha_0$  give rescaled collections of these parameters. Define  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0} \coloneqq \sum_{\gamma \in \delta} c_{\gamma}k_{\gamma}^2$ . Note that  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0}$  is non-zero if and only if  $C_{\delta}^{\tilde{\alpha}_0} \neq 0$  for any  $\tilde{\alpha} \in \delta$ . Let us also needly the definition of series of vectors.

any  $\widetilde{\alpha}_0 \in \delta$ . Let us also recall the definition of series of vectors.

For any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  let us distribute all the vectors in  $\mathcal{A} \setminus \delta_{\alpha}$  into a disjoint union of  $\alpha$ -series

$$\mathcal{A} \setminus \delta_{\alpha} = \bigsqcup_{s=1}^{k} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$$

where  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  depends on  $\alpha$ . These series  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$  are determined by the property that for any  $s = 1, \ldots, k$  and for any two covectors  $\gamma_{1}, \gamma_{2} \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$  one has either  $\gamma_{1} + \gamma_{2} = m\alpha$  or  $\gamma_{1} - \gamma_{2} = m\alpha$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . We assume that the series are maximal, that is if  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$ for some  $s \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$  must contain all the covectors of the form  $\pm \gamma + m\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  with  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Let us now define Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system in analogy with trigonometric  $\lor$ -system with the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  replaced by the inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ .

**Definition 4.5.1.** The pair  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  is called a *Euclidean trigonometric*  $\lor$ -system if for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  and for any  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma^s_{\alpha}$ , one has the relation

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \beta) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0.$$
(4.68)

Now we give two examples which illustrate this notion. The corresponding canonical form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  is identically zero in both cases.

**Proposition 4.5.2.** Let  $\mathcal{A} = \{e_1, \frac{2}{3}e_2, \frac{1}{2}e_1 \pm \frac{1}{6}e_2, \frac{1}{2}(e_1 \pm e_2)\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$  with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{-2, -\frac{3}{2}, 3, 1\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system with the bilinear form defined by  $(x, y) = x_1y_1 - 3x_2y_2$ , where  $x = (x_1, x_2), y = (y_1, y_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ .

*Proof.* To simplify notations let us introduce the following vectors:

$$\alpha_1 = e_1, \ \alpha_2 = \frac{2}{3}e_2, \ \alpha_3 = \frac{1}{2}e_1 + \frac{1}{6}e_2, \ \alpha_4 = \frac{1}{2}e_1 - \frac{1}{6}e_2, \ \alpha_5 = \frac{1}{2}(e_1 + e_2), \ \alpha_6 = \frac{1}{2}(e_1 - e_2)$$

Then we have the following  $\alpha$ -series:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{\alpha_1}^1 &= \{\alpha_2\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_1}^2 &= \{\alpha_3, \alpha_4\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_1}^3 &= \{\alpha_5, \alpha_6\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_2}^1 &= \{\alpha_1\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_2}^2 &= \{\alpha_3, \alpha_6\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_2}^3 &= \{\alpha_4, \alpha_5\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_3}^1 &= \{\alpha_1, \alpha_4\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_3}^2 &= \{\alpha_2, \alpha_6\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_3}^3 &= \{\alpha_5\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_4}^1 &= \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_4}^2 &= \{\alpha_2, \alpha_5\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_4}^3 &= \{\alpha_6\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_5}^1 &= \{\alpha_1, \alpha_6\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_5}^2 &= \{\alpha_2, \alpha_4\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_5}^3 &= \{\alpha_4\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_6}^1 &= \{\alpha_1, \alpha_5\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_6}^2 &= \{\alpha_2, \alpha_3\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_6}^3 &= \{\alpha_4\}. \end{split}$$

We also have the following inner products:

$$(\alpha_1, \alpha_2) = 0, \quad (\alpha_1, \alpha_3) = \frac{1}{2}, \quad (\alpha_1, \alpha_4) = \frac{1}{2}, \quad (\alpha_1, \alpha_5) = \frac{1}{2}, \quad (\alpha_1, \alpha_6) = \frac{1}{2}, \\ (\alpha_2, \alpha_3) = -\frac{1}{3}, \quad (\alpha_2, \alpha_4) = \frac{1}{3}, \quad (\alpha_2, \alpha_5) = -1, \quad (\alpha_2, \alpha_6) = 1, \quad (\alpha_3, \alpha_4) = \frac{1}{3}, \\ (\alpha_3, \alpha_5) = 0, \quad (\alpha_3, \alpha_6) = \frac{1}{2}, \quad (\alpha_4, \alpha_5) = \frac{1}{2}, \quad (\alpha_4, \alpha_6) = 0, \quad (\alpha_5, \alpha_6) = 1. \end{cases}$$

Then it is easy to check that condition (4.68) holds for all  $\alpha$ -series,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ .

**Remark 4.5.3.** Let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$  be the configuration of covectors on the plane given in Proposition 3.5.7. That is  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} = \{e^1, e^2, 2e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm 3e^2)\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$  with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{\frac{a(3a-2b)}{3a+4b}, 3a+2b, b, 3a, a\}$ . Then for  $x = (x_1, x_2), y = (y_1, y_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2$  we have the canonical form

$$G_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}}(x,y) = \frac{3(3a+2b)}{3a+4b} (ax_1y_1 + (3a+4b)x_2y_2).$$

By letting multiplicity  $b = -\frac{3}{2}a$  we get the following configuration  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_1 = \{e^1, 2e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm 3e^2)\}$  with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{-2a, -\frac{3}{2}a, 3a, a\}$ . For this configuration the canonical form  $G_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_1} \equiv 0$ . We regularise  $G_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_1}$  by defining a new non-degenerate bilinear form as follows

$$(x,y) = -\lim_{b \to -\frac{3a}{2}} \frac{G_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}}(x,y)}{3a+2b} = x_1y_1 - 3x_2y_2.$$
(4.69)

Note that configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  given in Proposition 4.5.2 contains vectors dual to the covectors in system  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_1$  with respect to the form (4.69).

**Proposition 4.5.4.** Let  $\mathcal{A} = \{2e_1, \frac{1}{2}e_2, e_1 \pm \frac{1}{2}e_2, e_1 \pm e_2\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$  with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{-\frac{1}{4}, 2, 1, -\frac{1}{2}\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system with the bilinear form defined by  $(x, y) = x_1y_1 + 2x_2y_2$ , where  $x = (x_1, x_2), y = (y_1, y_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ .
*Proof.* To simplify notations let us introduce the following vectors:

$$\alpha_1 = 2e_1, \ \alpha_2 = \frac{1}{2}e_2, \ \alpha_3 = e_1 + \frac{1}{2}e_2, \ \alpha_4 = e_1 - \frac{1}{2}e_2, \ \alpha_5 = e_1 + e_2, \ \alpha_6 = e_1 - e_2.$$

Then we have the following  $\alpha$ -series:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{\alpha_{1}}^{1} &= \{\alpha_{2}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{1}}^{2} &= \{\alpha_{3}, \alpha_{4}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{1}}^{3} &= \{\alpha_{5}, \alpha_{6}\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_{2}}^{1} &= \{\alpha_{1}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{2}}^{2} &= \{\alpha_{3}, \alpha_{4}, \alpha_{5}, \alpha_{6}\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_{3}}^{1} &= \{\alpha_{1}, \alpha_{4}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{3}}^{2} &= \{\alpha_{2}, \alpha_{5}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{3}}^{3} &= \{\alpha_{6}\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_{4}}^{1} &= \{\alpha_{1}, \alpha_{3}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{4}}^{2} &= \{\alpha_{2}, \alpha_{6}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{4}}^{3} &= \{\alpha_{5}\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_{5}}^{1} &= \{\alpha_{1}, \alpha_{6}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{5}}^{2} &= \{\alpha_{2}, \alpha_{3}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{5}}^{3} &= \{\alpha_{4}\}, \\ \Gamma_{\alpha_{6}}^{1} &= \{\alpha_{1}, \alpha_{5}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{6}}^{2} &= \{\alpha_{2}, \alpha_{4}\}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha_{6}}^{3} &= \{\alpha_{3}\}. \end{split}$$

We also have the following inner products:

$$(\alpha_1, \alpha_2) = 0, \quad (\alpha_1, \alpha_3) = 2, \quad (\alpha_1, \alpha_4) = 2, \quad (\alpha_1, \alpha_5) = 2, \quad (\alpha_1, \alpha_6) = 2, \\ (\alpha_2, \alpha_3) = \frac{1}{2}, \quad (\alpha_2, \alpha_4) = -\frac{1}{2}, \quad (\alpha_2, \alpha_5) = 1, \quad (\alpha_2, \alpha_6) = -1, \quad (\alpha_3, \alpha_4) = \frac{1}{2}, \\ (\alpha_3, \alpha_5) = 2, \quad (\alpha_3, \alpha_6) = 0, \quad (\alpha_4, \alpha_5) = 0, \quad (\alpha_4, \alpha_6) = 2, \quad (\alpha_5, \alpha_6) = -1. \end{cases}$$

Then it is easy to check that condition (4.68) holds for all  $\alpha$ -series,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ .

**Remark 4.5.5.** Let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$  be the configuration of covectors on the plane given in Proposition 3.5.9. That is  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} = \{e^1, 2e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 2e^2\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$  with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{2a, \frac{a}{2} - \frac{b}{4}, 2b, a, b, a - \frac{b}{2}\}$ . Then for  $x = (x_1, x_2), y = (y_1, y_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2$  we have the canonical form

$$G_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}}(x,y) = 6a(x_1y_1 + 2x_2y_2).$$

By letting multiplicity a = 0 we get the following configuration  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_1 = \{2e^1, e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 2e^2\}$  with the corresponding multiplicities  $\{-\frac{b}{4}, 2b, b, -\frac{b}{2}\}$ . For this configuration the canonical form  $G_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_1} \equiv 0$ . We regularise  $G_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_1}$  by defining a new non-degenerate bilinear form as follows

$$(x,y) = \lim_{a \to 0} \frac{G_{\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}}(x,y)}{6a} = x_1 y_1 + 2x_2 y_2.$$
(4.70)

Note that configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  given in Proposition 4.5.4 contains vectors dual to the covectors in system  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_1$  with respect to the form (4.70).

Let us consider the function F given by the formula (4.53). We are interested in configurations  $\mathcal{A}$  with a multiplicity function  $c(\alpha) = c_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , such that the commutativity equations (4.49) hold.

In what follows we investigate the relation between the commutativity equations (4.49)

for the function (4.53) and Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems.

**Lemma 4.5.6.** The commutativity equations (4.49) for the function (4.53) are equivalent to the identity

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}(\alpha,\beta)\cot(\alpha,x)\cot(\beta,x)B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b)\alpha\wedge\beta = 0, \qquad (4.71)$$

for all  $a, b \in V$ , where  $B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b) = \alpha \land \beta(a,b) = (\alpha,a)(\beta,b) - (\alpha,b)(\beta,a)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $F_a$  be the  $N \times N$  matrix of the third order derivatives of the function (4.53) with entries

$$(F_a)_{ij} = \frac{\partial^3 F}{\partial x_a \partial x_i \partial x_j}$$

Then from the formula (4.53) we have

$$(F_a)_{ij} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha(\alpha, a) \alpha_i \alpha_j \cot(\alpha, x).$$

Hence we have

$$F_a F_b = \sum_{\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha c_\beta(\alpha, a)(\beta, b)(\alpha, \beta) \cot(\alpha, x) \cot(\beta, x) \alpha \otimes \beta = 0.$$

Therefore the commutativity equations (4.49) which are equivalent to the condition  $[F_a, F_b] = 0$ can be written as

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}(\alpha,\beta)\cot(\alpha,x)\cot(\beta,x)B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b)\alpha\otimes\beta = 0.$$
(4.72)

By exchanging  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  one gets a similar identity to (4.72) and by subtracting the resulting identity from identity (4.72) we get the required identity.

The following result takes place.

**Lemma 4.5.7.** Assume that prepotential (4.53) satisfies the commutativity equations (4.49). Suppose that  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \delta \subseteq \delta_{\alpha}, \alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . Assume that the identity

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}(\alpha,\beta)\cot(\alpha,x)\cot(\beta,x)B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b)\alpha\wedge\beta = 0$$
(4.73)

holds for any  $a, b \in V$  and  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  provided that  $\tan(\alpha, x) = 0$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\vee$ -system.

*Proof.* Fix  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $\tan(\alpha, x) = 0$ . Let us consider terms in the left-hand side of identity (4.73), where  $\gamma = k_{\gamma}\alpha, k_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{R}$ , that is  $\gamma$  is proportional to  $\alpha$ . The sum of these

terms has to be regular at  $tan(\alpha, x) = 0$ . This implies that the product

$$\left(\sum_{\gamma\in\delta_{\alpha}}k_{\gamma}^{3}c_{\gamma}\cot(\gamma,x)\right)\left(\sum_{\beta\in\mathcal{A}\setminus\delta_{\alpha}}c_{\beta}(\alpha_{0},\beta)\cot(\beta,x)B_{\alpha_{0},\beta}(a,b)\alpha_{0}\wedge\beta\right)$$
(4.74)

is regular at  $\tan(\alpha, x) = 0$ . The first factor in the product (4.74) has the first order pole at  $\tan(\alpha, x) = 0$  by the assumption that  $C_{\delta_{\alpha}}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . This implies that

$$\sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \delta_{\alpha}} c_{\beta}(\alpha_0, \beta) \cot(\beta, x) B_{\alpha_0, \beta}(a, b) \alpha_0 \wedge \beta = 0.$$
(4.75)

Since all the vectors  $\beta \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \delta_{\alpha}$  can be found in one of the disjoint  $\alpha$ -series, then (4.75) is equivalent to the identity

$$\sum_{s} \sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta}(\alpha_{0}, \beta) \cot(\beta, x) B_{\alpha_{0}, \beta}(a, b) \alpha_{0} \wedge \beta = 0.$$
(4.76)

But the sum in (4.76) is a linear combination of functions  $\cot(\beta, x)|_{\tan(\alpha, x)=0}$  which can vanish only if it vanishes for each  $\alpha$ -series (see [23, 27]), hence we have

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta}(\alpha_{0}, \beta) \cot(\beta, x) B_{\alpha_{0}, \beta}(a, b) \alpha_{0} \wedge \beta = 0$$
(4.77)

for all  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$ .

Now we will show that identities (4.77) imply that  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\vee$ -system. Let us fix a particular element  $\beta_0 \in \Gamma_{\alpha_0}^s$ . Then for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\alpha_0}^s$  we have  $\gamma + \varepsilon \beta_0 = m \alpha_0$ , where  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\varepsilon = \pm 1$ . We have  $\cot(\gamma, x) = \varepsilon \cot(\beta_0, x)$  and  $B_{\alpha_0,\gamma}(a, b) = \varepsilon B_{\alpha_0,\beta_0}(a, b)$  provided that  $\tan(\alpha_0, x) = 0$ . Hence relation (4.77) implies the Euclidean trigonometric  $\vee$ -condition  $\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha_0}^s} c_\beta(\alpha_0, \beta) \alpha_0 \wedge \beta = 0$ .

Note that if  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system then this guaranties that the left-hand side of identity (4.71) is non-singular. Since all vectors from  $\mathcal{A}$  belong to an N-dimensional lattice then the left-hand side of identity (4.71) is a rational function in suitable exponential variables which has degree zero and therefore is a constant. In order to find this constant, by changing some of the vectors from  $\mathcal{A}$  to their opposite ones we can assume that all vectors from  $\mathcal{A}$  belong to a half space, hence form a positive system  $\mathcal{A}_+$ . Then in an appropriate limit in a cone  $\cot(\alpha, x) \to i$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_+$  identity (4.71) reduces to

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}_+} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}(\alpha,\beta)B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b)\alpha\wedge\beta = 0.$$

From these considerations together with Lemmas 4.5.6, 4.5.7 we have the following result.

**Theorem 4.5.8.** Suppose that a configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  satisfies the condition  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$  for

any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $\delta \subseteq \delta_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . Then the commutativity equations (4.49) for the prepotential (4.53) imply the following two conditions:

(1)  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system,

(2)  $\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}_+} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}(\alpha,\beta)B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b)\alpha \wedge \beta = 0$  for any  $a,b\in V$ .

Conversely, if a configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  satisfies conditions (1), (2) then commutativity equations (4.49) hold.

The following statement confirms that the class of Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems contains root systems with W-invariant multiplicity.

**Proposition 4.5.9.** Root system  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}$  with  $\mathcal{W}$ -invariant multiplicity function c is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

*Proof.* Fix  $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}$ . Take any  $\beta \in \mathcal{R}$ , and let  $\gamma = s_{\alpha}\beta = \beta - \frac{2(\alpha,\beta)}{(\alpha,\alpha)}\alpha$ . Since  $\frac{2(\alpha,\beta)}{(\alpha,\alpha)} \in \mathbb{Z}$  we get that  $\beta, \gamma \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$  for some s. We have

$$c_{\beta} = c_{\gamma}, \quad (\alpha, \beta) = -(\alpha, \gamma), \quad \alpha \wedge \beta = \alpha \wedge \gamma.$$

Hence the contribution of  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  to the sum in (4.68) gives

$$c_{\beta}(\alpha,\beta)\alpha \wedge \beta + c_{\gamma}(\alpha,\gamma)\alpha \wedge \gamma = 0,$$

which implies that  $\mathcal{R}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

As a corollary of Proposition 4.5.9 and Theorem 4.5.8 the following result takes place.

**Corollary 4.5.10.** [3] Let  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{R}^+$  be a positive half of the root system  $\mathcal{R}$ . Then the commutativity equations (4.49) are satisfied for the function (4.53) if and only if

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{R}^+} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}(\alpha,\beta)B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b)\alpha\wedge\beta = 0$$
(4.78)

holds for any  $a, b \in V$ .

The result [3, Theorem 6.5] states that if a root system with invariant multiplicity satisfies property (2) of Theorem 4.5.8 then commutativity relations (4.49) hold. It has been shown in [3] that relation (4.78) is satisfied for root systems  $\mathcal{R} = BC_N$ ,  $F_4$ ,  $G_2$  with special invariant multiplicities, see Theorems 4.1.3, 4.1.4, 4.1.5 above. Thus Theorem 4.5.8 may be viewed as a generalization of this statement for the class of Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems.

Solutions of commutativity equations can be applied to construct  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanical systems, see Theorems 4.4.1, 4.4.2 above. Hamiltonians corresponding to root systems  $\mathcal{R} = BC_N$ ,  $F_4$ ,  $G_2$  were given explicitly in [3] (see also [4]) for more details.

#### 4.6 Subsytems of a Euclidean trigonometric $\lor$ -system

In this section we study the process of taking of a subsystem of a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and we prove some results analogous to those of trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems in Chapter 3. The section ends up with the main theorem which shows the fact that under some non-degeneracy conditions subsystems of a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system  $\mathcal{A}$  is also a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. Let us first recall the definition of a subsystem.

**Definition 4.6.1.** Let  $\mathcal{A} \subset V$  be a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. A subset  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  is called a subsystem if

$$\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W,$$

for some linear subspace  $W \subset V$ . The subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$  is called *reducible* if  $\mathcal{B}$  is a disjoint union of two non-empty subsystems  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B}_1 \cup \mathcal{B}_2$ . The subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$  is called *irreducible* if it is not reducible. We will also equip subsystem  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  with the multiplicity function which is the restriction of the multiplicity function  $c: \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$  on  $\mathcal{B}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a finite set of vectors in  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^N$ , and let  $c_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}, \alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  be some multiplicity parameters. Assume that  $\mathcal{A}$  belongs to a lattice of rank N. Let  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W$  be a subsystem of  $\mathcal{A}$  where  $W \subset V$  be some *n*-dimensional linear space. Assume also that  $W = \langle \mathcal{B} \rangle$ . Assume now for this section that  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\vee$ -system, that is for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  and any  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma^s_{\alpha}$  the following condition holds.

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \beta) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0.$$
(4.79)

We say that the subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$  is *non-isotropic* if the inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)_W \coloneqq (\cdot, \cdot)|_W$ , is non-degenerate on W.

Define the linear operator  $M: W \to W$  given by

$$M = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta} \beta \otimes \beta, \tag{4.80}$$

that is,  $M(u) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta}(\beta, u)\beta$ , for any  $u \in W$ . In what follows we prove some lemmas which are useful to prove the main theorem of this section later.

**Lemma 4.6.2.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W$  be its subsystem. Then

- 1. Any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$  is an eigenvector of M, that is  $M\alpha = \lambda \alpha$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ .
- 2. The vector space W can be decomposed as

$$W = U_{\lambda_1} \oplus U_{\lambda_2} \oplus \dots \oplus U_{\lambda_k}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(4.81)

where  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $M \mid_{U_{\lambda_i}} = \lambda_i I$ , where I is the identity operator.

*Proof.* Firstly, let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . Consider a two-dimensional plane  $\pi \subset V$  containing  $\alpha$  and another vector from  $\mathcal{A}$  non-collinear to  $\alpha$ . Let us sum up the Euclidean trigonometric  $\vee$ -condition (4.79) over  $\alpha$ -series which belong to the plane  $\pi$ . Then

$$\sum_{\beta \in \pi \cap \mathcal{A}} c_{\beta}(\beta, \alpha) \beta = \lambda \alpha, \qquad (4.82)$$

holds for some  $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha, \pi)$ .

Secondly, let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$ . Consider a collection of two-dimensional planes  $\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_k$  such that  $\alpha \in \pi_i \subset W$  for any  $i = 1, \ldots, k$  and for any  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$  there exist  $i, (1 \leq i \leq k)$  such that  $\beta \in \pi_i$ . Define linear operator  $M_{\pi_i} \colon W \to W$ , by

$$M_{\pi_i} \coloneqq \sum_{\beta \in \pi_i \cap \mathcal{A}} c_\beta \beta \otimes \beta.$$

It follows from (4.82) that

$$M_{\pi_i}(\alpha) = \lambda_i \alpha, \tag{4.83}$$

for some  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}$ . Now sum the equation (4.83) over all two-dimensional planes  $\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_k$ , gives

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \lambda_{i} \alpha = \sum_{i=1}^{k} M_{\pi_{i}}(\alpha) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{\beta \in \pi_{i} \cap \mathcal{A}} c_{\beta}(\beta, \alpha) \beta$$
$$= \sum_{\beta \in W \cap \mathcal{A}} c_{\beta}(\beta, \alpha) \beta + (k-1)c_{\alpha}(\alpha, \alpha) \alpha$$
$$= M(\alpha) + (k-1)c_{\alpha}(\alpha, \alpha) \alpha.$$

Hence  $M(\alpha) = \lambda \alpha$ , where  $\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \lambda_i + (1-k)c_{\alpha}(\alpha, \alpha)$ . Thus  $\alpha$  is an eigenvector for M for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$  which proves the first statement.

Let us now prove the second statement. As  $\alpha$  is an eigenvector for the operator M for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$ , we have that M is diagonalizable since  $\langle \mathcal{B} \rangle = W$ , and we have an eigenspace decomposition

$$W = U_{\lambda_1} \oplus U_{\lambda_2} \oplus \cdots \oplus U_{\lambda_k}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}$$

where  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $M \mid_{U_{\lambda_i}} = \lambda_i I$ , where I is the identity operator. This proves the second statement.

The following two lemmas relate the series of vectors in  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$ .

**Lemma 4.6.3.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  be as stated in Lemma 4.6.2. Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$  be such that  $\alpha \in U_{\lambda_i}$ for some  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . Consider an  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$  in  $\mathcal{B}$  and let  $\beta \in \Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$ . Then either  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\lambda_i}$  or  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha} \subset \{\pm\beta\}$ . *Proof.* For  $\beta \in \Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$  we have the following tow possible cases.

Case (i)  $\beta \in U_{\lambda_i}$ . Then for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$  we have for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  that  $\gamma = m\alpha + \beta \in U_{\lambda_i}$ or  $\gamma = m\alpha - \beta \in U_{\lambda_i}$ . Hence  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\lambda_i}$ .

Case (ii)  $\beta \notin U_{\lambda_i}$ . Hence  $\beta \in U_{\lambda_j}$  for some  $j \neq i$ . Then for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}$  we have that  $\gamma \in U_{\lambda_i}$  or  $\gamma \in U_{\lambda_j}$  since decomposition (4.81) is the direct sum. Note that  $\gamma \notin U_{\lambda_i}$  as otherwise for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  we will have  $\beta = m\alpha - \gamma \in U_{\lambda_i}$ , or  $\beta = m\alpha + \gamma \in U_{\lambda_i}$ , which is a contradiction. Note also that  $\gamma \notin U_{\lambda_j}$  unless  $\gamma = \pm \beta$  as otherwise for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  we have  $m\alpha = \beta + \gamma \in U_{\lambda_j}$  or  $m\alpha = \beta - \gamma \in U_{\lambda_j}$  which is a contradiction. Hence  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}} \subset {\pm \beta}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 4.6.4.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  as stated in Lemma 4.6.2. Let  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{B}$ . Let  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{A}}, \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}$  be the  $\alpha$ -series in  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  respectively containing  $\beta$ . Then the set  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{A}}$  is equal to the set  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}$ .

Proof. Let  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{A}}$ . Then  $\gamma = m\alpha + \beta \in \mathcal{B}$ , (or  $\gamma = m\alpha - \beta \in \mathcal{B}$ ) for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Thus  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}$  by the maximality of  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}$ . Hence  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{A}} \subset \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}$ . The opposite conclusion is obvious. Therefore  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}} = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{A}}$ .

**Proposition 4.6.5.** In the assumptions and notations of Lemma 4.6.2 we have (u, v) = 0for any  $u \in U_{\lambda_i}$  and  $v \in U_{\lambda_j}$  such that  $i \neq j$ .

*Proof.* It is clear that (M(u), v) = (u, M(v)) for any  $u, v \in W$ . Now for any  $u \in U_{\lambda_i}$  and  $v \in W$  we have

$$(M(u), v) = \lambda_i(u, v).$$

On the other hand for any  $u \in W$  and  $v \in U_{\lambda_i}$  we have

$$(u, M(v)) = \lambda_j(u, v).$$

Hence for  $u \in U_{\lambda_i}$ ,  $v \in U_{\lambda_i}$ ,  $i \neq j$  we have

$$(\lambda_i - \lambda_j)(u, v) = 0.$$

Thus (u, v) = 0 since  $\lambda_i \neq \lambda_j$ .

Now we present the main theorem in this section.

**Theorem 4.6.6.** Any non-isotropic subsystem of a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system is also a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and let  $\mathcal{B}$  be a non-isotropic subsystem of  $\mathcal{A}$ . We will show that the Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -conditions hold in  $\mathcal{B}$ .

Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{B}$  be such that  $\alpha \in U_{\lambda_i}$ ,  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . Consider an  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$  in  $\mathcal{B}$ . Let  $\beta \in \Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha}$ . By Lemma 4.6.3 we have the following two cases.

Case (i)  $\beta \in U_{\lambda_i}$ . Then  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha} \subset U_{\lambda_i}$ . In this case we have

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \beta) \alpha \wedge \beta = \sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \beta) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0$$

since  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha} = \Gamma^{\mathcal{A}}_{\alpha}$  by Lemma 4.6.4 and that  $\mathcal{A}$  is Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

Case (ii)  $\beta \notin U_{\lambda_i}$ . Then  $\beta \in U_{\lambda_j}$  for some  $j \neq i$ . Hence  $(\alpha, \beta)_W = 0$  by Proposition 4.6.5 and moreover  $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}_{\alpha} \subset \{\pm\beta\}$  by Lemma 4.6.3. Hence Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -conditions hold for  $\mathcal{B}$  in this case as well.

## 4.7 Euclidean trigonometric ∨-systems and complex Euclidean ∨-systems

Now let us discuss the relation between Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems and complex Euclidean  $\lor$ -systems. Let us first recall some definitions and relations related to the complex Euclidean  $\lor$ -systems following [26]. Let V be a complex Euclidean space, which is a complex vector space with a non-degenerate bilinear form  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ . We will identify V with the dual space V<sup>\*</sup> using this form.

**Definition 4.7.1.** [26] Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a finite set of vectors in V. We say that the set  $\mathcal{A}$  is *well-distributed* if the canonical form

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}^{rat}(x,y) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} (\alpha, x)(\alpha, y), \quad x, y \in V,$$

is proportional to the form  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ .

**Definition 4.7.2.** [26] The set  $\mathcal{A} \subset V$  is called a *(rational) complex Euclidean*  $\lor$ -system if it is well-distributed in V and any of its two-dimensional subsystems is either reducible or well-distributed in the corresponding plane.

Note in this definition we allow the canonical form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}^{rat}$  to be degenerate. In analogy to Definition 4.7.1 let us introduce the trigonometric version.

For a subset  $\mathcal{A} \subset V$  with multiplicity function  $c: \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ , where  $c_{\alpha} \coloneqq c(\alpha)$ , consider the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  on V given by

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(x,y) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}(\alpha, x)(\alpha, y), \quad x, y \in V.$$
(4.84)

**Definition 4.7.3.** We say that the pair  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  is *well-distributed* in V if the bilinear form (4.84) is proportional to the form  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ .

As we identify the vector space V with its dual space  $V^*$  and  $\mathcal{A} \subset V$ , we will understand the trigonometric  $\lor$ -system  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  as a collection of vectors satisfying relations

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta} G_{\mathcal{A}}(\alpha, \beta) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0$$
(4.85)

for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  and all  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}$ , where  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  is given by formula (4.84).

Now let  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  be a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system, that is conditions (4.68) hold. Define the linear operator  $M: V \to V$  given by

$$M = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\beta} \beta \otimes \beta, \tag{4.86}$$

that is,  $M(u) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} c_{\beta}(\beta, u)\beta$ , for any  $v \in V$ . Assume also that the linear span  $\langle \mathcal{A} \rangle = V$ . The following statement takes place.

**Lemma 4.7.4.** Let  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  be a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. Then

- 1. Any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  is an eigenvector of M, that is  $M\alpha = \lambda \alpha$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ .
- 2. The vector space V can be decomposed as

$$V = V_{\lambda_1} \oplus V_{\lambda_2} \oplus \dots \oplus V_{\lambda_k}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}, \, \lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}, \tag{4.87}$$

where  $M \mid_{V_{\lambda_i}} = \lambda_i I$ , and I is the identity operator, and  $\lambda_i \neq \lambda_j$  for  $i \neq j$ .

*Proof.* Firstly, let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . Since  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system then for each  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma^s_{\alpha}$  condition (4.68) is equivalent to the relation

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta}(\beta, \alpha) \beta = \nu_{s} \alpha \tag{4.88}$$

for some  $\nu_s = \nu_s(\alpha, \pi)$ .

Now we have

$$M(\alpha) = \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \\ \beta \neq \alpha}} c_{\beta}(\beta, \alpha)\beta$$
  
=  $\sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \\ \beta \neq \alpha}} c_{\beta}(\beta, \alpha)\beta + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{A} \\ \gamma \sim \alpha}} c_{\gamma}(\gamma, \alpha)\gamma$   
=  $\sum_{s} \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}}} c_{\beta}(\beta, \alpha)\beta + \sum_{k: \ k\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{k\alpha}(k\alpha, \alpha)k\alpha$   
=  $\sum_{s} \nu_{s}\alpha + \sum_{k: \ k\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} k^{2}c_{k\alpha}(\alpha, \alpha)\alpha$   
=  $\lambda \alpha$ ,

where  $\lambda = \sum_{s} \nu_s + \sum_{k: k \alpha \in \mathcal{A}} k^2 c_{k\alpha}(\alpha, \alpha)$ . This proves the first statement.

Secondly, the space V is spanned by  $\mathcal{A}$ . As any vector  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  is an eigenvector for the operator M, the operator M is diagonalizable, and we have an eigenspace decomposition

$$V = V_{\lambda_1} \oplus V_{\lambda_2} \oplus \dots \oplus V_{\lambda_k}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}, \, \lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}$$

where  $M \mid_{V_{\lambda_i}} = \lambda_i I$ , and I is the identity operator. This proves the second statement.  $\Box$ 

Since  $\mathcal{A} \subset V = V_{\lambda_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus V_{\lambda_k}$ , then  $\mathcal{A}$  can be represented as

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_1 \sqcup \cdots \sqcup \mathcal{A}_k, \tag{4.89}$$

where  $\mathcal{A}_i \coloneqq \mathcal{A} \cap V_{\lambda_i} \subset V_{\lambda_i}$ , i = 1, ..., k, and  $\mathcal{A}_i \cap \mathcal{A}_j = \emptyset$  for  $i \neq j$ . The following two lemmas relate the series of vectors in  $\mathcal{A}$  and its components  $\mathcal{A}_i$ .

**Lemma 4.7.5.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  be such that  $\alpha \in V_{\lambda_i}$  for some  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . Consider an  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^s$  in  $\mathcal{A}_i$  and let  $\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^s$ . Then either  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^s \subset V_{\lambda_i}$  or  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^s \subset \{\pm\beta\}$ .

*Proof.* For  $\beta \in \Gamma^s_{\alpha}$  we have the two possible cases.

Case (i)  $\beta \in V_{\lambda_i}$ . Then for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma^s_{\alpha}$  we have that  $\gamma = m\alpha + \varepsilon\beta \in V_{\lambda_i}$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\varepsilon = \pm 1$ . Hence  $\Gamma^s_{\alpha} \subset V_{\lambda_i}$ .

Case (ii)  $\beta \notin V_{\lambda_i}$ . Hence  $\beta \in V_{\lambda_j}$  for some  $j \neq i$ . Then for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^s$  we have that  $\gamma \in V_{\lambda_i}$  or  $\gamma \in V_{\lambda_j}$  since decomposition (4.87) is the direct sum. Note that  $\gamma \notin V_{\lambda_i}$  as otherwise we will have  $\beta = m\alpha + \varepsilon\gamma \in V_{\lambda_i}$ , for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\varepsilon = \pm 1$ , which is a contradiction. Note also that  $\gamma \notin V_{\lambda_j}$  unless  $\gamma = \pm \beta$  as otherwise we have  $m\alpha = \beta + \varepsilon\gamma \in V_{\lambda_j}$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\varepsilon = \pm 1$ , which is a contradiction.  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\varepsilon = \pm 1$ , which is a contradiction.  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\varepsilon = \pm 1$ , which is a contradiction.  $\square$ 

**Lemma 4.7.6.** Let  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{A}_i$ . Let  ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\Gamma^s_{\alpha}$ ,  ${}^{\mathcal{A}_i}\Gamma^t_{\alpha}$  be the  $\alpha$ -series in  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_i$  respectively containing  $\beta$ . Then the set  ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\Gamma^s_{\alpha}$  is equal to the set  ${}^{\mathcal{A}_i}\Gamma^t_{\alpha}$ .

Proof. Let  $\gamma \in {}^{\mathcal{A}}\Gamma^{s}_{\alpha}$ . Then  $\gamma = m\alpha + \varepsilon\beta \in \mathcal{A}_{i}$ , for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\varepsilon = \pm 1$ . Thus  $\gamma \in {}^{\mathcal{A}_{i}}\Gamma^{t}_{\alpha}$  by the maximality of  ${}^{\mathcal{A}_{i}}\Gamma^{t}_{\alpha}$ . Hence  ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\Gamma^{s}_{\alpha} \subset {}^{\mathcal{A}_{i}}\Gamma^{t}_{\alpha}$ . The opposite inclusion is obvious. Therefore  ${}^{\mathcal{A}_{i}}\Gamma^{t}_{\alpha} = {}^{\mathcal{A}}\Gamma^{s}_{\alpha}$ .

We will denote  $V_{\lambda_i}$  by  $V_i$ . Thus we have  $M|_{V_i} = \lambda_i I$ .

**Proposition 4.7.7.** We have (u, v) = 0 for any  $u \in V_i$  and  $v \in V_j$  such that  $i \neq j$ .

*Proof.* It is clear that (M(u), v) = (u, M(v)) for any  $u, v \in V$ . Now for any  $u \in V_i$  and  $v \in V$  we have

$$(M(u), v) = \lambda_i(u, v).$$

On the other hand for any  $u \in V$  and  $v \in V_j$  we have

$$(u, M(v)) = \lambda_j(u, v).$$

Hence for  $u \in V_i, v \in V_j, i \neq j$  we have

$$(\lambda_i - \lambda_j)(u, v) = 0.$$

Thus (u, v) = 0 since  $\lambda_i \neq \lambda_j$ .

The following statement takes place.

**Lemma 4.7.8.** Restriction  $(\cdot, \cdot)_i$  of the bilinear form  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  onto the subspace  $V_i$  is nondegenerate.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $v \in V_i$  satisfies  $(v, u)_i = 0$  for all  $u \in V_i$ . By Proposition 4.7.7 we have (v, u) = 0 for all  $u \in V$ . Hence v = 0 since  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  is non-degenerate.

The following statements relate the Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems and the trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems.

**Theorem 4.7.9.** If  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system then subsystem  $\mathcal{A}_i = \mathcal{A} \cap V_i$ is well-distributed in the subspace  $V_i$  with the bilinear form  $(\cdot, \cdot)_i$  for all i. Furthermore, if the bilinear form

$$G_{\mathcal{A}_i}(u,v) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_i} c_\alpha(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v), \quad u, v \in V_i$$

is non-degenerate on  $V_i$  (equivalently,  $G_{\mathcal{A}_i}$  is non-zero), then  $\mathcal{A}_i$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

*Proof.* By Lemma 4.7.4 we have  $M|_{V_i} = \lambda_i I$ . Hence for any  $u, v \in V_i$  we have

$$G_{\mathcal{A}}(u,v) = (M(u),v) = \lambda_i(u,v). \tag{4.90}$$

Note also that by Proposition 4.7.7 and formula (4.90) we have for any  $u, v \in V_i$  that

$$G_{\mathcal{A}_i}(u,v) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_i} c_\alpha(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v) = G_{\mathcal{A}}(u, v) = \lambda_i(u, v).$$
(4.91)

Thus subsystem  $\mathcal{A}_i$  is well-distributed in the subspace  $V_i$  for all i.

Let us now assume that  $G_{\mathcal{A}_i}$  is non-degenerate on  $V_i$ , that is  $\lambda_i \neq 0$ . Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_i$ . Consider an  $\alpha$ -series  $\Gamma^s_{\alpha}$  in  $\mathcal{A}_i$ . Then by Lemmas 4.7.5, 4.7.6 and formulas (4.90), (4.91) we have

$$\sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta} G_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(\alpha, \beta) \alpha \wedge \beta = \lambda_{i} \sum_{\beta \in \Gamma_{\alpha}^{s}} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \beta) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0$$

since  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. This proves the statement.

The following statement takes place as a corollary of Theorem 4.7.9.

**Corollary 4.7.10.** If  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  is an irreducible Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  is non-degenerate then  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system.

*Proof.* Since  $\mathcal{A}$  is irreducible then we have  $V = V_1$  and  $M|_{V_1} = \lambda_1 I$ . Then by Theorem 4.7.9  $\mathcal{A} \cap V_1 = \mathcal{A}$  is a trigonometric  $\lor$ -system since the bilinear form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  is non-degenerate. This proves the statement.

Let  $\pi$  be a two-dimensional plane in V which contains two non-proportional vectors from  $\mathcal{A}$ .

**Proposition 4.7.11.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. Then the set of vectors  $\mathcal{A} \cap \pi$  is well-distributed in  $\pi$  or the system  $\mathcal{A} \cap \pi$  is reducible.

*Proof.* Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi$ . Define a linear operator  $M_{\pi} \colon \pi \to \pi$ , by

$$M_{\pi} \coloneqq \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi} c_{\beta} \beta \otimes \beta.$$

Let us sum up the Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -condition (4.68) over  $\alpha$ -series which belong to the plane  $\pi$ . Then

$$\sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi} c_{\beta}(\beta, \alpha) \beta = \lambda \alpha, \tag{4.92}$$

holds for some  $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha)$ . Suppose that  $\mathcal{A} \cap \pi$  is irreducible. Then  $\lambda$  does not depend on  $\alpha$  and  $M_{\pi} = \lambda I$ . Therefore

$$\sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \cap \pi} c_{\beta}(\beta, u)(\beta, v) = (M_{\pi}(u), v) = \lambda(u, v),$$

and the set  $\mathcal{A} \cap \pi$  is well-distributed. This proves the statement.

Let us also note that if the subsystem  $\mathcal{A} \cap \pi$  is reducible then it is contained in a pair of orthogonal lines, which is easy to see from the Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -conditions.

The following statement relates the Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system and the (rational) complex Euclidean  $\lor$ -system.

**Proposition 4.7.12.** Let  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  be an irreducible Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system. Then the set of vectors  $\sqrt{c_{\alpha}\alpha}$  is a (rational) complex Euclidean  $\lor$ -system.

*Proof.* Firstly, since  $\mathcal{A}$  is irreducible then by Lemma 4.7.4 we have  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_1 \subset V = V_1$  and  $M|_{V_1} = \lambda_1 I$ . Then by Theorem 4.7.9 we have that  $\mathcal{A}_1 = \mathcal{A}$  is well-distributed.

Secondly, by Proposition 4.7.11 we have that any two-dimensional subsystem  $\mathcal{A} \cap \pi$  is well-distributed or reducible. Since the form  $G_{\mathcal{A}}$  coincides with the canonical form for the system  $\{\sqrt{c_{\alpha}}\alpha\}$  in the rational case, the statement follows.

#### 4.8 Restricted solutions of commutativity equations

In this section we apply the restriction procedure to a given solution to the commutativity equations in analogy to what we have done in Chapter 3 with the solution of WDVV equations.

Let  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W$  be a subsystem of  $\mathcal{A}$  for some *n*-dimensional linear subspace  $W = \langle \mathcal{B} \rangle \subset V$ . Define

$$W_{\mathcal{B}} \coloneqq \{ x \in V \colon (\beta, x) = 0 \quad \forall \beta \in \mathcal{B} \}.$$

$$(4.93)$$

Let  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\mathcal{B}}$  be the restriction of  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  on  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ , and assume that it is non-degenerate. Let us denote by  $\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)$  the orthogonal projection of  $\alpha \in V$  to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  with respect to the inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ . Let  $\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha) : \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha) \neq 0, \alpha \in \mathcal{A}\}$ . Note that we include each vector once even if it can be obtained as different projections. We define the multiplicity  $c(\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)) \coloneqq \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{A}} c(\gamma)$  where  $\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\gamma) = \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)$ . Let

$$S = \{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n\} \subset \mathcal{B} \tag{4.94}$$

be a basis of W. Let  $f_1, \ldots, f_n$  be an orthonormal basis of the space  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ , and let  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n$ be the corresponding orthonormal coordinates in  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Define  $M_{\mathcal{A}} = V \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \prod_{\alpha}$ , and  $M_{\mathcal{B}} = W_{\mathcal{B}} \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} \prod_{\alpha}$ , where  $\prod_{\alpha} = \{x \in V : (\alpha, x) = 0\}$ . The following statement shows that the class of solutions of commutativity equations corresponding to Euclidean  $\vee$ -systems is closed under the restrictions.

**Theorem 4.8.1.** Assume that prepotential (4.53) satisfies commutativity equations (4.49). Let  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  be a subsystem, and let S be as defined in (4.94). Suppose that  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0} \neq 0$  for any  $\alpha \in S$ ,  $\alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . Then the prepotential

$$F_{\mathcal{B}} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha} f((\widetilde{\alpha}, \xi)), \quad \xi \in M_{\mathcal{B}},$$
(4.95)

where  $\widetilde{\alpha} = \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)$ , satisfies the commutativity equations

$$(F_{\mathcal{B}})_i (F_{\mathcal{B}})_j = (F_{\mathcal{B}})_j (F_{\mathcal{B}})_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n,$$

$$(4.96)$$

where  $(F_{\mathcal{B}})_i$  is the  $n \times n$  matrix with entries

$$((F_{\mathcal{B}})_i)_{pq} = (F_{\mathcal{B}})_{ipq} = \frac{\partial^3 F_{\mathcal{B}}}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_p \partial \xi_q}$$

*Proof.* First for any  $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_N)$ ,  $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_N) \in V$  let us consider the vector fields  $\partial_u = \sum_{i=1}^N u_i \partial_{x_i}$ ,  $\partial_v = \sum_{i=1}^N v_i \partial_{x_i} \in T_x M_A$ . We define the following multiplication

on the tangent space  $T_x M_A$ :

$$\partial_u * \partial_v = u_i v_j F_{ijk} \partial_{x_k}, \tag{4.97}$$

where the summation over repeated indices here and below is assumed. It is easy to check that the associativity of the multiplication \* is equivalent to the commutativity equations (4.49). From the formula (4.53) we have

$$F_{ijk} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \alpha_i \alpha_j \alpha_k \cot(\alpha, x).$$

Hence multiplication (4.97) takes the form

$$\partial_u * \partial_v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v) \cot(\alpha, x) \partial_\alpha.$$
(4.98)

By identifying  $V \cong T_x V$ , we have

$$u * v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha}(\alpha, u)(\alpha, v) \cot(\alpha, x) \alpha.$$
(4.99)

Consider now a point  $x_0 \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$  and two tangent vectors  $u_0, v_0 \in T_{x_0}M_{\mathcal{B}}$ . We extend vectors  $u_0$  and  $v_0$  to two local analytic vector fields u(x), v(x) in the neighbourhood U of  $x_0$  that are tangent to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  at any point  $x \in M_{\mathcal{B}} \cap U$  such that  $u_0 = u(x_0)$  and  $v_0 = v(x_0)$ . The following lemma holds and its proof is similar to the proof of Lemma 3.2.1

**Lemma 4.8.2.** The limit of the product u(x) \* v(x) exists when vector x tends to  $x_0 \in M_B$ and it satisfies

$$u_0 * v_0 = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_\alpha(\alpha, u_0)(\alpha, v_0) \cot(\alpha, x_0) \alpha.$$
(4.100)

In particular, the product  $u_0 * v_0$  is determined by vectors  $u_0$  and  $v_0$  only.

The following lemma holds and it shows that multiplication (4.98) is closed on the tangent space  $T_{x_0}M_{\mathcal{B}}$ .

**Lemma 4.8.3.** Let  $u, v \in T_{x_0}M_{\mathcal{B}}$  where  $x_0 \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Then  $u * v \in T_{x_0}M_{\mathcal{B}}$ .

The proof of Lemma 4.8.3 is similar to the proof of Lemma 3.2.2. It uses analogue of Proposition 2.6.20 which claims that the following identity holds for any  $a, b \in V$  if  $\tan(\alpha, x) = 0$ :

$$\sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \delta_{\alpha}} c_{\beta}(\alpha, \beta) \cot(\beta, x) B_{\alpha, \beta}(a \otimes b) \alpha \wedge \beta = 0.$$

Then for  $u, v \in T_{x_0}M_{\mathcal{B}}, x_0 \in M_{\mathcal{B}}$ , the product (4.98) takes the form

$$\partial_u * \partial_v = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_\alpha(\widetilde{\alpha}, u)(\widetilde{\alpha}, v) \cot(\widetilde{\alpha}, x_0) \partial_{\widetilde{\alpha}}.$$
(4.101)

By using the orthonormal basis  $f_1, \ldots, f_n$  of  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  we rearrange  $\partial_{\widetilde{\alpha}}$  as

$$\partial_{\widetilde{\alpha}} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\widetilde{\alpha}, f_k) \partial_{f_k}.$$

Hence for  $x_0 = \xi = \sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i f_i$  we have

$$\partial_{f_i} * \partial_{f_j} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} \sum_{k=1}^n c_\alpha(\widetilde{\alpha}, f_i)(\widetilde{\alpha}, f_j)(\widetilde{\alpha}, f_k) \cot(\widetilde{\alpha}, \xi) \partial_{f_k}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^n \widetilde{F}_{ijk} \partial_{f_k}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.102)

where  $\widetilde{F}(\xi) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha} f(\alpha, \xi) = F_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Now multiplication (4.102) is associative and it is easy to check that its associativity is equivalent to the commutativity equations

$$\widetilde{F}_i\widetilde{F}_j = \widetilde{F}_j\widetilde{F}_i, \quad i,j = 1,\ldots,n.$$

Hence the restricted prepotential on  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  corresponding to the restricted system satisfies the commutativity equations, which proves the theorem.

As a corollary of Theorems 4.8.1 and 4.1.3 the following result takes place.

**Corollary 4.8.4.** Under the assumption of Theorem 4.1.3 on multiplicities, all the functions of the form (4.53) corresponding to restricted systems of the root system  $BC_N$  satisfy the commutativity equations.

Note that in Section 4.2 we proved Corollary 4.8.4 following a different approach, by relating WDVV equations (4.2) with the commutativity equations for the restricted systems of the root system  $BC_N$ . See Theorem 4.2.5.

Similarly, as a corollary of Theorems 4.8.1 and 4.1.4 the following result takes place.

**Corollary 4.8.5.** Under the assumptions of Theorem 4.1.4 on multiplicities, all the functions of the form (4.53) corresponding to the three-dimensional and two-dimensional restricted systems of the root system  $F_4$  satisfy the commutativity equations.

Solutions of the commutativity equations corresponding to the projected systems of root systems  $BC_N$  and  $F_4$  imply existence of certain  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric Hamiltonians given by formulas (4.56), (4.57) and (4.59) in Theorems 4.4.1 and 4.4.2.

In the case of  $BC_N$  root system the Hamiltonians of its restricted systems are given in Theorem 4.4.7 by formulas (4.65), (4.66) and (4.67).

In the case of  $F_4$  root system there are two projected systems in dimension three and four projected system in dimension two. The projected systems on the plane are given in Appendix A.1, where these configuration are given explicitly and denoted by  $(F_4, A_2)_1, (F_4, A_1^2)$ , see Table A.1 below. The configurations  $(F_4, A_2)_2$  and  $(F_4, B_2)$  are equivalent to root systems  $G_2$  and  $BC_2$ , these cases were considered in [3]. The other four cases in dimension two and three are new. Let us give details of the three-dimensional projected systems of  $F_4$ .

Consider the positive half of root system  $F_4$  consisting of vectors

$$F_4^+ = \{ e_i \, (1 \le i \le 4), \ e_i \pm e_j \, (1 \le i < j \le 4), \ \frac{1}{2} (e_1 \pm e_2 \pm e_3 \pm e_4) \}.$$

Let r be the multiplicity of short roots and let q be the multiplicity of long roots. Then we have the following three-dimensional projected systems.

• The projected system  $(F_4, A_1)_1$  of  $F_4$  to the hyperplane  $x_4 = 0$  consists of the following set of vectors:

$$e_i$$
, with multiplicity  $r + 2q$ ,  $1 \le i \le 3$ ,  
 $e_i \pm e_j$ , with multiplicity  $q$ ,  $1 \le i < j \le 3$ ,  
 $\frac{1}{2}(e_1 \pm e_2 \pm e_3)$ , with multiplicity  $2r$ .

• The projected system  $(F_4, A_1)_2$  of  $F_4$  to the hyperplane  $x_3 = x_4$  consists of the following set of vectors (after making change of variables and renaming vectors):

$$\begin{array}{ll} e_1, e_2, & \text{with multiplicity} & r, \\ \sqrt{2}e_3, & \text{with multiplicity} & q, \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e_3, & \text{with multiplicity} & 2r, \\ e_1 \pm e_2, & \text{with multiplicity} & q, \\ \frac{1}{2}(e_1 \pm e_2), & \text{with multiplicity} & 2r, \\ e_1 \pm \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e_3, & e_2 \pm \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}e_3, & \text{with multiplicity} & 2q, \\ \frac{1}{2}(e_1 \pm e_2 \pm \sqrt{2}e_3), & \text{with multiplicity} & r. \end{array}$$

**Theorem 4.8.6.** Let  $(\widehat{\mathcal{A}}, c)$  be one of the configurations  $(F_4, A_1)_1$ ,  $(F_4, A_1)_2$ ,  $(F_4, A_2)_1$ ,  $(F_4, A_1^2)$ . Then the function  $F = \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, x))$ , where  $f'''(z) = \cot z$ , satisfies the commutativity equations, where  $x \in \mathbb{C}^3$  for the first two configurations and  $x \in \mathbb{C}^2$  for the last two configurations and parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -2q or r = -4q. Furthermore, the corresponding Hamiltonians (4.56), (4.59) satisfy the supersymmetry algebra relations stated in Theorems 4.4.1, 4.4.2

### Chapter 5

# Commutativity equations and WDVV equations

In this chapter we investigate the relation between the set of commutativity equations and the set of WDVV equations in *N*-dimensional space. This leads to new solutions for WDVV equations from known solutions of the commutativity equations.

Let  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^N$ . Let  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  be a function on V. We recall that it has been proven in [41] (see also [40]) that the (generalized) WDVV equations

$$F_i F_j^{-1} F_k = F_k F_j^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j, k = 1, \dots, N$$
(5.1)

can be written equivalently in the form

$$F_i B^{-1} F_j = F_j B^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N,$$
(5.2)

where B is any non-degenerate linear combination of matrices  $F_k$  with functional coefficients  $A^k$ , (k = 1, ..., N). If the matrix B happens to be a multiple of identity for some functions  $A^k$ , then WDVV equations (5.2) reduce to the commutativity equations

$$F_i F_j = F_j F_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N.$$
 (5.3)

The natural question to investigate is when there exists such a linear combination B which is proportional to the standard metric  $\delta^{ij}$ . We do this in this section.

Let us assume that the function  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  satisfies the commutativity equations (5.3). Let us denote by  $[F_i, F_j]_{(a,b)}$  the (a, b)-entry of the commutator  $[F_i, F_j]$ , that is we have the explicit form

$$[F_i, F_j]_{(a,b)} = \sum_{m=1}^{N} (F_{iam} F_{jbm} - F_{ibm} F_{jam}).$$

Since the function F satisfies the commutativity equations then we have

$$[F_i, F_j]_{(a,b)} = \sum_{m=1}^N (F_{iam} F_{jbm} - F_{ibm} F_{jam}) = 0, \quad (1 \le i, j, a, b \le N).$$

These equations imply the following identity for any  $1 \le i, j, k \le N$ :

$$F_{ijk}F_{iii} = \sum_{m=1}^{N} F_{ijm}F_{ikm} - \sum_{m \neq i} F_{iim}F_{jkm}, \qquad (5.4)$$

which is obtained from  $[F_i, F_k]_{(i,j)} = 0, k \neq i, j$ . We also have

$$F_{ijj}F_{iii} + F_{iij}F_{jjj} = \sum_{m=1}^{N} F_{ijm}^2 - \sum_{m \neq i,j} F_{iim}F_{jjm},$$
(5.5)

for  $i \neq j$ , which is obtained from the identity (5.4) for k = j.

Observe also the equality of matrix entries  $[F_a, F_b]_{(i,j)} = [F_i, F_j]_{(a,b)}$ . Let us also introduce the following notation

$$[F_i, F_j]_{(a,b)}^{\{m\}} = F_{iam}F_{jbm} - F_{ibm}F_{jam},$$
(5.6)

where there is no summation over m in the right-hand side. Let us define a matrix  $B = (B_{ij})_{i,j=1}^N$  with the entries given as a linear combination of the third order derivatives of F:

$$B_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} A^k F_{kij},$$
(5.7)

for some functions  $A^k = A^k(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ . Now we will investigate when there exists such a combination B so that equations (5.3) imply the equations (5.2). For that it is sufficient to deduce that the matrix B is proportional to the identity.

Before we start our investigation, let us recall the formula of Laplace expansion in multiple rows of a determinant from linear algebra which will be used later.

Let Q be a given  $N \times N$  matrix. Let  $[N] = \{1, 2, ..., N\}$  and let I be a fixed subset of [N]. Let J be another subset of [N] where subsets J and I has the same size, that is |J| = |I|. Let I', J' be the complements of I, J respectively in [N]. We want to calculate the determinant of Q by expanding along all rows which belong to the subset I. This leads to the formula

$$\det Q = \sum_{J \subset [N]} \sigma_J \det Q_{IJ} \det Q_{I'J'}, \tag{5.8}$$

where  $Q_{IJ}$  is a matrix composed of rows I and columns J of the matrix Q, and  $\sigma_J = (-1)^s$ with  $s = \sum_{i \in I} i + \sum_{j \in J} j$ .

#### 5.1 Constant metric in dimension two

The commutativity equations for dimension two is the equation  $F_1F_2 = F_2F_1$  which is equivalent to the single relation

$$F_{122}F_{111} + F_{112}F_{222} - F_{112}^2 - F_{122}^2 = 0. (5.9)$$

Note that WDVV equations hold for any function F on the plane. In the next proposition we give the formulas for coefficients  $A^1, A^2$ .

**Proposition 5.1.1.** Assume that the function  $F = F(x_1, x_2)$  satisfies the commutativity equation (5.9). Let

$$A^1 = F_{122}, \quad A^2 = -F_{112}. \tag{5.10}$$

Then the matrix  $B = A^1F_1 + A^2F_2$  is a multiple of the identity matrix.

*Proof.* Firstly, we have

$$B_{12} = B_{21} = A^1 F_{112} + A^2 F_{122} = 0$$

by (5.10). Secondly, we have

$$B_{11} = A^1 F_{111} + A^2 F_{112} = F_{122} F_{111} - F_{112}^2,$$
  
$$B_{22} = A^1 F_{122} + A^2 F_{222} = F_{122}^2 - F_{112} F_{222}.$$

By relation (5.9) we have  $B_{11} = B_{22}$ . This proves the proposition.

#### 5.2 Constant metric in dimension three

In this section we assume that N = 3.

**Proposition 5.2.1.** Assume that the function F satisfies the commutativity equations (5.3). Then the matrix Q given by

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{122} & F_{123} \\ F_{113} & F_{123} & F_{133} \\ F_{123} & F_{223} & F_{233} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.11)

is singular.

*Proof.* Let D be the determinant of the matrix Q. We have

$$D = \det Q = F_{112}(F_{233}F_{123} - F_{133}F_{223}) - F_{122}(F_{113}F_{233} - F_{133}F_{123}) + F_{123}(F_{113}F_{223} - F_{123}^2)$$
(5.12)

Firstly, from relation (5.4) we have

$$F_{123}F_{111} = F_{112}F_{113} + F_{122}F_{123} + F_{123}F_{133} - F_{112}F_{223} - F_{113}F_{233},$$
(5.13)

$$F_{123}F_{222} = F_{112}F_{123} + F_{122}F_{223} + F_{123}F_{233} - F_{122}F_{113} - F_{223}F_{133}.$$
 (5.14)

Secondly, by multiplying relation (5.5) for i = 1, j = 2 by  $F_{123}$  we have

$$F_{123}(F_{122}F_{111} + F_{112}F_{222}) = F_{123}(F_{112}^2 + F_{122}^2 + F_{123}^2 - F_{113}F_{223}).$$
(5.15)

Now by substituting relations (5.13), (5.14) into the left-hand side of relation (5.15) we get D = 0. This proves the proposition.

As a corollary of Proposition 5.2.1 the following statement takes place.

**Corollary 5.2.2.** Assume that the function F satisfies the commutativity equations (5.3). Then there exists a non-zero solution  $(A^1, A^2, A^3)$  for the following system of equations:

$$B_{12} = \sum_{m=1}^{3} A^m F_{12m} = 0, \quad B_{13} = \sum_{m=1}^{3} A^m F_{13m} = 0, \quad B_{23} = \sum_{m=1}^{3} A^m F_{23m} = 0.$$
(5.16)

*Proof.* To prove the statement, it is enough to show that commutativity equations imply that the coefficient matrix corresponding to the homogeneous system of equations (5.16) is singular. Since this coefficient matrix is given by formula (5.11) the statement follows from Propositin 5.2.1.

Define

$$A^{1} = \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{122} & F_{123} \\ F_{123} & F_{133} \end{pmatrix} = F_{122}F_{133} - F_{123}^{2}, \quad A^{2} = -\det \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{123} \\ F_{113} & F_{133} \end{pmatrix} = F_{113}F_{123} - F_{112}F_{133},$$
$$A^{3} = \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{122} \\ F_{113} & F_{123} \end{pmatrix} = F_{112}F_{123} - F_{113}F_{122}.$$
(5.17)

**Proposition 5.2.3.** Assume that the function F satisfies the commutativity equations (5.3). Then functions  $A^i$ , (i = 1, 2, 3) given by (5.17) solve the system of equations

$$B_{12} = \sum_{m=1}^{3} A^m F_{12m} = 0, \quad B_{13} = \sum_{m=1}^{3} A^m F_{13m} = 0, \quad B_{23} = \sum_{m=1}^{3} A^m F_{23m} = 0.$$
(5.18)

*Proof.* After substituting of functions  $A^i$ , (i = 1, 2, 3) into the formula of  $B_{12}$  we get a determinant with repeated rows, which is equal to zero. Similarly, the equality  $B_{13} = 0$  is also satisfied. Let us now check that  $B_{23} = 0$ . We have

$$B_{23} = A^1 F_{123} + A^2 F_{223} + A^3 F_{233}.$$

After substituting the values of  $A^1, A^2, A^3$  we get that  $B_{23} = \det Q$ , where Q is the matrix given by (5.11). The statement follows from Proposition (5.2.1).

Let us define the coefficient matrix

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{212} & F_{312} \\ F_{113} & F_{213} & F_{313} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.19)

corresponding to the system of equations  $B_{12} = 0$ ,  $B_{13} = 0$ .

The following statement takes place.

**Proposition 5.2.4.** Assume that the rank of of the matrix Q given by formula (5.19) is equal to two. Then the diagonal entries of matrix  $B = \sum_{m=1}^{3} A^m F_m$ , where  $A^m$  are given by formula (5.17), are equal;  $B_{11} = B_{ii}$  for i = 2, 3.

This proposition is a particular case of Proposition 5.3.4 below which is valid for any dimension  $N \ge 3$ , so we postpone the proof until Section 5.3.

As a corollary of Propositions 5.2.3 and 5.2.4 the following statement takes place.

**Proposition 5.2.5.** Assume that the matrix Q given by formula (5.19) has rank two. Then the matrix  $B = \sum_{m=1}^{3} A^m F_m$ , where  $A^m$  are given by relations (5.17), is proportional to the identity matrix.

#### 5.3 Constant metric in general

Let us now assume  $N \ge 4$ . Let V be an N-dimensional space. Let  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ be a function such that commutativity equations (5.3) hold. Let us also define functions  $A^k$ ,  $(k = 1, \ldots, N)$  by the formula

$$A^{k} = (-1)^{k+1} \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{212} & \cdots & F_{(k-1)12} & F_{(k+1)12} & \cdots & F_{N12} \\ F_{113} & F_{213} & \cdots & F_{(k-1)13} & F_{(k+1)13} & \cdots & F_{N13} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ F_{11N} & F_{21N} & \cdots & F_{(k-1)1N} & F_{(k+1)1N} & \cdots & F_{N1N} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.20)

That is  $A^k$  are given by the determinant of the  $(N-1) \times (N-1)$  matrix corresponding to equations  $B_{12} = B_{13} = \cdots = B_{1N} = 0$  after removing the  $k^{th}$  column. In this section the summation over repeated indices will be assumed provided that one of indices is subscript and the other is superscript.

**Lemma 5.3.1.** For any function  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  which satisfies the commutativity equations (5.3) the following relation holds

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} F_{a1r} & F_{b1r} & F_{c1r} \\ F_{a1t} & F_{b1t} & F_{c1t} \\ F_{art} & F_{brt} & F_{crt} \end{pmatrix} = -\sum_{m \neq t} \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{a1r} & F_{b1r} & F_{c1r} \\ F_{a1m} & F_{b1m} & F_{c1m} \\ F_{arm} & F_{brm} & F_{crm} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.21)

where  $1 \leq a, b, c \leq N$  and  $2 \leq r < t \leq N$ .

*Proof.* We have by the first row expansion and commutativity equations

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} F_{a1r} & F_{b1r} & F_{c1r} \\ F_{a1t} & F_{b1t} & F_{c1t} \\ F_{art} & F_{brt} & F_{crt} \end{pmatrix} = F_{a1r} \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{b1t} & F_{c1t} \\ F_{brt} & F_{crt} \end{pmatrix} - F_{b1r} \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{a1t} & F_{c1t} \\ F_{art} & F_{crt} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$+ F_{c1r} \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{a1t} & F_{b1t} \\ F_{art} & F_{brt} \end{pmatrix} = F_{a1r} [F_1, F_r]_{(b,c)}^{\{t\}} - F_{b1r} [F_1, F_r]_{(a,c)}^{\{t\}} + F_{c1r} [F_1, F_r]_{(a,b)}^{\{t\}}$$
$$= -F_{a1r} \sum_{m \neq t} [F_1, F_r]_{(b,c)}^{\{m\}} + F_{b1r} \sum_{m \neq t} [F_1, F_r]_{(a,c)}^{\{m\}} - F_{c1r} \sum_{m \neq t} [F_1, F_r]_{(a,b)}^{\{m\}}$$
$$= -\sum_{m \neq t} \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{a1r} & F_{b1r} & F_{c1r} \\ F_{a1m} & F_{b1m} & F_{c1m} \\ F_{arm} & F_{brm} & F_{crm} \end{pmatrix}.$$

This proves the statement.

The following statement takes place.

**Lemma 5.3.2.** Suppose that the function  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  satisfies the commutativity equations (5.3). Then the matrix

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{212} & \cdots & F_{N12} \\ F_{113} & F_{213} & \cdots & F_{N13} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ F_{11r} & F_{21r} & \cdots & F_{N1r} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ F_{11t} & F_{21t} & \cdots & F_{N1t} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ F_{11N} & F_{21N} & \cdots & F_{N1N} \\ F_{1rt} & F_{2rt} & \cdots & F_{Nrt} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.22)

where  $2 \leq r < t \leq N$  is singular.

*Proof.* Let  $D = \det Q$ . Let  $R_i$  denote the  $i^{th}$  row in the matrix Q. Let us now perform Laplace expansion of D along rows number r - 1, t - 1, N, that is along the following rows of Q:

$$R_{r-1} = (F_{11r}, F_{21r}, \dots, F_{N1r}),$$
  

$$R_{t-1} = (F_{11t}, F_{21t}, \dots, F_{N1t}),$$
  

$$R_N = (F_{1rt}, F_{2rt}, \dots, F_{Nrt}),$$

In the notations of Laplace expansion formula (5.8) we choose  $I = \{r - 1, t - 1, N\}$  and  $J = \{a, b, c\}$ , where  $1 \le a < b < c \le N$ . Hence we have

$$Q_{IJ} = \begin{pmatrix} F_{a1r} & F_{b1r} & F_{c1r} \\ F_{a1t} & F_{b1t} & F_{c1t} \\ F_{art} & F_{brt} & F_{crt} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.23)

By formula (5.8) the determinant D takes the form

$$D = \sum_{J} \sigma_{J} \det Q_{I'J'} \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{a1r} & F_{b1r} & F_{c1r} \\ F_{a1t} & F_{b1t} & F_{c1t} \\ F_{art} & F_{brt} & F_{crt} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (5.24)

where I', J' are the complements of I, J respectively in  $[N] = \{1, \ldots, N\}, \sigma_J = (-1)^s$  and  $s = \sum_{i \in I} i + \sum_{j \in J} j = N + r + t + a + b + c - 2$ . Now by Lemma 5.3.1 the determinant (5.24) can be rewritten equivalently as

$$D = -\sum_{J} \sigma_{J} \det Q_{I'J'} \left( \sum_{m \neq t} \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{a1r} & F_{b1r} & F_{c1r} \\ F_{a1m} & F_{b1m} & F_{c1m} \\ F_{arm} & F_{brm} & F_{crm} \end{pmatrix} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{m \neq t} \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{11r} & F_{21r} & \cdots & F_{N1r} \\ F_{11m} & F_{21m} & \cdots & F_{N1m} \\ F_{112} & F_{212} & \cdots & F_{N12} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ F_{11\mu} & F_{21\mu} & \cdots & F_{N1\mu} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ F_{11N} & F_{21N} & \cdots & F_{N1N} \\ F_{1rm} & F_{2rm} & \cdots & F_{Nrm} \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $\mu$  runs from 2 to N excluding r and t. Hence D = 0 since for each m the determinant

contains a pair of repeated rows. Hence the matrix Q is singular as required.

The following statement takes place.

**Proposition 5.3.3.** Assume that the function  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  satisfies the commutativity equations (5.3). Assume also that the rank of the matrix  $(F_{1ij})$ , where  $2 \le i \le N$ ,  $1 \le j \le N$ , is N-1. Then the coefficient matrix corresponding to the system (5.7) where functions  $A^k$ ,  $(k = 1, \ldots, N)$  are given by formula (5.20), is diagonal.

*Proof.* Let us consider the system of linear equations

$$B_{1m} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} A^k F_{1km} = 0, \qquad (5.25)$$

for some functions  $A^k = A^k(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ . The system (5.25) represents a homogeneous system of N-1 linear equations in N variables  $A^i$ ,  $(i = 1, \ldots, N)$ . The assumption that rank of the matrix  $P = (F_{1ij})$ , where  $2 \le i \le N$ ,  $1 \le j \le N$ , is N-1 implies that the system (5.25) has a non-trivial solution which is unique up to proportionality.

Now, fix  $2 \leq s \leq N$ . The direct substitution of the functions  $A^k$  given by formula (5.20) into the right-hand side of relation (5.25) gives a row expansion of the determinant with the repeated rows, hence the equation  $B_{1s} = 0$  is satisfied. Note also that  $A^k \neq 0$  for some ksince the rank of the matrix P is N-1. Now we will check the other non-diagonal equations, namely, we will show that off-diagonal entries  $B_{rt} = 0$ , where  $2 \leq r < t \leq N$ . In order to do so, we add one row corresponding to the non-diagonal entry  $B_{rt}$  to the coefficient matrix of the linear system (5.25) and we will show that the matrix is singular. This will imply the existence of a non-trivial solution to the resulting system of N equations. Indeed, as the first N - 1 equations have a unique solution given by (5.20) up to the proportionality, it also has to solve the last equation. Thus we consider the equations

$$B_{1m} = 0, (m = 2, \dots, N), \quad B_{rt} = 0, \quad 2 \le r < t \le N.$$
 (5.26)

Then the coefficient matrix Q corresponding to equations (5.26) is given by formula (5.22) which is a singular matrix as required by Lemma 5.3.2. This proves the statement.

The following statement gives further property for the matrix of the system (5.7).

**Proposition 5.3.4.** Under the assumption of Proposition 5.3.3 the matrix of the system of linear equations (5.7), where function  $A^k$ , (k = 1, ..., N) are given by formula (5.20), satisfies

$$B_{11} = B_{pp},$$
 (5.27)

for all p.

Proof. Let us first consider the case p = 2. Since the matrix  $(F_{1jk})$ , where  $(2 \le j \le N, 1 \le k \le N)$  has the maximal rank N - 1, this implies that there exists some q  $(1 \le q \le N)$  such that  $F_{12q} \ne 0$ . Following the idea of the proof of Proposition 5.3.3, let us consider the following set of homogeneous equations:

$$B_{1m} = 0, \quad 2 \le m \le N,$$
  

$$F_{12q}(B_{11} - B_{22}) = 0.$$
(5.28)

It is sufficient to show that the coefficient matrix corresponding to equations (5.28) is singular. Let Q be the coefficient matrix corresponding to equations (5.28), That is

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{212} & \cdots & F_{N12} \\ F_{113} & F_{213} & \cdots & F_{N13} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ F_{11N} & F_{21N} & \cdots & F_{N1N} \\ F_{12q}(F_{111} - F_{122}) & F_{12q}(F_{211} - F_{222}) & \cdots & F_{12q}(F_{N11} - F_{N22}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.29)

Let  $D = \det Q$ . Now from the identity (5.4) for i = 1, j = 2, k = q, we have

$$F_{12q}F_{111} = \sum_{m=1}^{N} F_{12m}F_{1qm} - \sum_{m=2}^{N} F_{11m}F_{2qm}$$

Similarly, from the identity (5.4) for i = 2, j = 1, k = q, we have

$$F_{12q}F_{222} = \sum_{m=1}^{N} F_{12m}F_{2qm} - \sum_{m \neq 2} F_{1qm}F_{22m}.$$

Let  $R_i$  denote the  $i^{th}$  row in the matrix Q. Then we have

$$R_{k} = (F_{11(k+1)}, F_{21(k+1)}, \dots, F_{N1(k+1)}), \quad (1 \le k \le N - 1),$$
  
$$R_{N} = (r_{N1}, r_{N2}, \dots, r_{NN}), \quad (5.30)$$

where

$$r_{N1} = \sum_{m \neq 2} F_{1qm} F_{12m} - \sum_{m \neq 1} F_{11m} F_{2qm},$$
  

$$r_{N2} = \sum_{m \neq 2} F_{1qm} F_{22m} - \sum_{m \neq 1} F_{12m} F_{2qm},$$
  

$$r_{Nk} = F_{12q} (F_{k11} - F_{k22}), \quad (3 \le k \le N).$$

Now let us perform the following row operation on the matrix Q and let  $\widetilde{Q}$  be the resulting

matrix:

$$R_N \to \widetilde{R}_N = R_N - F_{11q}R_1 + \sum_{k=2}^N F_{2qk}R_{k-1}.$$

Let  $\tilde{r}_{Nk}$  be the  $k^{th}$  element in the row  $\tilde{R}_N$  of the matrix  $\tilde{Q}$ . We have

$$\widetilde{r}_{N1} = \sum_{m \neq 1,2} F_{1qm} F_{12m},$$

$$\widetilde{r}_{N2} = \sum_{m \neq 1,2} F_{1qm} F_{22m},$$

$$\widetilde{r}_{Nk} = \sum_{m=1}^{N} F_{2qm} F_{1km} - F_{12q} F_{22k} - F_{11q} F_{12k}, \quad (3 \le k \le N).$$
(5.31)

Note that

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{212} & \cdots & F_{N12} \\ F_{113} & F_{213} & \cdots & F_{N13} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ F_{11N} & F_{21N} & \cdots & F_{N1N} \\ F_{12m} & F_{22m} & \cdots & F_{N2m} \end{pmatrix} = 0$$

for any  $3 \leq m \leq N$  by Lemma 5.3.2. Therefore one can add the row corresponding to equation  $B_{2m} = 0$ ,  $(3 \leq m \leq N)$  to the last row of the matrix  $\tilde{Q}$  without changing its determinant D. Let  $S_{2m} = (F_{12m}, F_{22m}, \ldots, F_{N2m})$ . Let us now add the rows  $-F_{1qm}S_{2m}$ ,  $(m = 3, \ldots, N)$  consecutively to the last row of  $\tilde{Q}$ . The last row  $(\hat{r}_{N1}, \hat{r}_{N2}, \ldots, \hat{r}_{NN})$  of the resulting matrix has the form

$$\widehat{r}_{N1} = 0, \quad \widehat{r}_{N2} = 0,$$

$$\widehat{r}_{Nk} = \sum_{m=1}^{N} F_{2qm} F_{1km} - \sum_{m=1}^{N} F_{1qm} F_{2km} = -[F_1, F_2]_{(q,k)}, \quad (3 \le k \le N).$$

Since  $[F_1, F_2]_{(q,k)} = 0$  by the commutativity equations, we get  $\hat{r}_{Nk} = 0$  for all  $1 \le k \le N$ . Therefore D = 0. This proves that  $B_{11} = B_{22}$ . Similarly, one can prove that  $B_{11} = B_{pp}$  for all p.

As a corollary of Propositions 5.3.3 and 5.3.4 the following statement takes place.

**Theorem 5.3.5.** Under the assumptions of Proposition 5.3.3 the matrix (5.7), where functions  $A^k$ , (k = 1, ..., N) are given by formula (5.20), is proportional to the identity.

We also have the following result.

**Proposition 5.3.6.** Under the assumptions of Proposition 5.3.3 suppose also that there exists a non-degenerate linear combination  $G = \eta^k F_k$  for some functions  $\eta^k$ , (k = 1, ..., N).

Let  $B = A^k F_k$ , where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.20) and  $A^k \neq 0$  for some k = 1, ..., N. Then B is a non-zero multiple of the identity matrix.

Proof. From Theorem 5.3.5 we know that the matrix B is proportional to the identity. It remains to show that B is not the zero matrix. Let  $B_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} A^k F_{ijk} = h \delta_{ij}$  for some function h = h(x). We will show that  $h \neq 0$ . Assume that h = 0. Then  $A^k F_{ijk} = 0$ . Hence  $\eta^l A^k F_{ljk} = 0$  which means that the non-zero vector  $(A^1, \ldots, A^N)$  belongs to the kernel of the form G (cf. a similar argument in [26]). Therefore G is degenerate, which contradicts the assumption of G. Hence  $h \neq 0$  and the statement follows.

The following theorem is a corollary of Theorem 5.3.5 and Proposition 5.3.6, and it confirms that function F which satisfies the commutativity equations also solves WDVV equations under some non-degeneracy conditions.

**Theorem 5.3.7.** Assume that the function  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  on  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^N$  satisfies the commutativity equations (5.3). Suppose that for a fixed  $i_0, 1 \leq i_0 \leq N$  the rank of the matrix  $(F_{i_0ij})$  where  $1 \leq i, j \leq N, i \neq i_0$  is N - 1. Suppose also that there exists a nondegenerate linear combination  $G = \eta^i F_i$  for some functions  $\eta^i, (i = 1, \ldots, N)$ . Then F is a solution of WDVV equations (5.2) where the matrix B is given by  $B = A^k F_k$  where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.20).

Proof. From Theorem 5.3.5 we know that for  $i_0 = 1$  the matrix (5.7), where functions  $A^k$ , (k = 1, ..., N) are given by formula (5.20), is proportional to the identity. Note that the same arguments can be applied for any  $i_0$  and the matrix (5.7) is proportional to the identity in this case as well. Moreover, from Proposition 5.3.6 we know that the matrix (5.7) is a non-zero matrix, therefore the system of WDVV equations (5.2) is equivalent to the system of commutativity equations (5.3) and the statement follows since F solves the commutativity equations.

**Remark 5.3.8.** Note that under the assumptions of Theorem 5.3.7, function F also satisfies WDVV equations

$$F_i F_j^{-1} F_k = F_k F_j^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j, k = 1, \dots, N$$

provided that matrices  $F_j$  are non-degenerate. Indeed these equations follow from equations (5.2) for any particular non-degenerate combination  $B = A^i F_i$  by the result from [41] (see also [40]). It also follows that F satisfies the WDVV equations

$$F_i G^{-1} F_j = F_j G^{-1} F_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N$$

for any non-degenerate linear combination G of matrices  $F_i$ .

#### 5.4 The identity field

In this section we define a natural multiplication on the tangent planes  $T_*V$  associated with a solution F of the commutativity equations. We find the identity vector field of this multiplication and establish that it is proportional to the vector field  $\sum_{k=1}^{N} A^k \partial_{x_k}$ , where functions  $A^k$  were defined in Section 5.3. Thus we will express the identity vector field in terms of F for arbitrary dimension N.

For any functions  $u = (u^1, \ldots, u^N)$ ,  $v = (v^1, \ldots, v^N)$ :  $V \to V$ , consider vector fields  $\partial_u = u^i \partial_{x^i}$ ,  $\partial_v = v^i \partial_{x^i} \in \Gamma(TV)$ . Let us define the following multiplication on the tangent space  $T_x V$  for generic  $x \in V$ :

$$\partial_u * \partial_v = u^i v^j \delta^{kl} F_{ijk} \partial_{x^l}. \tag{5.32}$$

Note that multiplication (5.32) defines a commutative algebra on  $T_x V$ .

Consider a vector field

$$e = e^k \partial_{x^k}, \tag{5.33}$$

where  $e^k = e^k(x^1, \ldots, x^N)$  are some functions. Consider the  $N \times N$  matrix  $B = (B_{ij})_{i,j=1}^N$  given by

$$B_{ij} = e(F_{ij}) = e^k F_{ijk}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N.$$
 (5.34)

The following statement takes place.

**Proposition 5.4.1.** The following statements are equivalent:

(1) The matrix B with entries given by (5.34) is equal to the identity,

(2) The vector field e given by formula (5.33) is the identity vector field of the multiplication (5.32).

*Proof.* From relations (5.32), (5.33) and (5.34) we have

$$e * \partial_v = e^i v^j \partial_{x^i} * \partial_{x^j} = e^i v^j F_{ijk} \partial_{x^k} = B_{jk} v^j \partial_{x^k}.$$
(5.35)

Let us firstly assume that  $B_{jk} = \delta_{jk}$ . Then relation (5.35) reduces to

$$e * \partial_v = \delta_{jk} v^j \partial_{x^k} = v^j \partial_{x^j} = \partial_v.$$

That is statement (2) follows from (1).

Secondly, assume that e is the identity vector field of the multiplication (5.32). Then from relation (5.35) we have

$$e * \partial_v = B_{jk} v^j \partial_{x^k} = \partial_v = v^j \partial_{x^j}$$

This implies that  $B_{jk} = \delta_{jk}$ , that is statement (1) holds. This proves the statement.  $\Box$ 

Proposition 5.4.1 allows us to reformulate Theorem 5.3.5 as follows.

**Theorem 5.4.2.** Assume that the function  $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  on  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^N$  satisfies the commutativity equations (5.3). Suppose that for a fixed  $i_0, 1 \leq i_0 \leq N$  the rank of the matrix  $(F_{i_0i_j})$  where  $1 \leq i, j \leq N, i \neq i_0$  is N - 1. Suppose also that there exists a non-degenerate linear combination  $G = \eta^i F_i$  for some functions  $\eta^i, (i = 1, \ldots, N)$ . Then there exists a unique vector field  $e = e^k \partial_{x^k}$ , where  $e^k = e^k(x^1, \ldots, x^N)$  are some functions, such that  $e(F_{i_j}) = \delta_{i_j}$ . Moreover, the vector field e is the identity vector field of the multiplication (5.32), and it has the form  $e^k = h^{-1}A^k$ , where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.20) and  $h = A^k F_{kii}$  (for any  $i = 1, \ldots, N$ ).

*Proof.* From Theorem 5.3.5 we know that the matrix B with its entries given by formula (5.7), and functions  $A^k$ , (k = 1, ..., N) are given by formula (5.20), is proportional to the identity matrix. That is we have

$$B = A^k F_k = h I_N, (5.36)$$

where  $I_N$  is the  $N \times N$  identity matrix and  $h = A^K F_{kii}$  for any i = 1, ..., N. Let  $\widetilde{B} = h^{-1}B$ . Thus  $\widetilde{B}$  is the identity matrix and its entries have the form

$$\widetilde{B}_{ij} = h^{-1} A^k F_{ijk} = \delta_{ij}.$$
(5.37)

Now let  $e = h^{-1}A^k \partial_{x^k}$ . Then by (5.37) we have  $e(F_{ij}) = h^{-1}A^k F_{ijk} = \delta_{ij}$ . Therefore, by Proposition 5.4.1 the vector field  $e = h^{-1}A^k \partial_{x^k}$  is the identity vector field of the multiplication (5.32) since the matrix (5.37) is the identity matrix. This proves the theorem.  $\Box$ 

Now we are going to generalize Theorem 5.3.7 to the case of arbitrary constant metric g in place of the standard metric  $\delta_{ij}$ . Thus we start with equations of the form

$$F_{ij\alpha}g^{\alpha\beta}F_{\beta kl} = F_{kj\alpha}g^{\alpha\beta}F_{\beta il}, \qquad (5.38)$$

where the summation over repeated indices is assumed, and we will show that metric g can be represented as a linear combination of the third order derivatives of the function F under some non-degeneracy assumptions.

**Theorem 5.4.3.** Let  $F = F(x^1, ..., x^N)$  be a function on  $\mathbb{C}^N$  that satisfies equations of the form (5.38) for some constant non-degenerate matrix  $(g^{\alpha\beta})$ , where  $i, j, k, l, \alpha, \beta = 1, ..., N$ . Let  $\widehat{C}$  be the constant matrix of change of variables such that

$$y^i = \widehat{C}^i_j x^j, \tag{5.39}$$

where  $y^1, \ldots, y^N$  is a new coordinate system and the matrix g satisfies the relation  $\widehat{C}_i^{\alpha} \widehat{C}_j^{\beta} g^{ij} = \delta^{\alpha\beta}$ . Let  $\widetilde{F}(y) = F(x)$ . Suppose that there exists  $i_0, (1 \leq i_0 \leq N)$  such that the matrix

 $(\widetilde{F}_{i_0ij}(y))$  has rank N-1, where  $1 \leq i, j \leq N, i \neq i_0$ . Then there exists a unique vector field  $e = e^k(x)\partial_k$  for some functions  $e^k$ , (k = 1, ..., N) such that

$$e(F_{lm}) = e^k(x)F_{klm} = g_{lm}, (5.40)$$

where  $(g_{lm})$  is the inverse matrix for  $(g^{\alpha\beta})$ .

Before we prove the theorem, we give firstly a prove of the following lemma which is needed.

**Lemma 5.4.4.** Relation  $\widehat{C}_{i}^{\alpha} \widehat{C}_{j}^{\beta} g^{ij} = \delta^{\alpha\beta}$  implies that  $\sum_{\alpha\beta} \widehat{C}_{c}^{\alpha} \widehat{C}_{d}^{\beta} \delta^{\alpha\beta} = g_{cd}$ , where the matrix  $\widehat{C}$  is defined by formula (5.39).

Proof. Firstly, note that for any matrices G and H, if  $GH = I_d$ , where  $I_d$  is the identity matrix, then  $HG = I_d$ . This is easy to show as  $GH = I_d$  implies that  $H = G^{-1}$  and we know that  $GG^{-1} = G^{-1}G = I_d$ . Now, let us multiply relation  $\hat{C}_i^{\alpha}\hat{C}_j^{\beta}g^{ij} = \delta^{\alpha\beta}$  by  $C_{\alpha}^a$ , we get  $\hat{C}_j^{\beta}g^{aj} = C_{\beta}^a$ . By multiplying this relation by  $C_{\beta}^b$  we get  $g^{ab} = \sum_{\beta} C_{\beta}^a C_{\beta}^b$ . This relation after multiplying it by  $g_{ac}$  becomes  $\delta_c^b = \sum_{\beta} C_{\beta}^a C_{\beta}^b g_{ac}$ . Let us also multiply this relation by  $\hat{C}_b^{\alpha}$  so we get  $\hat{C}_c^{\alpha} = C_{\alpha}^a g_{ac}$ . Finally, by multiplying this relation by  $\hat{C}_d^{\alpha}$  we get  $\sum_{\alpha} \hat{C}_c^{\alpha} C_d^{\alpha} = g_{cd}$  which is equivalent to the relation  $\sum_{\alpha\beta} \hat{C}_c^{\beta} C_d^{\alpha} \delta^{\alpha\beta} = g_{cd}$ . This proves the lemma.

Now we give the proof of Theorem 5.4.3.

*Proof.* Let C be the matrix such that  $C_k^i \widehat{C}_j^k = \delta_j^i$ . Thus we have  $x^i = C_j^i y^j$ . We also have

$$\partial_{x^j} = \widehat{C}^i_j \partial_{y^i}, \quad \partial_{y^j} = C^i_j \partial_{x^i}. \tag{5.41}$$

Since  $\hat{C}_i^{\alpha} \hat{C}_j^{\beta} g^{ij} = \delta^{\alpha\beta}$ , then this implies that

$$\widehat{C}_{a}^{l}\widehat{C}_{b}^{m}\delta^{lm} = g_{ab} \tag{5.42}$$

by Lemma 5.4.4. From (5.41) we have the following relations:

$$F_j(x) = \partial_{x^j} F(x) = \widehat{C}^i_j \partial_{y^i} \widetilde{F}(y) = \widehat{C}^i_j \widetilde{F}_i(y).$$
(5.43)

Similarly, we have

$$\widetilde{F}_m(y) = C_m^j F_j(x). \tag{5.44}$$

Hence, we have the following relation:

$$F_{pjk}(x) = \widehat{C}_p^m \widehat{C}_j^i \widehat{C}_k^l \widetilde{F}_{mil}(y).$$
(5.45)

By multiplying relation (5.45) by  $C^p_a C^j_b C^k_c$  we get

$$\widetilde{F}_{abc}(y) = C^p_a C^j_b C^k_c F_{pjk}(x).$$
(5.46)

Now let us consider the system of equations (5.38), that is,

$$F_{ij\alpha}g^{\alpha\beta}F_{\beta kl} = F_{kj\alpha}g^{\alpha\beta}F_{\beta il}.$$
(5.47)

Then from relation (5.45) we see that relations (5.47) are equivalent to

$$\widehat{C}_{i}^{p}\widehat{C}_{j}^{q}\widehat{C}_{\alpha}^{r}\widetilde{F}_{pqr}g^{\alpha\beta}\widehat{C}_{\beta}^{a}\widehat{C}_{k}^{b}\widehat{C}_{l}^{d}\widetilde{F}_{abd} = \widehat{C}_{k}^{s}\widehat{C}_{j}^{q}\widehat{C}_{\alpha}^{r}\widetilde{F}_{sqr}g^{\alpha\beta}\widehat{C}_{\beta}^{a}\widehat{C}_{l}^{b}\widehat{C}_{l}^{d}\widetilde{F}_{abd}.$$
(5.48)

By relation (5.42) we reduce relation (5.48) to

$$\widehat{C}_{i}^{p}\widehat{C}_{k}^{b}\widetilde{F}_{pqr}\delta^{ar}\widetilde{F}_{abd} = \widehat{C}_{k}^{s}\widehat{C}_{i}^{b}\widetilde{F}_{sqr}\delta^{ar}\widetilde{F}_{abd}.$$
(5.49)

By multiplying equation (5.49) by  $C_n^i C_m^k$  this equation reduces to

$$\widetilde{F}_{nqr}\delta^{ar}\widetilde{F}_{amd} = \widetilde{F}_{mqr}\delta^{ar}\widetilde{F}_{and}, \qquad (5.50)$$

that is  $\widetilde{F}_m$  and  $\widetilde{F}_n$  commutes. Now since  $rank(\widetilde{F}_{i_0i_j}) = N - 1$ , then by Theorem 5.3.5 there exists a unique vector field e given in the coordinate system  $y^1, \ldots, y^N$  by

$$e(y) = e^j(y)\partial_{y^j}$$

such that for the function  $\widetilde{F}$  we have

$$e(\widetilde{F}_{\alpha\beta}(y)) = e^{j}(y)\widetilde{F}_{j\alpha\beta}(y) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(5.51)

Now we will show that  $e(F_{ab}(x)) = g_{ab}$ . From relation (5.45) we have

$$\partial_{x^i} F_{ab}(x) = F_{iab}(x) = \widehat{C}_i^k \widehat{C}_a^l \widehat{C}_b^m \widetilde{F}_{klm}(y).$$

Hence we have

$$C_j^i \partial_{x^i} F_{ab}(x) = \widehat{C}_a^l \widehat{C}_b^m \widetilde{F}_{jlm}(y).$$

This equation implies that

$$e^{j}(y(x))C_{j}^{i}\partial_{x_{i}}F_{ab}(x) = e^{j}(y(x))\widetilde{F}_{jlm}(y)\widehat{C}_{a}^{l}\widehat{C}_{b}^{m} = \delta_{lm}\widehat{C}_{a}^{l}\widehat{C}_{b}^{m} = g_{ab}$$

by relation (5.42) as required. This proves the theorem.

To conclude this section we illustrate Theorem 5.4.3 by considering prepotential F

coming from a Frobenius manifold.

**Example 5.4.5.** Consider the prepotential F of an N-dimensional Frobenius manifold given by

$$F(t) = Q + f(t^2, \dots, t^N),$$
(5.52)

where Q is a cubic term given by

$$Q = \frac{1}{2} \Big( (t^1)^2 t^N + t^1 \sum_{i=2}^{N-1} t^i t^{N+1-i} \Big).$$
 (5.53)

We assume that F(t) satisfies the equations  $F_iGF_j = F_jGF_i$  for all i, j = 1, ..., N, where

$$G = G^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & \cdots & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \cdot & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.54)

It is immediate to check that  $G = F_1$ . Now we are going to derive this equality by applying Theorem 5.4.3.

Let  $C, \widehat{C}$  be the constant matrices of the change of variables such that  $\widehat{C} = C^{-1}$  and

$$t^i = C^i_j x^j, \quad x^i = \widehat{C}^i_j t^j, \tag{5.55}$$

where  $x^1, \ldots, x^N$  is a new coordinate system and the matrix  $G = (g^{ij})$  satisfies the relation  $\widehat{C}_i^{\alpha} \widehat{C}_j^{\beta} g^{ij} = \delta^{\alpha\beta}$ . Then matrix C is given as follows:

$$C = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{i}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \\ & \ddots & & \ddots \\ & & -\frac{i}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & \\ 0 & & 1 & 0 \\ & & i & 1 & \\ & \ddots & & \ddots & \\ i & & 0 & & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ or } C = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{i}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \\ & \ddots & & \ddots \\ & & -\frac{i}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & \\ 0 & & & 0 \\ & & i & 1 & \\ & & i & 1 & \\ & & \ddots & & \ddots \\ i & & 0 & & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

for N being odd or even respectively. That is the ij-entries  $C_j^i$  of the matrix C are given by

• If N is odd let  $b = \frac{N+1}{2}$ , then the entries are

$$C_1^1 = C_2^2 = \dots = C_{b-1}^{b-1} = -\frac{i}{2},$$
  

$$C_b^b = C_{b+1}^{b+1} = \dots = C_N^N = 1,$$
  

$$C_N^1 = C_{N-1}^2 = \dots = C_{b+1}^{b-1} = \frac{1}{2},$$
  

$$C_{b-1}^{b+1} = C_{b-2}^{b+2} = \dots = C_1^N = i,$$

and all the other entries are zeros.

• If N is even let  $b = \frac{N}{2}$ , the entries are

$$C_1^1 = C_2^2 = \dots = C_b^b = -\frac{i}{2},$$
  

$$C_{b+1}^{b+1} = C_{b+2}^{b+2} = \dots = C_N^N = 1,$$
  

$$C_N^1 = C_{N-1}^2 = \dots = C_{b+1}^b = \frac{1}{2},$$
  

$$C_b^{b+1} = C_{b-1}^{b+2} = \dots = C_1^N = i,$$

and all the other entries are zeros.  $\hat{}$ 

The matrix  $\widehat{C}$  is given as follows:

$$\widehat{C} = \begin{pmatrix}
i & 0 & -\frac{i}{2} \\
\ddots & & \ddots \\
& i & -\frac{i}{2} \\
0 & 1 & 0 \\
& 1 & \frac{1}{2} \\
\vdots & & \ddots \\
1 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}
\end{pmatrix}, \text{ or } \widehat{C} = \begin{pmatrix}
i & 0 & -\frac{i}{2} \\
\ddots & & \ddots \\
& i & -\frac{i}{2} \\
0 & & 0 \\
& 1 & \frac{1}{2} \\
\vdots \\
1 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}
\end{pmatrix},$$

for N being odd or even respectively. Hence we have the following relations. Firstly, for N being odd number we have

$$\partial_{x^{k}} = \begin{cases} -\frac{i}{2}\partial_{t^{1}} + i\partial_{t^{N}}, & k = 1, \\ -\frac{i}{2}\partial_{t^{k}} + i\partial_{t^{N+1-k}}, & 2 \le k \le \frac{N-1}{2}, \\ \partial_{t^{k}}, & k = \frac{N+1}{2}, \\ \frac{1}{2}\partial_{t^{N+1-k}} + \partial_{t^{k}}, & \frac{N+3}{2} \le k \le N-1, \\ \frac{1}{2}\partial_{t^{1}} + \partial_{t^{N}}, & k = N. \end{cases}$$

Secondly, for N being even number we have

$$\partial_{x^{k}} = \begin{cases} -\frac{i}{2}\partial_{t^{1}} + i\partial_{t^{N}}, & k = 1, \\ -\frac{i}{2}\partial_{t^{k}} + i\partial_{t^{N+1-k}}, & 2 \le k \le \frac{N}{2}, \\ \frac{1}{2}\partial_{t^{N+1-k}} + \partial_{t^{k}}, & \frac{N}{2} + 1 \le k \le N - 1, \\ \frac{1}{2}\partial_{t^{1}} + \partial_{t^{N}}, & k = N. \end{cases}$$

Let  $\widetilde{F}(x) = F(t)$ . Define  $\widetilde{F}_{jkl}(x) = \partial_{x_j} \partial_{x_k} \partial_{x_l} F(t)$ . Since  $\partial_{x^1} f(t^2, \dots, t^N) = i \partial_{x^N} f(t^2, \dots, t^N)$ , we also have

$$\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{r}}f(t^{2},\ldots,t^{N}) = i\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{N}}\partial_{x^{r}}f(t^{2},\ldots,t^{N}), \quad 2 \le r \le N,$$
  
$$\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{j}}\partial_{x^{k}}f(t^{2},\ldots,t^{N}) = i\partial_{x^{N}}\partial_{x^{j}}\partial_{x^{k}}f(t^{2},\ldots,t^{N}). \quad (5.56)$$

The following relations are also easy to verify:

$$\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{r}}Q(t^{1},\ldots,t^{N}) = i\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{N}}\partial_{x^{r}}Q(t^{1},\ldots,t^{N}) = 0, \quad 2 \leq r \leq N-1,$$
  

$$\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{N}}Q(t^{1},\ldots,t^{N}) = i\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{N}}\partial_{x^{N}}Q(t^{1},\ldots,t^{N}),$$
  

$$\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{j}}\partial_{x^{k}}Q(t^{1},\ldots,t^{N}) = i\partial_{x^{N}}\partial_{x^{j}}\partial_{x^{k}}Q(t^{1},\ldots,t^{N}), \quad j \neq k,$$
  

$$\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{k}}\partial_{x^{k}}Q(t^{1},\ldots,t^{N}) = i\partial_{x^{N}}\partial_{x^{k}}\partial_{x^{k}}Q(t^{1},\ldots,t^{N}) - i, \quad 1 \leq k \leq N.$$
(5.57)

Hence relations (5.56), (5.57) imply the relations

$$\widetilde{F}_{11r} = i\widetilde{F}_{1Nr}, \quad 2 \le r \le N, \tag{5.58}$$

$$\widetilde{F}_{1jk} = i\widetilde{F}_{Njk}, \quad j \neq k, \tag{5.59}$$

$$\widetilde{F}_{1kk} = i\widetilde{F}_{Nkk} - i, \quad 1 \le k \le N.$$
(5.60)

Assume that there exists  $j_0$ ,  $(1 \leq j_0 \leq N)$  such that the matrix  $(\tilde{F}_{j_0jk}(x))$  has rank N-1, where  $1 \leq j,k \leq N, j \neq j_0$ . One can now define the matrix  $B = A^k \tilde{F}_k$ , where  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.20), and there exist at least r, where  $(1 \leq r \leq N)$ , such that  $A^r \neq 0$ . Now from relations (5.58), (5.59) and formula (5.20) it is easy to see that  $A^1 = iA^N$  and that  $A^k = 0$  for  $2 \leq k \leq N-1$  since the right-hand side of formula (5.20) for  $2 \leq k \leq N-1$  is a determinant of a matrix which contains two proportional columns. Thus the matrix B takes the form

$$B = A^1 \widetilde{F}_1 + A^N \widetilde{F}_N = A^N (i \widetilde{F}_1 + \widetilde{F}_N).$$
(5.61)

Hence for  $j \neq k$  we have  $B_{jk} = A^N(i\widetilde{F}_{1jk} + \widetilde{F}_{Njk}) = 0$  by (5.59). Let us now find  $B_{kk}$ . We

have from (5.60) that

$$B_{kk} = A^1 \widetilde{F}_{1kk} + A^N \widetilde{F}_{Nkk} = i A^N (i \widetilde{F}_{Nkk} - i) + A^N \widetilde{F}_{Nkk} = A^N.$$

Hence we have shown that  $B = hI_N$ , where  $h = A^N$ . Let us now define the vector field  $e = e^k \partial_{x^k}$  by  $e = h^{-1} A^k \partial_{x^k}$ . Then we have

$$e = h^{-1} \left( A^1 \partial_{x^1} + A^N \partial_{x^N} \right) = h^{-1} A^N \left( i \partial_{x^1} + \partial_{x^N} \right) = i \partial_{x^1} + \partial_{x^N} = \partial_{t^1}.$$

As expected, this formula coincides with the well-known formula of the identity field of a Frobenius manifold.

**Remark 5.4.6.** We note that the maximality of rank condition is sufficient but not necessary for the existence of the identity. Indeed, in the case of Example 5.4.5 with N = 2 we have

$$\widetilde{F}_{112} = \frac{1}{4} - f^{\prime\prime\prime}(ix^1 + x^2), \quad \widetilde{F}_{122} = -\frac{i}{4} + if^{\prime\prime\prime}(ix^1 + x^2)$$

Then the matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{F}_{112} & \widetilde{F}_{122} \end{pmatrix}$  has rank zero if  $f(t^2) = \frac{1}{24}(t^2)^3$ . Nonetheless  $e = \partial_{t^1}$  is the identity field.

#### 5.5 Applications

In this section we explore the close relation between commutativity equations and WDVV equations established in Section 5.3 through the existence of the identity field. This leads to new solutions of WDVV equations.

#### 5.5.1 Applications to Euclidean trigonometric $\lor$ -systems

Let us recall the function F given by the formula (4.53)

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, x)), \qquad (5.62)$$

where  $\mathcal{A}$  is a finite set of vectors in  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^N$ ,  $c_\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ , are some multiplicity parameters, where the function f is given by (1.11). Let us recall some notations from Section 4.5. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a finite set of vectors in a Euclidean space V with the bilinear inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ . Let  $c_\alpha \in \mathbb{C}, \alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  be some multiplicity parameters. Assume that  $\mathcal{A}$  belongs to a lattice of rank N. For each vector  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  we recall the set of its collinear vectors from  $\mathcal{A}$ :

$$\delta_{\alpha} \coloneqq \{ \gamma \in \mathcal{A} \colon \gamma \sim \alpha \}.$$
Let  $\delta \subseteq \delta_{\alpha}$  and  $\alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ . Then for any  $\gamma \in \delta$  we have  $\gamma = k_{\gamma}\alpha_0$  for some  $k_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{R}$ . Note that  $k_{\gamma}$  depends on the choice of  $\alpha_0$  and different choices of  $\alpha_0$  give rescaled collections of these parameters. Define  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0} \coloneqq \sum_{\gamma \in \delta} c_{\gamma}k_{\gamma}^2$ . Note that  $C_{\delta}^{\alpha_0}$  is non-zero if and only if  $C_{\delta}^{\tilde{\alpha}_0} \neq 0$  for any  $\tilde{\alpha}_0 \in \delta$ .

As a corollary of Theorems 4.5.8, 5.3.7, the following statement takes place.

**Theorem 5.5.1.** Suppose that a configuration  $(\mathcal{A}, c)$  satisfies the following conditions

- (1)  $\mathcal{A}$  is a Euclidean trigonometric  $\lor$ -system,
- (2)  $\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathcal{A}_+} c_{\alpha}c_{\beta}(\alpha,\beta)B_{\alpha,\beta}(a,b)\alpha\wedge\beta = 0,$

(3)  $C^{\alpha_0}_{\delta} \neq 0$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \ \delta \subseteq \delta_{\alpha}, \ \alpha_0 \in \delta_{\alpha}$ ,

(4) The function F given by formula (5.62) satisfies that for a fixed  $i_0$  the rank of the matrix  $(F_{i_0ij})$ , where  $1 \le i, j \le N, i \ne i_0$ , is N - 1,

(5) There exists a non-degenerate linear combination  $G = C^i F_i$  for some functions  $C^i, (i = 1, ..., N)$ .

Then function (5.62) satisfies both the commutativity equations (5.3) and the WDVV equations (5.2), where the entries of the matrix  $B = (B_{ij})_{i,j=1}^{N}$  are given by formula (5.7) and functions  $A_k = A_k(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  are given by formula (5.20).

We have shown in Theorem 4.8.1 that the class of solutions of commutativity equations corresponding to Euclidean  $\lor$ -systems is closed under the restrictions. As a corollary of Theorem 4.8.1 and Theorem 5.3.7, the following statement takes place.

**Theorem 5.5.2.** In the notations and under the assumptions of Theorem 4.8.1, assume that prepotential (5.62) satisfies the commutativity equations (5.3). Let  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  be a subsystem of rank n. Suppose that the prepotential

$$F_{\mathcal{B}} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A} \setminus \mathcal{B}} c_{\alpha} f((\widetilde{\alpha}, \xi)), \quad \xi \in M_{\mathcal{B}},$$
(5.63)

satisfies that for a fixed  $i_0$  the rank of the matrix  $(F_{\mathcal{B}})_{i_0ij}$ , where  $1 \leq i, j \leq n, i \neq i_0$ , is n-1. Then prepotential (5.63) satisfies the WDVV equations of the form

$$(F_{\mathcal{B}})_i B^{-1} (F_{\mathcal{B}})_j = (F_{\mathcal{B}})_j B^{-1} (F_{\mathcal{B}})_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (5.64)

where  $(F_{\mathcal{B}})_i$  is the  $n \times n$  matrix with entries

$$((F_{\mathcal{B}})_i)_{pq} = (F_{\mathcal{B}})_{ipq} = \frac{\partial^3 F_{\mathcal{B}}}{\partial x_i \partial x_p \partial x_q}$$

and the entries of the matrix  $B = (B_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$  are given by formula (5.7) (with N=n) and functions  $A_k = A_k(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  are given by formula (5.20) provided that  $B \neq 0$ .

# 5.5.2 New solutions of WDVV equations

In this subsection we check that maximal rank assumption from Theorem 5.4.2 is satisfied in the example related to root system  $F_4$ . This leads to a new solution of WDVV equations.

Consider the positive half of root system  $F_4$  consisting of vectors

$$F_4^+ = \{ e_i \, (1 \le i \le 4), \ e_i \pm e_j \, (1 \le i < j \le 4), \ \frac{1}{2} (e_1 \pm e_2 \pm e_3 \pm e_4) \}.$$
(5.65)

Let r be the multiplicity of the short roots and let q be the multiplicity of the long roots. We assume that  $r, q \neq 0$ .

Recall that by Theorem 4.1.4 (see [3]) function (5.62) for the collection  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  satisfies commutativity equations (5.3) if and only if r = -2q or r = -4q. Now we will check that the condition of Theorem 5.3.5 is satisfied for both cases.

Consider the following  $3 \times 4$  matrix

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{212} & F_{312} & F_{412} \\ F_{113} & F_{213} & F_{313} & F_{413} \\ F_{114} & F_{214} & F_{314} & F_{414} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.66)

Matrix Q is the coefficient matrix corresponding to the homogeneous system of equations  $B_{12} = B_{13} = B_{14} = 0$  where  $B_{1m}$  is given by formula (5.25) for some functions  $A_k = A_k(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4)$ , where function F has the form (5.62) and  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  is given by formula (5.65). The following statement takes place.

Lemma 5.5.3. Matrix Q has rank three.

*Proof.* To show that rank(Q) = 3, we will show that the following  $3 \times 3$  sub-matrix  $\widetilde{Q}$  has rank three, where

$$\widetilde{Q} = \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{212} & F_{312} \\ F_{113} & F_{213} & F_{313} \\ F_{114} & F_{214} & F_{314} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.67)

That is we will show that matrix (5.67) is not singular. Let  $D = D(x) = \det \widetilde{Q}$ . From (5.67) we have

$$D(x) = F_{112}(F_{123}F_{134} - F_{133}F_{124}) - F_{122}(F_{113}F_{134} - F_{114}F_{133}) + F_{123}(F_{113}F_{124} - F_{114}F_{12}).$$
(5.68)

We will establish that  $D(x_0) \neq 0$ , where  $x_0 = (x_1, 0, 0, x_4)$ . We have the following third

order derivatives:

$$F_{112} = q \Big( \cot(x_1 + x_2) - \cot(x_1 - x_2) \Big) + \frac{r}{8} \Big( \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \Big),$$

$$F_{114} = q \Big( \cot(x_1 + x_4) - \cot(x_1 - x_4) \Big) + \frac{r}{8} \Big( \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \Big),$$

$$F_{122} = q \Big( \cot(x_1 + x_2) + \cot(x_1 - x_2) \Big) + \frac{r}{8} \Big( \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \Big),$$

$$F_{133} = q \Big( \cot (x_1 + x_3) + \cot (x_1 - x_3) \Big) + \frac{r}{8} \Big( \cot (\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ + \cot (\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot (\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot (\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ + \cot (\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot (\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot (\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \\ + \cot (\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot (\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot (\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) \Big),$$

$$F_{123} = \frac{r}{8} \bigg( \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) + \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \bigg) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) + \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) + \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \bigg),$$

$$F_{134} = \frac{r}{8} \Big( \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) + \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) + \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \\ - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \\ - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_2}{2} - \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) + \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_2}{2} + \frac{x_3}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \Big).$$

Now we have the following two cases to consider.

Case (1). r = -2q. We have

$$\begin{split} F_{112}|_{x_0} &= 0, \quad F_{123}|_{x_0} = 0, \quad F_{134}|_{x_0} = 0, \\ F_{114}|_{x_0} &= q \Big( \cot\left(x_1 + x_4\right) - \cot\left(x_1 - x_4\right) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) + \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \Big), \\ F_{122}|_{x_0} &= q \Big( 2\cot x_1 - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \Big), \\ F_{133}|_{x_0} &= q \Big( 2\cot x_1 - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \Big). \end{split}$$

Hence, the determinant (5.68) reduces to

$$D(x_0) = F_{122}F_{114}F_{133}$$
  
=  $q^3 \Big( \cot(x_1 + x_4) - \cot(x_1 - x_4) - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) \Big)$   
 $\times \Big( 2\cot x_1 - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) \Big)^2 \neq 0.$  (5.69)

Case (2). r = -4q. We have

$$\begin{aligned} F_{112}|_{x_0} &= 0, \quad F_{123}|_{x_0} = 0, \quad F_{134}|_{x_0} = 0, \\ F_{114}|_{x_0} &= q \Big( \cot\left(x_1 + x_4\right) - \cot\left(x_1 - x_4\right) - 2\cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) + 2\cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \Big), \\ F_{122}|_{x_0} &= 2q \Big( \cot x_1 - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \Big), \\ F_{133}|_{x_0} &= 2q \Big( \cot x_1 - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}\right) \Big). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, the determinant (5.68) reduces to

$$D(x_0) = F_{122}F_{114}F_{133}$$
  
=  $4q^3 \Big( \cot(x_1 + x_4) - \cot(x_1 - x_4) - 2\cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + 2\frac{x_4}{2}) + \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) \Big)$   
×  $\Big( \cot x_1 - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2}) - \cot(\frac{x_1}{2} - \frac{x_4}{2}) \Big)^2 \neq 0.$  (5.70)

This proves the statement.

Now let us define

$$A^{1} = \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{212} & F_{312} & F_{412} \\ F_{213} & F_{313} & F_{413} \\ F_{214} & F_{314} & F_{414} \end{pmatrix}, \quad A^{2} = -\det \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{312} & F_{412} \\ F_{113} & F_{313} & F_{413} \\ F_{114} & F_{314} & F_{414} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$A^{3} = \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{212} & F_{412} \\ F_{113} & F_{213} & F_{413} \\ F_{114} & F_{214} & F_{414} \end{pmatrix}, \quad A^{4} = -\det \begin{pmatrix} F_{112} & F_{212} & F_{312} \\ F_{113} & F_{213} & F_{313} \\ F_{114} & F_{214} & F_{414} \end{pmatrix}. \quad (5.71)$$

As a corollary of Theorem 5.3.5 and Lemma 5.5.3 the following statement takes place.

**Theorem 5.5.4.** Consider the function

$$F = r \sum_{i=1}^{4} f(x_i) + r \sum_{\varepsilon_i \in \{1,-1\}} f\left(\frac{1}{2}(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4)\right) + q \sum_{i$$

Suppose that parameters r, q satisfy the conditions r = -2q or r = -4q. Define the vector field

$$e = \sum_{i=1}^{4} A^i(x)\partial_{x^i}, \qquad (5.73)$$

where functions  $A^{i}(x)$  are given by formulas (5.71). Define  $4 \times 4$  matrix  $B = (B_{ij})_{i,j=1}^{4}$  by

$$B_{ij} = e(F_{ij}) = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k(x) F_{ijk}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, 4.$$
(5.74)

Then the matrix B is proportional to the identity matrix.

This leads us to another solution of WDVV equations.

**Theorem 5.5.5.** Consider the function (5.72) such that parameters r, q satisfy the conditions r = -2q or r = -4q. Then F satisfies WDVV equations (5.2).

#### 5.5.3 The identity field for root system $F_4$

In this subsection we consider  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  given by formula (5.65) and the corresponding function of the form (5.62) which satisfies commutativity equations (5.3). We give explicit simple formulas for the functions  $A^k$  (k = 1, 2, 3, 4), and we show that the metric  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_k$  is a multiple of the identity matrix  $I_4$ . By uniqueness of the identity field this implies, in particular, that these functions  $A^k$  coincides up to proportionality with corresponding functions defined in Section 5.3 by determinant formulas. Let  $[4] = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ . Let us also introduce the following functions:

$$b_{1} = (A^{1} + A^{2} + A^{3} + A^{4}) \cot(\frac{x_{1} + x_{2} + x_{3} + x_{4}}{2}),$$

$$b_{2} = (A^{1} + A^{2} - A^{3} - A^{4}) \cot(\frac{x_{1} + x_{2} - x_{3} - x_{4}}{2}),$$

$$b_{3} = (A^{1} + A^{2} + A^{3} - A^{4}) \cot(\frac{x_{1} + x_{2} + x_{3} - x_{4}}{2}),$$

$$b_{4} = (A^{1} + A^{2} - A^{3} + A^{4}) \cot(\frac{x_{1} + x_{2} - x_{3} + x_{4}}{2}),$$

$$b_{5} = (A^{1} - A^{2} + A^{3} + A^{4}) \cot(\frac{x_{1} - x_{2} + x_{3} + x_{4}}{2}),$$

$$b_{6} = (A^{1} - A^{2} - A^{3} - A^{4}) \cot(\frac{x_{1} - x_{2} - x_{3} - x_{4}}{2}),$$

$$b_{7} = (A^{1} - A^{2} + A^{3} - A^{4}) \cot(\frac{x_{1} - x_{2} - x_{3} - x_{4}}{2}),$$

$$b_{8} = (A^{1} - A^{2} - A^{3} + A^{4}) \cot(\frac{x_{1} - x_{2} - x_{3} + x_{4}}{2}),$$

$$b_{9} = (A^{1} + A^{2}) \cot(x_{1} + x_{2}), \quad b_{10} = (A^{1} - A^{2}) \cot(x_{1} - x_{2}),$$

$$b_{11} = (A^{1} + A^{3}) \cot(x_{1} + x_{3}), \quad b_{12} = (A^{1} - A^{3}) \cot(x_{1} - x_{3}),$$

$$b_{13} = (A^{1} + A^{4}) \cot(x_{1} + x_{4}), \quad b_{14} = (A^{1} - A^{4}) \cot(x_{1} - x_{4}).$$
(5.75)

We consider separately two cases r = -2q and r = -4q.

# 5.5.4 $F_4$ with the condition r = -2q

Assume that the multiplicity parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -2q. Define

$$A^{k} = \sin x_{k} \Big( \cos x_{k} (-1 + \sum_{i \neq k} \cos 2x_{i}) - 2 \prod_{i \neq k} \cos x_{i} \Big), \quad k = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$
(5.76)

The following relation takes place.

**Lemma 5.5.6.** Functions  $A^k$ , (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) given by formula (5.76) satisfy the relation

$$\sum_{i=1}^{4} \varepsilon_i A^i = \sin\left(\frac{\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4}{2}\right) \left(-2\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4}{2}\right) + \sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le 4\\k,l \in [4] \setminus \{i,j\}\\k < l}} \cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j - 3\varepsilon_k x_k - 3\varepsilon_l x_l}{2}\right) - \sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j < k \le 4\\l \in [4] \setminus \{i,j,k\}}} \cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j + \varepsilon_k x_k - 3\varepsilon_l x_l}{2}\right)\right),$$

$$(5.77)$$

where  $\varepsilon_i \in \{1, -1\}$  for all *i*.

*Proof.* Let us substitute functions  $A^k$ , (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) from relation (5.76) into the left-hand

side of the equation (5.77). Then by rearranging the terms one gets the formula

$$\sum_{i=1}^{4} \varepsilon_i A^i = \frac{1}{2} \Big( \sum_{1 \le i < j \le 4} \sin\left(2\varepsilon_i x_i + 2\varepsilon_j x_j\right) - \sum_{i=1}^{4} \sin\left(2\varepsilon_i x_i\right) \Big) - 2\Big(\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right) \cos\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3\right) \cos\left(\varepsilon_4 x_4\right) + \sin\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) \cos\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1\right) \cos\left(\varepsilon_2 x_2\right) \Big).$$
(5.78)

On the other hand we have

$$\sin\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}+\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}-3\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-3\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)$$
$$=\frac{1}{2}\left(\sin\left(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}-\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}\right)+\sin\left(2\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}+2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}\right)\right).$$
(5.79)

Also we have

$$\sin\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}+\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-3\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)$$
$$=\frac{1}{2}\left(\sin\left(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}\right)+\sin\left(2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}\right)\right).$$
(5.80)

Now let M be the right-hand side of the equation (5.77). Then from relations (5.79) and (5.80) we have

$$M = -\sin\left(\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} + \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} + \varepsilon_{4}x_{4}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{i < j \\ k < l \\ k, l \neq i, j}} \left(\sin\left(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}x_{j} - \varepsilon_{k}x_{k} - \varepsilon_{l}x_{l}\right)\right) + \sin\left(2\varepsilon_{k}x_{k} + 2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{i < j < k \\ l \neq i, j, k}} \left(\sin\left(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}x_{j} + \varepsilon_{k}x_{k} - \varepsilon_{l}x_{l}\right) + \sin\left(2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}\right)\right). \quad (5.81)$$

Note that

$$\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) = \sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right) \cos\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) + \cos\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right) \sin\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right).$$

Note also that

$$\sum_{\substack{i < j \\ k < l \\ k, l \neq i, j}} \sin\left(\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j - \varepsilon_k x_k - \varepsilon_l x_l\right) = 0.$$

Also we have

$$\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 - \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) + \sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 - \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right)$$
$$= 2\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right)\cos\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 - \varepsilon_4 x_4\right),$$

and

$$\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 - \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) - \sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 - \varepsilon_2 x_2 - \varepsilon_3 x_3 - \varepsilon_4 x_4\right)$$
$$= 2\cos\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 - \varepsilon_2 x_2\right)\sin\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right).$$

Thus, formula (5.81) can be rearranged as

$$M = -\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right) \left(\cos\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) + \cos\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 - \varepsilon_4 x_4\right)\right) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^4 \sin\left(2\varepsilon_i x_i\right) \\ -\sin\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) \left(\cos\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right) + \cos\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 - \varepsilon_2 x_2\right)\right) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{1 \le i < j \le 4} \sin\left(2\varepsilon_i x_i + 2\varepsilon_j x_j\right).$$

$$(5.82)$$

It is clear that the right-hand side of the formula (5.82) is equal to the right-hand side of the relation (5.78), which proves the lemma.

The following identity holds.

**Lemma 5.5.7.** Functions  $A^k$ , (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) given by formula (5.76) satisfy the identity

$$\sum_{i=1}^{4} \varepsilon_{i} A^{i} \cot\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} + \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} + \varepsilon_{4}x_{4}}{2}\right)$$

$$= -1 - \cos(\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} + \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} + \varepsilon_{4}x_{4}) + \cos(\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} - \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} - \varepsilon_{4}x_{4})$$

$$+ \cos(\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} - \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} + \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} - \varepsilon_{4}x_{4}) + \cos(\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} - \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} - \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} + \varepsilon_{4}x_{4})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}\sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq 4} \cos(2\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + 2\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{i < j < k \\ l \neq i, j, k}} \cos(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}x_{j} + \varepsilon_{k}x_{k} - \varepsilon_{l}x_{l}) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{4} \cos(2\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}).$$
(5.83)

where  $\varepsilon_i \in \{1, -1\}$  for all *i*.

*Proof.* We have by Lemma 5.5.6 that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i=1}^{4} \varepsilon_{i} A^{i} \cot\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{1}x_{1}+\varepsilon_{2}x_{2}+\varepsilon_{3}x_{3}+\varepsilon_{4}x_{4}}{2}\right) \\ &= \cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{1}x_{1}+\varepsilon_{2}x_{2}+\varepsilon_{3}x_{3}+\varepsilon_{4}x_{4}}{2}\right) \left(-2\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{1}x_{1}+\varepsilon_{2}x_{2}+\varepsilon_{3}x_{3}+\varepsilon_{4}x_{4}}{2}\right) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{1 \leq i < j \leq 4\\k, i \in [4] \setminus \{i,j\}\\k < l}} \cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}-3\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-3\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right) - \sum_{\substack{1 \leq i < j < k \leq 4\\l \in [4] \setminus \{i,j,k\}}} \cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-3\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)\right). \end{split}$$

$$(5.84)$$

Firstly, we have

$$2\cos^{2}\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{1}x_{1}+\varepsilon_{2}x_{2}+\varepsilon_{3}x_{3}+\varepsilon_{4}x_{4}}{2}\right) = 1+\cos(\varepsilon_{1}x_{1}+\varepsilon_{2}x_{2}+\varepsilon_{3}x_{3}+\varepsilon_{4}x_{4}).$$
(5.85)

Secondly, we have

$$\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}+\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}-3\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-3\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)$$
$$=\frac{1}{2}\left(\cos(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}-\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-\varepsilon_{l}x_{l})+\cos(2\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}+2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l})\right).$$
(5.86)

Also we have

$$\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}+\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-3\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)$$
$$=\frac{1}{2}\left(\cos(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-\varepsilon_{l}x_{l})+\cos(2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l})\right).$$
(5.87)

Relation (5.83) follows by substituting relations (5.85)–(5.87) into the right-hand side of relation (5.84).  $\hfill \Box$ 

We will also need the following identity.

**Lemma 5.5.8.** For distinct  $i, j, k, l \in [4]$  we have

$$\varepsilon_{i}A^{i} + \varepsilon_{j}A^{j} = \sin(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}x_{j})\Big(\cos(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}x_{j}) - 2\cos(\varepsilon_{k}x_{k})\cos(\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}) + \cos(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} - \varepsilon_{j}x_{j})\Big(-1 + \cos(2\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}) + \cos(2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l})\Big)\Big),$$
(5.88)

where functions  $A^k$  (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) are given by formula (5.76) and  $\varepsilon_i \in \{1, -1\}$  for all *i*.

*Proof.* From formula (5.76) we have

$$\varepsilon_{i}A^{i} + \varepsilon_{j}A^{j} = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{i}\sin(2x_{i})\left(-1 + \sum_{k\neq i}\cos 2x_{k}\right) - 2\varepsilon_{i}\sin x_{i}\prod_{k\neq i}\cos x_{k}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{j}\sin 2x_{j}\left(-1 + \sum_{k\neq j}\cos 2x_{k}\right) - 2\varepsilon_{j}\sin x_{j}\prod_{k\neq j}\cos x_{k}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}\left(\sin(2\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}) + \sin(2\varepsilon_{j}x_{j})\right)\left(-1 + \cos(2\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}) + \cos(2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l})\right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}\sin(2\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + 2\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}) - 2\cos(\varepsilon_{k}x_{k})\cos(\varepsilon_{l}x_{l})\sin(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}x_{j}). \quad (5.89)$$

By applying formulas

$$\sin(2\varepsilon_i x_i) + \sin(2\varepsilon_j x_j) = 2\sin(\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j)\cos(\varepsilon_i x_i - \varepsilon_j x_j),$$

and

$$\sin(2\varepsilon_i x_i + 2\varepsilon_j x_j) = 2\sin(\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j)\cos(\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j),$$

we see that relation (5.89) takes the form (5.88). This proves the lemma.

The following statement confirms that with the choice of the functions  $A_i$  given by formula (5.76), the metric  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k x_k$  is diagonal.

**Proposition 5.5.9.** The linear combination  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_k$ , where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.76) and function F has the form (5.62), is a diagonal matrix.

*Proof.* Let us show that the entry  $B_{12} = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_{12k} = 0$ . In the notation of formulas (5.75) we have

$$\frac{4}{q}B_{12} = 4(A^1 + A^2)\cot(x_1 + x_2) - 4(A^1 - A^2)\cot(x_1 - x_2) - \sum_{i=1}^4 b_i + \sum_{i=5}^8 b_i.$$
 (5.90)

By making use of Lemmas 5.5.7 and 5.5.8 formula (5.90) reduces to

$$\frac{4}{q}B_{12} = 4\left(\cos(x_1+x_2) - \cos(x_1-x_2)\right)\left(\cos(x_1+x_2) + \cos(x_1-x_2)\right) \\
-8\left(\cos(x_1+x_2) - \cos(x_1-x_2)\right)\cos(x_3)\cos(x_4) \\
+ 2\left(\cos(x_1+x_2+x_3+x_4) + \cos(x_1+x_2-x_3-x_4)\right) \\
-2\left(\cos(x_1-x_2+x_3-x_4) + \cos(x_1-x_2-x_3+x_4)\right) \\
-2\left(\cos(x_1-x_2+x_3+x_4) + \cos(x_1-x_2-x_3-x_4)\right) \\
+ 2\left(\cos(x_1+x_2+x_3-x_4) + \cos(x_1+x_2-x_3+x_4)\right) \\
-2\left(\cos(x_1+x_2+x_3-x_4) + \cos(x_1-x_2-x_3+x_4)\right) \\
-2\left(\cos(x_1+x_2+x_3-x_4) + \cos(x_1-x_2-x_3+x_4)\right) \\
-2\left(\cos(x_1+x_2+x_3-x_4) + \cos(x_1-x_2-x_3+x_4)\right) \\
(5.91)$$

Formula (5.91) can be rearranged as follows

$$\frac{4}{q}B_{12} = 16\sin x_1 \sin x_2 \Big(\cos x_1 \cos x_2 - \cos x_3 \cos x_4\Big) \\ + 8\Big(\cos(x_1 + x_2) - \cos(x_1 - x_2)\Big)\cos x_3 \cos x_4 - 4\sin 2x_1 \sin 2x_2 \\ = 16\sin x_1 \sin x_2 \Big(\cos x_1 \cos x_2 - \cos x_3 \cos x_4\Big) + 16\sin x_1 \sin x_2 \cos x_3 \cos x_4 \\ - 16\sin x_1 \sin x_2 \cos x_1 \cos x_2 = 0.$$
(5.92)

The other off-diagonal entries can be done by symmetry.

The following statement gives further property to the metric B.

**Proposition 5.5.10.** The linear combination  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_k$ , where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.76) and function F has the form (5.62), is proportional to the identity matrix.

*Proof.* By Proposition 5.5.9 we are left to show that  $B_{11} = B_{ss}$  for all s = 2, 3, 4. Let us consider s = 2. We have  $B_{11} = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_{11k}$ . In the notation of formulas (5.75) we have

$$q^{-1}B_{11} = -2A^{1}\cot x_{1} + \sum_{i=2}^{4} \left( (A^{1} + A^{i})\cot(x_{1} + x_{i}) + (A^{1} - A^{i})\cot(x_{1} - x_{i}) \right) - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{i=1}^{8} b_{i}.$$
(5.93)

Also we have

$$q^{-1}B_{22} = -2A^{2}\cot x_{2} + \sum_{i \neq 2} \left( (A^{2} + A^{i})\cot(x_{2} + x_{i}) + (A^{2} - A^{i})\cot(x_{2} - x_{i}) \right) - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^{8} b_{i}.$$
(5.94)

Hence from (5.93), (5.94) we have

$$q^{-1}(B_{11} - B_{22}) = -2A^{1} \cot x_{1} + 2A^{2} \cot x_{2} + \sum_{i=3}^{4} \left( (A^{1} + A^{i}) \cot(x_{1} + x_{i}) + (A^{1} - A^{i}) \cot(x_{1} - x_{i}) \right) - \sum_{i=3}^{4} \left( (A^{2} + A^{i}) \cot(x_{2} + x_{i}) + (A^{2} - A^{i}) \cot(x_{2} - x_{i}) \right).$$
(5.95)

Now by making use of Lemma 5.5.8 formula (5.95) reduces to

$$q^{-1}(B_{11} - B_{22}) = 2(\cos^2 x_1 - \cos^2 x_2) - 2\cos^2 x_1 \sum_{i \neq 1}^{4} \cos 2x_i + 2\cos^2 x_2 \sum_{i \neq 2}^{4} \cos 2x_i + 2\cos x_1 \sum_{\substack{3 \le i,j \le 4 \\ i \neq j}} \cos x_i (\cos(x_2 + x_j) + \cos(x_2 - x_j)) - 2\cos x_2 \sum_{\substack{3 \le i,j \le 4 \\ i \neq j}} \cos x_i (\cos(x_1 + x_j) + \cos(x_1 - x_j)) + \sum_{\substack{3 \le i \le 4 \\ i \neq j}} (\cos^2(x_1 + x_i) + \cos^2(x_1 - x_i)) - \sum_{\substack{3 \le i \le 4 \\ i \neq j}} (\cos^2(x_2 + x_i) + \cos^2(x_2 - x_i)) + 2\sum_{\substack{3 \le i,j \le 4 \\ i \neq j}} \cos(x_1 + x_i) \cos(x_1 - x_i) (-1 + \cos 2x_2 + \cos 2x_j) - 2\sum_{\substack{3 \le i,j \le 4 \\ i \neq j}} \cos(x_2 + x_i) \cos(x_2 - x_i) (-1 + \cos 2x_1 + \cos 2x_j).$$
(5.96)

By applying identities

$$2\cos(a+b)\cos(a-b) = \cos 2a + \cos 2b,\cos^{2}(a+b) + \cos^{2}(a-b) = 1 + \cos 2a\cos 2b,\cos(a+b) + \cos(a-b) = 2\cos a\cos b,2\cos^{2} a = \cos 2a + 1,$$

it follows that  $B_{11} - B_{22} = 0$ . Similarly one can check that  $B_{11} = B_{ss}$  for s = 3, 4.

Since the metric  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_k$  is a multiple of the identity matrix, we can write  $B = hI_4$ , where h = h(x) is some function. The coefficient of proportionality  $h = B_{ii}$  for any i = 1, 2, 3, 4. In order to find the explicit formula for the function h, let us first prove some lemmas.

**Lemma 5.5.11.** In the notation of formulas (5.75) we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{8} b_i = -8 - 4 \sum_{i=1}^{4} \cos 2x_i + 2 \sum_{1 \le i < j \le 4} \left( \cos(2x_i + 2x_j) + \cos(2x_i - 2x_j) \right), \quad (5.97)$$

where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.76) and function F has the form (5.62).

*Proof.* Relation (5.97) follows by direct substitution of the formulas of  $b_i$  from Lemma 5.5.7 into the left-hand side of relation (5.97).

**Lemma 5.5.12.** In the notation of formulas (5.75) we have

$$\sum_{i=9}^{14} b_i = 3 - 12 \prod_{i=1}^{4} \cos x_i - 3 \cos 2x_1 - \sum_{i=2}^{4} \cos 2x_i + 3 \sum_{i=2}^{4} \cos 2x_1 \cos 2x_i + 2 \sum_{2 \le i < j \le 4} \cos 2x_i \cos 2x_j,$$
(5.98)

where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.76) and function F has the form (5.62).

*Proof.* From Lemma 5.5.8 we have

$$\sum_{i=9}^{14} b_i = 2 \sum_{\substack{2 \le i \le 4\\ j,k \in [4] \setminus \{1,i\}\\ j \ne k}} \cos(x_1 + x_i) \cos(x_1 - x_i) \left( -1 + \cos 2x_j + \cos 2x_k \right)$$
$$- 2 \sum_{\substack{2 \le i \le 4\\ j,k \in [4] \setminus \{1,i\}\\ j \ne k}} \left( \cos(x_1 + x_i) + \cos(x_1 - x_i) \right) \cos x_j \cos x_k$$
$$+ \sum_{i=2}^{4} \left( \cos^2(x_1 + x_i) + \cos^2(x_1 - x_i) \right).$$
(5.99)

Relation (5.98) follows by applying the following identities to the right-hand side of relation (5.99):

$$2\cos(a+b)\cos(a-b) = \cos 2a + \cos 2b,\cos^{2}(a+b) + \cos^{2}(a-b) = 1 + \cos 2a\cos 2b,\cos(a+b) + \cos(a-b) = 2\cos a\cos b.$$

Also we have the following relation which is easy to check directly.

Lemma 5.5.13.

$$\sum_{\varepsilon_i \in \{-1,1\}} \cos(x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4) = 8 \prod_{i=1}^4 \cos x_i.$$

The following statement gives the explicit formula of the coefficient of the proportionality  $B \sim I_4$ .

**Proposition 5.5.14.** The linear combination  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_k$ , where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.76) and function F has the form (5.62), has the form  $B = hI_4$ , where the function h = h(x) is given by

$$h(x) = \frac{q}{2} \left( 12 - 2 \sum_{i=1}^{4} \cos 2x_i - 2 \sum_{\varepsilon_i \in \{-1,1\}} \cos \left(x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) \right) \\ + \sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le 4 \\ \varepsilon_j \in \{-1,1\}}} \cos \left(2x_i + 2\varepsilon_j x_j\right) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 12q + \sum_{\alpha \in F_4^+} c_\alpha \cos \left(2(\alpha, x)\right) \right) \\ = \frac{1}{2} \left( -\sum_{\alpha \in F_4^+} c_\alpha + \sum_{\alpha \in F_4^+} c_\alpha \cos \left(2(\alpha, x)\right) \right) = -\sum_{\alpha \in F_4^+} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha, x).$$
(5.100)

*Proof.* From Proposition 5.5.10 we know that  $h = B_{ii}$  for any i = 1, 2, 3, 4. In the notation of formulas (5.75) we have

$$\frac{4}{q}B_{11} = -8A^1 \cot x_1 - \sum_{i=1}^8 b_i + 4\sum_{i=9}^{14} b_i.$$
(5.101)

Note that

$$2A^{1}\cot x_{1} = -(1+\cos 2x_{1}) + (1+\cos 2x_{1})\sum_{i\neq 1}\cos 2x_{i} - 4\prod_{i=1}^{4}\cos x_{i}.$$
 (5.102)

Then by relations (5.101), (5.102) and Lemmas 5.5.11-5.5.13 we get

$$\frac{4}{q}B_{11} = 24 - 4\sum_{i=1}^{4} \cos 2x_i - 4\sum_{\substack{\varepsilon_i \in \{-1,1\}\\\varepsilon_j \in \{-1,1\}}} \cos \left(x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) + 2\sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le 4\\\varepsilon_j \in \{-1,1\}}} \cos \left(2x_i + 2\varepsilon_j x_j\right).$$
(5.103)

Formula (5.100) follows from relation (5.103).

The following statement takes place.

**Proposition 5.5.15.** Functions  $A^k$  given by formula (5.76) have the equivalent formula

$$A^{k} = \frac{1}{4q} \sum_{\alpha \in F_{4}^{+}} c_{\alpha}(e_{k}, \alpha) \sin(2(\alpha, x)), \quad k = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$
(5.104)

*Proof.* Firstly, formula (5.76) is equivalent to the formula

$$A^{k} = -\frac{1}{2}\sin 2x_{k} + \frac{1}{2}\sin 2x_{k}\sum_{i\neq k}\cos 2x_{i} - 2\sin x_{k}\prod_{i\neq k}\cos x_{i}.$$
 (5.105)

Secondly, it is easy to check that the following identities take place in dimension four:

$$\sin 2x_k \sum_{i \neq k} \cos 2x_i = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \neq k} \sin(2x_k \pm 2x_i),$$
$$\sum_{\substack{\varepsilon_s \in \{-1,1\}\\s = \{i,j,l\}}} \sin(x_k + \varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j + \varepsilon_l x_l) = 8 \sin x_k \prod_{m \neq k} \cos x_m.$$
(5.106)

From (5.106) formula (5.105) becomes

$$A^{k} = \frac{1}{4} \Big( -2\sin 2x_{k} + \sum_{m \neq k} \sin \left( 2x_{k} \pm 2x_{m} \right) - \sum_{\substack{\varepsilon_{s} \in \{-1,1\}\\s = \{i,j,l\}}} \sin \left( x_{k} + \varepsilon_{i} x_{i} + \varepsilon_{j} x_{j} + \varepsilon_{l} x_{l} \right) \Big).$$
(5.107)

Now it is easy to check that the right-hand side of relation (5.107) is equal to the right-hand side of formula (5.104). This proves the proposition.

The following statement is a corollary of Theorem 5.4.2 and Proposition 5.5.15.

**Proposition 5.5.16.** The identity vector field e for the collection  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  given by formula (5.65) under the condition r = -2q is given by the formula

$$e = h^{-1} A^k \partial_{x_k}, \quad k = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$
 (5.108)

where function h is given by formula (5.100) and  $A^{k}$  is given by formula (5.104).

## 5.5.5 $F_4$ with the condition r = -4q

Assume that the multiplicity parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -4q. Define

$$A^{k} = \sin x_{k} \Big( \cos x_{k} + 2 \prod_{i \neq k} \cos x_{i} \Big), \quad k = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$
(5.109)

We establish that identity field in this case is proportional to  $A^k \partial_k$  by performing analysis similarly to Section 5.5.4. The following relation takes place.

**Lemma 5.5.17.** Functions  $A^k$ , (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) given by formula (5.109) satisfy the relation

$$\sum_{i=1}^{4} \varepsilon_i A^i = \sin\left(\frac{\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4}{2}\right) \left(2\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4}{2}\right) + \sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j < k \le 4\\l \in [4] \setminus \{i,j,k\}}} \cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j + \varepsilon_k x_k - 3\varepsilon_l x_l}{2}\right)\right),$$
(5.110)

where  $\varepsilon_i \in \{1, -1\}$ .

*Proof.* Let us substitute functions  $A^k$ , (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) from relation (5.109) into the lefthand side of the equation (5.110). Then by rearranging the terms one can get the formula

$$\varepsilon_1 A^1 + \varepsilon_2 A^2 + \varepsilon_3 A^3 + \varepsilon_4 A^4 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^4 \sin\left(2\varepsilon_i x_i\right) + 2\left(\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right)\cos\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3\right)\cos\left(\varepsilon_4 x_4\right) + \sin\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right)\cos\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1\right)\cos\left(\varepsilon_2 x_2\right)\right).$$
(5.111)

On the other hand we have

$$\sin\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}+\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-3\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)$$
$$=\frac{1}{2}\left(\sin\left(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}\right)+\sin\left(2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}\right)\right).$$
(5.112)

Now let M be the right-hand side of the equation (5.110). Then by relation (5.112) we have

$$M = \sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{i < j < k \\ l \neq i, j, k}} \left(\sin\left(\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j + \varepsilon_k x_k - \varepsilon_l x_l\right) + \sin\left(2\varepsilon_l x_l\right)\right).$$
(5.113)

Note that

$$\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) = \sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right) \cos\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) + \cos\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right) \sin\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right).$$

Note also that

$$\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 - \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) + \sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 - \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right)$$
$$= 2\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right)\cos\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 - \varepsilon_4 x_4\right),$$

Also we have

$$\sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 - \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) - \sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 - \varepsilon_2 x_2 - \varepsilon_3 x_3 - \varepsilon_4 x_4\right)$$
$$= 2\cos\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 - \varepsilon_2 x_2\right)\sin\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right).$$

Thus, formula (5.113) can be rearranged as

$$M = \sin\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right) \left(\cos\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) + \cos\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 - \varepsilon_4 x_4\right)\right) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^4 \sin\left(2\varepsilon_i x_i\right) + \sin\left(\varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4\right) \left(\cos\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2\right) + \cos\left(\varepsilon_1 x_1 - \varepsilon_2 x_2\right)\right).$$
(5.114)

It is clear that the right-hand side of relation (5.113) is equivalent to the right-hand side of relation (5.111) which proves the lemma.  $\Box$ 

The following identity holds.

**Lemma 5.5.18.** Functions  $A^k$ , (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) given by formula (5.109) satisfy the identity

$$(\varepsilon_{1}A^{1} + \varepsilon_{2}A^{2} + \varepsilon_{3}A^{3} + \varepsilon_{4}A^{4})\cot(\frac{\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} + \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} + \varepsilon_{4}x_{4}}{2})$$

$$= 1 + \cos(\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} + \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} + \varepsilon_{4}x_{4})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j < k \le 4\\ l \in [4] \setminus \{i,j,k\}}} \left(\cos(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}x_{j} + \varepsilon_{k}x_{k} - \varepsilon_{l}x_{l}) + \cos(2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l})\right).$$
(5.115)

where  $\varepsilon_i \in \{1, -1\}$  for all *i*.

*Proof.* We have by Lemma 5.5.17 that

$$(\varepsilon_{1}A^{1} + \varepsilon_{2}A^{2} + \varepsilon_{3}A^{3} + \varepsilon_{4}A^{4})\cot\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} + \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} + \varepsilon_{4}x_{4}}{2}\right)$$

$$= \cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} + \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} + \varepsilon_{4}x_{4}}{2}\right)\left(2\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{1}x_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}x_{2} + \varepsilon_{3}x_{3} + \varepsilon_{4}x_{4}}{2}\right)\right)$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j < k \le 4\\ l \in [4] \setminus \{i, j, k\}}} \cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}x_{j} + \varepsilon_{k}x_{k} - 3\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)\right), \qquad (5.116)$$

Firstly, we have

$$2\cos^2\left(\frac{\varepsilon_1x_1 + \varepsilon_2x_2 + \varepsilon_3x_3 + \varepsilon_4x_4}{2}\right) = 1 + \cos(\varepsilon_1x_1 + \varepsilon_2x_2 + \varepsilon_3x_3 + \varepsilon_4x_4).$$
(5.117)

Secondly, we have

$$\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}+\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)\cos\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-3\varepsilon_{l}x_{l}}{2}\right)$$
$$=\frac{1}{2}\left(\cos(\varepsilon_{i}x_{i}+\varepsilon_{j}x_{j}+\varepsilon_{k}x_{k}-\varepsilon_{l}x_{l})+\cos(2\varepsilon_{l}x_{l})\right).$$
(5.118)

Relation (5.115) follows by substituting relations (5.117), (5.118) into the right-hand side of relation (5.116).  $\hfill \Box$ 

We will also need the following identity.

**Lemma 5.5.19.** For distinct  $i, j, k, l \in [4]$  we have

$$(\varepsilon_i A^i + \varepsilon_j A^j) = \sin(\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j) \Big( \cos(\varepsilon_i x_i - \varepsilon_j x_j) + 2\cos(\varepsilon_k x_k)\cos(\varepsilon_l x_l) \Big), \quad (5.119)$$

where functions  $A^k$  (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) are given by formula (5.109) and  $\varepsilon_i \in \{1, -1\}$ .

*Proof.* From formula (5.109) we have

$$\varepsilon_i A^i + \varepsilon_j A^j = \frac{1}{2} (\varepsilon_i \sin 2x_i + \varepsilon_j \sin 2x_j) + 2(\varepsilon_i \sin x_i \prod_{k \neq i} \cos x_k + \varepsilon_j \sin x_j \prod_{k \neq j} \cos x_k)$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2} \Big( \sin(2\varepsilon_i x_i) + \sin(2\varepsilon_j x_j) \Big) + 2\cos(\varepsilon_k x_k) \cos(\varepsilon_l x_l) \sin(\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j).$$
  
(5.120)

By applying formula

$$\sin(2\varepsilon_i x_i) + \sin(2\varepsilon_i x_i) = 2\sin(\varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j)\cos(\varepsilon_i x_i - \varepsilon_j x_j),$$

we see that relation (5.120) takes the form (5.119). This proves the lemma.

The following statement confirms that with the choice of the functions  $A_i$  given by formula (5.109), the metric  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_k$  is diagonal.

**Proposition 5.5.20.** The linear combination  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_k$ , where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.109) and function F has the form (5.62), is a diagonal matrix.

*Proof.* Let us show that the entry  $B_{12} = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_{12k} = 0$ . In the notation of formulas (5.75) we have

$$\frac{2}{q}B_{12} = 2(A^1 + A^2)\cot(x_1 + x_2) - 2(A^1 - A^2)\cot(x_1 - x_2) - \sum_{i=1}^4 b_i + \sum_{i=5}^8 b_i.$$
 (5.121)

By making use of Lemmas 5.5.18 and 5.5.19 formula (5.90) reduces to

$$\frac{2}{q}B_{12} = 4\left(\cos(x_1 + x_2) - \cos(x_1 - x_2)\right)\cos x_3\cos x_4 - \left(\cos(x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + x_4) + \cos(x_1 + x_2 - x_3 - x_4)\right) + \left(\cos(x_1 - x_2 + x_3 - x_4) + \cos(x_1 - x_2 - x_3 + x_4)\right) + \left(\cos(x_1 - x_2 + x_3 + x_4) + \cos(x_1 - x_2 - x_3 - x_4)\right) - \left(\cos(x_1 + x_2 + x_3 - x_4) + \cos(x_1 + x_2 - x_3 + x_4)\right).$$
(5.122)

Formula (5.122) can be rearranged as follows

$$q^{-1}B_{12} = 4\sin x_1 \sin x_2 \cos x_3 \cos x_4 - \cos (x_1 + x_2) \Big( \cos (x_3 + x_4) + \cos (x_3 - x_4) \Big) + \cos (x_1 - x_2) \Big( \cos (x_3 + x_4) + \cos (x_3 - x_4) \Big) = 4\sin x_1 \sin x_2 \cos x_3 \cos x_4 - 2\cos x_3 \cos x_4 \Big( \cos (x_1 + x_2) - \cos (x_1 - x_2) \Big) = 0.$$

The other off-diagonal entries can be done by symmetry.

The following statement gives further property to the metric B.

**Proposition 5.5.21.** The linear combination  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_k$ , where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.109) and function F has the form (5.62), is proportional to the identity matrix.

*Proof.* By Proposition 5.5.20 we are left to show that  $B_{11} = B_{ss}$  for all s = 2, 3, 4. Let us consider s = 2. We have  $B_{11} = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_{11k}$ . In the notation of formulas (5.75) we have

$$q^{-1}B_{11} = -4A^{1}\cot x_{1} + \sum_{i=2}^{4} \left( (A^{1} + A^{i})\cot(x_{1} + x_{i}) + (A^{1} - A^{i})\cot(x_{1} - x_{i}) \right) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{8} b_{i}.$$
(5.123)

Also we have

$$q^{-1}B_{22} = -4A^{2}\cot x_{2} + \sum_{i \neq 2} \left( (A^{2} + A^{i})\cot(x_{2} + x_{i}) + (A^{2} - A^{i})\cot(x_{2} - x_{i}) \right) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{8} b_{i}.$$
(5.124)

Hence from (5.123), (5.124) we have

$$q^{-1}(B_{11} - B_{22}) = -4A^{1} \cot x_{1} + 4A^{2} \cot x_{2} + \sum_{i=3}^{4} \left( (A^{1} + A^{i}) \cot(x_{1} + x_{i}) + (A^{1} - A^{i}) \cot(x_{1} - x_{i}) \right) - \sum_{i=3}^{4} \left( (A^{2} + A^{i}) \cot(x_{2} + x_{i}) + (A^{2} - A^{i}) \cot(x_{2} - x_{i}) \right).$$
(5.125)

Now by making use of Lemma 5.5.19 formula (5.125) reduces to

$$q^{-1}(B_{11} - B_{22}) = -2(\cos^2 x_1 - \cos^2 x_2) + 2\sum_{i=3}^4 \cos(x_1 + x_i)\cos(x_1 - x_i)$$
$$-2\sum_{i=3}^4 \cos(x_2 + x_i)\cos(x_2 - x_i) - 2\cos x_1\sum_{\substack{3 \le i, j \le 4 \\ i \ne j}} \cos x_i (\cos(x_2 + x_j) + \cos(x_2 - x_j))$$
$$+ 2\cos x_2\sum_{\substack{3 \le i, j \le 4 \\ i \ne j}} \cos x_i (\cos(x_1 + x_j) + \cos(x_1 - x_j)).$$
(5.126)

By applying the following identities

$$2\cos(a+b)\cos(a-b) = \cos 2a + \cos 2b,$$
  

$$\cos(a+b) + \cos(a-b) = 2\cos a\cos b,$$
  

$$2\cos^2 a = \cos 2a + 1.$$

it follows that  $B_{11} - B_{22} = 0$ . Similarly one can check that  $B_{11} = Bss$  for s = 3, 4.

Now since the metric B is a multiple of the identity matrix, let  $B = hI_4$  for some function h = h(x). Before we find the explicit formula for the function h, let us prove some lemmas.

**Lemma 5.5.22.** In the notation of formulas (5.75) we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{8} b_i = 8 + 4 \sum_{i=1}^{4} \cos 2x_i + 3 \sum_{\varepsilon_i \in \{-1,1\}} \cos(x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4).$$
(5.127)

where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.109) and function F has the form (5.62).

*Proof.* Relation (5.127) follows by direct substitution of the formulas of  $b_i$  from Lemma 5.5.18 into the left-hand side of relation (5.127).

**Lemma 5.5.23.** In the notation of formulas (5.75) we have

$$\sum_{i=9}^{14} b_i = 3\cos 2x_1 + \sum_{i=2}^{4} \cos x_i + 12 \prod_{i=1}^{4} \cos x_i.$$
 (5.128)

where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.109) and function F has the form (5.62).

*Proof.* From Lemma 5.5.19 we have

$$\sum_{i=9}^{14} b_i = 2 \sum_{i=2}^{4} \cos(x_1 + x_i) \cos(x_1 - x_i) + 2 \sum_{\substack{2 \le i \le 4\\j,k \in [4] \setminus \{1,i\}\\j \ne k}} \left( \cos(x_1 + x_i) + \cos(x_1 - x_i) \right) \cos x_j \cos x_k.$$
(5.129)

Relation (5.128) follows by making use of Lemma 5.5.13 and by applying the following identities on the right-hand side of relation (5.129):

$$2\cos(a+b)\cos(a-b) = \cos 2a + \cos 2b,$$
  
$$\cos(a+b) + \cos(a-b) = 2\cos a\cos b.$$

The following statement gives the explicit formula of the coefficient of the proportionality  $B \sim I_4$ .

**Proposition 5.5.24.** The linear combination  $B = \sum_{k=1}^{4} A^k F_k$ , where functions  $A^k$  are given by formula (5.109) and function F has the form (5.62), has the form  $B = hI_4$ , where the function h = h(x) is given by

$$h(x) = -q \left( 6 + \sum_{i=1}^{4} \cos 2x_i + 8 \prod_{i=1}^{4} \cos x_i \right)$$
  
=  $-q \left( 6 + \sum_{i=1}^{4} \cos 2x_i + \sum_{\varepsilon_i \in \{-1,1\}} \cos (x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3 + \varepsilon_4 x_4) \right)$   
=  $\frac{1}{4} \left( -24q + \sum_{\alpha \in F_{4,s}^+} c_\alpha \cos(2(\alpha, x)) \right)$   
=  $-\frac{1}{2} \left( 36q + \sum_{\alpha \in F_{4,s}^+} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha, x) \right),$  (5.130)

where  $F_{4,s}^+$  is the subset of short roots in  $F_4^+$ .

*Proof.* From Proposition 5.5.21 we know that B is a multiple of the identity matrix, thus the diagonal entries  $B_{ii}$  are equal and hence  $h = B_{ii}$  for any i = 1, 2, 3, 4. In the notation of formulas (5.75) we have

$$\frac{2}{q}B_{11} = -8A^1 \cot x_1 - \sum_{i=1}^8 b_i + 2\sum_{i=9}^{14} b_i.$$
(5.131)

Note that

$$A^{1} \cot x_{1} = \frac{1}{2} (1 + \cos 2x_{1}) + 2 \prod_{i=1}^{4} \cos x_{i}.$$
 (5.132)

Then by relation (5.132) and Lemmas 5.5.22, 5.5.23 we get

$$\frac{2}{q}B_{11} = -12 - 2\sum_{i=1}^{4} \cos 2x_i - 16\prod_{i=1}^{4} \cos x_i.$$
(5.133)

Formula (5.130) follows from relation (5.133).

The following statement takes place.

**Proposition 5.5.25.** Functions  $A^k$  given by formula (5.109) have the equivalent formula

$$A^{k} = -\frac{1}{8q} \sum_{\alpha \in F_{4,s}^{+}} c_{\alpha}(e_{k}, \alpha) \sin(2(\alpha, x)), \quad k = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$
 (5.134)

*Proof.* Since

$$\sum_{\substack{\varepsilon_s \in \{-1,1\}\\s=\{i,j,l\}}} \sin(x_k + \varepsilon_i x_i + \varepsilon_j x_j + \varepsilon_l x_l) = 8 \sin x_k \prod_{m \neq k} \cos x_m,$$

then formula (5.109) can be written equivalently as

$$A^{k} = \frac{1}{4} \left( 2\sin 2x_{k} + \sum_{\substack{\varepsilon_{s} \in \{-1,1\}\\s=\{i,j,l\}}} \sin(x_{k} + \varepsilon_{i}x_{i} + \varepsilon_{j}x_{j} + \varepsilon_{l}x_{l}) \right)$$
(5.135)

Then it is easy to check that the right-hand side of formula (5.135) is equal to the right-hand side of formula (5.134).

The following statement is a corollary of Theorem 5.4.2 and Proposition 5.5.24.

**Proposition 5.5.26.** The identity vector field e for the collection  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  given by

formula (5.65) under the condition r = -4q is given by the formula

$$e = h^{-1} A^k \partial_{x_k}, \quad k = 1, 2, 3, 4, \tag{5.136}$$

where function h is given by formula (5.130) and  $A^k$  is given by formula (5.134).

#### 5.5.6 Identity vector field for projections of $F_4$

In this subsection we deal with the restrictions of a given solution of the commutativity equations and find the corresponding identity vector field and its relation with the original one before restriction. This process allows to obtain new solutions to WDVV equations.

The following statement explains this relation.

**Proposition 5.5.27.** Let F(x) be a function and  $e = e^k \partial_{x_k}$  be a vector field such that  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$ . Let  $\pi$  be the hyperplane  $\pi := \{x \in V : x_N = 0\}$  and let  $\widetilde{F}(x_1, \ldots, x_{N-1}) = F(x_1, \ldots, x_N)|_{\pi}$ . Suppose that  $e(\widetilde{x}) \in T_{\widetilde{x}}\pi$  for all  $\widetilde{x} \in \pi$ . Suppose also that  $(F_{Nij})|_{\pi}$  is well-defined for all  $i, j = 1, \ldots, N-1$ . Let  $\widetilde{e} = e|_{\pi} \in \Gamma(T_*\pi)$ . Then  $\widetilde{e}(\widetilde{F}_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$ .

Proof. Consider equality  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$  for  $x \in \pi$ , i, j = 1, ..., N-1. Note that  $(e^N \partial_{x_N} F_{ij})|_{\pi} = 0$  since  $e^N|_{\pi} = 0$  and  $F_{Nij}$  is well-defined for all i, j = 1, ..., N-1. It follows that  $\tilde{e}(\tilde{F}_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$ .

Now, recall that Corollary 4.8.5 confirms that all the functions of the form (5.62) corresponding to the three-dimensional and two-dimensional projections of the root system  $F_4$  under the conditions r = -2q or r = -4q satisfy the commutativity equations (5.3). As an application of Proposition 5.5.27 we find the identity vector field for the three dimensional projections of root system  $F_4$ . Recall also that for  $F_4$  root system there are two projections in dimension 3. Let us start with the first projected system.

The projected system  $(F_4, A_1)_1$  of  $F_4$  to the hyperplane  $x_4 = 0$  consists of the following set of vectors:

$$e_{i}, \text{ with multiplicity } r + 2q, \quad 1 \leq i \leq 3,$$

$$e_{i} \pm e_{j}, \text{ with multiplicity } q, \quad 1 \leq i < j \leq 3,$$

$$\frac{1}{2}(e_{1} \pm e_{2} \pm e_{3}), \text{ with multiplicity } 2r. \qquad (5.137)$$

For the projected system (5.137) where parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -2qthe following statement takes place. Note that the configuration (5.137) in the case r = -2q contains 10 vectors only with non-zero multiplicities. **Theorem 5.5.28.** The identity vector field  $\tilde{e}$  for the restricted system (5.137), where parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -2q, exists and has the formula

$$\widetilde{e} = \widetilde{h}^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{3} \widetilde{A}^k \partial_{x_k},$$

where

$$\widetilde{A}^{k} = \sin x_{k} \Big( \cos x_{k} \sum_{i \neq k} \cos 2x_{i} - 2 \prod_{i \neq k} \cos x_{i} \Big), \quad k = 1, 2, 3, \tag{5.138}$$

and

$$\widetilde{h} = \frac{q}{2} \Big( 10 + \sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le 3\\\varepsilon \in \{-1,1\}}} \cos\left(2x_i + 2\varepsilon x_j\right) - 4 \sum_{\varepsilon_2,\varepsilon_3 \in \{-1,1\}} \cos\left(x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3\right) \Big) \\ = \frac{1}{2} \Big( 10q + \sum_{\alpha \in (F_4, A_1)_1} c_\alpha \cos(2(\alpha, x)) \Big) = \frac{1}{2} \Big( -\sum_{\alpha \in (F_4, A_1)_1} c_\alpha + \sum_{\alpha \in (F_4, A_1)_1} c_\alpha \cos(2(\alpha, x)) \Big) \\ = -\sum_{\alpha \in (F_4, A_1)_1} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha, x).$$
(5.139)

Proof. Let  $\pi$  be the hyperplane  $\pi := \{x \in \mathbb{C}^4 : x_4 = 0\}$ , and let  $\widetilde{F}$  be the restriction of the function  $F = \sum_{\alpha \in F_4^+} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, x))$  to the hyperplane  $\pi$ . That is  $\widetilde{F}(x_1, x_2, x_3) =$  $F(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4)|_{\pi}$ . Note that identity vector field (5.108) for the collection  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  given by formula (5.65), where parameters r, q satisfy condition r = -2q, satisfies  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$ . It is easy to see that  $(F_{4ij})|_{x_4=0}$  is regular for all i, j = 1, 2, 3. Now let  $\widetilde{x} \in \pi$ . It is easy to see that  $A^4|_{x_4=0} = 0$  from formula (5.76). Hence by Proposition 5.5.27 there exist a vector field  $\widetilde{e}$  that satisfies  $\widetilde{e}(\widetilde{F}_{\alpha\beta}) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$ , and it is given by  $\widetilde{e} = e|_{\pi} = (\sum_{k=1}^3 h^{-1}A^k\partial_{x_k})|_{x_4=0}$ . Now from formula (5.76) it is easy to check that  $(A^k)|_{x_4=0}$  is equal to the stated form  $\widetilde{A}^k$  for k = 1, 2, 3. Also by formula (5.100) it is easy to check that  $h|_{x_4=0}$  has the stated formula of  $\widetilde{h}$ . Vector field  $\widetilde{e}$  is the identity field by Proposition 5.4.1. This complete the proof of the theorem.

The following proposition gives an equivalent formula for functions (5.138).

**Proposition 5.5.29.** Function  $\widetilde{A}^k$  given by formula (5.138) can be written equivalently as

$$\widetilde{A}^{k} = \frac{1}{4q} \sum_{\alpha \in (F_{4}, A_{1})_{1}} c_{\alpha}(e_{k}, \alpha) \sin(2(\alpha, x)), \quad k = 1, 2, 3.$$
(5.140)

*Proof.* Firstly, it is easy to check that the following identities take place in dimension three

$$\sin x_k \prod_{m \neq k} \cos x_m = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i \neq j \neq k \neq i} \sin(x_k \pm x_i \pm x_j),$$
$$\sin 2x_k \sum_{i \neq k} \cos 2x_i = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{m \neq k} \sin(2x_k \pm 2x_m).$$

Hence the right-hand side of formula (5.138) becomes

$$\widetilde{A}^{k} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{m \neq k} \sin(2x_{k} \pm 2x_{m}) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \neq j \neq k \neq i} \sin(x_{k} \pm x_{i} \pm x_{j}).$$
(5.141)

Now one can check that the right-hand sides of formulas (5.140) and (5.141) are equal.  $\Box$ 

For the projected system (5.137) where parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -4q the following statement takes place.

**Theorem 5.5.30.** The identity vector field  $\tilde{e}$  for the projected system (5.137), where parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -4q, exists and has the formula

$$\widetilde{e} = \widetilde{h}^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{3} \widetilde{A}^k \partial_{x_k},$$

where

$$\widetilde{A}^k = \sin x_k (\cos x_k + 2 \prod_{i \neq k} \cos x_i), \quad k = 1, 2, 3,$$
(5.142)

and

$$\widetilde{h} = -q \Big(7 + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \cos 2x_i + 8 \prod_{i=1}^{3} \cos x_i\Big).$$
(5.143)

Proof. Let  $\pi$  be the hyperplane  $\pi := \{x \in \mathbb{C}^4 : x_4 = 0\}$ , and let  $\widetilde{F}$  be the restriction of the function  $F = \sum_{\alpha \in F_4^+} c_\alpha f((\alpha, x))$  to the hyperplane  $\pi$ . That is  $\widetilde{F}(x_1, x_2, x_3) =$  $F(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4)|_{\pi}$ . Note that identity vector field (5.136) for the collection  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  given by formula (5.65), where parameters r, q satisfy condition r = -4q, satisfies  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$ . It is easy to see that  $(F_{4ij})|_{x_4=0}$  is regular for all i, j = 1, 2, 3. Now let  $\widetilde{x} \in \pi$ . It is easy to see that  $A^4|_{x_4=0} = 0$  from formula (5.109). Hence by Proposition 5.5.27 there exist a vector field  $\widetilde{e}$  that satisfies  $\widetilde{e}(\widetilde{F}_{\alpha\beta}) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$ , and it is given by  $\widetilde{e} = e|_{\pi} = (\sum_{k=1}^3 h^{-1}A^k\partial_{x_k})|_{x_4=0}$ . Now from formula (5.109) it is easy to check that  $(A^k)|_{x_4=0}$  is equal to the stated form  $\widetilde{A}^k$  for k = 1, 2, 3. Also by formula (5.130) it is easy to see that  $h|_{x_4=0}$  is equal to the stated form of  $\widetilde{h}$ . Vector field  $\widetilde{e}$  is the identity field by Proposition 5.4.1. This complete the proof of the theorem. The following statement is easy to check since the identities

$$\sin x_k \prod_{m \neq k} \cos x_m = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i \neq j \neq k \neq i} \sin(x_k \pm x_i \pm x_j),$$

and

$$\sum_{\epsilon_2, \epsilon_3 \in \{-1, 1\}} \cos(x_1 + \epsilon_2 x_2 + \epsilon_3 x_3) = 4 \prod_{m=1}^3 \cos x_m$$

hold in dimension three.

**Proposition 5.5.31.** Functions  $\widetilde{A}^k$  given by formula (5.142) can be written equivalently as

$$\widetilde{A}^{k} = \frac{1}{2} \Big( \sin 2x_{k} + \sum_{i \neq j \neq k \neq i} \sin(x_{k} \pm x_{i} \pm x_{j}) \Big), \quad k = 1, 2, 3, \tag{5.144}$$

and function (5.143) can be written as

$$\widetilde{h} = -q \Big(7 + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \cos 2x_i + 2 \sum_{\varepsilon_2, \varepsilon_3 \in \{-1,1\}} \cos(x_1 + \varepsilon_2 x_2 + \varepsilon_3 x_3)\Big).$$
(5.145)

Now let  $\pi$  be the hyperplane  $\pi := \{x \in \mathbb{C}^4 : x_3 = x_4\}$ . Let us consider the projection of the root system  $F_4$  to  $\pi$ , and let us denote the resulting system by  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} = (F_4, A_1)_2$ . Let us define vectors  $f_i(1 \le i \le 4)$  by

$$f_1 = e_1, \quad f_2 = e_2, \quad f_3 = \frac{e_3 + e_4}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad f_4 = \frac{e_3 - e_4}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (5.146)

Vectors  $f_1, f_2, f_3$  form a basis in  $\pi$ , where  $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^4$  is the standard basis. Then the projected system  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$  consists of vectors  $\alpha$  with the corresponding multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$  given as follows:

$$f_{1}, f_{2}, \text{ with multiplicity } r,$$

$$\sqrt{2}f_{3}, \text{ with multiplicity } q,$$

$$\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}f_{3}, \text{ with multiplicity } 2r,$$

$$f_{1} \pm f_{2}, \text{ with multiplicity } q,$$

$$\frac{1}{2}(f_{1} \pm f_{2}), \text{ with multiplicity } 2r,$$

$$f_{1} \pm \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}f_{3}, f_{2} \pm \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}f_{3}, \text{ with multiplicity } 2q,$$

$$\frac{1}{2}(f_{1} \pm f_{2} \pm \sqrt{2}f_{3}), \text{ with multiplicity } r. \qquad (5.147)$$

In order to make use of Proposition 5.5.27 let us perform the orthogonal change of variables

(5.146). Let C be the constant  $4 \times 4$  matrix such that

$$\widetilde{x}_k = \sum_{i=1}^4 C_i^k x_i,$$
(5.148)

where  $\widetilde{x}_1, \widetilde{x}_2, \widetilde{x}_3, \widetilde{x}_4$  is a new coordinates system given by

$$\widetilde{x}_1 = x_1, \quad \widetilde{x}_2 = x_2, \quad \widetilde{x}_3 = \frac{x_3 + x_4}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad \widetilde{x}_4 = \frac{x_3 - x_4}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
(5.149)

Thus we have

$$C = \begin{pmatrix} C_1^1 & C_2^1 & C_3^1 & C_4^1 \\ C_1^2 & C_2^2 & C_3^2 & C_4^2 \\ C_1^3 & C_2^3 & C_3^3 & C_4^3 \\ C_1^4 & C_2^4 & C_4^4 & C_4^4 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.150)

Note also that  $\tilde{x}_3|_{\pi} = \sqrt{2}x_3$ , and  $\tilde{x}_4|_{\pi} = 0$ . Hence the hyperplane  $\pi$  in the new coordinates reads  $\pi = \{\tilde{x} \in \mathbb{C}^4 : \tilde{x}_4 = 0\}$ . Before we give the formula of the identity vector field for the configuration (5.147), let us proof some general propositions.

The following statement confirms that commutativity equations are preserved under orthogonal transformations.

**Proposition 5.5.32.** Let  $F = F(x_1, ..., x_N)$  be a function on  $\mathbb{C}^N$  that satisfies commutativity equations

$$F_i F_j = F_j F_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, N.$$

Let C be the constant matrix of an orthogonal change of variables such that

$$\widetilde{x}_k = C_i^k x_i, \tag{5.151}$$

where  $\tilde{x}_1, \ldots, \tilde{x}_N$  is a new coordinates system and summation over *i* is assumed. Let  $\hat{C} = C^{-1}$  so we have

$$\widehat{C}^k_{\alpha} C^{\beta}_k = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}. \tag{5.152}$$

Then commutativity equations

$$\widetilde{F}_i\widetilde{F}_j=\widetilde{F}_j\widetilde{F}_i, \quad i,j=1,\ldots,N,$$

where  $\widetilde{F}(\widetilde{x}) = F(x)$ , hold.

*Proof.* Since  $\partial_{x_i} = C_i^k \partial_{\tilde{x}_k}$ , then we have

$$F_{ijk} = C_k^{\tilde{k}} C_j^{\tilde{j}} C_i^{\tilde{i}} \widetilde{F}_{\tilde{i}\tilde{j}\tilde{k}}.$$
(5.153)

Consider the commutativity equations

$$F_{ijk}F_{klm} = F_{mjk}F_{kli}. (5.154)$$

Then by formula (5.153) equality (5.154) reads in the new coordinates as

$$C_k^{\tilde{k}} C_j^{\tilde{j}} C_i^{\tilde{i}} C_k^a C_l^b C_m^d \tilde{F}_{\tilde{i}\tilde{j}\tilde{k}} \tilde{F}_{abd} = C_m^{\tilde{m}} C_j^{\tilde{j}} C_k^{\tilde{k}} C_k^a C_l^b C_i^d \tilde{F}_{\tilde{m}\tilde{j}\tilde{k}} \tilde{F}_{abd}.$$
(5.155)

Let us multiply both sides of equality (5.155) by  $\widehat{C}^m_{\alpha} \widehat{C}^j_{\beta} \widehat{C}^l_{\gamma} \widehat{C}^i_{\epsilon}$ . We get

$$C_k^{\tilde{k}} C_k^a \tilde{F}_{\epsilon\beta\tilde{k}} \tilde{F}_{a\alpha\gamma} = C_k^{\tilde{k}} C_k^a \tilde{F}_{\alpha\beta\tilde{k}} \tilde{F}_{a\gamma\epsilon}.$$
(5.156)

But for the orthogonal transformation we have  $C_k^{\tilde{k}}C_k^a = \delta^{\tilde{k}a}$ . Hence equality (5.156) reduces to

$$\widetilde{F}_{\epsilon\beta a}\widetilde{F}_{a\alpha\gamma}=\widetilde{F}_{\alpha\beta a}\widetilde{F}_{a\gamma\epsilon}.$$

That is  $\widetilde{F}_{\epsilon}\widetilde{F}_{\alpha} = \widetilde{F}_{\alpha}\widetilde{F}_{\epsilon}$ . This proves the proposition.

The next statement takes place.

**Proposition 5.5.33.** Let F(x) be a function and  $e = e^k \partial_{x_k}$  be a vector field such that  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$ . Let C and  $\widehat{C}$  be as given in Proposition 5.5.32. Let  $\widetilde{F}(\widetilde{x}) = F(x)$  and  $\widetilde{e}(\widetilde{x}) = e(x)$ . Then  $\widetilde{e}(\widetilde{F}_{\alpha\beta}) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$ , with  $\widetilde{e} = \widetilde{e}^k C_k^{\widetilde{k}} \partial_{x_{\widetilde{k}}}$ .

*Proof.* We have

$$e^k F_{ijk} = \delta_{ij}.\tag{5.157}$$

By relation (5.151) we have  $\partial_{x_i} = C_i^k \partial_{\tilde{x}_k}$ . Hence we have

$$F_{ijk} = C_k^{\widetilde{k}} C_j^{\widetilde{j}} C_i^{\widetilde{i}} \widetilde{F}_{\widetilde{i}\widetilde{j}\widetilde{k}}.$$
(5.158)

Let  $e^k(x) = \tilde{e}^k(\tilde{x})$ . Then by formula (5.158) relation (5.157) can be written as

$$\widetilde{e}^{k}C_{k}^{\widetilde{k}}C_{j}^{\widetilde{j}}C_{i}^{\widetilde{i}}\widetilde{F}_{\widetilde{i}\widetilde{j}\widetilde{k}} = \delta_{ij}.$$
(5.159)

Multiply equality (5.159) by  $\widehat{C}^i_{\alpha} \widehat{C}^j_{\beta}$ . We get

$$\widetilde{e}^k C_k^{\widetilde{k}} \widetilde{F}_{\alpha\beta\widetilde{k}} = \widehat{C}_\alpha^i \widehat{C}_\beta^i.$$
(5.160)

But for the orthogonal transformation we have  $\hat{C}^i_{\alpha}\hat{C}^i_{\beta} = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$ . Hence equality (5.160) becomes

$$\tilde{e}^k C_k^{\tilde{k}} \tilde{F}_{\alpha\beta\tilde{k}} = \delta_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(5.161)

Let  $\tilde{e} = \tilde{e}^k C_k^{\tilde{k}} \partial_{x_{\tilde{k}}}$ . We have by relation (5.161) that  $\tilde{e}(\tilde{F}_{\alpha\beta}) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$  and hence  $\tilde{e}$  is the identity vector field by Theorem 5.4.2. The new identity vector field satisfies

$$\widetilde{e}(\widetilde{x}) = \widetilde{e}^k(\widetilde{x})\partial_{x_k} = e^k(x)\partial_{x_k} = e(x).$$
(5.162)

This proves the proposition.

For the restricted system (5.147) where parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -2qthe following statement takes place.

**Theorem 5.5.34.** The identity vector field  $\tilde{e}$  for the system (5.147), where parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -2q, exists and has the formula

$$\widetilde{e} = \widetilde{h}^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{3} \widetilde{A}^k \partial_{\widetilde{x}_k},$$

where

$$\widetilde{A}^{1} = \sin \widetilde{x}_{1} \Big( \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} \big( -1 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{2} + 2\cos\sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_{3} \big) - \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} \big( 1 + \cos\sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_{3} \big) \Big),$$
  

$$\widetilde{A}^{2} = \sin \widetilde{x}_{2} \Big( \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} \big( -1 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{1} + 2\cos\sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_{3} \big) - \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} \big( 1 + \cos\sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_{3} \big) \Big),$$
  

$$\widetilde{A}^{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sin\sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_{3} \Big( -1 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{1} + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{2} + \cos\sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_{3} - 2\cos\widetilde{x}_{1}\cos\widetilde{x}_{2} \Big), \qquad (5.163)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{h} &= \frac{q}{2} \Big( 13 - 2 \big( \cos 2\widetilde{x}_1 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_2 + 2\cos\sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_3 \big) \\ &- 2 \sum_{\varepsilon_2, \varepsilon_3 \in \{-1,1\}} \cos \left( \widetilde{x}_1 + \varepsilon_2 \widetilde{x}_2 + \varepsilon_3 \sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_3 \right) + 2 \big( \cos \left( 2\widetilde{x}_1 + \sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_3 \right) + \cos \left( 2\widetilde{x}_1 - \sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_3 \right) \big) \\ &+ 2 \big( \cos \left( 2\widetilde{x}_2 + \sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_3 \right) + \cos \left( 2\widetilde{x}_2 - \sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_3 \right) \big) - 4 \big( \cos \left( \widetilde{x}_1 + \widetilde{x}_2 \right) + \cos \left( \widetilde{x}_1 - \widetilde{x}_2 \right) \big) \\ &+ \cos 2\sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_3 + \cos \left( 2\widetilde{x}_1 + 2\widetilde{x}_2 \right) + \cos \left( 2\widetilde{x}_1 - 2\widetilde{x}_2 \right) \Big) = \frac{1}{2} \Big( 13q + \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_\alpha \cos(2(\alpha, \widetilde{x})) \Big) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \Big( - \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_\alpha + \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_\alpha \cos(2(\alpha, \widetilde{x})) \Big) = - \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha, \widetilde{x}). \end{split}$$
(5.164)

*Proof.* Firstly, note that identity vector field (5.136) for the collection  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  given by formula (5.65), where parameters r, q satisfy condition r = -2q, satisfies that  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$  by

Theorem 5.4.2. Let us make the change of variables (5.149). Let  $\hat{e}(\tilde{x}) = e(x)$  be the identity vector field in the new coordinates and let  $\hat{F}(\tilde{x}) = F(x)$ . Then by Proposition 5.5.33 the vector field  $\hat{e}$  satisfies  $\hat{e}(\hat{F}_{\alpha\beta}) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$ . The hyperplane  $x_3 = x_4$  in the new coordinates can be represented as  $\tilde{\pi} := \{\tilde{x} \in \mathbb{C}^4 : \tilde{x}_4 = 0\}$ . Let  $\hat{A}^k(\tilde{x}) = A^k(x), k = 1, 2, 3, 4$ , where  $A^k$ is defined by (5.76). We have

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{A}^{1} &= \sin \widetilde{x}_{1} \Big( \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} \Big( -1 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{2} + \cos(\frac{2\widetilde{x}_{3} + 2\widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) + \cos(\frac{2\widetilde{x}_{3} - 2\widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big) \\ &- 2 \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} \cos(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} + \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \cos(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big), \\ \widehat{A}^{2} &= \sin \widetilde{x}_{2} \Big( \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} \Big( -1 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{1} + \cos(\frac{2\widetilde{x}_{3} + 2\widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) + \cos(\frac{2\widetilde{x}_{3} - 2\widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big) \\ &- 2 \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} \cos(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} + \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \cos(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big), \\ \widehat{A}^{3} &= \sin(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} + \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big( \cos(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} + \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big( -1 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{1} + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{2} + \cos(\frac{2\widetilde{x}_{3} - 2\widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big) \\ &- 2 \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} \cos(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big), \\ \widehat{A}^{4} &= \sin(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big( \cos(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big( -1 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{1} + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{2} + \cos(\frac{2\widetilde{x}_{3} + 2\widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big) \\ &- 2 \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} \cos(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big( -1 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{1} + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_{2} + \cos(\frac{2\widetilde{x}_{3} + 2\widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big) \\ &- 2 \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} \cos(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}) \Big). \end{aligned}$$
(5.165)

Let  $e = e^k(x)\partial_{x_k}$ , and let  $\hat{e}^k(\tilde{x}) = e^k(x)$ . Then  $e = \hat{e} = \hat{e}^k(\tilde{x})C_k^m\partial_{\tilde{x}_m}$ , where coefficients  $C_k^m$  are defined by (5.150).

We have that

$$he = \sum_{k,m=1}^{4} \widehat{A}^k C_k^m \partial_{\widetilde{x}_m} = \widehat{A}^1 \partial_{\widetilde{x}_1} + \widehat{A}^2 \partial_{\widetilde{x}_2} + \left(\frac{\widehat{A}^3 + \widehat{A}^4}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \partial_{\widetilde{x}_3} + \left(\frac{\widehat{A}^3 - \widehat{A}^4}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \partial_{\widetilde{x}_4}, \qquad (5.166)$$

where h is defined in (5.5.14). From (5.165) it is clear that  $\widehat{A}^3|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0} = \widehat{A}^4|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0}$ . Thus from formula (5.166) we have  $\left(\sum_{k,m=1}^4 \widehat{A}^k C_k^m \partial_{\widetilde{x}_m}\right)|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0} \in T_* \widetilde{\pi}$ . Hence  $\widehat{e}|_{\widetilde{\pi}} \in T_* \widetilde{\pi}$ .

It is easy also to see that  $(\widehat{F}_{4ij})|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0}$  is regular for all i, j = 1, 2, 3. Hence by Proposition 5.5.27, the vector field  $\widetilde{e}$  given by  $\widetilde{e} = \widehat{e}|_{\widetilde{\pi}} = e|_{\pi} = (\sum_{k=1}^{4} h^{-1} A^k \partial_{x_k})|_{x_3=x_4}$  satisfies  $\widetilde{e}(\widetilde{F}_{\alpha\beta}) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$ . Vector field  $\widetilde{e}$  is the identity field by Proposition 5.4.1. Now from formula (5.76) it is easy to check that  $(\widehat{A}^k)|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0} = \widetilde{A}^k$  for k = 1, 2, and  $(\frac{\widehat{A}^3 + \widehat{A}^4}{\sqrt{2}})|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0} = \widetilde{A}^3$ . Also by formula (5.100) it is easy to check that  $h|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0}$  gives the stated form of  $\widetilde{h}$ . This complete the proof of the theorem.

The following proposition gives an equivalent formula for functions (5.163).

**Proposition 5.5.35.** Functions  $\widetilde{A}^k$  given by formula (5.163) can be written equivalently

as

$$\widetilde{A}^{k} = \frac{1}{4q} \sum_{\alpha \in (F_{4}, A_{1})_{2}} c_{\alpha}(e_{k}, \alpha) \sin\left(2(\alpha, x)\right), \quad k = 1, 2, 3.$$
(5.167)

*Proof.* The straightforward calculations of the right-hand side of formula (5.167) shows that formula (5.167) leads to formulas (5.163) where the following basic identities are applied when required

$$\sin a + \sin b = 2\sin\left(\frac{a+b}{2}\right)\cos\left(\frac{a-b}{2}\right),$$
  
$$\sin a - \sin b = 2\cos\left(\frac{a+b}{2}\right)\cos\left(\frac{a-b}{2}\right),$$
  
$$\cos a + \cos b = 2\cos\left(\frac{a+b}{2}\right)\cos\left(\frac{a-b}{2}\right).$$

For the projected system (5.147) where parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -4q the following statement takes place.

**Theorem 5.5.36.** The identity vector field  $\tilde{e}$  for the system (5.147), where parameters r, q satisfy the condition r = -4q, exists and has the formula

$$\widetilde{e} = \widetilde{h}^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{3} \widetilde{A}^k \partial_{\widetilde{x}_k},$$

where

$$\widetilde{A}^{1} = \sin \widetilde{x}_{1} \Big( \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} + \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} (1 + \cos \sqrt{2} \widetilde{x}_{3}) \Big),$$
  

$$\widetilde{A}^{2} = \sin \widetilde{x}_{2} \Big( \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} + \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} (1 + \cos \sqrt{2} \widetilde{x}_{3}) \Big),$$
  

$$\widetilde{A}^{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sin(\sqrt{2} \widetilde{x}_{3}) \Big( 1 + 2 \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} \Big),$$
(5.168)

and

$$\widetilde{h} = -q \Big( 6 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_1 + \cos 2\widetilde{x}_2 + 2\cos\sqrt{2}\widetilde{x}_3 + 8\cos\widetilde{x}_1\cos\widetilde{x}_2\cos^2\frac{\widetilde{x}_3}{\sqrt{2}} \Big).$$
(5.169)

Proof. Firstly, note that identity vector field (5.136) for the collection  $\mathcal{A} = F_4^+$  given by formula (5.65), where parameters r, q satisfy condition r = -4q, satisfies  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$  by Theorem 5.4.2. Let us make the change of variables (5.149). Let  $\hat{e}$  be the identity vector field in the new coordinates and let  $\hat{F}(\tilde{x}) = F(x)$ . Then by Proposition 5.5.33 the vector field  $\hat{e}$  satisfies  $\hat{e}(\hat{F}_{\alpha\beta}) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$ . The hyperplane  $x_3 = x_4$  in the new coordinates can be represented as  $\tilde{\pi} := \{\tilde{x} \in \mathbb{C}^4 : \tilde{x}_4 = 0\}$ . Let  $\hat{A}^k(\tilde{x}) = A^k(x), k = 1, 2, 3, 4$ , where  $A^k$  is defined by (5.109). We have

$$\widehat{A}^{1} = \sin \widetilde{x}_{1} \left( \cos \widetilde{x}_{1} + 2\cos \widetilde{x}_{2}\cos\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} + \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\cos\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \right),$$

$$\widehat{A}^{2} = \sin \widetilde{x}_{2} \left( \cos \widetilde{x}_{2} + 2\cos \widetilde{x}_{1}\cos\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} + \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\cos\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \right),$$

$$\widehat{A}^{3} = \sin\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} + \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \left(\cos\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} + \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) + 2\cos \widetilde{x}_{1}\cos \widetilde{x}_{2}\cos\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \right),$$

$$\widehat{A}^{4} = \sin\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \left(\cos\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} - \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) + 2\cos \widetilde{x}_{1}\cos \widetilde{x}_{2}\cos\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}_{3} + \widetilde{x}_{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \right).$$
(5.170)

Let  $e = e^k(x)\partial_{x_k}$ , and let  $\hat{e}^k(\tilde{x}) = e^k(x)$ . Then  $e = \hat{e} = \hat{e}^k(\tilde{x})C_k^m\partial_{\tilde{x}_m}$ , where coefficients  $C_k^m$  are defined by (5.150).

We have that

$$he = \sum_{k,m=1}^{4} \widehat{A}^{k} C_{k}^{m} \partial_{\widetilde{x}_{m}} = \widehat{A}^{1} \partial_{\widetilde{x}_{1}} + \widehat{A}^{2} \partial_{\widetilde{x}_{2}} + \left(\frac{\widehat{A}^{3} + \widehat{A}^{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \partial_{\widetilde{x}_{3}} + \left(\frac{\widehat{A}^{3} - \widehat{A}^{4}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \partial_{\widetilde{x}_{4}}, \qquad (5.171)$$

where function h is defined in (5.130). From (5.165) it is clear that  $\widehat{A}^3|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0} = \widehat{A}^4|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0}$ . Thus from formula (5.166) we have  $\left(\sum_{k,m=1}^4 \widehat{A}^k C_k^m \partial_{\widetilde{x}_m}\right)|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0} \in T_* \widetilde{\pi}$ . Hence  $\widehat{e}|_{\widetilde{\pi}} \in T_* \widetilde{\pi}$ . It is easy also to see that  $(\widehat{F}_{4ij})|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0}$  is regular for all i, j = 1, 2, 3. Hence by Proposition 5.5.27 the vector field  $\widetilde{e}$  given by  $\widetilde{e} = \widehat{e}|_{\widetilde{\pi}} = e|_{\pi} = (\sum_{k=1}^4 h^{-1} A^k \partial_{x_k})|_{x_3=x_4}$  satisfies  $\widetilde{e}(\widetilde{F}_{\alpha\beta}) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$ . Vector field  $\widetilde{e}$  is the identity field by Proposition 5.4.1. Now from formula (5.109) it is easy to check that  $(\widehat{A}^k)|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0} = \widetilde{A}^k$  for k = 1, 2, and  $\left(\frac{\widehat{A}^3 + \widehat{A}^4}{\sqrt{2}}\right)|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0} = \widetilde{A}^3$ . Also by formula (5.130) it is easy to check that  $h|_{\widetilde{x}_4=0}$  gives the stated form of  $\widetilde{h}$ . This complete the proof of the theorem.

The following statement is a corollary of Corollary 4.8.5 and Theorems 5.5.28, 5.5.30, 5.5.34, and 5.5.36.

**Theorem 5.5.37.** The function F given by formula (5.62) corresponding to configurations (5.137) and (5.147) where r = -2q or r = -4q satisfies WDVV equations (5.2).

Let  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A} \cap W$  be a subsystem of  $\mathcal{A}$  for some *n*-dimensional linear subspace  $W = \langle \mathcal{B} \rangle \subset V$ . Let

$$W_{\mathcal{B}} \coloneqq \{ x \in V \colon (\beta, x) = 0 \quad \forall \beta \in \mathcal{B} \}.$$

Recall that  $\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha)$  denotes the orthogonal projection of  $\alpha \in V$  to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  with respect to the inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  and  $\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha) : \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha) \neq 0, \alpha \in \mathcal{A}\}$ . Let  $f_1, \ldots, f_n$ be an orthonormal basis of the space  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ , and let  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n$  be the corresponding orthonormal coordinates in  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Let us extend the orthonormal basis in  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  to an orthonormal basis  $f_1, \ldots, f_n, f_{n+1}, \ldots, f_N$  in V and let  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n, \xi_{n+1}, \ldots, \xi_N$  be the corresponding orthonormal coordinates in V. Then the following statement takes place.

**Theorem 5.5.38.** Let e be a vector field such that  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$  for all i, j = 1, ..., N, where  $F_{ij} = \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial x_i \partial x_j}$ . Let  $\widehat{F}(\xi_1, ..., \xi_N) = F(x_1, ..., x_N)$  and  $\widehat{e}(\xi_1, ..., \xi_N) = e(x_1, ..., x_N)$ . Suppose that  $e(\xi) \in T_{\xi}W_{\mathcal{B}}$  for all  $\xi \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Let  $\widetilde{e} = \widehat{e}|_{W_{\mathcal{B}}} \in \Gamma(T_*W_{\mathcal{B}})$ . Then  $\widetilde{e}((F_{\mathcal{B}})_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$ , where  $(F_{\mathcal{B}})_{ij} = \frac{\partial^2 F_{\mathcal{B}}}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_j}$  and function  $F_{\mathcal{B}}$  is given by formula (5.63).

Proof. Let C be the constant matrix of an orthogonal change of variable such that  $\xi_k = \sum_{i=1}^{N} C_i^k x_i$ . Then by Proposition 5.5.33 we have  $\hat{e}(\hat{F}_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$  where  $\hat{F}_{ij} = \frac{\partial^2 \hat{F}}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_j}$ ,  $(i, j = 1, \ldots, N)$ . Hence  $\hat{e}(\hat{F}_{ij}|_{W_{\mathcal{B}}}) = \delta_{ij}$ ,  $(i, j = 1, \ldots, n)$ . The statement follows since  $\tilde{e} = \hat{e}|_{W_{\mathcal{B}}} \in \Gamma(T_*W_{\mathcal{B}})$  and  $\hat{F}|_{W_{\mathcal{B}}} = F_{\mathcal{B}}$ ,  $\hat{F}_{ij}|_{W_{\mathcal{B}}} = (F_{\mathcal{B}})_{ij}$ .

The following statement is a corollary of Theorem 5.5.38.

**Theorem 5.5.39.** Under the assumptions of Theorem 5.5.38 let e be the vector filed given by

$$e = c_0 H^{-1} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha \sin(2(\alpha, x)) \partial_\alpha, \qquad (5.172)$$

for some constant  $c_0$ , where

$$H = H_0 + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha, x)$$
(5.173)

for some constant  $H_0$ . Let vector field  $\tilde{e}$  be given by

$$\widetilde{e} = c_0 \widetilde{H}^{-1} \sum_{\widetilde{\alpha} \in \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{A})} c_{\widetilde{\alpha}} \sin(2(\widetilde{\alpha}, \xi)) \partial_{\widetilde{\alpha}}, \quad \xi \in W_{\mathcal{B}},$$
(5.174)

where  $\widetilde{H} = H_0 + \sum_{\widetilde{\alpha} \in \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{A})} c_{\widetilde{\alpha}} \sin^2(\widetilde{\alpha}, \xi)$ . Then  $\widetilde{e}((F_{\mathcal{B}})_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}, i, j = 1, ..., n$ , where function  $F_{\mathcal{B}}$  is given by formula (5.63).

*Proof.* For any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  we have the decomposition

$$\alpha = \alpha^{(1)} + \alpha^{(2)}, \tag{5.175}$$

where  $\alpha^{(1)} = \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\alpha) \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  and  $\alpha^{(2)} \in W_{\mathcal{B}}^{\perp}$ . Now for any  $\xi \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  we have

$$H(\xi) = H_0 + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha, \xi) = H_0 + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha^{(1)}, \xi) = H_0 + \sum_{\widetilde{\alpha} \in \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{A})} c_{\widetilde{\alpha}} \sin^2(\widetilde{\alpha}, \xi) = \widetilde{H}(\xi).$$
(5.176)

Similarly, for any  $\xi \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  we have

$$\sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \sin(2(\alpha,\xi)) \partial_{\alpha} = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} \sin(2(\alpha^{(1)},\xi)) \partial_{\alpha^{(1)}} = \sum_{\widetilde{\alpha} \in \pi_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{A})} c_{\widetilde{\alpha}} \sin(2(\widetilde{\alpha},\xi)) \partial_{\widetilde{\alpha}} \qquad (5.177)$$

since  $e(\xi) \in T_{\xi}W_{\mathcal{B}}$  by assumption. From (5.176) and (5.177) we have  $e(\xi) = \tilde{e}(\xi)$ . It follows from Theorem 5.5.38 that  $\tilde{e}((F_{\mathcal{B}})_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$ . This completes the proof.

Note that root system  $F_4$  has four projected system on the plane (see the Appendix for more details). Let us present these planar projections briefly.

• The projected system  $(F_4, A_2)_1$  which is obtained by projecting  $F_4$  to the subspace

$$W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(1)} = \{ x \in \mathbb{C}^4, x_1 = x_2 = x_3 \},$$
(5.178)

• The projected system  $(F_4, A_2)_2$  which is obtained by projecting  $F_4$  to the subspace

$$W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(2)} = \{ x \in \mathbb{C}^4, x_3 = x_1 + x_2, x_4 = 0 \},$$
(5.179)

• The projected system  $(F_4, B_2)$  which is obtained by projecting  $F_4$  to the subspace

$$W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(3)} = \{ x \in \mathbb{C}^4, x_3 = x_4 = 0 \},$$
(5.180)

• The projected system  $(F_4, A_1^2)$  which is obtained by projecting  $F_4$  to the subspace

$$W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(4)} = \{ x \in \mathbb{C}^4, x_2 = x_3, x_4 = 0 \}.$$
 (5.181)

In the following theorem we apply Proposition 5.5.39 to the planar projections of the root system  $F_4$ .

#### **Theorem 5.5.40.** *Let*

$$e = -\frac{1}{4q\widetilde{H}} \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} \sin(2(\alpha, \xi)) \partial_{\alpha}, \qquad (5.182)$$

where

$$\widetilde{H} = \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} \sin^2(\alpha, \xi).$$
(5.183)

Then  $\widetilde{e}(\widetilde{F}_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$ , i, j = 1, 2, where  $\widetilde{F} = \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, \xi))$  and  $\xi_1, \xi_2$  are an orthonormal coordinates in  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , and  $\mathcal{A}$  is one of the configurations  $(F_4, A_2)_1$ ,  $(F_4, A_2)_2$ ,  $(F_4, B_2)$ ,  $(F_4, A_1^2)$  with r = -2q.

Proof. Firstly, for root system  $F_4$ , where parameters r, q satisfy r = -2q, the identity field e given by formula (5.108) satisfies that  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$  for all i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4. Secondly, it is easy to check that for each of the given cases the condition  $e(\tilde{x}) \in T_{\tilde{x}}W_{\mathcal{B}}$  for all  $\tilde{x} \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  holds. Hence the statement follows as a corollary of Proposition 5.5.16 and Theorem 5.5.39.

For simplicity we will write  $\pi_W(F_{4,s}^+) = (F_{4,s}^+, W)$  for a subspace  $W \subset \mathbb{C}^4$ .

Theorem 5.5.41. Let

$$e = \frac{1}{4q\tilde{H}} \sum_{\alpha \in \tilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} \sin(2(\alpha, \xi)) \partial_{\alpha}, \qquad (5.184)$$

where

$$\widetilde{H} = 36q + \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} \sin^2(\alpha, \xi).$$
(5.185)

Then  $\widetilde{e}(\widetilde{F}_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$ , i, j = 1, 2, where  $\widetilde{F} = \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, \xi))$  and  $\xi_1, \xi_2$  are an orthonormal coordinates in  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , and  $\mathcal{A}$  is one of the configurations  $(F_{4,s}^+, W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(1)}), (F_{4,s}^+, W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(2)}), (F_{4,s}^+, W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(3)}), (F_{4,s}^+, W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(3)}), (F_{4,s}^+, W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(3)})$  with r = -4q.

Proof. Firstly, for root system  $F_4$ , where parameters r, q satisfy r = -4q, the identity field e given by formula (5.136) satisfies that  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$  for all i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4. Secondly, it is easy to check that for each of the given cases the condition  $e(\tilde{x}) \in T_{\tilde{x}}W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(s)}$  for all  $\tilde{x} \in W_{\mathcal{B}}^{(s)}$ , where s = 1, 2, 3, 4, holds. Hence the statement follows as a corollary of Proposition 5.5.26 and Theorem 5.5.39.

## 5.5.7 Identity vector field for $G_2$

In this subsection we give the formula of the identity vector field for root system  $G_2$ .

Let  $\mathcal{A} = G_2^+$  be the positive half of the root system  $G_2$  with the multiplicity function given by

$$c(\sqrt{3}e^1) = c(\frac{\sqrt{3}e^1}{2} \pm \frac{3e^2}{2}) = q, \quad c(e^2) = c(\frac{\sqrt{3}e^1}{2} \pm \frac{e^2}{2}) = p, \quad (5.186)$$

where  $p, q \in \mathbb{C}$ . Recall that by Theorem 4.1.5 function (5.62) corresponding to the collection  $\mathcal{A} = G_2^+$  satisfies commutativity equations  $F_1F_2 = F_2F_1$  if and only if p = -3q or p = -9q. Define the vector field

$$e = A^{1}(x)\partial_{x_{1}} + A^{2}(x)\partial_{x_{2}}, \quad x = (x_{1}, x_{2}),$$
(5.187)

where functions  $A^{i}(x)$ , i = 1, 2, are the functions given by formulas  $A^{1} = F_{122}$ ,  $A^{2} = -F_{112}$ . Then the matrix  $B = A^{1}F_{1} + A^{2}F_{2}$  satisfies

$$B_{ij} = e(F_{ij}) = \sum_{k=1}^{2} A^k(x) F_{ijk}, \quad i, j = 1, 2.$$
(5.188)

Moreover, the matrix B is proportional to the identity matrix. Let us now give the explicit

formulas for functions  $A^1$ ,  $A^2$  for both cases. We have

$$A^{1} = F_{122} = \frac{\sqrt{3}p}{8} \left( \cot\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}x_{1}}{2} + \frac{x_{2}}{2}\right) + \cot\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}x_{1}}{2} - \frac{x_{2}}{2}\right) \right)$$
$$+ \frac{9\sqrt{3}q}{8} \left( \cot\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}x_{1}}{2} + \frac{2x_{2}}{2}\right) + \cot\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}x_{1}}{2} - \frac{3x_{2}}{2}\right) \right),$$

$$A^{2} = -F_{112} = -\frac{3p}{8} \left( \cot\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}x_{1}}{2} + \frac{x_{2}}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}x_{1}}{2} - \frac{x_{2}}{2}\right) \right) + \frac{9q}{8} \left( \cot\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}x_{1}}{2} + \frac{2x_{2}}{2}\right) - \cot\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}x_{1}}{2} - \frac{3x_{2}}{2}\right) \right).$$

Now we have two cases to consider.

Case (1). p = -3q. We have

$$A^{1} = \sqrt{3} \sin \sqrt{3}x_{1} \Big( \cos \sqrt{3}x_{1} + \cos x_{2} \big( \cos 2x_{2} - 2 \big) \Big),$$
  

$$A^{2} = 3 \sin x_{2} \Big( \cos \sqrt{3}x_{1} \cos 2x_{2} - \cos x_{2} \Big).$$
(5.189)

The following proposition gives general formula for functions  $A^1, A^2$ .

**Proposition 5.5.42.** Functions  $A^1, A^2$  given by formula (5.189) take the form

$$A^{k} = \frac{1}{2q} \sum_{\alpha \in G_{2}^{+}} c_{\alpha}(e_{k}, \alpha) \sin(2(\alpha, x)), \quad k = 1, 2.$$
(5.190)

*Proof.* Firstly, since  $\cos 2x_2 \cos x_2 = \frac{1}{2}(\cos 3x_2 + \cos x_2)$ , then from (5.189) we have

$$A^{1} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \sin 2\sqrt{3}x_{1} + \sqrt{3} \sin \sqrt{3}x_{1} \cos x_{2} \cos 2x_{2} - 2\sqrt{3} \sin \sqrt{3}x_{1} \cos x_{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \Big( \sqrt{3} \sin 2\sqrt{3}x_{1} + \sqrt{3} \sin \sqrt{3}x_{1} \cos 3x_{2} - 3\sqrt{3} \sin \sqrt{3}x_{1} \cos x_{2} \Big).$$
(5.191)

It is easy to check that the right-hand side of formula (5.191) is equal to right-hand side of formula (5.190) for k = 1.

Secondly, since  $\cos 2x_2 \sin x_2 = \frac{1}{2}(\sin 3x_2 + \sin x_2)$ , then from (5.189) we have

$$A^{2} = 3\cos\sqrt{3}x_{1}\sin x_{2}\cos 2x_{2} - \frac{3}{2}\sin 2x_{2}$$
$$= \frac{3}{2} \Big(\cos\sqrt{3}x_{1}\sin 3x_{2} - \cos\sqrt{3}x_{1}\sin x_{2} - \sin 2x_{2}\Big).$$
(5.192)

It is easy to check that the right-hand side of formula (5.192) is equal to right-hand side of formula (5.190) for k = 2.

Now we have the linear combination  $B = A^i F_i = h(x) I_2$ , where  $I_2$  is the 2 × 2 identity
matrix and function h(x) has the form

$$h(x) = \frac{9q}{4} \Big( \cos 2\sqrt{3}x_1 + (\cos 2x_2 - 2)(-3 + 4\cos\sqrt{3}x_1\cos x_2) \Big) \\ = \frac{9}{4} \Big( 6q + \sum_{\alpha \in G_2^+} c_\alpha \cos(2(\alpha, x)) \Big) = \frac{9}{4} \Big( -\sum_{\alpha \in G_2^+} c_\alpha + \sum_{\alpha \in G_2^+} c_\alpha \cos(2(\alpha, x)) \Big) \\ = -\frac{9}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in G_2^+} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha, x).$$
(5.193)

The following statement takes place.

**Proposition 5.5.43.** The identity vector field e for the collection  $\mathcal{A} = G_2^+$  defined by (5.186) under the condition p = -3q is given by the formula

$$e = h^{-1} (A^1 \partial_{x_1} + A^2 \partial_{x_2}), \tag{5.194}$$

where function h is given by formula (5.193) and  $A^1, A^2$  are given by formula (5.190) with k = 1, 2 respectively.

Case (2). p = -9q. We have

$$A^{1} = \sqrt{3} \sin \sqrt{3} x_{1} \cos x_{2},$$
  

$$A^{2} = \sin x_{2} \Big( \cos \sqrt{3} x_{1} + 2 \cos x_{2} \Big).$$
(5.195)

The following proposition gives general formula for functions  $A^1, A^2$ .

**Proposition 5.5.44.** Functions  $A^1, A^2$  given by formula (5.195) take the form

$$A^{k} = -\frac{1}{9q} \sum_{\alpha \in G_{2,s}^{+}} c_{\alpha}(e_{k}, \alpha) \sin(2(\alpha, x)), \quad k = 1, 2,$$
(5.196)

where  $G_{2,s}^+$  is the subset of short roots in  $G_2^+$ .

*Proof.* It is easy to check that the right-hand side of formula (5.196) for k = 1, 2 gives the formula  $A^1, A^2$  given by (5.195).

Now we have the linear combination  $B = A^i F_i = h(x)I_2$ , where  $I_2$  is the 2 × 2 identity

matrix and function h(x) has the form

$$h(x) = -\frac{9q}{2} \Big( 3 + 2\cos\sqrt{3}x_1\cos x_2 + \cos 2x_2 \Big) \\ = \frac{1}{2} \Big( -27q + \sum_{\alpha \in G_{2,s}^+} c_\alpha \cos(2(\alpha, x)) \Big) \\ = -\Big( 27q + \sum_{\alpha \in G_{2,s}^+} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha, x) \Big).$$
(5.197)

The following statement takes place.

**Proposition 5.5.45.** The identity vector field e for the collection  $\mathcal{A} = G_2^+$  defined by (5.186) under the condition p = -9q is given by the formula

$$e = h^{-1} (A^1 \partial_{x_1} + A^2 \partial_{x_2}), \tag{5.198}$$

where function h is given by formula (5.197) and  $A^1, A^2$  are given by formula (5.196) for k = 1, 2 respectively.

### **5.5.8** Identity vector field for $BC_N$

In this subsection we give the formula of the identity vector field corresponding to root system  $BC_N$  based on our results from Chapter 4.

Recall that we have the configuration  $\mathcal{A} = BC_N^+ \subset \mathbb{C}^N$  consisting of the following vectors and their corresponding multiplicities

$$e_i, \quad \text{with multiplicity} \quad r, \quad 1 \le i \le N,$$

$$2e_i, \quad \text{with multiplicity} \quad s, \quad 1 \le i \le N,$$

$$e_i \pm e_j, \quad \text{with multiplicity} \quad q, \quad 1 \le i < j \le N,$$
(5.199)

where  $e_1, \ldots, e_N$  is the standard basis in  $\mathbb{C}^N$ . We have shown that if the multiplicities r, s and q satisfy the relation

$$r = -8s - 2q(N-2), (5.200)$$

then function

$$F = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, x))$$
(5.201)

satisfies both equations (5.2) and (5.3) with the matrix B given by

$$B = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sin 2x_k F_k.$$
 (5.202)

Moreover, the entries of the matrix B are given by the formula

$$B_{lt} = h(x)\delta_{lt}, \quad l, t = 1, \dots, N,$$
 (5.203)

where

$$h(x) = r + 2q \sum_{k=1}^{N} \cos 2x_k.$$
(5.204)

The following statement follows by Proposition 5.4.1.

**Proposition 5.5.46.** The identity vector field e for  $BC_N^+$  under the condition (5.200) for the multiplicity parameters is given by the formula

$$e = h^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sin 2x_k \partial_{x_k},$$
 (5.205)

where function h is given by formula (5.204).

The following proposition gives an equivalent formula for the identity field (5.205).

**Proposition 5.5.47.** Let  $\widehat{\mathcal{A}} = \{e_k, k = 1, \dots, N\} \subset BC_N^+$ . Then the identity vector field for  $BC_N^+$  under the condition (5.200) for the multiplicity parameters has the formula

$$e = -\frac{1}{4q} H^{-1} \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} \sin(2(\alpha, x)) \partial_{\alpha}, \qquad (5.206)$$

where function H is given by

$$H = \frac{r(2s-q)}{q} + \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} \sin^2(\alpha, x).$$
(5.207)

*Proof.* Firstly, since  $c_{\alpha} = r$  for any  $\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}$  then we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} \sin 2x_k \partial_{x_k} = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_\alpha(e_k, \alpha) \sin(2(\alpha, x)) \partial_{x_k} = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_\alpha \sin(2(\alpha, x)) \partial_\alpha.$$
(5.208)

Secondly, we have

$$r + 2q \sum_{k=1}^{N} \cos 2x_k = r + \frac{2q}{r} \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_\alpha \cos(2(\alpha, x))$$
$$= -8s - 2q(N-2) + \frac{2q}{r} \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_\alpha (1 - 2\sin^2(\alpha, x))$$
$$= -\frac{4q}{r} \Big( \frac{r(2s-q)}{q} + \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}}} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha, x) \Big).$$
(5.209)

Then formula (5.206) follows by substituting formulas (5.208) and (5.209) into formula (5.205).  $\hfill \Box$ 

#### 5.5.9 Identity vector field for restrictions of $BC_N$

In this subsection we give the formula of the identity vector field corresponding to root system  $BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m})$  based on our results from Chapter 4.

Recall that we have the configuration  $\mathcal{A} = BC_N^+$  given by (5.199). Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\underline{m} = (m_1, \ldots, m_n)$  with  $m_i \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\sum_{i=1}^n m_i = N$ . Let us consider subsystem  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{B} = \{ e_{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} m_j + k} - e_{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} m_j + l}, \quad 1 \le k < l \le m_i, i = 1, \dots, n \}.$$

Let us also consider the corresponding subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  of dimension n given by

$$W_{\mathcal{B}} = \{ x \in W : (\beta, x) = 0, \forall \beta \in \mathcal{B} \}.$$

More explicitly, vectors  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_N) \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$  satisfy conditions:

$$\begin{cases} x_1 = \dots = x_{m_1}, \\ x_{m_1+1} = \dots = x_{m_1+m_2}, \\ \vdots \\ x_{\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} m_i+1} = \dots = x_N. \end{cases}$$

Note that vectors  $f_i, 1 \leq i \leq n$ , given by

$$f_i = \frac{1}{\sqrt{m_i}} \sum_{j=1}^{m_i} e_{\sum_{s=1}^{i-1} m_s + j}$$
(5.210)

form an orthonormal basis for  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Now for any vector  $u = \sum_{i=1}^{N} u_i e_i \in \mathbb{C}^N$ , let  $\tilde{u}$  be its orthogonal projection to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . The formula of  $\tilde{u}$  is given by Lemma 4.3.4.

Now from Lemma 4.3.4 we have the following expression for the orthogonal projections of basis  $e_j$ ,  $(1 \le j \le N)$  to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$  in terms of the basis (5.210).

$$\widetilde{e}_{m_1 + \dots + m_{i-1} + 1} = \widetilde{e}_{m_1 + \dots + m_{i-1} + 2} = \dots = \widetilde{e}_{m_1 + \dots + m_i}$$

$$= \frac{1}{m_i} (\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{m_1 + \dots + m_{i-1}}, 1, \dots, 1, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{N - (m_1 + \dots + m_i)}) = \frac{f_i}{\sqrt{m_i}}, \quad 1 \le i \le n.$$
(5.211)

Let us now project  $BC_N^+$  to the subspace  $W_{\mathcal{B}}$ , and denote the projected system as  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} = BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m}) \subset W_{\mathcal{B}} \cong \mathbb{C}^n$ . Then configuration  $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$  consists of vectors  $\alpha$  with multiplicities  $c_{\alpha}$ :

$$m_i^{-1/2} f_i, \quad \text{with multiplicity} \quad rm_i, \quad 1 \le i \le n,$$
  

$$2m_i^{-1/2} f_i, \quad \text{with multiplicity} \quad sm_i + \frac{1}{2} qm_i(m_i - 1), \quad 1 \le i \le n,$$
  

$$m_i^{-1/2} f_i \pm m_j^{-1/2} f_j, \quad \text{with multiplicity} \quad qm_i m_j, \quad 1 \le i < j \le n.$$
(5.212)

Now suppose that parameters r, s, q and  $\underline{m}$  satisfy relation (5.200) with  $N = \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i$ . Consider the function

$$\widetilde{F} = \sum_{\alpha \in \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}} c_{\alpha} f((\alpha, \widetilde{x})), \quad \widetilde{x} \in W_{\mathcal{B}}.$$
(5.213)

Note that (see Corollary 4.8.4, see also Proposition 4.4.6) function (5.213) satisfies the commutativity equations

$$\widetilde{F}_i\widetilde{F}_j = \widetilde{F}_j\widetilde{F}_i \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n.$$

It is easy to check that the identity field (5.206) satisfies that  $e(\tilde{x}) \in T_{\tilde{x}}W_{\mathcal{B}}$  for any  $\tilde{x} \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$ . Hence the following statement follows as a corollary of Theorem 5.5.39 and Proposition 5.5.47.

**Theorem 5.5.48.** Let  $\widehat{\mathcal{B}} = \{m_k^{-1/2} f^k, k = 1, ..., n\} \subset BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m})$ . Then the identity vector field for  $BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m})$  under the condition (5.200) for the multiplicity parameters, where  $N = \sum_{i=1}^n m_i$ , has the formula

$$\widetilde{e} = -\frac{1}{4q} \widetilde{H}^{-1} \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{B}}} c_{\alpha} \sin(2(\alpha, \widetilde{x})) \partial_{\alpha}, \quad \widetilde{x} \in W_{\mathcal{B}}$$
(5.214)

where function  $\widetilde{H}$  is given by

$$\widetilde{H} = \frac{r(2s-q)}{q} + \sum_{\alpha \in \widehat{\mathcal{B}}} c_{\alpha} \sin^2(\alpha, \widetilde{x}).$$
(5.215)

## 5.5.10 Uniform formulas of identity field for (not simply-laced) root systems and their projections

In this subsection we summarize the identity vector fields for all root systems with more than one orbit as well as their restrictions.

The following theorem is a corollary of Propositions 5.5.16, 5.5.43.

**Theorem 5.5.49.** Let function F be given by (5.62). Consider a vector field e given by

$$e = c_0 H^{-1} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha \sin(2(\alpha, x)) \partial_\alpha, \qquad (5.216)$$

for some constant  $c_0$ , where

$$H = H_0 + \sum_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} c_\alpha \sin^2(\alpha, x)$$

for some constant  $H_0$ . Then  $e(F_{ij}) = \delta_{ij}$  if

\$\mathcal{A} = F\_4^+\$ given by formula (5.65) or \$\mathcal{A}\$ is one of the 3-dimensional projections (F\_4, A\_1)\_1, (F\_4, A\_1)\_2\$ given by formulas (5.137), (5.147) respectively, or \$\mathcal{A}\$ is one of the 2-dimensional projections (F\_4, A\_2)\_1, (F\_4, A\_2)\_2, (F\_4, B\_2), (F\_4, A\_1^2), under the conditions

$$r = -2q$$
,  $c_0 = -\frac{1}{4q}$ ,  $H_0 = 0$ ,

$$r = -4q, \quad c_0 = \frac{1}{4q}, \quad H_0 = 36q,$$

•  $\mathcal{A} = G_2^+$  given by formula (5.186) under the conditions

$$p = -3q$$
,  $c_0 = -\frac{1}{9q}$ ,  $H_0 = 0$ ,

•  $\mathcal{A} = G_{2,s}^+$  the subset of short roots in  $G_2^+$  under the conditions

$$p = -9q, \quad c_0 = \frac{1}{9q}, \quad H_0 = 27q,$$

•  $\mathcal{A} = \{m_k^{-1/2} f_k, k = 1, \dots, n\} \subset BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m}), \text{ where } BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m}) \text{ is given by}$ 

(5.212), under the conditions

$$r = -8s - 2q(\sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i - 2), \quad c_0 = -\frac{1}{4q}, \quad H_0 = \frac{r(2s - q)}{q}$$

where in this case if all  $m_i = 1$  (i = 1, ..., n), then  $BC_n(q, r, s; \underline{m})$  reduces to the standard  $BC_N^+$  with  $N = \sum_{i=1}^n m_i$ .

## Chapter 6

# Concluding remarks and open questions

### 6.1 Classification

In the current work we studied the trigonometric version of  $\lor$ -systems and trigonometric solutions to WDVV equations related to these systems. We proved that under some non-degeneracy conditions these collections are closed under the natural operations of taking subsystems and restrictions respectively, which extends the corresponding results in the rational case.

Solutions related to the trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems involve an extra variable which make the classification problem non-trivial already for dimension two. The classification of trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems remains an important open problem. We gave detailed description of all the known two-dimensional examples based on restrictions of root systems as well as some examples which are not of this form. We note that these configurations involve collinear vectors which makes the task of classification more challenging.

The existence of a rigid geometrical structure of a series decomposition of vectors in the trigonometric  $\lor$ -system helped to classify such systems up to five vectors on the plane (see [27]). In the current work we do further investigations and prove that these systems up to five vectors on the plane actually belong to the family of  $BC_2$  and  $A_2$  root systems and their deformations. We can also prove the following statement by working out the conditions of the series decomposition of vectors.

**Proposition 6.1.1.** Let trigonometric  $\lor$ -system  $\mathcal{A}$  on the plane consist of six vectors with non-zero multiplicities. Assume that  $\mathcal{A}$  contains exactly two pairs of proportional vectors. Then  $\mathcal{A}$  belong to the family of  $BC_2(r, s, q; \underline{m})$  for some values of parameters.

We hope that these examples as well as the strong series conditions would be instrumental in achieving classification of the trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems which requires further work.

### 6.2 Commutativity equations and WDVV equations

Commutativity equations  $F_iF_j = F_jF_i$  appear in  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric mechanics. Solutions to these equations corresponding to root systems  $G_2$ ,  $BC_N$ ,  $F_4$  were given in [3]. In the current work we investigated and clarified the relation between the commutativity and WDVV equations. We have shown that under certain non-degeneracy conditions the commutativity equations imply the WDVV equations, which leads to new solutions of WDVV equations from known solutions of the commutativity equations. We gave such trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations (without extra variables) related to root systems  $BC_N$  and  $F_4$  and their restrictions. It would be interesting to see whether there are more Frobenius manifold structures associated to solutions of WDVV equations both without and with the extra variable.

# Appendix A

# Trigonometric $\lor$ -systems on the plane

In this appendix we present explicitly all the known trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems on the plane. We follow Bourbaki's work [6] for the presentation of root systems. Let us denote by  $(\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{B})$  the restriction of the root system  $\mathcal{R}$  along the subsystem  $\mathcal{B}$ .

### A.1 Planar restrictions of root system $F_4$

Recall that  $\mathcal{R} = F_4^+$  is the positive half of the root system  $F_4$  with the multiplicity function c given by

$$c\left(\frac{1}{2}(e^{1} \pm e^{2} \pm e^{3} \pm e^{4})\right) = c(e^{i}) = p, \quad (1 \le i \le 4),$$
  
$$c(e^{i} \pm e^{j}) = q, \quad (1 \le i < j \le 4),$$
(A.1)

where  $p, q \in \mathbb{C}$ . Recall also that in the corresponding solution (2.55) of WDVV equations (2.56) we have

$$\lambda = \lambda_{(F_4,c)} = 6\sqrt{3}(2q+p)(4q+p)^{-1/2}.$$
(A.2)

The basis of simple roots consists of

$$\alpha_1 = e^2 - e^3$$
,  $\alpha_2 = e^3 - e^4$ ,  $\alpha_3 = e^4$ ,  $\alpha_4 = \frac{1}{2}(e^1 - e^2 - e^3 - e^4)$ .

The Dynkin graph of  $F_4$  is

$$\alpha_1 \quad \alpha_2 \quad \alpha_3 \quad \alpha_4$$

Note that there are two different restrictions of the root system  $F_4$  along the root system  $A_2$ . The first one  $(F_4, A_2)_1$  is obtained by taking subsystem  $(A_2)_1$  spanned by  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2$ . The second one  $(F_4, A_2)_2$  is obtained taking subsystem  $(A_2)_2$  spanned by  $\alpha_3, \alpha_4$ . The following table gives all the planar restrictions of root system  $F_4$ .

$F_4$ root system			
Subsystem	Restricted system $\mathcal{A}$	Multiplicities	$ \mathcal{A} $
$(A_2)_1$	$e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm 3e^2)$	p, 3p, 3q, 3q, 3p, p	9
$(A_2)_2$	$e^1, e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(3e^1 \pm e^2)$	3(p+q),q,3(p+q),q	6
$B_2$	$e^1, e^2, 2e^1, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2$	4p, 4p, q, q, p + 4q	6
$A_1^2$	$e^1, e^2, 2e^1, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 2e^2$	2(p+2q), 4p, q, p+2q, 2p, 2q	8

Table A.1: Restricted systems of  ${\cal F}_4$  on the plane

The following equivalences take place:

- Configuration  $(F_4, A_2)_1$  is equivalent to the configuration given in Proposition 3.5.10.
- Configuration  $(F_4, A_2)_2$  is equivalent to root system  $G_2$  with invariant multiplicities.
- Configuration  $(F_4, B_2)$  belongs to the family of  $BC_2$  configurations.
- Configuration  $(F_4, A_1^2)$  coincides with the configuration given in Proposition 3.5.9.

## A.2 Planar restrictions of root system $E_8$

Recall that  $\mathcal{R} = E_8^+$  is the positive half of the root system  $E_8$  with the multiplicity function c given by

$$e^i \pm e^j$$
, with multiplicity  $t$ ,  $1 \le i < j \le 8$ ,  
 $\frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2 \pm e^3 \pm e^4 \pm e^5 \pm e^6 \pm e^7 \pm e^8)$ , with multiplicity  $t$ ,

where the sum of all eight coordinates is even and  $t \in \mathbb{C}$ .

Recall also that in the corresponding solution (2.55) of WDVV equations (2.56) we have

$$\lambda = \lambda_{(E_8,t)} = 30\sqrt{t}.\tag{A.3}$$

The basis of simple roots consists of

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{1}{2}e^1 + e^8 - \frac{1}{2}(e^2 + e^3 + e^4 + e^5 + e^6 + e^7), \quad \alpha_2 = e^1 + e^2, \quad \alpha_3 = e^2 - e^1, \\ \alpha_4 = e^3 - e^2, \quad \alpha_5 = e^4 - e^3, \quad \alpha_6 = e^5 - e^4, \quad \alpha_7 = e^6 - e^5, \quad \alpha_8 = e^7 - e^6.$$

The Dynkin graph of  $E_8$  is



The following table gives all the planar restrictions of root system  $E_8$ .

$E_8$ root system				
Subsystem	Restricted system $\mathcal{A}$	Multiplicities	$ \mathcal{A} $	
$E_6$	$e^1, e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(3e^1 \pm e^2)$	27, 1, 27, 1	6	
$D_6$	$e^1, e^2, 2e^1, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2$	32, 32, 1, 1, 12	6	
$A_6$	$e^1, 2e^1, e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(3e^1 \pm e^2)$	35, 7, 1, 21, 7	7	
$A_1 \times D_5$	$e^1, 2e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, 2e^1 \pm e^2$	32, 10, 20, 1, 16, 2	8	
$A_1 \times A_5$	$e^1, 2e^1, 3e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, 2e^1 \pm e^2$	30, 15, 2, 20, 1, 12, 6	9	
$A_2 \times D_4$	$e^1, e^2, 2e^1, e^1 \pm e^2, \frac{1}{2}(3e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2)$	24, 8, 3, 3, 8, 24	9	
$A_2 \times A_4$	$e^{1}, 2e^{1}, 3e^{1}, e^{2}, \frac{1}{2}(e^{1} \pm e^{2}), \frac{1}{2}(3e^{1} \pm e^{2}), \frac{1}{2}(5e^{1} \pm e^{2})$	30, 15, 5, 1, 15, 10, 3	10	
$A_3^2$	$e^1, 2e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, 2e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 2e^2$	24, 6, 24, 6, 16, 4, 4	10	
$A_1^2 \times A_4$	$\begin{array}{c} e^{1}, 2e^{1}, e^{2}, \frac{1}{3}(e^{1}+e^{2}), \frac{2}{3}(e^{1}+e^{2}), \\ \frac{1}{3}(2e^{1}-e^{2}), \frac{1}{3}(e^{1}-2e^{2}), \frac{2}{3}(2e^{1}-e^{2}), \\ \frac{1}{3}(5e^{1}+2e^{2}), \frac{1}{3}(5e^{1}-e^{2}), \frac{1}{3}(4e^{1}+e^{2}) \end{array}$	20, 5, 2, 20, 10, 20, 10, 5, 2, 4, 10	11	
$A_1 \times A_2 \times A_3$	$e^{1}, 2e^{1}, 3e^{1}, 4e^{1}, e^{2}, 2e^{2}, e^{1} \pm e^{2}, 2e^{1} \pm e^{2}, 3e^{1} \pm e^{2}$	24, 18, 8, 3, 12, 1, 12, 6, 4	12	
$A_1^2 \times A_2^2$	$e^{1}, 2e^{1}, 3e^{1}, e^{2}, 2e^{2}, 3e^{2}, e^{1} \pm e^{2}, 2(e^{1} \pm e^{2}), 2e^{1} \pm e^{2}, e^{1} \pm 2e^{2}$	18, 9, 2, 18, 9, 2, 12, 3, 6, 6	14	

Table A.2: Restricted systems of  $E_8$  on the plane

The following equivalences take place:

- The restriction  $(E_8, E_6)$  is equivalent to root system  $G_2$  with special multiplicities.
- The restriction  $(E_8, D_6)$  belongs to the family of  $BC_2$  configurations.
- The restriction  $(E_8, A_6)$  is equivalent to a configuration from the family given in Proposition 3.5.7 with special multiplicities.
- The restriction  $(E_8, A_1 \times A_5)$  belongs to the family of configuration given in Proposition 3.5.13 with special multiplicities.

- The restriction  $(E_8, A_1 \times D_5)$  is equivalent to a configuration from the family given in Proposition 3.5.9 with special multiplicities.
- The restriction  $(E_8, A_2 \times D_4)$  belongs to the family given in Proposition 3.5.10 with special multiplicities.

### A.3 Planar restrictions of root system $E_7$

Recall that  $\mathcal{R} = E_7^+$  is the positive half of the root system  $E_7$  with the multiplicity function  $c = t \in \mathbb{C}$  given by

$$e^{i} \pm e^{j}, \quad 1 \le i < j \le 6, \quad e^{8} - e^{7},$$
  
 $\frac{1}{2} \left( e^{8} - e^{7} + \sum_{i=1}^{6} (-1)^{\nu(i)} e^{i} \right), \text{ with } \sum_{i=1}^{6} \nu(i) \text{ odd.}$ 

Another realization of root system  $E_7$  is given earlier in Subsection 3.6.2. Recall also that in the corresponding solution (2.55) of WDVV equations (2.56) we have

$$\lambda = \lambda_{(E_7,t)} = 9\sqrt{6t}.\tag{A.4}$$

The basis of simple roots consists of

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{1}{2}e^1 + e^8 - \frac{1}{2}(e^2 + e^3 + e^4 + e^5 + e^6 + e^7), \quad \alpha_2 = e^1 + e^2, \quad \alpha_3 = e^2 - e^1,$$
  
$$\alpha_4 = e^3 - e^2, \quad \alpha_5 = e^4 - e^3, \quad \alpha_6 = e^5 - e^4, \quad \alpha_7 = e^6 - e^5.$$

The Dynkin graph of  $E_7$  is



Note that there are two different restrictions of root system  $E_7$  along the root system  $A_5$ . The first one  $(E_7, A_5)_1$  is obtained by taking subsystem the  $(A_5)_1$  spanned by the simple roots  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_3$ ,  $\alpha_4$ ,  $\alpha_5$ ,  $\alpha_6$ . The second one  $(E_7, A_5)_2$  is obtained by taking subsystem the  $(A_5)_2$  spanned by the simple roots  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_4$ ,  $\alpha_5$ ,  $\alpha_6$ ,  $\alpha_7$ . Note also that the restricted system obtaining by taking the subsystem spanned by the simple roots  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_4$ ,  $\alpha_5$ ,  $\alpha_6$  is equivalent to  $(E_7, A_5)_1$ .

The following table gives all the planar restrictions of root system  $E_7$ .

$E_7$ root system				
Subsystem	Restricted system $\mathcal{A}$	Multiplicities	$ \mathcal{A} $	
$D_5$	$e^1, e^2, e^1 + e^2, e^1 - e^2$	16, 16, 10, 1	4	
$(A_5)_1$	$e^1, 2e^1, e^2, e^1 \pm e^2$	20, 1, 15, 6	5	
$(A_5)_2$	$e^1, e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(3e^1 \pm e^2)$	15, 1, 15, 1	6	
$A_1 \times D_4$	$e^1, e^2, 2e^1, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2$	16, 16, 1, 1, 8	6	
$A_1 \times A_4$	$e^{1}, e^{2}, \frac{1}{3}(e^{1} + e^{2}), \frac{2}{3}(e^{1} + e^{2}), \frac{1}{3}(2e^{1} - e^{2}), \frac{1}{3}(e^{1} - 2e^{2})$	2, 5, 20, 5, 10, 10	6	
$A_2 \times A_3$	$2e^1, 2e^2, 4e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 3e^2$	1, 18, 3, 12, 4	7	
$A_1^2 \times A_3$	$e^1, 2e^1, e^2, 2e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 2e^2$	12, 1, 16, 6, 8, 2	8	
$A_1 \times A_2^2$	$e^1, 2e^1, 3e^1, e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, 2e^1 \pm e^2$	18, 9, 2, 9, 6, 3	8	
$A_1^3 \times A_2$	$2e^1, 2e^2, 4e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, 2(e^1 \pm e^2), e^1 \pm 3e^2$	4, 12, 3, 12, 3, 4	9	

Table A.3: R	lestricted systems	of $E_7$ on	the plane
--------------	--------------------	-------------	-----------

The following equivalences take place:

- Configuration  $(E_7, A_5)_1$  belongs to the family of  $BC_2$  configurations.
- Configuration  $(E_7, A_5)_2$  is equivalent to the root system  $G_2$  with special multiplicities.
- Configurations  $(E_7, D_5), (E_7, A_1 \times D_4)$  belong to the family of  $BC_2$  configurations.
- Configuration  $(E_7, A_1 \times A_4)$  is equivalent to a configuration from the family given in Proposition 3.5.6 with special multiplicities.
- Configuration  $(E_7, A_2 \times A_3)$  is equivalent to the configuration given in Proposition 3.5.7 with special multiplicities.
- Configuration  $(E_7, A_1^2 \times A_3)$  belongs to the family of configurations given in Proposition 3.5.9 with special multiplicities.
- Configuration  $(E_7, A_1^3 \times A_2)$  is equivalent to a configuration from the family given in Proposition 3.5.10 with special multiplicities.

## A.4 Planar restrictions of root system $E_6$

Recall that  $\mathcal{R} = E_6^+$  is the positive half of the root system  $E_6$  with the multiplicity function  $c = t \in \mathbb{C}$  given by

$$\begin{split} &e^i \pm e^j, \quad 1 \leq i < j \leq 5, \\ &\frac{1}{2} \Big( e^8 - e^7 - e^6 + \sum_{i=1}^5 (-1)^{\nu(i)} e^i \Big), \text{with } \sum_{i=1}^5 \nu(i) \text{ even.} \end{split}$$

Recall also that in the corresponding solution (2.55) of WDVV equations (2.56) we have

$$\lambda = \lambda_{(E_6,t)} = 12\sqrt{2t}.\tag{A.5}$$

The basis of simple roots consists of

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{1}{2}e^1 + e^8 - \frac{1}{2}(e^2 + e^3 + e^4 + e^5 + e^6 + e^7), \quad \alpha_2 = e^1 + e^2, \quad \alpha_3 = e^2 - e^1,$$
  
$$\alpha_4 = e^3 - e^2, \quad \alpha_5 = e^4 - e^3, \quad \alpha_6 = e^5 - e^4.$$

The Dynkin graph of  $E_6$  is



The following table gives all the planar restrictions of root system  $E_7$ .

Table A.4: Restricted systems of  $E_6$  on the plane

$E_6$ root system			
Subsystem	Restricted system $\mathcal{A}$	Multiplicities	$ \mathcal{A} $
$D_4$	$2e^1, e^1 \pm e^2$	8,8	3
$A_4$	$2e^1, 2e^2, e^1\pm e^2$	1, 5, 10	4
$A_1 \times A_3$	$e^1, 2e^1, e^2, e^1 \pm e^2$	12, 1, 8, 4	5
$A_2 \times A_2$	$e^1, e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2), \frac{1}{2}(3e^1 \pm e^2)$	9, 1, 9, 1	6
$\boxed{A_1^2 \times A_2}$	$e^{1}, e^{2}, \frac{1}{3}(e^{1} + e^{2}), \frac{2}{3}(e^{1} + e^{2}), \frac{1}{3}(2e^{1} - e^{2}), \frac{1}{3}(e^{1} - 2e^{2})$	2, 2, 12, 3, 6, 6	6

The following equivalences take place:

- The restriction  $(E_6, D_4)$  is equivalent to the root system  $A_2$ .
- The restrictions  $(E_6, A_4), (E_6, A_1 \times A_3)$  belong to the family of  $BC_2$  type configurations.
- The restriction  $(E_6, A_2 \times A_2)$  is equivalent to the root system  $G_2$  with special multiplicities.
- The restriction  $(E_6, A_1^2 \times A_2)$  is equivalent to a configuration from the family given in Proposition 3.5.6 with special multiplicities.

### A.5 Summary

Let us summarize all the known trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems on the plane. In addition to configurations  $BC_2(q, r, s; \underline{m}), A_2(t; \underline{m})$  and the root system  $G_2$  we have the following configurations (with general multiplicities) coming from restrictions of the root systems:

$(\mathcal{R},\mathcal{B})$	Restricted system $\mathcal{A}$	Multiplicities	λ	$ \mathcal{A} $
$(F_4, A_1^2)$	$e^1, e^2, 2e^1, 2e^2,$ $e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 2e^2$	2(p+2q), 4p, q, $p+2q, 2p, 2q$	$\frac{6\sqrt{3}(p+2q)}{\sqrt{p+4q}}$	8
$(F_4, A_2)$	$e^1, 2e^1, e^2, e^1 \pm e^2,$ $(3e^1 \pm e^2)/2, (e^1 \pm e^2)/2$	p,q,p/3,q,p/3,p	$\frac{6(p+2q)}{\sqrt{p+4q}}$	9
$(E_8, A_5 \times A_1)$	$e^1, 2e^1, 3e^1, e^2, 2e^2,$ $e^1 \pm e^2, 2e^1 \pm e^2$	30t, 15t, 2t, 20t, t, 12t, 6t	$30\sqrt{t}$	9
$(E_8, A_4 \times A_2)$	$e^1, 2e^1, 3e^1, e^2, (e^1 \pm e^2)/2,$ $(3e^1 \pm e^2)/2, (5e^1 \pm e^2)/2$	30t, 15t, 5t, t, 15t, 10t, 3t	$30\sqrt{t}$	10
$(E_8, A_3^2)$	$e^{1}, 2e^{1}, e^{2}, 2e^{2}, e^{1} \pm e^{2},$ $2e^{1} \pm e^{2}, e^{1} \pm 2e^{2}$	24t, 6t, 24t, 6t, 16t, 4t, 4t	$30\sqrt{t}$	10
$(E_8, A_4 \times A_1^2)$	$\begin{array}{c} e^1, 2e^1, e^2, (e^1+e^2)/3,\\ 2(e^1+e^2)/3, (2e^1-e^2)/3,\\ (e^1-2e^2)/3, 2(2e^1-e^2)/3,\\ (5e^1+2e^2)/3, (5e^1-e^2)/3,\\ (4e^1+e^2)/3 \end{array}$	20t, 5t, 2t, 20t, 10t, 20t, 10t, 20t, 10t, 5t, 2t, 4t, 10t	$30\sqrt{t}$	11
$(E_8, A_3 \times A_2 \times A_1)$	$e^{1}, 2e^{1}, 3e^{1}, 4e^{1}, e^{2}, 2e^{2}, e^{1} \pm e^{2},$ $2e^{1} \pm e^{2}, 3e^{1} \pm e^{2}$	$24t, 18t, 8t, 3t, 12t, \\t, 12t, 6t, 4t$	$30\sqrt{t}$	12
$(E_8, A_2^2 \times A_1^2)$	$\begin{vmatrix} e^1, 2e^1, 3e^1, e^2, 2e^2, 3e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, \\ 2(e^1 \pm e^2), 2e^1 \pm e^2, e^1 \pm 2e^2 \end{vmatrix}$	$\begin{array}{c} 18t, 9t, 2t, 18t, 9t, \\ 2t, 12t, 3t, 6t, 6t \end{array}$	$30\sqrt{t}$	14
$(E_7, A_2^2 \times A_1)$	$e^1, 2e^1, 3e^1, e^2, e^1 \pm e^2, 2e^1 \pm e^2$	18t, 9t, 2t, 9t, 6t, 3t	$9\sqrt{6t}$	8

### Table A.5: Planar restrictions of root systems

In the next table we list all the known trigonometric  $\lor$ -systems which are not restrictions of root systems.

$\mathcal{A}$	Multiplicities	Conditions	$\lambda$	$ \mathcal{A} $
$e^1, 2e^1, e^2, e^1 + e^2,$	4a, a, 2a, 2a,	$4a - 3b \neq 0,$	$6\sqrt{3}(2a-b)$	6
$e^1 - e^2, 2e^1 + e^2$	$2(a-b), \frac{2ab}{4a-3b}$	$a(2a-b) \neq 0$	$\sqrt{4a-3b}$	Ŭ
$e^1, e^2, 2e^2, \frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm e^2),$	$\frac{a(3a-2b)}{3a+4b}, 3a+2b,$	$3a + 4b \neq 0$	6(3a+2b)	7
$\frac{1}{2}(e^1 \pm 3e^2)$	b, 3a, a	$5a + 4b \neq 0$	$\sqrt{3a+4b}$	•
$e^1, 2e^1, 3e^1, e^2, 2e^2,$	$\frac{2b(3b+2a)}{b+2a}, \frac{b(3b+2a)}{b+2a}, \frac{2b(b-2a)}{3(b+2a)},$	$b + 2a \neq 0,$	$3\sqrt{2}(3b+2a)$	0
$e^1\pm e^2, 2e^1\pm e^2$	2a + 3b, a, 2b, b	$b(3b+2a) \neq 0$	$\sqrt{b+2a}$	3

Table A.6: Non-Coxeter planar examples

Note that

- The first configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  with 6 vectors can be obtained by restricting the configuration  $\mathcal{A}_1$  along the plane  $2x_1 + x_2 - x_3 = 0$ , where  $\mathcal{A}_1$  is the configuration given in Proposition 3.5.3.
- The second configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  with 7 vectors can be obtained by restricting the configuration  $\mathcal{A}_1$  along the plane  $x_1 = x_2$ , where  $\mathcal{A}_1$  is the configuration given in Proposition 3.5.3.
- The third configuration  $\mathcal{A}$  in the special case a = 0 reduces to the 8-vectors configuration  $(E_7, A_2^2 \times A_1)$ .

# Bibliography

- M. Alkadhem and M. Feigin, Trigonometric ∨-systems and solutions of WDVV equations, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor 54 (2021), 024002.
- [2] M. Alkadhem, G. Antoniou, and M. Feigin, Solutions of BC<sub>n</sub> Type of WDVV Equations, In Integrability, Quantization, and Geometry: I. Integrable Systems, Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics 103.1 (2021).
- [3] G. Antoniou and M. Feigin, Supersymmetric V-systems, Journal of High Energy Physics (2019), 115.
- [4] G. Antoniou, Frobenius structures, Coxeter discriminants, and supersymmetric mechanics, PhD thesis, University of Glasgow (2020).
- [5] A. Arsie and P. Lorenzoni, Complex reflection groups, logarithmic connections and bi-flat F-manifolds, Lett. Math. Phys. 107 (2017), 10, 1919–1961.
- [6] N. Bourbaki, Lie Groups and Lie Algebras, Chapters 4–6, Masson, Paris (1968).
- [7] M. Bertola, Jacobi Groups, Jacobi Forms and Their Applications, Ph.D. Thesis, S.I.S.S.A-Mathematical Physics Sector (1999).
- [8] \_\_\_\_\_, Frobenius manifold structure on orbit space of Jacobi groups. II., Differential Geometry and its Applications 13 (1) (2000), 19–41.
- [9] S. Bellucci, A. Galajinsky, and E. Latini, New insight into WDVV equation, Phys. Rev. D. 71 (2005), 044023.
- [10] H.W. Braden, A. Marshakov, A. Mironov, and A. Morozov, WDVV equations for 6d Seiberg-Witten theory and bi-elliptic curves, Acta Appl. Math. 99 (3) (2007), 223–244.
- [11] J. Bryan and A. Gholampour, Root systems and the quantum cohomology of ADE resolutions, Algebra Number Theory. 2 (4) (2008), 369–390.
- [12] O. Chalykh, M. Feigin, and A.P. Veselov, New integrable generalizations of Calogero-Moser quantum problem, J. Math. Phys 39 (2) (1998), 695–703.
- [13] O. Chalykh and A.P. Veselov, Locus configurations and ∨-systems, Physics Letters A 285 (2001), 339–349.
- [14] W. Couwenberg, G. Heckman, and E. Looijenga, Geometric structures on the complement of a projective arrangement, Publ. Math. IHES 101 14 (2005), 69–161.
- [15] R. Dijkgraaf, H. Verlinde, and E. Verlinde, Notes on topological string theory and 2d quantum gravity, In String Theory and Quantum Gravity, Proceedings of the Trieste Spring School (1990), 91-156.
- [16] B.A. Dubrovin, Integrable systems in topological field theory, Nucl. Physics. 379 (1992), 627-689.

- [17] \_\_\_\_\_, Geometry of 2D topological field theories, Springer Lecture Notes in Math. 1620, Springer-Verlag, New York. (1996), 120–348.
- [18] B.A. Dubrovin and Y. Zhang, Extended affine Weyl groups and Frobenius manifolds, Compositio Mathematica 111 (1998), 167–219.
- [19] B.A. Dubrovin, Differential geometry of the space of orbits of a Coxeter group, J. Differential Geometry Suppl 4 (1998), 181–211.
- [20] \_\_\_\_\_, On almost duality for Frobenius manifolds, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl **212** (2004), 75–132.
- [21] B.A. Dubrovin, I.A.B. Strachan, Y. Zhang, and D. Zuo, Extended affine Weyl groups of BCD type, Frobenius manifolds and their Landau-Ginzburg superpotentials, Adv. Math. 351 (2019), 897–946.
- [22] S. Fedoruk, E. Ivanov, and O. Lechtenfeld, Supersymmetric hyperbolic Calogero-Sutherland models by gauging, Nuclear Phys. B (944) (2019).
- [23] M.V. Feigin, Bispectrality for deformed Calogero-Moser-Sutherland systems, J. Nonlinear Math. Phys.12 (2005), suppl. 2, 95–136.
- [24] \_\_\_\_\_, On the logarithmic solutions of the WDVV equations, Czechoslovak J. Phys. 56 (2006), no. 10–11, 1149–1153.
- [25] M.V. Feigin and A.P. Veselov, Logarithmic Frobenius structures and Coxeter discriminants, Advances in Mathematics. (1) Vol. 212 (2007), 143–162.
- [26] M.V. Feigin and A.P. Veselov, On the geometry of ∨-systems, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. (2) Vol. 224 (2008), 111–123.
- [27] M.V. Feigin, Trigonometric solutions of WDVV equations and generalized Calogero-Moser-Sutherland systems, Symmetry, Integrability and Geometry: Methods and Applications, 5 (2009).
- [28] \_\_\_\_\_, Generalized Calogero-Moser systems from rational Cherednik algebras, Selecta Math. (N.S.) 18 (2012), 253–281.
- [29] L. Frappat, P. Sorba, and A. Sciarrino, *Dictionary on Lie superalgebras*, Academic Press (2000).
- [30] Galajinsky A., Lechtenfeld O., and Polovnikov K., N = 4 superconformal Calogero models, JHEP 11 (2007), 008 [arXiv:0708.1075].
- [31] \_\_\_\_\_, N = 4 mechanics, WDVV equations and roots, JHEP **03** (2009), 113 [arXiv:0802.4386].
- [32] C. Hertling, Frobenius manifolds and moduli spaces for singularities, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, Cambridge University Press (2002).
- [33] L.K. Hoevenaars and R. Martini, On the WDVV equations in five-dimensional gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 557 (2003), 94–104.
- [34] J.E. Humphreys, *Reflection Groups and Coxeter Groups*, Cambridge Univ. Press (1990).
- [35] L.K. Hoevenaars, Frobenius manifolds and algebraic integrability, arXiv:0706.3863 (2007).
- [36] E. Ivanov, S. Krivonos, and O. Lechtenfeld, Geometric superfield approach to superconformal mechanics, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 22 (1989), 4201.
- [37] \_\_\_\_\_,  $\mathcal{N} = 4, d = 1$  supermultiplets from nonlinear realizations of  $D(2, 1; \alpha)$ , Class. Quantum Grav. **21** (2004), 1031–1050.
- [38] S. Krivonos and O. Lechtenfeld,  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric Calogero-Sutherland models, Phys. Rev. D 101(8) (2020).

- [39] A. Marshakov, A. Mironov, and A. Morozov, WDVV-like equations in N = 2 SUSY Yang-Mills theory, theory, Phys. Lett. B 389 (1996), 43–52.
- [40] \_\_\_\_\_, More evidence for the WDVV equations in N = 2 SUSY Yang-Mills theories, Internat. J. Modern. Phys. A15 (2000), 1157–1206.
- [41] R. Martini and P.K.H. Gragert, Solutions of WDVV Equations in Seiberg-Witten Theory from Root Systems, J. Nonlin. Math. Phys.6 (1) (1999), 1–4.
- [42] R. Martini and L.K. Hoevenaars, Trigonometric solutions of the WDVV equations from root systems, Lett. Math. Phys. 65 (2003), 15–18.
- [43] M. Pavlov, Explicit solutions of the WDVV equation determined by the "flat" hydrodynamic reductions of the Egorov hydrodynamic chains, arXiv:nlin/0606008 (2006).
- [44] A. Riley and I.A.B. Strachan, Duality for Jacobi group and orbit spaces and elliptic solutions of the WDVV equations, Lett. Math. Phys. 77 (2006), 221-234.
- [45] A. Riley and I.A.B. Strachan, A note on the relationship between rational and trigonometric solutions of the WDVV equations, J. Nonlinear Math. Phys. 14 (2007), 82–94.
- [46] V. Schreiber and A.P. Veselov, On deformation and classification of ∨-systems, J. Nonlin. Math. Phys 21(4) (2011), 543–583.
- [47] D. Shen, Frobenius algebras and root systems: the trigonometric case, Lett Math Phys 111 125 (2021).
- [48] \_\_\_\_\_, Geometric structures on the complement of a toric mirror arrangement, Math. Z. **300** (2022), 683–744.
- [49] I.A.B. Strachan, Weyl groups and elliptic solutions of the WDVV equations, Advances in Mathematics 224 (2010), 1801–1838.
- [50] K. Saito, T. Yano, and J. Sekiguchi, On a certain generator system of the ring of invariants of a finite reflection group, Comm. Algebra 8:4 (1980), 373–408.
- [51] K. Saito, On a Linear Structure of the Quotient Variety by a Finite Reflexion Group, Publ. RIMS., Kyoto Univ. 29 (1993), 535–579.
- [52] A.P. Veselov, M. Feigin, and O. Chalykh, New integrable deformations of quantum Calogero-Moser problem, Russ. Math. Surveys 51 (3) (1996), 185–186.
- [53] A.P. Veselov, Deformations of root systems and new solutions to generalised WDVV equations, Phys. Lett. A 261 (1999), 297–302.
- [54] \_\_\_\_\_, On geometry of a special class of solutions to generalised WDVV equations, Workshop on Integrability: The Seiberg–Witten and Whitham equations, Edinburgh, 1998, Gordon and Breach (2000), 125–135.
- [55] E. Witten, On the Structure of the Topological Phase of Two-dimensional Gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 340 (1990), 281-332.
- [56] N. Wyllard, (Super)-conformal many-body quantum mechanics with extended supersymmetry, JHEP
   (41) (2000), 2826.